
c o n v e r g e n c e   p e r s o n i f i e d

ZEE TELEFILMS LIMITED



“Mental action precedes every
physical and vocal action.
Mind comes first.
Mind is supreme.
All our actions are decided by mind.
The world is led around by mind.
It is one thing that brings everything
else under its sway.
Mind matters most.”

Shri S.N. Goenka

Vipassana Foundation

Reach of more than 200 million viewers worldwide

Zee TV maintained leading viewership
share of 38% in India

16 out of Top 20 programs from Zee TV
across channels
○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○

○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○

○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○

○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○

c o n v e r g e n c e   p e r s o n i f i e d

Zee ranked the 9th largest brand of India
○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○

Siticable connectivity : more than 5 million homes
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Chairman
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Vice Chairman & Managing Director
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Director

Ashok Kurien

Director

Vasant Parekh

Director

Vikas Gupta

Company Secretary

& G.M. (Finance)

President - Corporate

Rajesh Jain
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Entertainment

R.K. Singh

News

Deepak Shourie

Convergence

Dev Naganand

Education

Uma Ganesh

Organic

Alok Dutta

Executive President - Finance

B.R. Jaju

CHIEF
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135, Continental Building, M/s. M.G. Bhandari & Co. ICICI Banking Corporation Ltd.

Dr. A.B. Road, Worli, Banque Nationale De Paris

Mumbai 400 018. ANZ Grindlays Bank Plc.

Vis i t  us at  www.zee television.com
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value

t

     VALUE
          STATEMENT  statement

o  maintain

the company’s pioneering status

as a multimedia content and access provider, driven by viewer response and

shareholder confidence.

We will continue to aim for greater growth in creativity

and productivity by adding value to existing properties both for our viewers

and advertisers.

Convergence through flow of group synergies shall  make

innovation an inevitable part of the Zee brand.
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”Zee has stayed committed to

its ef forts of increasing

revenue, but not at the cost

of losing the traditional Indian

values. Abundant care has

been taken not to hurt the

cultural and tradit ional

sentiments of the viewers in a

rush to increase profits.“

CHAIRMAN

SUBHASH   CHANDRA
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 statement
chairman’sCHAIRMAN’S

      STATEMENT

Z ee Network is fast progressing towards

convergence. Having started as a content production and

marketing company 8 years ago, it has now been able to

set its foot on almost all growth sectors of the economy -

be it entertainment or information or media or knowledge.

Most of other companies, whether in India or abroad

continue to confine themselves to one sector or another,

even after their hundreds of years of existence. They are

still reticent to come out of their comfortable zones of the

past. Although they talk about convergence, they are far

off from the real convergence.

True convergence takes place only when an enterprise is

able to leverage and repurpose its traditional or

conventional content, made for one method of

distribution, for dissemination through other emerging

interactive modes of distribution also.

Likewise, convergence means that an enterprise either

owns or is in a position to deliver the repurposed content

through newer and newer modes as demanded by the

customer. Convergence is essentially a twosome

phenomenon - one at the content level which consists in

repurposing, re-exploiting and re-cycling for newer and

newer revenue streams and another at the distribution

level which consists in multiple modes of distribution to

control the dominance on the last mile link to the

consumer.

A simple retelecast of TV signal over the Internet does not

bring in any convergence as is often assumed by

enterprises now-a-days.

Convergence requires new initiatives and new investments

which the enterprises in India are still shy off . Convergence

would still remain a pipe-dream, if enterprises in India do

not lay the foundation of distribution.

SitiCable has been recognized as the most dominant last

mile link to the customer. The pipe that delivers

conventional TV channels utilizing its bandwidth of 550

to 750 MB in the analogue currency could now be

gainfully utilized to pump in a number of new services

and products including video-on-demand, gaming, near

video-on-demand, banking and e-commerce, besides

Niagara fall like access to internet.

Zee believes that this pipe which has been largely used

for delivering one-way TV content as of date, could now

also deliver products of information and knowledge

bringing the viewers or recipients here, on services at par

with those of so far fortunate ones in Europe and USA.

How good is convergence, if the repurposed content,

especially the broadband TV film content remains

undistributed due to the lack of bandwidth or distribution

modes.

Just as television heralded the birth of the next media after

hundreds of years of publishing, similarly Internet is yet

another next wave of media marching ahead of publishing

and television.

What makes interactive and Internet media the ideology

of business and society is the fact that it could afford the

choice of customer. It makes the viewer an active

participant in the content, it makes the consumer a

prosumer and converts one way viewership into a two

way dialogue.

The real and true impact of internet and interactive media

is still not well understood in India with most of the

companies just talking about convergence and merely

webcasting the traditional TV telecast over the internet

with total indifference to interactivity.

Your company is in a position to harness new source of

revenue addition for the same content.
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chairman’s
statement

If our past is deeply steeped into advertising market, our

bigger future lies in the pay market, whether it is DTO or

DTH service or conventional media or pay per view or

premium channels or ISP services through TELCO or

Cableco for now, and wireless in the future.

Education is another growth area where your company

obtains revenue from physical mode of class as well as

interactive means, besides education through television

in the near future. The content that was aimed for

advertising stream would now be additionally leveraged

by pay stream.

Content was the king, content would be the king and

distribution is God. Distribution convergence is being built

around SitiCable with content and consumer convergence

is reinforced by ZTL.

While ZTL is very confident for the content domain, its

subsidiaries – SitiCable, Econnect and Zee Interactive

Multimedia Limited (ZIML) are emerging as the stronger

distribution players.

ZTL also is proud of its Indian origin and is within the striking

distance of obtaining license for uplinking and ISP, unlike

other companies who still have foreign origins.

Your company - ZTL has been brought up to this stage by

exports and Ad sales and now its subsidiary companies –

SitiCable, ZIML & Econnect, who are poised to enter the

next level and next phase of, especially new and

e-economy growth sectors.

Sports and film have been the drivers of TV channels,

especially in the pay market worldwide.

Your company has taken initiative to venture into films this

year. We are giving new impetus to sports, especially Cricket

and Soccer. Just as your company thrived by creating

newer and newer content in TV and entertainment,

likewise your company is creating newer and newer

streams of content in sports, particularly in Soccer and

Cricket so as to be in a position to launch a full-blown

sports channel to support its sky initiatives.

Zee believes that the government would be more liberal

in privatization and licensing of the media sector.

Your company being an Indian company and having

already invested in the pay infrastructure, launched

regional channels, advanced talks with third parties and

initiated the process of broadband convergence - including

the laying of optical fibre and is the only company which

is clearly ahead of its competitors in all the new growth

areas.

Media industry does not allow time to think or time to

respond. Move first to the market is the mantra of success.
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There is no luxury of extrapolating the past into the future.

It is the characteristic of the Brick and Mortar industry. The

winner takes all. Either you perform or perish. Either you

are on top or bottom. There are no middle paths for a

growing company like yours. Growth opportunities have

virtually been thrust upon us.

It is our philosophy and endeavour to serve the South

Asian diaspora not only in the sub-continent, but also

across the globe with the richness of its culture, and thus

bring home away from home for millions of our overseas

viewers. Additional channels in Music and Bangla were

introduced in the UK and Europe during the year. In the

United States, Zee Gold a Hindi movie and music channel

was launched in addition to Zee TV. The launch of our

service in the Caribbean has opened up markets in

Trinidad, Tobago, Surinam and the West Indies and also

has the potential to cater to audiences in Latin America.

The year also saw initiatives in opening the Australia and

New Zealand markets with the launch of a 6-channel

bouquet in Australia. The Zee Network today reaches 200

million viewers across 75 countries.

If your company earlier was originally and totally a content

concentrated one requiring no CAPEX, your company in

the future would have to be the leader in distribution

requiring investments.

With the leadership of both content and access, your

company in the future would be in an enviable, but

unassailable position.

The human resource has been the pillar of strength

throughout our existence. We recognize this and have

taken further steps to enhance productivity, reward

dedication and share the wealth of the company with the

team. The ESOP scheme of 1998 was broadbased this

year to cover more section of employees thus instilling a

greater sense of being part of the Zee family.

We value enterprise and initiative and therefore it has been

our endeavour to build an institution that is nimble footed

and quick to respond. Growth dynamics propel us to

continuously evolve and restructure so as to give the

desired focus and efficacy. Training initiatives further

augment the skills for overall optimization of resources.

As a pioneer in the media sector, we will continue to be

progressive and innovative. We have already taken steps

to comply with the recommendations of the Shri Kumar

Mangalam Birla Committee on Corporate Governance as

constituted by SEBI for increased transparency in

transactions.

We also have an unflinching commitment towards our

viewers and our partners in business. We shall always strive

to deliver the best solutions aimed at enhancing value for

our advertisers. We shall show the same rigour in

expanding our operations across the world to reach as

many South Asians as possible and exploit our IPR.

Zee has stayed committed to its efforts of increasing

revenue, but not at the cost of losing the traditional Indian

Values. Abundant care has been taken not to hurt the

cultural and traditional sentiments of the viewers in a rush

to increase profits.

Overall we are all committed to maximize shareholders

wealth and grow Zee as a big media conglomerate making

it the undisputed leader in the mindshare business. We

are steadfast in our resolve to build on our strengths,

improve on our weaknesses and harness technology so

as to make a global institution that every Indian is

proud of.

This is my dream, vision and goal. I hope, you will

appreciate my earnestness in the right perspective and

join me towards the march of leadership in the new

millennium.

Subhash Chandra
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key events
 for the year

Acquisition of ZMWL

In September 1999, ZTL acquired Zee

Multimedia Worldwide Limited (ZMWL).

Following this acquisition, all the international

operations including the broadcasting business

of ZMWL came under ZTL’s control.

Acquisition of NewsCorp’s Stake

ZTL  acquired NewsCorp’s 50% stake in Asia

Today Limited (ATL), Siticable, and Programme

Asia Trading Company Ltd. and now owns

100% of these businesses. The consideration

paid for the acquisition was USD 296.51

million.

Launch of New Channels

To complement the existing bouquet and to

increase penetration in the C & S homes,

ZTL launched four regional channels under

the umbrella brand of Alpha viz., Alpha

Marathi, Alpha Bangla, Alpha Punjabi and

Alpha Gujarati. All the Alpha channels are

now digitally transmitted pay channels and,

in a short span, enjoy a good market share.

Alpha Marathi, with 76% prime time

viewership, is already a market leader in its

segment.To enter the English language

market 2 new 24 - hour channels - Zee

English and Zee Movies were launched.

KEY EVENTS

      FOR THE YEAR 1999-2000
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Launch of channels in UK/ USA

Two new channels Zee Bangla and Music Asia were

launched in UK and Zee Gold was launched in

USA. The South Asian Diaspora has given

tremendous response to all these channels.lms Ltd.

to embrace the latest in technology.

Organisational Building

The company expanded its human capital

with the induction of top-notch talent from

the industry, Mr. R.K Singh, who was heading

ESPN - Starsports, joined as CEO -

Entertainment businesses. Mr. Deepak Shourie,

who was heading Hindustan Times, joined

as CEO - News and Mr. Dev Naganand, who

was part of the corporate strategy team at

ITC joined as CEO - Convergence. The process

continues during the FY2001 also.

Launch of Zeenext.com portal

E-Connect, a 100% subsidiary of ZTL, launched a

comprehensive horizontal portal, zeenext.com,

targeted at South Asians worldwide. Currently the

portal has 49 comprehensive vertical channels and

also streams live news and music. In a span of 3

months, the portal has a distinction of 10 million

monthly page views with nearly  180,000 registered

subscribers.
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In keeping with growth plans, Zee

has made significant progress in the

area of convergence by entering

newer media in the areas of

information, communication and

entertainment. It’s global viewership

is vast, spanning continents,

languages and cultural expanses.
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                                                                 z e e
                                        c o r p o r a t e

www.zeetelevision.com
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Zee network
ZEE NETWORK

      GLOBAL REACH
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corporate
governance

CORPORATE

      GOVERNANCE

we at Zee believe that sound practices of corporate
functioning shall lead to maximisation of wealth for all
our stakeholders. A business corporation ought to conduct
its affairs to safeguard and add value to the interest of its
various stakeholders, including shareholders, creditors,
employees, suppliers, financial intermediaries etc. A good
Corporate Governance encompasses the practices and
procedures to be observed by the management inter-
related with laws, regulations, procedures and disclosures
to be followed for all times. Good Corporate Governance
implies transparency in business and proven competence
of directors who take decision on the basis of proper and
timely information.

Securities And Exchange Board of India has codified the
code of Corporate Governance which has been
implemented by amending the listing agreement entered
by the Company with various Stock Exchanges. Your
Company is required to comply with all  requirements
of the Code of Corporate Governance latest by
31st March, 2001.

Board of Directors in their Meeting held on 7th July, 2000
has considered various issues of Corporate Governance.
The Board resolved that the Company shall not only follow
the basic principles as laid down in the guidelines but shall
also institute such systems and procedures which are in
accordance with the new global trend of making the
management more transparent and institutionally sound.
The Board took decision to appoint an internationally
reputed firm of Management Consultants. They are
required to submit their report within three months.

Composition of Board :

In line with the requirements of Code of Corporate
Governance, Board of Directors is being broad based to
include more independent directors.

Board Meetings :

During the FY 1999-2000, thirteen meetings of Board of
Directors were held.

Compensation Committee :

The Company is planning to set up a committee comprising
of an Executive and independent Directors. The Committee
will give a credible and transparent policy in determining
and accounting the compensation of the Directors and
Senior Executives.

The Company is formulating a scheme for payment of
compensation to Executive and non-executive Directors and

Senior Executives so as to garner their effective participation
in Board functions and in the decision making process.

Audit Committee :

Based on recommendation of the Committee the
Company is contemplating to constitute and set up an
Audit Committee comprising non-executive Directors with
majority being Independent Directors. The Audit
Committee will provide an oversight on  the reporting
process of the Company’s financial and accounting matters
and the disclosure of its financial statement in a correct,
sufficient and credible format.

The Committee would review the efficacy of the internal
control mechanism and would monitor the risk
management policies adopted by the Company. The
Committee would also review the reports furnished by
the internal and statutory auditors and would ensure that
suitable follow-up action is taken.  The Committee would
examine accounting, taxation and disclosure aspects of
all significant transactions. The Committee would also look
into the reasons for substantial defaults in the payments
to the depositors, shareholders (in case of non-payment
of declared dividends) and creditors.

Share Transfer Committee :

The Company has efficient and effective Share Transfer
Committee consisting of two Directors and Company
Secretary. The meetings of Transfer Committee are held
every week, preferably on every Monday subject to
availability of committee members. The Committee is
responsible for approving transfers, dematerialisation
requests and issue of duplicate certificates. Committee also
supervises functioning of the share transfer department
and investor relations.

Shareholders/Investors Grievance Committee :

The Company has a responsive Shareholders/Investors
Grievance Committee. The details in this respect are given
in the Shareholder Information annexed to this report.

Compliances :

The Company is well equipped with professional and
competent legal department, which ensures compliance
with the legal requirement of the Company. Secretarial
Department headed by Company Secretary, is responsible
for compliance in respect of Company and other allied
laws, SEBI, Stock Exchanges rules and regulations.
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corporate
structure

CORPORATE

      STRUCTURE
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company secretary’s
certificate

COMPANY SECRETARY’S

      CERTIFICATE

STATEMENT ON COMPANY SECRETARY’S RESPONSIBILITY

The Company Secretary confirms that the Company has :

• Filed all forms and returns and furnished all necessary particulars to the Registrar of Companies

and/or Authorities as required under the Companies Act, 1956.

• Registered all the charges created in favour of financial institutions, banks and others with

Registrar of Companies.

• Issued all Notices required to be given for Board Meetings and General Meetings within the

time limit as per law.

• Conducted the Board Meetings and Annual General Meetings as per the Companies

Act, 1956.

• Effected share transfers and despatched the certificates within the time limit prescribed by

various authorities.

• Not exceeded the borrowing powers.

• Paid dividend to the shareholders within the time limit prescribed and has also transferred

the unpaid dividend to the Central Government within the time limit.

• The Company has also complied with the regulations prescribed by the Stock Exchange,

SEBI and other Statutory Authorities and also the statutory requirements under the Companies

Act, 1956 and other applicable statutes in force.

Place : Mumbai Vikas Gupta
Date : 4th July, 2000 Company Secretary
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the human
capital at Zee Network

THE HUMAN CAPITAL

     AT ZEE NETWORK

THE MOST VALUABLE ASSET

Zee is on a fast growth track. The human capital at Zee strives to fulfill the organisation’s goals.

Zee is proud to possess some of the finest creative talent available in the industry thereby creating rich intellectual capital.

The competencies available in the organization give Zee the cutting edge to stay as the industry leader.

Concern and respect for people are core values of the organization. The work environment is stimulating and provides

creative freedom to create programmes delighting both viewers as well as advertisers. Development of core competency

through formal training, job rotation and hands-on training is an ongoing activity at Zee.

Zee recognizes and appreciates the contribution made by the employees in reaching its present status. There are excellent

opportunities for high calibre professionals to take up challenging assignments both in India as well as overseas making Zee

a preferred employer. A broad-based employee stock option plan is in place for rewarding employees who reach upto

desired levels of performance.

THE ‘US’ TEAM !

YOUTHFUL ORGANISATION

The Organisation profile of Zee reflects the dynamism of youth with the right blend of experience to provide leadership and

give the required impetus to retain its pioneer status in the media industry. The average age of employee is below 30 years.

The total number of employees is around 1500 spread over businesses of entertainment, news, convergence and education.

They are drawn from diverse academic backgrounds with specialized skills relevant to their respective business areas. Zee

is an equal opportunity employer with almost a quarter of its skilled workforce comprising of females.
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DISTRIBUTION OF MANAGEMENT - BY SENIORITY

ORGANISATIONAL PROFILE - BY SEX

ORGANISATIONAL PROFILE - BY QUALIFICATION

ORGANISATION AGE PROFILE

DEPARTMENT - WISE STRENGTH
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Distribution of shareholding as on 31st March, 2000:

No. of Equity Share Share Holders No. of Shares

Number % of Holders Number % of Shares

Upto - 5000 66,945 98.64 17,783,834 2.88

5001 - 10000 380 0.56 2,940,334 0.72

10001 - 20000 187 0.28 2,756,598 0.67

20001 - 30000 90 0.13 2,254,453 0.55

30000 - 40000 35 0.05 1,210,524 0.30

40001 - 50000 30 0.04 1,402,137 0.34

50001 - 100000 67 0.10 4,618,942 1.13

100001 and Above 139 0.20 375,638,190 91.93

Total 67,873 100.00 408,605,012 100.00

Categories of shareholders as on March 31st, 2000:

Category March 31, 2000 March 31, 1999

% of No. of shares % of No. of shares
shareholding   held shareholding  held

(Re. 1 each) (Rs. 10 each)

1. Promoters 66.59% 272,083,300 50.5% 9,432,800

2. Individuals 7.14% 29,188,743 5.9% 1,099,103

3. Domestic
companies 1.82% 7,440,262 2.4% 451,732

4. Mutual funds
and banks 5.71% 23,364,014 10.8% 2,014,198

5. FIIs and OCBs 17.95% 73,391,911 28.1% 5,250,467

6. NRI 0.76% 3,136,782 2.3% 423,700

Total 100% 408,605,012 100% 1,86,72,000

distribution &
shareholding pattern

DISTRIBUTION &

    SHAREHOLDING PATTERN
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stock market data
price performance &

Stock market data relating to shares listed in India

a. The Company’s share is part of the BSE-30 Sensitive Index (Sensex) and CNX Nifty Index.
b. Monthly high and low quotations as well as the volume of shares traded at Mumbai and National Stock Exchanges

for 1999-2000 are :

BSE NSE

Month High Low Volume of High Low Volume of
(Rs.) (Rs.) Shares (Rs.) (Rs.) Shares

Traded Traded
(Nos.) (Nos.)

April, 1999 1128.25 839.75 9,419,953 1,228 811 9,348,399
May 1835 1244 10,661,478 1,820 1,225 11,448,178
June 1620 1322.10 5,905,767 1,595 1,301.50 6,082,616
July 2213.95 1429.10 9,089,442 2,224.35 1,430.10 8,679,742
August 3475 2132.10 9,244,257 3,410 2,135.10 7,476,713
September 5200 2921 8,709,616 5,195 2,945 9,722,642
October 5840 4265 9,346,681 5,830 4,225 11,023,386
November 6831.55 3739.3 9,815,139 6,740.55 3,772.60 11,463,873
December # 1092.8 594 82,931,400 1,096 612.70 150,605,881
January, 2000 # 1312 900 65,447,974 1,317.70 891 78,994,762
February # 1630 1220 73,853,640 1,645 1,213.10 90,421,530
March # 1574 945 66,053,837 1,634 958.65 85,319,416

# These quotations are for Re. 1 per share face value.

PRICE PERFORMANCE &

       STOCK MARKET DATA

Price performance of Zee Telefilms Ltd. vs. Sensex (Apr.-99 to Mar.-2000)

Zee management consistently cautions that the Stock Price Performance shown in the graph above should not be considered
as indicative of Stock Price Performance in the future.
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last five years
 at a glance

LAST FIVE YEARS

      AT A GLANCE

(Rs. in million)

Year Ending March 31 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

Revenue Account

Income from Operations 2,870 2,262 1,734 1,374 1,230

Total Expenses 1,831 1,411 1,144 940 821

Operating Profit 1,039 851 590 434 409

% to Income from Operations 36% 38% 34% 32% 33%

Other Income 101 55 75 64 18

PBIDT 1,140 906 665 498 427

Interest 84 81 64 60 27

Depreciation 25 18 15 16 15

Profit Before Tax (Operations) 1,031 807 586 422 385

Profit on sale of Film Library 1,851 — — — —

Profit Before Tax 2,882 807 586 422 385

Taxation 210 196 149 75 84

Profit After Tax (incl. sale of Film Library) 2,672 611 437 347 301

Profit After Tax (excl. sale of Film Library) 821 611 437 347 301

% to Total Income 28% 26% 24% 24% 24%

Dividend 161 103 103 84 65

Dividend rate 55% 55% 55% 45% 35%

Capital Account

Share Capital - Equity 799 187 187 186 186

Share Capital - Preference — — 30 — 40

Reserves & Surplus 35,225 1,731 1,235 906 656

Loan Funds 1,530 561 426 333 217

Capital Employed 37,554 2,479 1,878 1,425 1,099

Fixed Assets 551 312 266 243 214

Investments 34,328 571 480 318 4

Net Current Assets 2,665 1,583 1,116 844 860

Miscellaneous Expenditure 10 13 16 20 21

Capital Deployed 37,554 2,479 1,878 1,425 1,099

Closing market price per share of Re.1/- 1,022 99 27 9 13

Market Capitalisation 417,524 18,418 5,093 1,636 2,380

Figures for 1996 & 1997 are unaudited net consolidated results (inclusive of the erstwhile ASSL). This is to allow a
meaningful comparison.
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an analysis
performance ratios -PERFORMANCE RATIOS-

      AN ANALYSIS

Year Ending March 31* 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

Financial Performance1

Export Sales/Income from Operations (%) 71.4 67.1 60.7 60.9 70.2

Operating Profit/Income from Operations (%) 36.2 37.6 34.0 31.6 33.3

Other Income/Total Income (%) 3.4 2.4 4.2 4.5 1.5

Programming Cost/Income from Operations (%) 45.5 46.7 45.2 50.7 53.7

Personnel Cost/Income from Operations (%) 5.4 4.7 5.3 4.0 2.8

Administration Expenses/Income from Operations (%) 12.9 11.0 15.5 13.7 10.2

Total operating Cost/Income from Operations (%) 63.8 62.4 66.0 68.4 66.7

Interest Cost/Income from Operations (%) 2.9 3.6 3.7 4.3 2.2

Tax/Income from Operations (%) 7.3 8.6 8.6 5.4 6.8

PAT/Total Income (%) 27.7 26.4 24.2 24.1 24.1

Tax/PBT (%) 20.4 24.2 25.4 17.6 21.9

Dividend Payout/PAT (%) 19.6 16.8 23.5 24.2 21.7

Dividend Payout/Eff. Networth (%) 2.2 5.4 7.3 7.8 8.0

Balance Sheet2

Debt-Equity ratio (Total loans/Eff. Networth) (%) 20.7 29.4 30.3 31.0 26.5

Current ratio (current assets/current liabilities) (X) 3.1 3.0 2.1 1.8 2.1

Capital Output Ratio (Inc from Ops/Eff. capital employed) (X) 0.3 0.9 0.9 1.0 1.1

Fixed Assets Turnover(Inc from Ops/Fixed assets) (X) 5.2 7.3 6.5 5.7 5.8

Cash & cash equivalents/Total Eff. capital employed (%) 5.9 7.2 26.3 31.6 39.1

RONW (PAT/Eff. Networth) (%) 11.1 32.1 31.1 32.4 36.7

ROCE (PBIT/Eff. capital employed) (%) 12.5 35.8 34.6 33.8 37.5

Growth Ratios1

Income from Operations (%) 26.9 30.4 26.2 11.7 67.4

Total Expenses (%) 29.8 23.4 21.7 14.5 88.3

Operating Profit (%) 22.1 44.2 35.9 6.2 36.8

Net Profit (%) 34.4 39.9 25.8 15.3 35.6

Per Share Data3

Revenue per share (Rs.) 10.2 12.4 9.7 7.7 6.7

Earnings per share (Rs.) 2.8 3.3 2.3 1.9 1.6

Dividend per share (Rs.) 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.45 0.35

Indebtedness per share (Rs.) 5.2 3.0 2.3 1.8 1.2

Book value per share (Rs.) 24 10.2 7.5 5.8 4.4

Price/EPS Ratio (X) 365 30.1 11.7 4.7 7.9

1. Excluding impact of one time sale of film library to ATL for Rs.188.95 crores and profit thereon of Rs. 185.10 crores.
2. Excluding impact of increase in Share Premium arising out of issue of Shares for consideration other than cash (towards

acquisition of ZMWL and Winterheath Company Ltd. under Share SWAP deal of Rs. 2,677.31 crores) and impact of
profit on one time sale of film library to ATL of Rs. 185.10 crores.

3. Annualised
* Figures for 1996 & 1997 are unaudited net consolidated results (inclusive of the erstwhile ASSL). This is to allow a

meaningful comparison. Ratios for 1996 to 1999 have been adjusted for share split.
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Zee has successfully met the

challenges of technology in an

increasingly competitive

environment. Through strategic

acquisitions, tactical launches

and effective technology

initiatives, Zee has enhanced its

pioneering position.
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www.zeetelevision.com
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directors’
report

DIRECTORS’

      REPORT

   our Directors take pleasure in presenting the

Eighteenth Annual Report of the Company for the year

ended 31 March, 2000.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(Rs. in ’000)

Particulars Year ended Year ended
31.3.2000 31.3.1999

Sales & Services 4,759,277 2,261,764

Other Income 100,769 55,598

Total Income 4,860,046 2,317,362

Total Expenses 1,977,652 1,510,502

Profit before Tax 2,882,394 806,860

Provision for Taxation 210,000 195,500

Profit after Tax 2,672,394 611,360

Appropriations :

Dividend 160,615 105,335

Corporate Dividend Tax 36,362 10,533

General Reserve 269,350 150,000

Capital Redemption Reserve — 30,000

Balance carried forward 2,206,067 315,492

COMPANY’S PERFORMANCE

During the year under review Gross Revenue has

increased to Rs. 297 crores (excluding one time export

of Rs. 189 crores of software library to the Company’s

wholly owned foreign subsidiary) from Rs. 232 crores in

the previous year. During the corresponding period

EBITDA has surged to Rs. 114 crores (excluding EBIDTA

of Rs.185 crores from the one time export) from Rs. 91

crores. On normalised basis i.e. after making adjustment

of one time exports, Gross Revenue and Profit after Tax

have registered a growth of 28%, and 35% respectively

over the last year. During the year the Company has

effected an export of small part of Programme Software

Library to Company’s wholly owned foreign subsidiary

for Rs. 189 crores, this sale and profits thereon is not of

recurring nature and hence has not been considered

for comparison with the results of last year.

DIVIDEND

Your Directors are pleased to recommend payment of

dividend @ 55% on its augmented paid up capital of

Rs. 40.86 crores for the year 1999-2000 resulting in

payment of Rs. 16.06 crores (excluding dividend tax of

y
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R
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H

S

ADVERTISEMENT BOOKINGS

(Rs. million)

TOTAL INCOME

(Rs. million)

advert i sement bookings

tota l  income

*Excluding one time sale of film library to
ATL Rs. 188.95 crores
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Rs. 3.53 crores) as against 55% on paid up capital of

Rs.18.67 crores for the earlier year, resulted in payment of

Rs.10.53 crores (excluding dividend tax of Rs. 1.05 crores).

FINANCE

During the year under report the Company has

privately placed 80,00,000 equity shares of Re.1 each

at a premium of Rs.999 per share with a large Foreign

Institutional Investor (FII). On 24 January, 2000,

80,00,000 equity share warrants were issued to FII.

Out of which, 41,00,000 warrants were exercised on

31 March, 2000 and the balance were exercised on

24 April, 2000.

ACQUISITION OF ZEE MULTIMEDIA

WORLDWIDE LIMITED (ZMWL)

To meet the challenges of technology and the increased

competitive environment, shareholders in their general

meeting held on 27 September, 1999 had approved

the acquisition of 100% equity shareholding in Zee

Multimedia Worldwide Limited. Entire equity shares of

ZMWL were acquired in consideration of allotment of

1,94,18,880 equity shares of Rs. 10 each of the

Company. The share swap ratio was determined on

the basis of valuation report prepared by Deloitte Haskins

& Sells, a reputed international firm of Chartered

Accountants.

ACQUISITION OF 50% EQUITY IN ASIA TODAY

LTD., SITI CABLE AND PATCO

In order to become a converged media company

involved in broadcasting, production and distribution

and also to have complete freedom in operating

management, in terms of the shareholders’ approval

dated 25 October, 1999, the Company has acquired

50% equity shareholding in Winterheath Company

Limited (holding 100% equity shares in Asia Today

Limited), Siti Cable Network Limited and Programme

Asia Trading Company Limited from Star Group of

Companies for total consideration of US $ 296.51

million. 50% of the total consideration was discharged

by way of issue and allotment of 1,61,27,412 equity

shares of Re.1 each at a premium of Rs. 399.33 per

share. Balance 50% of total consideration was to be

paid in cash in two equal installments on 31 March

and 30 September, 2000. However the Company has

prepaid the entire amount in March 2000 itself thereby

resulting in substantial saving of financial cost and risk

of foreign exchange fluctuations.

Consequent to the acquisition of Star’s Holdings in

various companies, your Company is, directly or

indirectly, controlling 100% of equity share capital of

Asia Today Ltd. (broadcasting Zee TV, Zee Cinema and

Zee News Channels), 100% of equity share capital of

EXPORTS

(Rs. million)

OPERATING PROFIT

(Rs. million)

exports
operat ing prof i t

*Excluding one time sale of film library to
ATL Rs. 188.95 crores

*Excluding profit on one time sale of film library
to ATL Rs. 185.10 crores
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Siti Cable Network Ltd. (Cable Networking Company)

and 100% of equity share capital of El-Zee Television

Limited (Pay TV subscription Company).

SPLITTING OF SHARES AND EXPANDED EQUITY

CAPITAL

The management of your Company has always believed

that people from all walks of life should partake in the

value process at Zee. It was in this context and to

provide maximum liquidity in the shares of the Company

at the stock exchange, the Board of Directors of your

Company felt the need to split face value of shares into

smaller denomination. In pursuance of shareholders’

consent obtained in the Extra-ordinary General Meeting

held on 25 October, 1999, the existing face value of

Rs. 10 each of equity shares of the Company were split

into face value of Re. 1 each. With effect from

6 December, 1999 trading in Re. 1 share has

commenced on the Stock Exchanges.

After giving effect to the all equity expansion, conversion

of warrants and splitting of shares the total paid up

capital of the Company stands increased to

Rs. 41,25,05,012 comprising of 41,25,05,012 equity

shares of Re.1 each as on the date of this report.

DEMERGER OF EDUCATION DIVISION

In order to give focussed attention to education business

of the Company and in the wake of its growing

potential, the erstwhile education division has been

transferred to a separate subsidiary company viz. Zee

Interactive Learning Systems Limited (ZILS).

TRANSFER OF ISP LICENCE

Zee Interactive Multimedia Limited (ZIML), a wholly

owned subsidiar y of the Company, wil l be

implementing projects of ISP and to lay & manage

Hybrid Fibre Co-axial cable (HFC). To implement ISP

services, the Company has obtained ‘A’ category ISP

licence from Department of Telecommunications, which

has been transferred in the name of ZIML.

PROPOSED DEMERGER OF PUBLISHING

BUSINESS

Company has ventured into the publishing business

with a view to harness the synergy between content

and publishing, and promoted Zee Publishing Limited,

as its Subsidiary Company. However these synergies

remained untapped. Considering this and the financial

viability of the publishing project, your Board has

decided to divest Company’s entire equity stake in Zee

Publishing Limited.
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NEW INITIATIVES

The core business of the Company continues to show

healthy growth. Significant initiatives are underway to

further enhance leadership position of the Company.

• Direct to Operator Services – Alpha & English

Channels

With a felt need for programming and content in

regional language and with the objective of

maintaining leadership position in the media

industry, the Company launched regional channels

in Marathi, Bengali, Punjabi & Gujarati under

‘ALPHA’ brand. These channels form the pivot for

creating bouquet of channels for Direct to

Operator (DTO) market. The DTO bouquet,

marketed by Company’s wholly owned subsidiary

El-Zee Television Limited, has received

overwhelming response.

• BCCI Cricket Marketing Rights

During the year Buddha Films Private Limited,

has been awarded the contract of marketing

airtime on DD channels during telecast of BCCI

Cricket Series to be played in India during the

next 4 years with the financial assistance from

your Company. The marketing of Airtime on DD

is done by your Company’s experienced marketing

team only. The entire share capital of Buddha

Films Private Limited has since been acquired by

your Company and Buddha films becomes wholly

owned subsidiary of your Company.

• Acquisition of Content for Sports Channels

Your Company continues to strive to create sports

properties for a potential sports channel. Zee

Sports Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the

Company, has developed a Cricket Stadium in

Kathmandu, Nepal, in association with Cricket

Association of Nepal to host cricket matches. The

said Subsidiary Company has also signed a Joint

Venture Agreement with Churchill Brothers Club

of Goa, one of India’s leading football clubs. A

new Company by the name of ‘Zee Churchill

Sports Company Private Limited’ has been formed

to take up all the activities of the club and to

promote the game of football.

• Launch of ISP Services and ZeeNext Portal

In order to build on the synergy with content

created by the Company, through the emerging

media, Econnect India Limited, a wholly owned

subsidiary of the Company, has launched the

ZeeNext Portal. The portal today, has 49 channels

top of  the charts
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Gadar

ZEE TV
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and has attracted more than 1,80,000 registered

subscribers within a period of three months of its

launch.

AUDITORS

M/s. M.G. Bhandari & Co., Chartered Accountants are

to retire at the conclusion of the forthcoming Annual

General Meeting and being eligible, offer themselves

for re-appointment as auditors of the Company.

QUALIFICATION TO AUDITORS’ REPORT

Auditors’ comments in their report vide para 2(e)(i)&(ii)

read with Notes to Accounts Nos. 13 and 15 of Schedule

18 to the accounts are self explanatory.

You must be aware that your Company is India’s biggest

Exporter of Films, TV Software Programmes, etc. With

the objective to promote exports and earnings in Foreign

Currency, the Government of India has allowed various

fiscal and non-fiscal incentives to exporters. Being an

exporter, your Company has been claiming exemption

for the income from export under the provisions of

Income Tax Act and accordingly making provision for

taxation in the accounts considering the exemption.

But on narrow interpretation of the law, the claim of

the Company is not accepted by the I.T. authorities and

the matter is disputed at various levels of appeals and

assessments. Hence, there is short fall in tax provision

as reported by Auditors.

In response to the long pending demand and

representation by the Film & TV Programme Industry

the Government of India vide Finance Act, 1999 has

enacted new Section 80HHF in Income Tax to exempt

the income from export of Films and TV Programmes

Software, etc. This has resulted in considerable tax

benefits to the Company.

DIRECTORS

In accordance with the provisions of the Companies

Act, 1956, and the Articles of Association of the

Company, Mr. Subhash Chandra and Mr. Ashok Kurien

retire by rotation at the ensuing Annual General Meeting

and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

PERSONNEL

Your Directors would like to place on record their deep

appreciation of all its employees for rendering diligent

services to every constituent of the Company be it viewers,

shareholders, creditors, producers, or regulatory agencies.

The enthusiasm and perseverance of the employees has

enabled ZEE to remain at the forefront providing best

infotainment solutions to the South Asian Community

spread across the globe.

top of  the charts
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As required under the provisions of Section 217(2A) of

the Companies Act, 1956, read with Companies

(Particulars of Employees) Rules 1975, as amended, the

names and other particulars of the employees are set

out in the Annexure included in this report.

EMPLOYEES STOCK OPTION SCHEME

Shareholders in their Extra-ordinary General Meeting

held on 29 April, 1998 had approved the grant of

Employee Stock Options subject to the condition that

maximum dilution on account of grant of options shall

not be more than 4% of the then outstanding paid up

share capital of the Company. As reported in last year’s

report 7,46,880 convertible equity warrants were

allotted to Zee Network Employees Welfare Trust

(ZNEWT) for onward allotment to employees. The right

of conversion of convertible warrants was to be

exercised latest by 30 September, 1999.

Under the Employee Stock Option Plan – 1998

(ESOP-98), 61 employees of the Company and its

subsidiaries, exercised options and 4,31,400 equity

shares of Rs. 10 each were allotted and the balance

3,15,480 equity shares of Rs.10 each were allotted to

Zee Network Employees Welfare Trust (ZNEWT). ZNEWT

has been holding 31,54,800 Equity Shares of Re.1 each

for allotment to employees in future as may be

recommended by the committee of the Board of

Directors. The options to be granted will be subject to

such lock-in period and other terms including pricing

as may be decided by the Board Sub-committee

constituted for the purpose. Since all the options have

been converted into equity shares, the present

outstanding paid up capital of the Company will not

undergo any further change on account of award of

options out of the balance shares held by ZNEWT.

Under the present scheme viz. Addendum-to-ESOP-98, every

employee of the Company has been made eligible to get

award of the options subject to his/her meeting certain

minimum performance criteria. Options vest with awardees,

in various tranches for a maximum period of four years.

On the recommendation of Board Sub-committee, out

of the balance shares held by ZNEWT, 365 employees

of the Company and its subsidiary companies were

granted options representing 8,45,600 equity shares of

Re. 1 each at a price of Rs. 212 per share. None of the

employees has been offered options in excess of 1% of

paid up capital of the Company.

PUBLIC DEPOSITS

The Company has not accepted any new deposits or

renewed any matured deposits during the year. The

top of  the charts
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Company has honoured all of its commitments to the

depositors during the year under review.

SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

As required under Section 212 of the Companies Act,

1956, the Annual Report of the Company for the year

1999-2000 and the Accounts for the year ended

31 March, 2000, of the subsidiary companies are

attached herewith.

YEAR 2000 ROLLOVER

Your Company did not face any adverse affect of the

Y2K bug and there was no interruption in the operations

of the Company. The transition into the new millennium

was smooth.

PARTICULARS REGARDING CONSERVATION OF

ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION AND

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS & OUTGO

The particulars regarding foreign exchange earnings

and outgo are given in the appendix e, f, g and h of

Schedule 18 containing Note to the Accounts forming

part of the Annual Report.

Company is not engaged in the manufacturing activity as

such particulars relating conservation of energy and

technology absorption are not applicable. However in the

editing facilities, studios, offices, etc. adequate measures

are being taken to conserve energy as far as possible.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Your Directors would take this opportunity to express
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION GIVEN AS REQUIRED UNDER THE COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF PARTICULARS IN THE REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS) RULES,1988.

I. INFORMATION AS PER SECTION 217 (2A) (B) (II) READ WITH COMPANIES (PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES) RULES,1975
AND FORMING PART OF THE DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31st MARCH, 2000.

Experience Date of
Sr. Name Age Designation Remuneration Qualification (Yrs.) Commence- Last Employment
No. Total (Rs.) ment of

Employment

1. Mr. Abhijit Saxena 31 Asst. V.P. – Sales 704,010.00 B.Sc., MBA 7 25.03.96 Bennett, Coleman & Co. Ltd.

2. Mr. Anthony D’Silva 50 President – Distribution 997,159.00* B.Sc., PGDBM 26 20.12.99 Modi Entertainment

3. Mr. Arvind Kumar 42 Dy. CEO 682,714.00 B.Com. 18 19.03.99 The Asian Age

4. Mr. Atul Mathur 34 Dy. G.M. – Operations 547,248.00* B.Com.(H), Dip. in 13 04.01.93 Freelancing for DD &
Journalism others

5. Mr. B.R. Jaju 49 Executive President – 1,382,966.00* B.Com., FCA., FCS., 25 30.06.99 Blow Plast Ltd.
Finance LLB

6. Mr. D.K. Pandey 50 Sr. Vice President 801,907.00 B.Tech., MBA 26 01.07.97 Siti Cable Network Ltd.

7. Mr. Deepak Ranjan 32 Sr. Asst. Vice President 647,427.00 B.Sc.(Hons), Dip. in 7 10.10.92 Sterling Publication Pvt. Ltd.
Advt. & Mktg.

8. Mr. Deepak Shourie 51 Chief Executive Officer 4,891,250.00* B.A. (Eco., History) 31 01.09.99 Hindusthan Times Ltd.

9. Mr. Gajendra Singh 33 Programme Director 936,144.00 Degree in Editing, FTII 5 23.07.92 Freelance Editor

10. Ms. Gopi Shah 41 General Manager 638,118.00 Hotel Management 15 01.03.95 Business Service Centre

11. Mr. Hitesh Vakil 39 Sr. Vice President – 1,316,679.00 B.Com., ACA 17 01.04.96 Tips & Toes Cosmetics (I) Ltd.
Finance

12. Ms. Kanta Advani 41 Vice President 987,507.00 B.A., DMM, DMS 19 19.03.96 Bennett, Coleman & Co. Ltd.

13. Mr. M.B. Zaidi 45 Associate Vice President 666,600.00* B.A., LLB 20 01.01.99 Essar Investments Ltd.

14. Col. M.K. Khera 48 G.M. – IT Services 637,975.00* M.E., MBA 26 10.05.99 Usha Group

15. Mr. Madhav Anchan 41 Chief Manager 368,589.00* B.Com., LLB 22 01.03.99 Malhotra Distributers Pvt. Ltd.

16. Ms. Madhvi Mutatkar 45 Dy. CEO 745,681.00 B.A., Diploma in Mass 21 01.07.97 Doordarshan
Communications

17. Ms. Monica Dalton 39 Vice President 1,026,054.00 B.Sc., DFM, Diploma in 15 01.04.94 National Institute for
Advt. & Mktg. Computer Education

18. Mr. Mubin Khan 32 Sr. Asst. Vice President 815,575.00 B.Sc.,  PG Diploma in 9 01.01.96 Contract Advtg. (I) Ltd.
Advt. & P.R.

19. Mr. N.S. Verma 39 Chief Manager – 606,186.00 B.A. 14 18.12.96 SET India Pvt. Ltd.
Commercial

20. Mr. P.C. Lahiri 47 V.P. – Corporate Affairs 753,924.00 B.Sc., LLB 24 01.05.95 Essel International Ltd.

21. Mr. Partho Ghosh 46 Sr. V.P. – Sales 1,332,586.00 M.Sc., MBA 25 01.03.97 Rama Associates Ltd.

22. Mr. R.D. Tyagi 60 Sr. V.P. – Legal 70,000.00* M.Sc., IPS, LLB 35 01.03.2000 Indian Police Service

23. Mr. R.K. Singh 49 Chief Executive Officer 4,613,887.00* M.Sc., M.B.A. 29 11.10.99 ESPN Software India Ltd.

24. Mr. Raghavendra 40 Sr. Vice President 1,751,635.00* B.E., MBA 18 01.09.98 HCL Corp. Ltd.
Agarwal

25. Mr. Rahul Johri 33 Vice President 64,204.00* B.Sc., MBA 10 01.03.2000 Hindusthan Times Ltd.

26. Mr. Rahul Kalia 44 Sr. V.P. – Marketing 671,926.00* B.E. (Electronics), MBA 19 11.03.96 Lintas (I) Ltd.

27. Mr. Raju Santhanam 48 Executive Editor 910,761.00 B.A. 28 01.02.97 The Statesman Ltd.

28. Mr. Rakesh Khar 34 Executive Editor 244,768.00* Post Graduate in Mass 13 01.02.97 TV 18
Communication &
Journalism

29. Mr. Ranjan Bakshi 43 Vice President 842,051.00 M.A. 20 04.07.98 Living Media (I) Ltd.
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Experience Date of
Sr. Name Age Designation Remuneration Qualification (Yrs.) Commence- Last Employment
No. Total (Rs.) ment of

Employment

30. Mr. Sainath Iyer 45 Dy. CEO 1,339,901.00 B.Sc. 22 01.09.95 Lintas (I) Ltd.

31. Mr. Satish Menon 43 Dy. CEO 793,041.00* B.A. 19 08.07.99 Mid-Day Publications

32. Ms. Seema Gupta 35 General Manager 370,680.00* M.A. (Sociology & 9 01.01.97 Independent TV Pvt. Ltd.
Mass Communications)

33. Mr. Sikander Bhasin 44 Dy. CEO 1,438,827.00 B.Com. (Hons), 24 01.06.96 Doordarshan
Dip. in Broadcasting
and Journalism

34. Ms. Uma Ganesh 41 Chief Executive Officer 1,064,538.00 B.A., MBA 20 17.09.94 Aptech Ltd.

35. Mr. Vijay Jindal 43 Vice Chairman & M.D. 4,582,800.00 B.Sc., MBA 19 23.05.96 Bennett, Coleman & Co. Ltd.

Notes : 1. Appointment is contractual and terminable by notice on either side.

2. None of the employees is related to any of the Directors.

3. Remuneration includes Salary, Allowances, Company's contribution to Provident Fund, Superannuation, Medical
Benefits, Leave Travel Allowance, Accommodation & Other perquisites and benefits valued on the basis of provisions
of Income Tax Act, 1961, excluding ESOP perquisites.

* Indicates remuneration is for part of the year.

II. FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO :

Rs. in ’000

for the year ending March 31,

2000 1999

(a) Total foreign exchange earned : 3,939,459 1,518,746

(b) Total foreign exchange used:

(i) On import of raw materials and capital goods 193,366 26,011

(ii) Expenditure in foreign currencies for travel, subscription, etc. 14,831 16,990

I I I. ENERGY CONSERVATION, RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT AND TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION :

Considering the nature of the business of this Company, the particulars required under this clause are not applicable.

For and on behalf of the Board

SUBHASH CHANDRA
Chairman

Mumbai : 4th July, 2000
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to the members of ZEE TELEFILMS LIMITED

AUDITORS’ REPORT

e) In our opinion and to the best of our information

and according to the explanations given to us, the

accounts subject to :

(i) Note No.13 change of method of Valuation

of Inventory to comply with AS-2, being

Mandatory from current accounting year.

(ii) Note No.15 short provision for taxation of

Rs./Thousands 4,47,309,

read together with accounting policies and

other notes thereon as per Schedule 18 give

the information required by the Companies

Act, 1956, in the manner so required and

give a true and fair view :

I. In the case of Balance Sheet of the state

of affairs of the Company as at

31st March, 2000; and

II. In the case of Profit and Loss Account

of the Profit of the Company for the

year ended on that date.

For M.G. BHANDARI & CO.

Chartered Accountants

M.G. BHANDARI

Partner

Mumbai

4th July, 2000

We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of Zee Telefilms

Limited as at 31st March, 2000 and also the Profit and Loss

Account of the Company for the year ended on that date,

annexed thereto, and report that :

1. As required by Manufacturing and Other Companies

(Auditor’s Report) Order,1988 issued by the Company Law

Board in terms of Section 227(4A) of the Companies Act,

1956, and on the basis of such checks as we considered

appropriate, and according to the information and

explanations given to us during the course of audit, we

annex hereto a statement on the matters specified in

paragraphs 4 and 5 of the said Order.

2. Further to our comments in the Annexure referred to in

paragraph (1) above; we report that :

a) We have obtained all the information and

explanations which to the best of our knowledge

and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our

audit.

b) In our opinion proper books of account have been

maintained by the Company as required by law so

far as appears from our examination of those books.

c) The Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Account dealt

with by this report are in agreement with the books

of account.

d) In our opinion the Profit and Loss Account and the

Balance Sheet comply with the Mandatory

Accounting Standards referred to in Section 211(3C)

of the Companies Act,1956 to the extent applicable.
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(1) The Company has maintained proper records showing

full particulars including quantitative details, and situation

of it’s fixed assets. The fixed assets of the Company have

been physically verified by the management during the

year, and no material discrepancies are noticed on such

verification.

(2) None of the fixed assets have been revalued during the

year.

(3) As explained to us, Stock of Raw Stocks (Tapes, Cassettes,

etc.), Stock in trade (except films/programme rights) at all

locations have been physically verified by the management

during the year except stocks lying with third parties, in

respect of which confirmations have been obtained in

most cases.

(4) In our opinion, the procedure of physical verification of

stocks followed by the management is reasonable and

adequate in relation to the size of the Company and the

nature of its business.

(5) Discrepancies noticed on physical verification of stocks as

compared to book records which are not significant have

been properly dealt with in the books of account.

(6) In our opinion, the valuation of stocks is fair and proper

in accordance with the normally accepted accounting

principles and is on the same basis as in the preceding

year except change in method of valuation to comply

with Accounting Standard-2 as stated in Note No.13 to

Schedule 18.

(7) The Company has taken unsecured loans from a Company

listed in the Register maintained under Section 301 of the

Companies Act, 1956. In our opinion the rate of interest

and other terms and conditions of such loans are prima

facie not  prejudicial to the interests of the Company.

There is no Company under the same management as

was defined under  Section 370 (1B) of the Companies

Act,1956.

(8) The Company has granted unsecured loans to the

Companies listed in the Register maintained under Section

301of the  Companies Act, 1956. In our opinion the rate

of interest and other terms and conditions of such loans

are prima facie not  prejudicial to the interest of the

Company except interest free loans of Rs./Thousands

264,805 to its subsidiary companies. There are no

stipulations as to repayments of these loans to subsidiaries

and, as explained to us, these loans are considered good.

There is no Company under the same management as

was defined under Section 370 (1B) of the Companies

Act,1956.

(9) The parties (including employees) to whom loans and

advances in the nature of loans have been given by the

Company are repaying the principal amount as stipulated

or rescheduled and are regular in payment of interest,

wherever applicable.

(10) In our opinion, there are adequate internal control

procedures commensurate with the size of the Company

and nature of its business for the purchase of goods, TV

programmes, fi lms/programme rights, plant

and machinery, equipments and other assets,  and

for the sale of goods, programmes and films/

programme rights, etc.

(11) The purchases and sale of TV programmes and films/

programme rights and sale of services made in pursuance

to the contracts entered  in the register maintained under

Section 301 of the Companies Act, 1956 and aggregating

during the year to Rs. 50,000/-  or more in value in

respect of each party are explained to have been done at

reasonable prices. However, it is not  possible to compare

the prices of purchases and sales of TV programmes, films

rights and sale of services.

(12) As explained to us, there is a regular system of determining

unserviceable or damaged goods, raw stock, stock in trade

and adequate provision has been made in the accounts

for the loss arising on the items so determined.

(13) The Company has accepted deposits from the public and

as per the information and explanations given to us,

ANNEXURE REFERRED TO IN PARAGRAPH (1) OF AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ZEE TELEFILMS LIMITED
ON THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH, 2000
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the Company has complied with the provisions of

Section 58A of the Companies Act,1956 and the

Companies (Acceptance of Deposits) Rules, 1975.

(14) As explained to us, the activities of the Company does

not generate any realisable scrap or by-product.

(15) In our opinion, the Company has adequate internal audit

system commensurate with its size and nature of business.

(16) We are informed that the Central Government has not

prescribed the maintenance of cost accounting records

under Section 209 (1) (d)  of the Companies Act,1956 in

respect of Company’s activities.

 (17) According to the records of the Company, the dues of

Provident Fund and Employees’ State Insurance have been

regularly deposited with the appropriate authorities.

(18) On the basis of examination of the records and according

to the information and explanations given to us, there

are no undisputed amounts payable in respect of Income

Tax, Sales Tax, Customs Duty and other duties, cess or

taxes which have remained outstanding as at 31st March,

2000 for a period of more than six months from the date

they became payable.

(19) According to the information and explanations given to

us, no personal expenses have been charged to Profit

and Loss Account, other than those payable under the

contractual obligations or in accordance with generally

accepted business practices.

(20) The Company is not a sick industrial Company within the

meaning of clause (O) of sub-section (1) of Section 3 of

the Sick Industrial Companies (Special Provisions) Act ,1985.

(21) The Company’s service activities which mainly include space

selling on TV channels, production services, etc. are such

that it does not involve any receipts, issues and

consumption of materials and stores and hence the

question of allocating materials and man hours to the

relative jobs does not arise. As explained to us, the

Company has adequate internal control system

commensurate with  the size of the Company and nature

of its service activities.

(22) In respect of trading activities of the Company,

unserviceable films and programmes have been

determined and adequate  provision has been made.

For M.G. BHANDARI & CO.

Chartered Accountants

M.G. BHANDARI

Partner

Mumbai

4th July, 2000
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Rs. in ’000

Schedule 2000 1999
SOURCES  OF  FUNDS

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS
Share Capital 1 408,536 186,651
Reserves & Surplus 2 35,225,326 1,730,076

35,633,862 1,916,727

SHARE APPLICATION MONEY 3 390,000 1,590

LOAN FUNDS
Secured Loans 4 1,302,764 501,084
Unsecured Loans 5 227,463 59,586

1,530,227 560,670

Total 37,554,089 2,478,987

APPLICATION  OF FUNDS

FIXED  ASSETS 6
Gross Block  (at cost) 453,323 364,502
Less : Depreciation Up-to-date 81,409 59,580

Net Block 371,914 304,922
Capital Work-in-progress 179,387 6,890

551,301 311,812

INVESTMENTS 7 34,328,197 571,161

CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS AND ADVANCES 8
Inventories 763,585 358,236
Sundry Debtors 1,314,408 986,265
Cash & Bank Balances 530,881 179,285
Loans & Advances 1,332,807 860,282

3,941,681 2,384,068
Less  :
CURRENT LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS
Current Liabilities 9 1,068,479 679,768
Provisions 10 208,187 120,940

1,276,666 800,708

NET CURRENT ASSETS 2,665,015 1,583,360

MISCELLANEOUS EXPENDITURE 11 9,576 12,654

Total 37,554,089 2,478,987

Significant Accounting Policies and
Notes on Accounts 18

As per our attached report of even date

For and on behalf of
M.G. BHANDARI & CO.
Chartered Accountants

M.G. BHANDARI
Partner

Mumbai
4th July, 2000

For and on behalf of the Board

VIJAY JINDAL Vice-Chairman & Managing Director

ASHOK KURIEN Director

R.K. SINGH Chief Executive Officer

B.R. JAJU Executive President-Finance

VIKAS GUPTA Company Secretary

BALANCE SHEET

as at March 31,
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

for the year ending March 31,

For and on behalf of the Board

VIJAY JINDAL Vice-Chairman & Managing Director

ASHOK KURIEN Director

R.K. SINGH Chief Executive Officer

B.R. JAJU Executive President-Finance

VIKAS GUPTA Company Secretary

Rs. in ’000

Schedule 2000 1999

INCOME

Sales & Services 12 4,759,277 2,261,764
Other Income 13 100,769 55,598

Total 4,860,046 2,317,362

EXPENDITURE

Cost of Goods 14 1,344,544 1,055,427
Personnel Cost 15 154,778 107,002
Administrative and Other Expenses 16 369,707 248,716

Total 1,869,029 1,411,145

OPERATING PROFIT (PBIDT) 2,991,017 906,217

Financial  Expenses 17 83,731 80,932
Depreciation 24,892 18,425

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (PBT) 2,882,394 806,860

Provision for Taxation [Includes Rs./Thousands

200 (750) for Wealth Tax] 210,000 195,500

PROFIT AFTER TAX (PAT) 2,672,394 611,360

Balance brought forward 749,564 434,072

Amount Available For Appropriation 3,421,958 1,045,432

APPROPRIATIONS

Dividend :
On Preference Shares (Paid) — 2,639
On Equity  Shares (Proposed)

Final 160,615 102,696
Tax on Dividends (includes Rs./Thousands 1,027 for P.Y.) 36,362 10,533
General Reserve 269,350 150,000
Capital Redemption Reserve — 30,000
Balance carried to Balance Sheet 2,955,631 749,564

3,421,958 1,045,432

Significant Accounting Policies and
Notes on Accounts 18

As per our attached report of even date

For and on behalf of
M.G. BHANDARI & CO.
Chartered Accountants

M.G. BHANDARI
Partner

Mumbai
4th July, 2000
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Rs. in ’000

2000 1999

SCHEDULE 1
SHARE CAPITAL

AUTHORISED
50,00,00,000 (5,00,00,000) Equity Shares of Re.1/- 500,000 500,000
(Rs.10/-) each
25,00,000 Cumulative Redeemable Preference
Shares of Rs.100/- each 250,000 250,000

750,000 750,000

ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID UP
40,86,05,012 (1,86,72,000) Equity Shares of Re.1/- 408,605 186,720
(Rs.10/-) each fully paid up
Less : Calls in arrears (others) 69 69

During the year :

i) 74,68,800 Equity Shares of Re.1/- each have been allotted to the employees of the
Company, its associate companies and Zee Network Employees’ Welfare Trust.

ii) Out of the above 21,03,16,212 Equity Shares of Re.1/- each fully paid up were
allotted for consideration other than cash against acquisition of investments.

iii) 41,00,000 Equity Shares of Re.1/- each fully paid up have been issued at a
premium of Rs.999/- per share for cash on Preferential basis to a Foreign
Institutional Investor.

iv) The Company sub-divided the nominal face value of its equity shares of
Rs.10/- (Rupees Ten) per share into nominal face value of Re.1/- (Rupee One)
per share. Hence wherever required the shares are referred in the denomination
of shares of Re.1/- each.

Total 408,536 186,651

SCHEDULE 2
RESERVES & SURPLUS

Capital Redemption Reserve
As per last Balance Sheet 70,000 40,000
Appropriated during the year — 30,000

70,000 70,000
Share Premium
(i) On shares issued for cash :

Balance as per last Balance Sheet 179,862 179,828
Add : Received during the year 4,246,770 34

4,426,632 179,862

(ii) On shares issued for consideration other than cash :
Added during the year 26,773,063 —

26,773,063 —

31,199,695 179,862
General Reserve
Balance as per last Balance Sheet 730,650 580,650
Appropriated during the year 269,350 150,000

1,000,000 730,650

Profit & Loss Account 2,955,631 749,564

Total 35,225,326 1,730,076

SCHEDULES

to the Balance Sheet as at March 31,
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Rs. in ’000

2000 1999

SCHEDULE 3
SHARE APPLICATION MONEY

(i) Amount received against 75,000 Preferential Warrants @ 212 — 1,590
per warrant, out of 7,46,880 warrants allotted to Zee Network
Employees’ Welfare Trust.

(ii) Amount received as 10% upfront money against 39,00,000 390,000 —
Preferential Warrants of Rs.1000/- each allotted to a Foreign
Institutional Investor entitling it to receive one Equity Share of
Re.1/- each on balance payment.

Total 390,000 1,590

SCHEDULE 4
SECURED LOANS

Working Capital Finance From Banks

a) Secured by hypothecation of stocks (other than Programme 514,294 330,525
& Films Rights), book debts (other than advertisement
commission receivables), first charge on immovable properties
at Noida, and second charge on immovable properties at
Marol, Mumbai all ranking pari passu with other financing
banks and second charge on advertisement commission
receivables.

b) Secured by way of pledge of Fixed Deposits with Banks — 19,427

Term Loan From Financial Institution 787,143 150,000

Secured by first charge on advertising commission and DTO
subscription receivables, first pari passu charge on
fixed assets of the Company except immovable assets at
Noida, exclusive first charge on all present and future programming
library (including films, movies, current affairs, new programmes)
owned by the Company and negative lien with physical custody
of 2,15,00,000 Preference and 25,45,454 Equity Shares of Siti Cable
Network Ltd. (charge is yet to be registered u/s 125 of the Companies
Act, 1956) (Due within one year Rs./Thousands 183,333)

Hire Purchase Finance 1,327 1,132
Secured against the hypothecation of vehicles, the charge
u/s 125 of Companies Act is not registered.

Total 1,302,764 501,084

SCHEDULE 5
UNSECURED LOANS

Fixed Deposits 12,463 26,505

Nil (3,00,000) 13% Unsecured Redeemable Non-Convertible — 30,000
Debentures of Rs.100/- each fully paid up Privately Placed
(Redeemed on 24.05.1999 )

Short Term Loans
– From Bank 215,000 —
– From Others — 3,081

Total 227,463 59,586

SCHEDULES

to the Balance Sheet as at March 31,
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SCHEDULE 6
FIXED ASSETS (AT COST) (Rs. in ’000)

Gross Block Depreciation Net Block

Description As at Addi- Deduc- As at Upto For the year Upto As at As at
1.4.99 tions tions 31.3.2000 31.3.99 Additions Deductions 31.3.2000 31.3.2000 31.3.1999

Land (Leasehold) 6,893 — — 6,893 178 71 — 249 6,644 6,715

Buildings 112,253 5,268 — 117,521 4,494 2,242 216 6,520 111,001 107,759

Plant & Machinery 123,777 63,503 2,762 184,518 21,045 9,660 9 30,696 153,822 102,732

Equipments 76,881 23,773 7,649 93,005 19,711 9,348 2,488 26,571 66,434 57,170

Furniture & Fixtures 29,436 4,841 932 33,345 10,440 2,747 336 12,851 20,494 18,996

Vehicles 15,262 5,423 2,644 18,041 3,712 1,647 837 4,522 13,519 11,550

Total 364,502 102,808 13,987 453,323 59,580 25,715 3,886 81,409 371,914 304,922

Previous Year 301,350 66,159 3,007 364,502 42,651 18,425 1,496 59,580 304,922 258,699

Notes :
a. Depreciation for the year includes Rs./Thousand 823 charged to pre-operative expenses.
b. Deduction of Depreciation includes Rs./Thousands 602 written back.
c. Building includes Rs./Thousands 114, the value of shares in a co-operative society.
d. Deduction from Gross Block includes Rs./Thousands 6,246 assets of Zee Education Division transferred to Zee Interactive

Learning Systems Ltd., Subsidiary Company at its book value.

SCHEDULES

to the Balance Sheet as at March 31,

Rs. in '000

2000 1999
SCHEDULE 7
INVESTMENTS (at Cost)

Quoted – Non-Trade
2,25,000 Equity Shares of Rs.10/- each of Essel Packaging
Ltd. [(Market Value Rs./Thousands 94,500/- (61,853)] 1,500 1,500

Unquoted – Trade
In Subsidiaries – Wholly Owned
34 (Nil) Ordinary Shares of USD 1/- each of Zee Multimedia Worldwide Ltd., BVI (ZMWL)* 20,527,092 —
501 (Nil) Ordinary Shares of USD 1/- each of Winterheath Company Ltd.,
BVI (WCL) (50% held through 100% subsidiary ZMWL)* 9,507,573 —
50,91,108 (25,45,454) Equity Shares of Siti Cable Network Ltd.(SCNL) of Rs. 10/- each* 2,446,442 351,346
2,15,00,000 14% Redeemable Non-Cumulative Preference Shares of
Siti Cable Network Ltd. of Rs.10/- each 215,650 215,650
3,47,100 (1,73,550) Equity Shares of Programme Asia Trading Company Ltd.
(PATCO) of Rs.10/- each* 1,605,002 2,330
10,00,070 (Nil) Equity Shares of Rs.10/- each of E Connect (India) Ltd. 10,001 —
10,00,070 (Nil) Equity Shares of Rs.10/- each of Zee Sports Ltd. 10,001 —
73,587 (Nil) Equity Shares of Rs.10/- each of Zee Interactive Learning Systems Ltd. 736 —
In Subsidiaries – Others
4,00,000 (Nil) Equity Shares of Rs.10/- each of Zee Publishing Ltd. 4,000 —

Others
Nil (12,000) Equity Shares of Nagpur Cable Vision Private Ltd. of Rs.10/- each — 120

Unquoted – Non-Trade
National Savings Certificate VIII issue — 15
200 Floating Rate Interest Bonds of State Bank of India of Rs.1,000/- each fully paid up 200 200
(All above shares & securities are fully paid up.)

Total 34,328,197 571,161

*Note : Cost of these investments amounting to Rs./Thousands 26,983,379 is discharged by way of issue of Company’s Equity
Shares under Share Swap.
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Rs. in ’000

2000 1999

SCHEDULE 8
CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS & ADVANCES

A. CURRENT ASSETS

(a) Inventories (as taken, valued and certified by the Management)
(valued at lower of cost or estimated net realisable value)

Raw Stocks 4,814 5,344
Under Production – TV Programmes/Films 78,693 51,144
Stock in Trade 680,078 301,748

763,585 358,236

(b) Sundry Debtors
(Unsecured and Considered Good unless otherwise stated)

Outstanding for more than 6 months [Considered Doubtful
Rs./Thousands 1,500 (P.Y. Rs./Thousands 1,500) 167,599 180,735
Other Debts :
Considered Good 1,148,309 807,030

1,315,908 987,765

Less : Provision for Doubtful Debts 1,500 1,500

(include Rs./Thousands 1,160,937 due from Subsidiaries) 1,314,408 986,265

(c) Cash & Bank Balances

Cash in hand 2,312 2,993
Balances with Scheduled Banks in Current Accounts 219,020 152,363
Balances with Scheduled Banks in Deposit Accounts 309,549 23,925
Balance with Non-Scheduled Banks in Current Accounts — 4

530,881 179,285

B. LOANS & ADVANCES
(Unsecured and considered good)

Loans 815,116 248,771
Advances (Recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received)

Other Advances 250,845 448,735
Tax advances (Net of provisions) 106,951 71,038

Deposits 159,895 91,738

1,332,807 860,282

Total 3,941,681 2,384,068

SCHEDULE 9
CURRENT LIABILITIES*

Sundry Creditors – For Goods 246,811 162,712
– For Other Liabilities 174,834 72,543

Trade Advances/Deposits received 26,237 25,925
Collected from Advertisers (Pending Remmittance) 608,451 410,401
Unclaimed Dividend 5,192 3,953
Interest accrued but not due 6,954 4,234
(*include Rs./Thousands 609,162 due to Subsidiaries)

Total 1,068,479 679,768

SCHEDULES

to the Balance Sheet as at March 31,
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Rs. in ’000

2000 1999
SCHEDULE 10
PROVISIONS

Provision For – Gratuity 4,385 2,971
– Leave Encashment 7,852 5,003

Proposed Dividend 160,615 102,696
Tax on Dividend 35,335 10,270

Total 208,187 120,940

SCHEDULE 11
MISCELLANEOUS EXPENDITURE
(to the extent not written off or adjusted)

Share Issue Expenses 9,576 12,654

Total 9,576 12,654

SCHEDULES

to the Balance Sheet as at March 31,
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Rs. in ’000

2000 1999
SCHEDULE 12
SALES & SERVICES

Sales – Products 4,053,209 1,713,344
Services – Space Selling 673,491 509,232

– Others 32,577 39,188

Total 4,759,277 2,261,764

SCHEDULE 13
OTHER INCOME

Dividend (Gross) 4,191 1,196
Export Benefits 1,754 1,042
Interest (Gross) [T.D.S. Rs./Thousands 17,652 (7,686)] 80,448 40,437
Miscellaneous Income 8,706 6,177
Rent [T.D.S. Rs./Thousands 1108 (859)] 5,670 5,713
Profit on Sale of Investments — 1,033

Total 100,769 55,598

SCHEDULE 14
COST OF GOODS

OPENING STOCK
Raw Stocks 5,344 6,330
Under Production – TV Programmes/Films 51,144 5,379

– Course/Study Materials — 2,203
Stock in Trade 301,748 244,129

358,236 258,041

ADD : PRODUCTION/ACQUISITION COST
Raw Stocks 45,562 36,095
Productions – TV Programmes/Films 1,163,440 796,339

– Audio Tapes 1,014 6,731
– Course/Study Materials 13,197 41,636
– Publication Expenses 1,692 2,348

Acquisitions – Audio Tapes 8,157 12,741
– Films/Programmes Rights 482,605 259,732
– Electronic Devices 34,226 —

1,749,893 1,155,622

LESS : CLOSING STOCK
  Raw Stocks 4,814 5,344
  Under Production - TV Programmes/Films 78,693 51,144
  Stock in Trade 680,078 301,748

763,585 358,236

Total 1,344,544 1,055,427

SCHEDULE 15
PERSONNEL COST

Salaries, Allowances & Bonus 133,812 95,155
Contribution to PF & Other funds 10,132 7,306
Staff Welfare Expenses 10,834 4,541

Total 154,778 107,002

SCHEDULES

to the Profit and Loss Account for the year ending March 31,
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Rs. in ’000

2000 1999

SCHEDULE 16
ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER EXPENSES

Rent 9,494 7,865
Lease Rentals 7,455 9,358
Rates & Taxes 2,709 2,322
Repairs & Maintenance – Building 1,693 1,276
Repairs & Maintenance – Plant & Machinery 830 1,166
Repairs & Maintenance – Others 11,265 10,116
Insurance 2,047 1,640
Electricity/Water Charges 13,273 10,745
Freight and Forwarding 2,846 3,470
Fees & Subscription 1,115 910
Communication Expenses 34,509 39,923
Printing & Stationery 12,993 13,938
Sundry Expenses 23,562 18,712
Conveyance Expenses 11,481 11,429
Vehicle Expenses 9,922 8,121
Travelling Expenses [including Directors’ Rs./Thousands 5,916 (4,759)] 25,592 25,634
Legal, Professional & Consultancy Charges 34,408 24,714
Auditors’ Remuneration 1,238 892
Business Promotion Expenses 27,270 17,519
Advertisement & Publicity Expenses 115,460 20,408
Donation 575 944
Bad Debts (Debtors & Advances) 7,200 5,499
Commission on Sales 1,284 4,550
Loss on Sale of Fixed Assets 770 953
Share Issue Expenses Written off 3,078 3,078
Prior Period Adjustments 7,638 3,534

Total 369,707 248,716

SCHEDULE 17
FINANCIAL EXPENSES

Interest on – Debentures 577 5,799
– Fixed Deposits 3,375 8,550
– Term Loan 37,268 15,069
– Others 2,042 4,720

Discounting & Financing Expenses 40,469 46,794

Total 83,731 80,932

SCHEDULES

to the Profit and Loss Account for the year ending March 31,
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

and NOTES ON ACCOUNTS

SCHEDULE 18

A. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Accounting Convention

(a) The Financial Statements have been prepared under Historical Cost Convention on going concern basis.

(b) The Company generally follows mercantile system of accounting and recognises income and expenditure on
accrual basis except those with significant uncertainties.

2. Fixed Assets

(a) Fixed assets are stated at cost less depreciation. Cost comprises of capital costs and incidental expenses attributable
to bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use.

(b) All capital costs and incidental expenditure relating to preoperational period are shown as capital work in
progress.

3. Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on Straight Line Method in the manner laid down in Schedule XIV to the Companies Act,
1956. Leasehold Land is amortised over its lease period.

4. Investments

Long term Investments are stated at cost. Any decline in their value other than temporary is charged to Profit and Loss
Account.

5. Transactions in Foreign Currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies, to the extent not covered by forward contracts are accounted at standard exchange
rates. Current assets and current liabilities in foreign currencies are realigned with the rates of exchange ruling on
Balance Sheet date. Any gain/loss arising on realignment or realisation is charged to the Profit and Loss Account.

6. Revenue Recognition

(a) Sale is recognised on despatch of goods to customers.

(b) For services, revenue is recognised when the service is completed.

(c) For advertisements, the commission is recognised when the related advertisement or commercial appears before
the public i.e. on telecast.

(d) Fees are recognised over the period of instructions.

(e) TV programmes production and acquisition costs are net of recoveries.

7. Miscellaneous Expenditure

Share issue expenses are amortised over 10 years.

8. Inventories

Inventories of Raw Stock (Tapes & Cassettes, etc.), TV Programmes /Film under Production, Stock in Trade (TV Programmes,
Films and Rights, Audio Cassettes, Electronic Devices, etc.) are valued at lower of cost or estimated net realisable value.
Net realisable value of TV Programmes is estimated as under :

(a) Once Exploited 10% of cost
(b) Second Exploitation Nil
(c) News, Event based programmes, Current affairs programmes, Chat shows, etc. Nil

Net realisable value off films is taken as estimated by the Management. In case of Films, TV Programmes with Multiple
Rights, cost is allocated to specific rights on estimated basis. Cost is taken on FIFO or specific identification basis.

9. Retirement Benefits

(a) Contribution to Provident Fund and other recognised Funds are charged to Profit and Loss Account.
(b) Leave encashment is provided in terms of contractual obligations as per Company’s Rules.
(c) Gratuity liability is provided on the basis of actuarial valuation.
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B. NOTES ON ACCOUNTS

1. Previous year’s figures are regrouped, rearranged, or recast wherever necessary to conform to this year’s classification.
Figures in brackets pertain to previous year.

As at As at
31st March, 2000 31st March,1999

Rs./Thousands Rs./Thousands

2. Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on
Capital Account & not provided for (net of advances) 12,113 6,619

3. Future committed lease rentals 17,889 19,612

4. Remuneration paid or provided in accordance with Section 198
of the Companies Act, 1956 to the Managing Director :

Salary and Allowances 4,080 4,080
Provident Fund Contribution 490 490
Perquisites 13 13

5. Auditors’ Remuneration :
Audit Fees 1,008 635
Tax Audit Fees 168 100
For Other Matters 62 157

6. Contingent liabilities not provided for :

(a) Corporate Guarantees for loans granted to subsidiaries 140,000 —
to the extent of loan availed

(b) Corporate Guarantees to others (since subsidiary company) 675,000 50,000
(c) Bank/counter guarantees outstanding 50,960 43,336
(d) Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debts 6,201 7,800
(e) Letters of Credit 289,505 885
(f) Legal suits & claims filed against the Company Unascertainable Unascertainable

7. Capital work-in-progress includes pre-operative expenses pending allocation Rs./Thousands 16,986.

8. Cash and Bank balances include :
(a) Fixed Deposits of Rs./Thousands 6,000 pledged as security for credit facilities granted to a Company.
(b) Rs./Thousands 150,000 cheques in hand in current accounts.

9. Loans & Advances include :
(a) Advances of Rs./Thousands 38,037 (38,037) due from Private Limited Companies in which Directors are interested

as Directors.
(b) Loans of Rs./Thousands 65,297 given to Zee Network Employees’ Welfare Trust for purchase of shares under

ESOP and Rs./Thousands 264,805 to subsidiaries.

10. As per the information available with the Company, no amount is due to Small Scale Ancillary Industrial Undertakings
as at 31st March, 2000.

11. Share application money refundable is subject to reconciliation and is lying deposited in a separate bank account.

12. Sales include export of part of film library for Rs./Thousands 18,89,479 to Asia Today Limited (subsidiary company) in
addition to regular export of films and programmes under Programme Supply Agreement.

13. In consonance with the Accounting Standard (AS-2) ‘Valuation of Inventories’ issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India, which is made mandatory from the current year the Company has valued all inventories at lower
of cost or estimated net realisable value. Had this change not been made the profit would have been lower by
Rs./Thousands 17,566.

14. The Company instituted an Employees Stock Option Plan (ESOP) in 1998. The Company has allotted 4,31,400 shares
of Rs.10/- each at Rs. 212/- under ESOP to the employees of the Company and its associate companies and 3,15,480
shares to Zee Network Employees‘ Welfare Trust for eventual transfer to employees under future ESOP. However, no
such transfer is made till 31st March, 2000. SEBI Guidelines for Disclosure and Investor Protection issued by SEBI are
not applicable to the Company’s ESOP. Hence difference between market price and issue price is not required to be
provided in accounts as clarified by SEBI.

15. (a) The Company continues to provide for taxation considering 100% deduction allowable to the Company on the
income from export of TV programmes, films,etc. as per the opinion of tax experts. The said claim is disallowed
by the tax authorities however alternative claim is allowed in appeals decided during the year. Further appeals
of the Company against disallowance of its claim and I.T. department’s appeal challenging the claim allowed are
pending before authorities. On the basis of the judgement in appeals the shortfall of tax provision for the earlier
years work out to Rs./Thousands 4,29,658 for all the earlier assessment years. The reserves are overstated and
liabilities are understated to that extent. If all the claims are rejected in future appeals the Company’s additional
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(contingent) liability will be Rs./Thousands 2,87,380.  However the Company has already paid Rs./Thousands
1,69,368 against disputed tax demands.

(b) The claim for deduction from Income under Income Tax Act, 1961 for services rendered to foreign principals in
the case of merged erstwhile subsidiary company Ambience Space Sellers Ltd. is allowed in appeals decided
during the year which is challenged by the I.T. authorities in further appeal. On the basis of judgements in appeal
there will be shortfall in the tax provision of Rs./Thousands 17,651 upto the assessment year 1997-98. If the
appeal judgements are reversed in further appeals the Company’s additional (contingent) liability will be
Rs./Thousands 40,929.

16. The Company has acquired during the year the following investments paid partly by the issue of equity
shares of the Company and partly in cash, the acquisition cost is stated in the accounts as per para 10 of
Accounting Standard 13 :

(a) The Company acquired 34 equity shares of USD 1 each (100% Share Capital) of Zee Multimedia Worldwide Ltd.,
BVI (ZMWL) for a consideration of USD 470.589 Million. The swap ratio of shares of ZMWL with the shares of
the Company was approved by the members and agreed by the parties based on the Enterprise Value of both
the entities. The consideration for the acquisition was discharged by issue and allotment of 19,41,88,800 equity
shares of Re. 1/- each at a premium of Rs. 104.70 per share of the Company to the shareholders of ZMWL on
30th September, 1999.

b) (i) The Company acquired 50% equity share capital of Winterheath Company Ltd., BVI (WCL) (the other 50%
is held by ZMWL a WOS) for a consideration of USD 212.18 Million. The consideration of acquisition is
discharged in cash of USD 148.26 Million and USD 63.92 Million by allotment of 69,53,553 equity shares
of Re. 1/- each at a premium of Rs. 399.33 per share of the Company. WCL is holding 100% shareholding
of Asia Today Ltd., Mauritius.

(ii) The Company also acquired 50% shareholding of Siti Cable Network Ltd. (SCNL) (50% was already held
by the Company) for a total consideration of USD 47.78 Million by issue and allotment of 51,97,759 equity
shares of Re. 1/- each at a premium of Rs. 399.33 per share of the Company.

(iii) The Company also acquired 50% shareholding of Programme Asia Trading Co. Ltd. (PATCO) (50% was
already held by the Company) for a consideration of USD 36.55 Million by issue and allotment of 39,76,100
equity shares of Re. 1/- each at a premium of Rs.399.33 per share of the Company.

17. Pursuant to the approval of the members in the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 27th September, 1999 the net
assets of the Zee Education Division have been transferred as going concern at book value as on 30th September, 1999
to wholly owned subsidiary Zee Interactive Learning Systems Ltd. and 63,517 Equity Shares of Rs.10/- each fully paid
up are allotted to the Company for the difference of assets and liabilities.

18. Additional information required to be given pursuant to Part II of Schedule VI to the Companies Act,1956 is as
follows :

(a) The Company is in the business of producing television programmes which is not subject to any licence. Hence
licensed capacity is not given. Further the nature of business of the Company is such that the installed capacity
is not quantifiable.

(b) Production, Sales and Stocks

I. OPENING STOCK

1999-2000 1998-1999

Qty. Value Qty. Value
(Nos.) (Rs./Thousands) (Nos.) (Rs./Thousands)

TV Programmes/Films/Rights
– Original 226,369 183,460
– Reexploitable 65,394 52,991

Audio Tapes 7,37,573 7,066 698,316 6,858

Others 2,919 820

Total 7,37,573 301,748 698,316 244,129

II. PRODUCTION/ACQUISITION
Films/Programmes Rights 482,605 259,732
Audio Tapes 8,60,839 8,157 1,129,186 12,741
Electronic Devices 26,201 34,226 — —
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1999-2000 1998-1999

Qty. Value Qty. Value
(Nos.) (Rs./Thousands) (Nos.) (Rs./Thousands)

III. A. SALES
TV Programmes/Films/Rights

– Original 2,506,199 1,442,437
– Reexploited 1,462,734 175,036

Audio Tapes 6,39,952 13,260 1,089,929 25,764

B. SERVICES
Space Selling Commission 673,491 509,232
Others 103,593 109,295

Total 6,39,952 4,759,277 1,089,929 2,261,764

IV. CLOSING STOCK

TV Programmes/Films/Rights
– Original 554,123 226,369
– Reexploitable 82,554 65,394

Audio Tapes 9,58,460 9,175 737,573 7,066
Electronic Devices 26,201 34,226 — —
Others — — — 2,919

Total 9,84,661 680,078 737,573 301,748

Quantitative details of Films/Programmes & Rights thereof (Audio, Video, etc.) are not given as the Company acquires
multiple rights of programming partially/singularly in different ways. Hence, quantitative details are not determinable.

(c) Consumption of raw materials
1999-2000 1998-1999

Qty. Value Qty. Value
(Nos.) (Rs./Thousands) (Nos.) (Rs./Thousands)

Raw Tapes 49,268 43,595 35,189 35,354
Others 2,497 1,727

Total 49,268 46,092 35,189 37,081

1999-2000 1998-99

% (Rs./Thousands) % (Rs./Thousands)
(d) Value of imported and indigenous raw

materials consumed
Imported — — 0.05 20
Indigenous 100.00 46,092 99.95 37,061

Total 100.00 46,092 100.00 37,081

Rs./Thousands Rs./Thousands
(e) Earnings in foreign exchange

FOB value of exports 3,939,459 1,518,054
Others — 692

(f) Remittances in Foreign Currency
Dividend remitted 773 1,629
No. of Shareholders 609 1,079
No. of Equity Shares held 140,455 296,100

(g) Expenditure in Foreign Currency
Travelling 4,339 3,564
Others 9,719 11,797

(h) CIF Value of Imports
Capital Equipments 182,004 25,991
Raw Materials — 20
Others 11,362 —

For and on behalf of the Board

VIJAY JINDAL Vice-Chairman & Managing Director

ASHOK KURIEN Director

R.K. SINGH Chief Executive Officer

B.R. JAJU Executive President-Finance

VIKAS GUPTA Company Secretary

As per our attached report of even date
For and on behalf of

M.G. BHANDARI & CO.
Chartered Accountants

M.G. BHANDARI
Partner

Mumbai
4th July, 2000
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I. REGISTRATION DETAILS

Registration No. State Code

Date Month Year
Balance Sheet date

II. CAPITAL RAISED DURING THE YEAR (AMOUNT RS. IN THOUSANDS)
Public Issue Rights Issue

Bonus Issue Preferential Allotment

III. POSITION OF MOBILISATION AND DEPLOYMENT OF FUNDS (AMOUNT RS. IN THOUSANDS)
Total Liabilities Total Assets

SOURCES OF FUNDS
Paid-up Capital Reserves and Surplus

Share Application Money Secured Loans

Unsecured Loans

APPLICATION OF FUNDS
Net Fixed Assets Investments

Net Current Assets Miscellaneous Expenditure

IV. PERFORMANCE OF COMPANY (AMOUNT RS. IN THOUSANDS)
Turnover* Total Expenditure

(*Includes other income)

+ – Profit/(Loss) Before Tax + –   Profit/(Loss) After Tax

Earnings Per Share (weighted) (Rs.) Dividend Rate (%)

V. GENERIC NAMES OF PRINCIPAL PRODUCTS OF THE COMPANY (AS PER MONETARY TERMS)

Item Code No. (ITC Code)

Product Description

3 1 0 3 2 0 0 0

2 8 7 6 7 1 1

N I L N I L

N I L 2 2 1 8 8 5

3 7 5 5 4 0 8 9 3 7 5 5 4 0 8 9

4 0 8 5 3 6 3 5 2 2 5 3 2 6

3 9 0 0 0 0 1 3 0 2 7 6 4

5 5 1 3 0 1 3 4 3 2 8 1 9 7

2 6 6 5 0 1 5 9 5 7 6

2 2 7 4 6 3

BALANCE SHEET ABSTRACT

AND COMPANY’S GENERAL BUSINESS PROFILE

4 8 6 0 0 4 6 1 9 7 7 6 5 2

2 8 8 2 3 9 4 2 6 7 2 3 9 4

5 59 . 1 5

✓ ✓

8 5 2 4 9 0 0 1

R E C O R D E D V I D E O C A S S E T T E S

For and on behalf of the Board

VIJAY JINDAL Vice-Chairman & Managing Director
ASHOK KURIEN Director
R.K. SINGH Chief Executive Officer
B.R. JAJU Executive President-Finance
VIKAS GUPTA Company Secretary

Mumbai
4th July, 2000
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(Rs. in ‘000)
2000 1999

A. CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Profit before taxation, and extraordinary items 2,882,394 806,860
Adjustments for :
Depreciation 24,892 18,425
Share issue expenses w/off 3,078 3,078
(Profit)/Loss on sale of fixed assets 770 953
(Profit)/Loss on sale of investments — (1,033)
Interest Expenses 43,262 34,138
Dividend Income (4,191) (1,196)
Interest Income (80,448) (40,437)
Prior period depreciation written back (602) —

Operating profit before working capital changes 2,869,155 820,788
Adjustments for :
Increase in trade and other receivables (763,224) (400,362)
Increase in inventories (405,349) (100,195)
Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables 389,015 (208,628)

Cash Generated from Operations 2,089,597 111,603
Direct taxes paid (245,913) (270,597)

Net Cash flow from Operating Activities 1,843,684 (158,994)

B. CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Fixed Assets (274,482) (65,670)
Purchase of investments (in subsidiaries) (6,773,792) (92,843)
Dividend received 4,191 1,196
Sale of investments 135 2,754
Sale of fixed assets 9,933 558
Interest income 79,371 40,390

Net Cash flow from Investing Activities (6,954,644) (113,615)

C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividend paid (including Corporate Dividend Tax) (112,754) (114,188)
Interest paid (40,996) (36,378)
Proceeds from issue of share capital including share premium 4,258,339 —
Redemption of preference shares — (30,000)
Redemption of Debentures (30,000) —
Share Application Money Received (Net) 388,410 1,590
Calls in arrears received (including share premium) — 51
Proceeds from borrowings 999,557 137,767

Net Cash flow from Financing Activities 5,462,556 (41,158)

Net Cash Flow during the year (A+B+C) 351,596 (313,767)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the year 179,285 493,052

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the year 530,881 179,285

Notes :

1. Previous year’s figures have been regrouped, recast wherever necessary.
2. Proceeds from borrowings are shown net of repayments.
3. Purchase of investments (in subsidiaries) includes Rs./Thousands 635 for shares received against net assets value on transfer of Zee Education

Division.
4. Above statement does not include purchase of investments (in subsidiaries) Rs./Thousands 26,983,379 and proceeds from issue of share

capital including premium of Rs./Thousands 26,983,379, are on account of shares issued against acquisition of investments.

Mumbai
4th July, 2000

For and on behalf of the Board

VIJAY JINDAL Vice-Chairman & Managing Director
ASHOK KURIEN Director
R.K. SINGH Chief Executive Officer
B.R. JAJU Executive President-Finance
VIKAS GUPTA Company Secretary

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

for the year ending 31st March, 2000

AUDITORS’ CERTIFICATE

We have examined the above Cash Flow Statement of Zee Telefilms Limited for the year ended 31st March, 2000. The Statement has been prepared
by the Company in accordance with the requirements of listing agreement clause 32 with Stock Exchange and is based on and is in agreement
with the corresponding Profit and Loss Account and Balance Sheet of the Company covered by our report dated 4th July, 2000 to the members
of the Company.

For M.G. BHANDARI & CO.
Chartered Accountants

M.G. BHANDARI
Mumbai Partner
4th July, 2000
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55

to the Members of SITI CABLE NETWORK LIMITED
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

In addition to the above your Company had already established three
new projects / control rooms at Lucknow, Jullandhar and Agra and
intend to establish about 20 control rooms in different main cities in the
coming year.

Since this is the market of content providers, Company had launched a
premium movie channel known as “SITI CINEMA”, which has been well
received in by the market and had created an USP in the market, thus laid
the way for further growth of revenue for the Company and increasing the
market penetration. This channel will give an impetus to the advertisement
revenue as well as connectivity increase through the franchisee networks.
To follow the recent trend of automation, Company has already installed
LAN System (Local Area Network) and further upgraded it for automation
and developed integrated software to facilitate the Company for faster data
and information from central office to field and vice versa and enable
better control and management of Network.

TECHNOLOGY CHANGE AND UPGRADATION

Your Company has planned to go for Digitalisation immediately from
the existing U-Matic programming set up in two phases in main cities
(Regions).  In the first phase, it will cover Bombay, Hyderabad, Delhi,
Bangalore and will cover Ahmedabad, Calcutta in the second phase.
Also due to market realities and invasion of more satellite channels, your
Company has planned to upgrade the Network to adopt more channels
from the existing 550 MHz to 750 MHz.

AUDITORS

M/s. M.G. Bhandari & Co., Chartered Accountants, Mumbai are deemed
to retire as Auditors of the Company at the conclusion of the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment.  They have furnished a certificate to the effect that their
reappointment, if made, will be in accordance with Section 224(1B) of
the Companies Act, 1956.

PERSONNEL

The Statutory Statement of particulars of employees pursuant to Section
217(2A) of the Companies Act, 1956 is enclosed and forms part of this
report.

DIRECTORS

During the period under review, Mr. Anthony D’Silva, Mr. Vasudev Chari
and Mr. Gareth Chang Chun Chung have been inducted in the Board
as Additional Directors of the  Company and Mr. Hari Goenka, Mr. Gary
A.Walrath, Mr. Gareth Chang Chun Chung, Mr. Jawahar Goel and Mr.
David Haslingden have resigned.  Mr. Anthony D’Silva carries with him
vast experience in satellite and pay channel distribution industry. Mr.
Vasudev Chari has vast experience in cable networking industry. Their
induction as Director will immensely help the Company’s business.
Pursuant to the Section 260  of the Companies Act, 1956 their term of
office is going to expire on the date of the 13th Annual General Meeting.
Considering their experience, your Directors recommend their names
for regularisation of their office. Necessary resolutions for regularisation
of  Mr. D’Silva and Mr. Vasudev Chari as Directors have been inserted
in the notice calling the 13th Annual General Meeting of the Company
for the approval of members.

AUDITORS’ REPORT

Your Directors reply to the various remarks made by the Auditors in their
report as follows:

a) Premises  & Title Deeds – Few properties/premises acquired
and under by the Company for its business for about 5 years are
of such a nature that these are transferable only by Power of
Attorney basis, conventional title.  Since the premises are already
in the possession of the Company for the last 5 years and the
requisite municipal taxes are also being paid wherever applicable.
However, as and when law effectively permits, three properties
will be registered in the name of the Company.

Regarding the properties purchased at Ahmedabad, though the
Company has paid the requisite purchase consideration for these

Your Directors take pleasure in presenting the Thirteenth Annual Report
together with the audited Statements of Accounts for the year ended
31st March, 2000.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

1999-2000 1998-1999
Rs. in lacs Rs. in lacs

Gross Income 5895.52 4631.88

Profit/(Loss) before Depreciation,
Provision for Doubtful Debts 1126.11 1120.17

Provision for Doubtful Debts 154.97 306.34

Profit/(Loss) before Depreciation and Tax 971.14 813.83

Depreciation 576.99 548.80

Profit for the year 394.15 265.03

Extra Ordinary Items 100.00 NIL

Profit/(Loss) before Tax 294.15 265.03

Provision for Taxation 0.12 1.28

Profit/(Loss) after Tax 294.03 263.75

Prior Period Adjustments 185.06 133.63

Balance Brought Forward (1490.98) (1621.10)

Balance Carried to Balance Sheet (1382.01) (1490.98)

OPERATIONS

The Company has registered a turnover of Rs. 5895.52 lakhs, which is
27% increase over the previous year figure of Rs. 4631.88 lakhs. The
Company has made a modest profit after Depreciation amounting to
Rs. 394.15 lakhs during the year under review. There is a remarkable
growth of 51% in the subscription front and a moderate growth of
17% in advertisement income during the year under review as compared
to previous year.

EXTRA ORDINARY ITEMS

The Company during the year under review has provided for Rs. 100.00
lakhs, as compensation paid/payable to the family of late Shri P. Rama
Krishna.

DIVIDEND

Your Directors express their inability to recommend any dividend for the
year under review, though your Company has earned a profit of
Rs. 109.09 lakhs in view of accumulated losses of Rs. 1382.01 lakhs
after adjusting current year’s profit.

FUTURE BUSINESS OUTLOOK

The Company continues to enjoy the status of the market leader in the
CATV Networking business, which is still in its nascent stages and has
a tremendous future potential.  We are expecting a revenue growth of
approximately 40% per annum for years to come.

Siti Cable has started consolidating the existing control rooms by way
of Hybrid optical fibre cable, which will reduce the expenses drastically.
Three control rooms at Hyderabad and Secunderabad has already been
merged with the help of Optic Fibre Cable. The merging of other
control rooms in other cities is also planned in the coming year. This will
not only increase the profit of the Company but it will come an edge
over the competitors.  Also the Company is going for value added
services as planned like addressibility system and internet. In fact in two
control rooms of Bangalore, Internet through cable is already on, which
in turn increase in revenue and the profitability of the Company.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION GIVEN AS REQUIRED UNDER COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF PARTICULARS IN THE REPORT OF BOARD
OF DIRECTORS) RULES, 1988

I. INFORMATION AS PER SEC. 217(2A) (B) (II) READ WITH COMPANIES (PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES) RULES, 1975 AND
FORMING PART OF THE DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED ON 31st MARCH, 2000

Sl.No. Name Age Designation Total Qualifications Experience Date of Last
Remuneration Rs. Commencement Employment

1. Mr. Hari Goenka 47 Executive 6,15,192 B.Com., LL.B 25 Yrs. 01.07.1997 West Delhi Cable
Director Network Pvt.Ltd.

I I . FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO

Current Year Previous Year
Rs. Rs.

(a) Total foreign exchange earned Nil Nil

(b) Total foreign exchange used :-
i) For capital goods import 51,808,844.00 24,699,558.00
ii) For travelling 158,069.40 48,822.00
iii) For books and periodicals 19,568.20 49,000.00

For and on behalf of the Board

Place : Mumbai R.K. SINGH VASUDEV CHARI
Dated : 27th July, 2000 Director Director

3 premises and the Company has already taken the possession of
these premises, one property has been registered in the name of
the company.  Regarding the other property, legal formalities are
still pending.  With regard to the property situated at Sabarmati,
because of bylaws of the society this property cannot be transferred
in the name of a limited company. The remaining formalities would
be completed during the current financial year.  Hence, your
Directors feel that the properties are fully in the control and custody
of the Company.

b) Loans and Advances to JV Companies - Your Company has
advanced various loans and advances to various JV Companies as
on 31st March, 2000, amounting to Rs. 1439.72 lakhs.   These
JV Companies are not in a position to self sustain themselves
during the initial stages of the operation.  Therefore, it is necessary
to assist the JV Companies initially till the period the JV companies
are self-sustained.  The trend of giving advances stopped
completely.  The return of advances from JVs has been started as
more and more JV Companies are coming into profits.

c) Internal control/procedures for material etc. – In view of
nature of business geographical spread throughout the country,
process of the strengthening the internal control system is in
progress.

d) Internal Audit - Your Company is conducting frequent audits
and checks on various regional offices spread all over India and
it is being strengthened to increase the frequency and coverage
of vast network throughout the country at regular intervals.

CONSERVATION OF ENERGY

During the year under review, no activity relating to conservation of
energy was carried out by the Company.

TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION

There was no absorption of any technology by the Company during
the year under review.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO

The details with regard to Foreign Exchange Earnings and Outgo are
enclosed by way of an Annexure which forms an integral part of this
report.
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We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of Siti Cable Network
Limited as at 31st March, 2000 and also the Profit and Loss Account
of the Company for the year ended on that date annexed thereto and
report that :-

1) As required by Manufacturing and other Companies (Auditor’s
Report) Order, 1988 issued by the Company Law Board in terms
of Section 227(4A) of the Companies Act, 1956, and on the basis
of such checks as we considered appropriate, and according to
the information and explanations given to us, during the course
of audit, we annex hereto a statement on the matters specified
in paragraphs 4 and 5 of the said Order.

2) Further to our comments in the annexure referred to in paragraph
(1) above :

a) We have obtained all the information and explanations which
to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for
the purpose of our audit;

b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law
have been kept by the Company, so far as appears from
our examination of the books;

c) The Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Account dealt with
by this report are in agreement with the books of account;

d) In our opinion the Balance Sheet and Profit & Loss Account
comply with the mandatory Accounting Standards referred
to in Section 211(3C)  of the Companies Act, 1956.

e) In our opinion and to the best of our  information  and
according to the explanations given to us, the said accounts,
subject to, Note No. 4 Assets not held in the name of the
Company, Note No. 8  Deferred  charge of shortage in
fixed asset of earlier period, Note No. 11 shares of
Management Joint Venture Management Companies held
by Companies of the promotor group, Note No. 12 change
in method of valuation of Inventories to comply with AS-2,
this change has no impact on profit for the year and read
together with other notes and significant accounting policies
as per Schedule 18, gives the  information required by the
Companies Act, 1956, in the manner so required and give
a true and fair view :-

1. In  the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs
of the Company as at 31st March, 2000,

and

2. In the case of the Profit and Loss Account, of the Profit
for the year ended on that date.

For M.G. BHANDARI & CO.
Chartered Accountants

Place : Mumbai M.G. BHANDARI
Dated : 27th July, 2000 Partner

to the Members of SITI CABLE NETWORK LIMITED
AUDITORS’ REPORT ANNEXURE REFERRED TO IN PARAGRAPH (1) OF AUDITORS'

REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF SITI CABLE NETWORK LIMITED
ON THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH, 2000.

1. The Company has maintained the record of fixed assets with
quantitative details and situation of fixed assets. As explained, the
Company has formulated a phased programme of physical
verification of fixed assets and in pursuance thereof physical
verification is carried out and any discrepancies found on such
physical verification is provided in the accounts.

2. None of the fixed assets have been revalued during the year.

3. The stock of stores & spares, raw cassettes, programme/film rights
have been physically verified by the management during the
year.

4. In our opinion, the procedure of physical verification of stocks
followed by the management, is reasonable and adequate in
relation to the size of the Company and nature of its business.

5. Discrepancies noticed on physical verification of stocks as compared
to book records were properly dealt with in the books of accounts.

6. In our opinion the valuation of stocks is fair and proper and in
accordance with the normally accepted accounting principles and
is on the same basis as in the preceding year except change in
method of valuation to comply with Accounting Standard – 2 as
stated in Note No.12.

7. In our opinion the terms and conditions of interest free unsecured
loans taken by the Company from Companies and parties listed
in the register maintained under Section 301 of the Companies
Act, 1956, and from Companies under the same management as
was defined in Section 370 (1B) of the Companies Act, 1956, are
prima facie not prejudicial to the interest of the Company.

8. The Company has not given loans to parties listed in the register
maintained under Section 301 of the Companies Act, 1956 and
to any company under the same management as was defined
under  Section 370 (1B) of the Companies Act, 1956.

9. The Company has granted loans or advances in the nature of
loans to parties including employees who are repaying the principal
as stipulated or rescheduled and are regular in the payment of
interest wherever applicable except the interest free business
advance in the nature of loans of Rs. 1439.72 Lacs given to its
management joint venture companies. Part of these advances are
doubtful of recovery and  Rs. 132.79 Lacs  are provided for.

10. In our opinion the internal control procedure needs to be
strengthened to make it commensurate with the size of the
Company and nature of its business for the purchase of stores,
plant and machinery, equipment and other assets, and there are
no sale of goods.

11. According to information and explanations given to us, in our
opinion, purchase and sale of programmes made in pursuance of
the contract or arrangements entered in the register maintained
under Section 301 of the Companies Act , 1956 and aggregating
during the year to Rs. 50,000 or more in value in respect of each
party are made at price which are reasonable having regards to
the prevalent market prices, wherever available or prices at which
the transactions for similar goods have been made with other
parties. There are no such sale of services.

12. The Company has system of determination of unserviceable or
damaged  stores and spares  and necessary provision for the loss
has been made in the accounts.

13. The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public.



58 ANNUAL  REPORT  1999-2000

14. The Company is not a manufacturing Company as such do not
generate any realisable by-products and scraps.

15. The Company’s present internal audit system is required to be
strengthened as to the coverage .

16. The Central Government has not prescribed maintenance of cost
records under Section 209 (1)(d) of the Companies Act, 1956.

17. According to the records of the Company the Contribution to
Provident Fund and Employees’ State Insurance dues have been
regularly deposited with the appropriate authorities.

18. According to the information and explanations given to us, no
undisputed amount is payable in respect of Income Tax, Sales Tax,
Wealth Tax , Custom Duty and other taxes which have remained
outstanding as at 31st March, 2000 for a period of more than six
months from the date they became payable.

19. According to the information and explanations given to us, no
personal expenses have been charged to Profit and Loss Account,
other than those payable under contractual obligation or in
accordance with generally accepted business practices.

20. The Company is not a sick industrial company within the meaning
of clause (O) of sub-section (1) of Section 3 of the Sick Industrial
(Special Provisions) Act., 1985.

21. The Company‘s main activities are  Cable Network service provider,
and as such it does not involve consumption of materials and
stores. However, as explained to us, the Company has reasonable
system of authorisation at proper levels with adequate system of
internal control commensurate with size of the Company and
nature of its business.

For M.G. BHANDARI & CO.
Chartered Accountants

Place : Mumbai M.G. BHANDARI
Dated : 27th July, 2000 Partner
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[Figures in Rs. ‘000]

Sch. As at As at
Ref. 31-03-2000 31-03-1999

SOURCES OF FUNDS

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

Share Capital 1 480,911 480,911
Reserves & Surplus 2 509,091 509,091

LOAN FUNDS

Secured Loans 3 9,928 661
Unsecured Loans 4 208,189 127,521

Total 1,208,119 1,118,184

APPLICATION OF FUNDS

FIXED ASSETS (Cost) 5 865,194 780,909

Less : Depreciation 211,910 154,325

Net Block 653,284 626,584
Capital Work-in-Progress 30,167 10,564

683,451 637,148

INVESTMENTS 6 171 365

CURRENT ASSETS, 7
LOANS &  ADVANCES

Inventories 166,842 148,143
Sundry Debtors 252,729 197,448
Cash & Bank Balances 11,006 26,666
Loans & Advances 198,438 167,385

629,015 539,642

Less : CURRENT LIABILITIES
& PROVISIONS 8 269,560 241,538

Net Current Assets 359,455 298,104

MISCELLANEOUS EXPENDITURE 9 26,841 33,469

PROFIT  AND LOSS ACCOUNT 138,201 149,098

Total 1,208,119 1,118,184

NOTES ON ACCOUNTS & SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 18

as at March 31, 2000
BALANCE SHEET

for the year ended March 31, 2000
PROFIT & LOSS ACCOUNT

As per our attached Report For and on behalf of the Board
of even date

For  M.G. BHANDARI & CO. R.K. SINGH ANTHONY D’SILVA
Chartered Accountants Director Director

M.G. BHANDARI G.V. RAO
Partner Company Secretary

Mumbai
Dated : 27th July, 2000

[Figures in Rs. ‘000]

Sch. Year ended Year ended
Ref. 31-03-2000 31-03-1999

INCOME

Network Income 10 586,399 459,065

Other Income 11 3,153 4,123

Total 589,552 463,188

EXPENDITURE

Programming Expenses 12 190,617 113,917

Operational Expenses 13 134,160 105,186

Personnel Expenses 14 34,423 33,554

Administrative & Other Expenses 15 67,938 84,761

Selling Expenses 16 60,756 40,703

Financial Expenses 17 4,544 3,684

Depreciation 5 57,699 54,880

Total 550,137 436,685

PROFIT BEFORE TAX AND

EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS 39,415 26,503

Extra Ordinary Items

(Compensation) 10,000 —

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 29,415 26,503

Provision for Taxation (Wealth Tax) 12 128

PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAX 29,403 26,375

Prior Period Adjustments 18,506 13,363

BALANCE BROUGHT FORWARD (149,098)  (162,110)

BALANCE CARRIED TO
BALANCE SHEET (138,201) (149,098)

NOTES ON ACCOUNTS & SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 18

As per our attached Report For and on behalf of the Board
of even date

For  M.G. BHANDARI & CO. R.K. SINGH ANTHONY D’SILVA
Chartered Accountants Director Director

M.G. BHANDARI G.V. RAO
Partner Company Secretary

Mumbai
Dated : 27th July, 2000
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[Figures in Rs. ‘000]

As at As at
31-03-2000 31-03-1999

SCHEDULE : 1
SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised :

7,000,000 (7,000,000) Equity 70,000 70,000
Shares of Rs.10/- each

43,000,000 (43,000,000) 14% 430,000 430,000
Redeemable Non Cumulative
Preference Shares of Rs.10/- each

Total 500,000 500,000

Issued, Subscribed & Paid-up :

5,091,108 (5,091,108) Equity
Shares of Rs.10/- each
fully paid up 50,911 50,911

43,000,000 (43,000,000) 14%
Redeemable Non-Cumulative
Preference Shares of Rs.10/-
each fully paid up 430,000 430,000

Notes :

1. Above 50,91,108 Equity Shares of
Rs.10/- each and 21,500,000 14%
Redeemable Non- Cumulative
Preference Shares of Rs.10/- each are
held by the  Holding Company viz.
Zee Telefilms Ltd.

2. 14% Redeemable Non-Cumulative
Preference Shares amount-
ing to Rs.260,000,000/- and
Rs.170,000,000/- are to be redeemed
at par after 7 Years from the date of
allotment i.e. 16-1-96 and 10-3-97
respectively.

Total 480,911 480,911

SCHEDULE : 5
FIXED ASSETS [Figures in Rs. ‘000]

GROSS BLOCK DEPRECIATION NET BLOCK

As at Additions Deductions As at Upto For the Deduction Upto As at As at
DESCRIPTION 1.4.99 31.3.2000 31.3.99 Year 31.3.2000 31.3.2000 31.3.99

Goodwill 4,640 — — 4,640 1,494 464 — 1,958 2,682 3,146
Building 29,017 79 — 29,096 1,468 473 — 1,941 27,155 27,549
Plant & Machinery 680,067 77,212 — 757,279 134,433 50,238 — 184,671 572,608 545,634
Computers 15,434 2,647 — 18,081 6,318 2,660 — 8,978 9,103 9,116
Office Equipment 5,246 902 65 6,083 999 355 10 1,344 4,739 4,247
Furniture & Fixtures 6,724 589 — 7,313 2,114 481 — 2,595 4,718 4,610
Air Conditioners 3,376 99 — 3,475 456 164 — 620 2,855 2,920
Studio Equipment 33,093 1,142 2 34,233 6,292 2,409 1 8,700 25,533 26,801
Vehicles 3,312 1,682 — 4,994 751 352 — 1,103 3,891 2,561

Current Year Total 780,909 84,352 67 865,194 154,325 57,596 11 211,910 653,284 626,584

Previous Year Total 739,346 75,791 34,228 780,909 109,290 54,908 9,873 154,325 626,584

Notes :
a. Depreciation for the year is net of  Rs./Thousands 103  excess provision of earlier  years.
b. Fixed assets include assets given on lease of Gross Block for Rs./Thousands 70,010.

forming part of the Balance Sheet
as at March 31, 2000

SCHEDULES [Figures in Rs. ‘000]

As at As at
31-03-2000 31-03-1999

SCHEDULE : 2
RESERVES & SURPLUS

Share Premium Account 509,091 509,091

Total 509,091 509,091

SCHEDULE : 3
SECURED LOANS

From Canara Bank

– Secured against
hypothecation of vehicle, 790 199

– OCC Limit Secured against hypo-
thecation of capital equipments,
stores, consumables under stores,
control room equipments installed
in Delhi, book debts and
guaranteed by one of the Directors␣ 8,882 —

From Others

–  Secured against hypothecation of
vehicle (Charge not registered
with the Registrar of Companies) 256 462

Total 9,928 661

SCHEDULE : 4
UNSECURED LOANS

– Interest free loans from
Body Corporate 72,163 107,217

– Interest free loans from
Holding Companies 108,689 —

– Trade Deposits from Joint
Veture Companies 23,074 17,942

– Interest accrued & due
on trade deposit 4,263 2,362

Total 208,189 127,521
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[Figures in Rs. ‘000]

As at As at
31-03-2000 31-03-1999

SCHEDULE : 6
INVESTMENTS (AT COST)

Long Term (Unquoted)

A. TRADE
Shares
– 480 Equity Shares of Rs. 100/-

each of Master Ads. Pvt.
Ltd. – Hyderabad 48 48

Investment in Partnership Firm
– Cable Broadcasting Network 118 312

B. NON-TRADE
National Savings Certificate
– Pledged with Entertainment

Tax Authorities 5 5

Total 171 365

SCHEDULE : 7
CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS & ADVANCES

A) CURRENT ASSETS
(a) INVENTORIES

(as taken, valued & certified by
the management)
(Valued at lower of cost or
estimated net realisable value)
Stores & Spares 76,014 59,326
Programmes rights 84,792 83,754
Raw Stock – Cassettes 766 280
Goods-in-Transit 5,270 4,783

Total (a) 166,842 148,143

(b) SUNDRY DEBTORS
(Unsecured, Considered good)

More than Six Months Old 161,017 119,121
Others 159,949 132,163

320,966 251,284

Less : Provision for Doubtful Debts 68,237 53,836

Total  (b) 252,729 197,448

(c) CASH & BANK BALANCES
Cash in hand 429 411
Balance with Scheduled Banks

In Current accounts 6,964 12,674
In Fixed deposits 2,260 9,360

(Pledged with Bank Rs. 21,87,894/-
Previous Year Rs.15,32,000/-)

Cheques &  Drafts in Hand/Transit 1,353 4,221

Total  (c) 11,006 26,666

Total (A) 430,577 372,257

B) LOANS & ADVANCES
(Unsecured, Considered good)

(a) Loans 1,211 1,391
(b) Security Deposits 41,374 40,707
(c) Advances

(Recoverable in cash or in kind or
for value to be received unless
otherwise stated)
– To Joint Venture

Companies 143,972 110,993
– To Others 30,479 32,452
– Tax Advances 2,462 1,806

176,913 145,251

Less : Provision for Doubtful
Advances 21,060 19,964

155,853 125,287

Total (B) 198,438 167,385

Total (A)+(B) 629,015 539,642

[Figures in Rs. ‘000]

As at As at
31-03-2000 31-03-1999

SCHEDULE : 8
CURRENT LIABILITIES & PROVISIONS

A) CURRENT LIABILITIES
Creditors

– for Programmes & Goods 172,153 177,525
– for Expenses 56,146 35,703
– for Small Scale Units 1,517 968
– Other Liabilities 35,824 23,005

B) PROVISIONS
Provision for Taxation 25 21
Provision for Retirement Benefits 3,895 4,316

Total (A+B) 269,560 241,538

SCHEDULE : 9
MISCELLANEOUS EXPENDITURE
(to the extent not written off or adjusted)

Pre Operative Expenses 2 3
Preliminary Expenses (Rs.455/-
Previous Year Rs. 910/-) — 1
Share Capital Issue Fees 1,312 1,555
Fixed Assets (Shortages) 25,527 31,910

Total 26,841 33,469

[Figures in Rs. ‘000]

Year Ended Year Ended
31-03-2000 31-03-1999

SCHEDULE : 10
NETWORK INCOME

Subscription Income 320,453 212,016
Advertisement Income 223,265 191,508
Lease Rentals 10,800 22,207
Programming Charges 31,881 32,171
Income from Miscellaneous Services — 1,163

Total 586,399 459,065

SCHEDULE : 11
OTHER INCOME

Profit on Sale of Assets — 75
Interest (TDS Rs.1,55,535/-,
P.Y. Rs. 77,820/-) 738 513
Miscellaneous Income 2,415 3,535

Total 3,153 4,123

SCHEDULE : 12
PROGRAMMING EXPENSES

Programmes/Film Rights
Opening Stock 83,754 70,176
Add : Purchases 50,794 45,341

134,548 115,517
Less : Closing Stock 84,631 83,754

49,917 31,763
Programme Production Expenses 41,184 37,138
Raw Stock Consumed (Cassettes) 15,674 3,786
Subscription Pay Channels 83,842 41,230

Total 190,617 113,917

forming part of the Profit & Loss Account
for the year ending march 31, 2000

SCHEDULES
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[Figures in Rs. ‘000]

Year Ended Year Ended
31-03-2000 31-03-1999

SCHEDULE : 13
OPERATIONAL EXPENSES

Network Management Services 50,407 33,652
Advertisement Playout Charges 23,386 22,430
Repairs & Maintenance – Network 30,409 24,655
Repairs & Maintenance – Building 19 238
Rent 8,594 7,537
Permission Fees 6,088 5,279
Power & Fuel 12,661 9,612
Entertainment Tax — 84
Share of Loss in Partnership Firm 158 159
Sundry Expenses 2,438 1,540

Total 134,160 105,186

SCHEDULE : 14
PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Salaries, Allowances & Ex-gratia 27,038 27,169
Contributions to PF & Other funds 2,554 2,222
Staff Welfare Expenses 4,215 3,897
Other Expenses 616 266

Total 34,423 33,554

SCHEDULE : 15
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Travelling & Conveyance Expenses 13,661 11,256
(Directors’ travelling  Rs. 7,85,032/-
P.Y. Rs. 6,57,574/-)
Printing & Stationery 2,481 1,969
Legal & Professional Charges 2,703 4,169
Rent 3,741 2,979
Rates & Taxes 202 581
Communication Expenses 8,775 7,990
Auditors’ Remuneration 826 539
Electricity Charges 2,650 2,197
Donation 1 1
Repairs & Maintenance - Building 236 1,395
Repairs & Maintenance - Others 1,447 1,615
Vehicle Expenses 1,543 1,043
Insurance 593 466
Pre-operative Expenses 2 2
Preliminary Expenses (Rs. 455/- P.Y. Rs. 455/-) — —
Provision for Doubtful Debts & Advances 15,497 30,634
Balances Written off 1,025 220
Capital Issue Expenses Written off 243 243
Loss on Sale/Discard of Assets 8 147
Fixed Assets Shortages Written off 6,382 12,223
Service Charges 2,506 2,623
Sundry Expenses 3,416 2,469

Total 67,938 84,761

SCHEDULE : 16
SELLING EXPENSES

Advertisement & Publicity 2,602 757
Commission & Brokerage 25,223 26,045
Sales Promotion 2,288 2,468
Conference Expenses 155 —
Rebate/Discount 30,488 11,433

Total 60,756 40,703

[Figures in Rs. ‘000]

Year Ended Year Ended
31-03-2000 31-03-1999

SCHEDULE : 17
FINANCIAL EXPENSES

Interest on  Security Deposits 3,091 2,312
Interest on Loans 275 461
Bank Charges 1,178 911

Total 4,544 3,684

SCHEDULE : 18
NOTES ON ACCOUNTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. NOTES ON ACCOUNTS

1. Previous year’s figures have been regrouped, rearranged or recast
wherever considered necessary.

2. Figures have been rounded off to the nearest thousand Rupee.
Figures in brackets pertain to the previous year wherever they
appear in these notes.

3. Contingent Liabilities not provided for :

Current Previous
Year Year

a) Bank Guarantees Rs. 2.49 Lacs Rs.1.00 Lac

b) Court cases against Unascertained Unascertained
the Company

c) Claim against the Rs. 1,089.57 Lacs Rs. 690.40 Lacs
Company not
acknowledged as debt

d) Corporate Guarantees Rs. NIL Rs. 13.00 Lacs

e) Expenses on goods in
transit abandoned Unascertained Unascertained

4. a) The various business premises acquired by the Company
amounting to Rs. 66,86,413/- (Rs. 66,07,062/-) are under
registered power of attorney and the Company does not
have proper titles for these assets. However, these are
included in the fixed assets buildings on the basis of the
conventional title and assets being in the possession and
use of the Company.

b) Fixed Assets - Building includes assets costing
Rs.7,26,176/- (Rs.7,26,176,/-) for which Company does not
hold title documents.

5. a) Receipts and acknowledgements are not available in some
cases and Debit and Credit Balances are subject to
confirmation and reconciliation.

b) In the opinion of the Board of Directors the current assets,
loans and advances shown in the Balance Sheet as on
31.3.2000 are considered good and fully recoverable, except
otherwise stated.

6. Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital
account and not provided (Net of Advances) Rs. 1,11,73,000/-
(Rs. 52,98,365/-).

7. The Company is a partner in a partnership firm, M/s. Cable
Broadcasting Network, Noida and the investment therein is shown
under the head Investments. The details of investments are as
under :
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Partners Sharing Ratio Investment (Rs.)

a) Siti Cable Network Ltd. 51% 1,18,287/-
(3,11,626/-)

b) Mrs. Malvinder Attari 49% 6,13,521/-
(7,62,651/-)

8. Shortage of fixed assets found on physical verification in earlier
years is transferred to Miscellaneous Expenditure and equally
charged to profit and loss account over a period of eight years.
This is not in confirmity with ‘AS – 4’ issued by ICAI. The profit for
the year is understated to the extent of Rs. 63.82 lacs due to
charged to current year.

9. Provision for Taxation is not made as there is no taxable income
as per Income Tax Act, 1961.

10.  (a) Advances includes :

(i) Rs. NIL (Rs. 3,023/-) due from a Whole-time Director
(maximum amount Rs.3,75,000/- (Rs.1,59,112/-)

(ii) Rs. 19,43,013/- (Rs.19,29,072/-) due from a Pvt. Ltd.
Company in which a Director of the Company is
interested as member.

(b) Sundry Debtors include Rs.28,93,427/- (Rs.25,58,438/-) due
from a Pvt. Ltd. Company in which a director of the Company
is interested as member.

11. Remuneration paid to Whole-time Directors as under :

(Rs.)
Current Year Previous Year

Salary & Allowances 4,42,252/- 8,40,500/-
Perquisites 2,91,869/- 3,03,201/-
Contribution to P.F. 43,839/- 50,400/-

12. In consonance with the Accounting Standard (AS-2) ‘Valuation of
Inventories’ issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
India, the Company has valued all inventories at cost or estimated
net realisable value whichever is lower. This change has no impact
on profit for the year.

13. (a) Strategic Shareholding in Management Joint Venture
Companies (managing the Cable Networking business)
continue to be held by Investment companies of the
promoter group on its behalf.

(b) The Company has provided financial support to Management
Joint Venture Companies (Management Service Provider
Companies) by way of interest free advances. Due to losses,
part of these advances may not be recoverable. In the
opinion of the management the provision of Rs. 132.79
lacs is adequate.

(c) The Company has leased out assets to its cable network
assets as part of business structure. The lease rentals of
Rs. 525.04 lacs is arrear but it is considered recoverable by
the management.

14. Dues of small scale industrial undertakings exceeding Rs. One lac
outstanding for more than 30 days

(Rs.)
Name of the party Dues more than

30 days

Cybax Power System 69,000/-
Jonson Telecab (India) 11,63,471/-
Synergy System 2,18,364/-

15. Remuneration to the Auditors is as under :

(Rs.)
Current Year Previous Year

i) Audit Fees 6,56,250/- 2,88,750/-
ii) Tax Audit Fees 63,000/- 31,500/-
iii) For Other Matters 76,750/- 1,76,250/-
iv) Out of Pocket expenses 29,941/- 42,385/-

16. Repair and Maintenance – Network includes consumption of stores
& spares for replacement in network.

17. The Company has allowed part of its Network to be used by a
Company under the same management for trial and development
of Internet service through cable.

18. Additional information required to be given pursuant to Part II of
Schedule VI to the Companies Act, 1956 is as follows :

a) Expenditure in Foreign Currency

(Rs.)
Current Year Previous Year

Travelling 1,58,069/- 48,822/-
Books & Periodicals 19,568/- 49,000/-

b) CIF Value of Imports
Capital Goods 51,808,844/- 24,699,558/-

B. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. ACCOUNTING CONVENTION :

The Company generally follows the mercantile system of
accounting and recognizes income and expenditure on accrual
basis except those with significant uncertainties. The accounts are
prepared on historical cost basis as going concern and are
consistent with generally accepted accounting principles.

2. FIXED ASSETS :

a) Fixed Assets are stated at cost less depreciation. Cost
comprises of the acquisition price, installation and all
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition for its intended use.

b)  Goodwill amortized over a period of 10 years.

3. DEPRECIATION :

a) Depreciation on Fixed Assets except cost of cable is provided
at rates prescribed in Schedule XIV of the Companies Act,
1956 on straight line method.

b) Cost of the cables are depreciated equally over a period of
10 years, the useful life as certified by its manufacturers.

c) The cable network (except cable) has been considered as
continuous process plant, based on the opinion of the
experts.

d) Assets costing below Rs. 5,000/- are depreciated at 100%
except the cable network equipment.

e) Depreciation on capital cost of Construction/Modification
on leasehold premises is provided at the rate prescribed
under the Schedule XIV of the Companies Act, 1956, keeping
in view the renewal clause in the agreements.

4. INVESTMENTS :

Long term investments are stated at cost. Any decline in their
value other than temporary is charged to profit & loss account.

5. INVENTORIES :

Inventories of Programme/Film right, Stores & Spares and Raw
Stock Cassettes are valued at lower of cost or estimated net
realisable value*.
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b) Foreign currency assets and liabilities at the year end to the
extent not covered by Forward Contracts are realigned at
the prevailing exchange rates as on Balance Sheet date and
variations are adjusted to the respective revenue or capital
accounts.

8. REVENUE RECOGNITION :

a) Revenue for various services rendered is recognized when
the service is completed.

b) Advertisement revenue is recognized when the related
advertisement is telecasted.

c) Lease rentals are recognized as per the Lease Agreements.

9. EXPENSES RECOGNITION :

a) Loss of insured assets is accounted net of insurance claims
received.

b) Preliminary Expenses, Preoperative Expenses and Capital Issue
Expenses are written off over a period of ten accounting
years.

The basis of determining the cost for inventories are as follows :
a) Stores & Spares and Raw : FIFO

Stock cassettes
b) Programme/Film Rights : Actual cost incurred

* The estimated net realisable value for Programmes/Film rights
is estimated by taking the useful economic life of five years
or the actual period for which the Company holds the
rights, whichever is less.

6. RETIREMENT BENEFITS :

a) Contributions to Provident Fund and Employees’ State
Insurance Scheme are charged to Profit & Loss Account.

b) The Gratuity liability is provided on the basis of actuarial
valuation.

c) Accumulated Leave Encashment liability is provided as per
Company’s  rules.

7. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS :

a) Transaction in Foreign currency are accounted for at the
equivalent rupee value on the date of transaction.

Signature to Schedules 1 to 18

As per our attached Report of even date For and on behalf of the Board

For  M.G. BHANDARI & CO. R.K. SINGH ANTHONY D’SILVA
Chartered Accountants Director Director

M.G. BHANDARI G.V. RAO
Partner Company Secretary

Mumbai
Dated : 27th July, 2000
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10. BALANCE SHEET ABSTRACT AND COMPANY’S GENERAL BUSINESS PROFILE :

I. REGISTRATION DETAILS

Registration No. State Code

Date Month Year

Balance Sheet Date

II. CAPITAL RAISED DURING THE YEAR (AMOUNT RS. IN THOUSANDS)

Public Issue Rights Issue

Bonus Issue Private Placement

III. POSITION OF MOBILISATION AND DEPLOYMENT OF FUNDS (AMOUNT RS. IN THOUSANDS)

Total Liabilities Total Assets

SOURCES OF FUNDS

Paid up Capital Reserves and Surplus

Secured Loans Unsecured Loans

APPLICATION OF FUNDS

Net Fixed Assets Investments

Net Current Assets Miscellaneous Expenditure

Accumulated Losses

IV. PERFORMANCE OF THE COMPANY (AMOUNT RS. IN THOUSANDS)

Turnover * Total Expenditure

+ – Profit/(Loss) Before Tax + – Profit/(Loss) After Tax

Earnings Per Share (Rs.) Dividend Rate ( % )

* Includes other income

V. GENERIC NAME OF THE PRINCIPAL PRODUCT OF THE COMPANY
(AS PER MONETARY TERMS)

Item Code No. (ITC Code)

Product Description

N I L N I L

N I L N I L

4 2 9 7 2 1 1

3 1 0 3 2 0 0 0

1 2 0 8 1 1 9 1 2 0 8 1 1 9

4 8 0 9 1 1 5 0 9 0 9 1

9 9 2 8 2 0 8 1 8 9

6 8 3 4 5 1 1 7 1

3 5 9 4 5 5 2 6 8 4 1

1 3 8 2 0 1

5 8 9 5 5 2 5 7 8 6 4 3

2 9 4 1 5 2 9 4 0 3

5 . 7 6 N I L

N. A.

N. A.

✓ ✓

For and on behalf of the Board

R.K. SINGH ANTHONY D’SILVA
Director Director

G.V. RAO
Company Secretary

Mumbai
Dated : 27th July, 2000
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

to the Members of PROGRAMME ASIA
TRADING COMPANY LIMITED

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION GIVEN AS REQUIRED UNDER THE COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF PARTICULARS IN THE REPORT OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS) RULES, 1988

I. FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO :
Current Year Previous Year

A . Total Foreign Exchange Earned : (On Accrual Basis) 302,980 9,300,470
B. Total Foreign Exchange Used : (Travelling) NIL 19,950

II. ENERGY CONSERVATION, RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT AND TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION :

Considering the nature of the business of this Company, the particulars required under this clause are not applicable.

For and on behalf of the Board

Place : Mumbai B.R. JAJU HITESH VAKIL
Date : 10th August, 2000 Director Director

Your Directors have the pleasure in presenting the Sixth Annual Report
of the Company, for the year ended 31st March, 2000.

Financial Results : Rs. In Lacs

For the year ended 31st March, 2000 1999

Gross Income 5.57 116.65
Total Expenses 12.66 103.67

Profit/(Loss) Before Tax (7.09) 12.98
Provision for Taxation — —

Profit/(Loss) After Tax (7.09) 12.98
Profit/(Loss) Brought Forward 541.63 528.65

Balance Profit Carried Forward 534.54 541.63

Dividend:

In view of the loss incurred by the Company during the year, your
Directors do not recommend any dividend for the year ended
31st March, 2000

Operation :

The Company has curtailed down its operations. During the year it has
exported programme software of Rs. 3.17 lacs as compared to
Rs. 103.45 lacs in the previous year. Your Company has incurred a loss
of Rs. 7.09 lacs as against Profit before Tax of Rs. 12.97 lacs in the
previous year. Company is a net foreign exchange earner of Rs. 3 lacs
as against Rs. 93 lacs in previous year.

Share Capital :

No further share capital was issued during the year.

Transfer of 50% of Company Equity from International Graphics
Holding Ltd. (IGHL) to Zee Telefilms Limited. (ZTL) :

Pursuant to shareholders’ agreement dated 31st March, 2000 50% ,
equity capital of the Company being 1,73,550 equity shares held by
International Graphics Holding (Mauritius) Ltd. (IGHL) has been
transferred in favour of Zee Telefilms Ltd. (ZTL). The transfer of said
equity shares has also been approved by the shareholders of ZTL vide
resolution dated 27th September, 1999. Consequent to such transfer of
entire stake in the company by IGHL, the shareholding of ZTL in the
Company now stands increased to 100%.

Public Deposit :

The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public during
the year.

Subsidiary Company :

The relevant particulars of El Zee Television Limited under Section 212
of the Companies Act, 1956 are appended.

Directors :

During the year Mr. David Haslingden, Mr. Bruce Churchill and
Mr. Rathikant Basu, Directors have tendered their resignations from the
post of Directors of the Company. The Board placed on record its sincere
appreciation towards valuable services rendered by them during their
tenure as directors of the Company.

During the year Mr. Brijgopal Jaju was appointed as an additional Director
of the Company vide Board resolution dated 21st June, 1999 and holds
the post till the date of ensuing Annual General Meeting. The Company
has received notice u/s 257 of the Companies Act, 1956, for a member
proposing candidature of Mr. Brijgopal Jaju for post of Directorship of
the Company.

Auditors :

The Statutory Auditors of the Company M/s. Price Waterhouse & Co.,
Chartered Accountants, Mumbai, retire at the conclusion of the ensuing
Annual General Meeting and being eligible have offered themselves for
reappointment as Statutory Auditors of the Company.

Auditors’ Report :

The observations and comments made in the Auditors’ report are self-
explanatory.

Additional information :

Information pursuant to Section 217(1)(e) of the Companies Act, 1956,
read with the Companies (Disclosure of Particulars in the Report of
Board of Directors) Rules, 1988, relating to the Conservation of Energy,
Technology Absorption and Foreign Exchange Earnings and Outgo are
annexed herewith.

Personnel :

All the employees have been transferred to El Zee Television Ltd., the
subsidiary of the Company. Since none of the employees is drawing
salary in excess of limits specified under section 217(2A)(B)(II) of the
Companies Act, 1956, information as per that Section is not given.

Acknowledgements :

Your Directors thank the shareholders, bankers and suppliers for reposing
their support and faith in the Company, which has helped in achieving
the desired growth.

For and on behalf of the Board

Place : Mumbai B.R. JAJU HITESH VAKIL
Date : 10th August, 2000 Director Director
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1. We report that we have audited the Balance Sheet of Programme
Asia Trading Company Limited as at March 31, 2000 and the relative
Profit and Loss Account for the year ended on that date, both of
which we have signed under reference to this report and the above
mentioned accounts are in agreement with the books of account.

2. In our opinion, and to the best of our information and according
to the explanations given to us, the Balance Sheet and Profit and
Loss Account together with the notes thereon and attached thereto
and the Statement on Accounting policies give in the prescribed
manner, the information required by the Companies Act, 1956 of
India (the ‘Act’) and also give respectively, subject to para 2(i)
below, a true and fair view of the state of Company’s affairs as at
March 31, 2000 and its loss for the year ended on that date.

2.1) Note 3 of Schedule 13(B) regarding short provision, if any,
for taxation aggregating Rs.30,963,317 arising should the
claim at the initial assessment which is disputed by the
Company for deduction under Section 80HHC of the Income
Tax Act, 1961, be not allowable with consequential effect
thereof on the loss for the year and reserves of the company.

3. We further report that had the observation made by us in
paragraph 2.1 above been considered the loss for the year would
have been Rs. 31,672,065 (as against reported loss figure of
Rs. 708,748) reserves and surplus would have been
Rs. 22,490,663 (as against reported figure of Rs. 53,453,980) and
current liabilities and provisions would have been
Rs. 33,600,745 (as against reported figure of Rs. 2,637,428).

4. We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to
the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for our
audit.

5. In our opinion except for the remark in paragraph 2.1 above
proper books of accounts have been kept as required by law so
far as appears from our examination of the books.

6. Except for matter stated in 2.1 above, in our opinion these accounts
have been prepared in compliance with the applicable accounting
standards referred to in section 211 (3C) of the Act.

7. As required by the Manufacturing and Other Companies (Auditor’s
Report) Order, 1988 dated September 7, 1988 and issued by the
Central Government of India and on the basis of such checks as
we considered appropriate and according to the information and
explanations given to us, we further report that :

i. (a) The Company has maintained proper records to show
full particulars including quantitative details and
situation of its fixed assets.

(b) The fixed assets of the Company have been physically
verified during the year by the Management and no
material discrepancies between the book records and
the physical inventory have been noticed.

ii. The fixed assets of the Company have not been revalued
during the year.

iii. The raw stocks (tapes) have been physically verified by the
management during the year.

iv. In our opinion, the procedures of physical verification of
stocks followed by the management are reasonable and
adequate in relation to the size of the Company and nature
of its business.

v. The discrepancies between the physical stocks and the book
stocks, which have been properly dealt with in the books of
account were not material.

vi. In our opinion, valuation of raw stocks (tapes) has been fair

and proper in accordance with the normally accepted
accounting principles followed in India and is on the same
basis as in the previous year.

vii. The Company has not taken any loans, secured or unsecured,
from companies, firms or other parties listed in the register
maintained under Section 301 of the Act. In terms of sub-
section (6) of Section 370 of the Act, provisions of the Section
are not applicable to a company after the commencement
of The Companies (Amendment) Act, 1999 of India.

viii. The Company has not granted any loans, (except loan to
subsidiary company) secured or unsecured, to companies,
firms or other parties listed in the register maintained under
Section 301 of the Act. In terms of sub-section (6) of Section
370 of the Act, provisions of the Section are not applicable to
a company after the commencement of The Companies
(Amendment) Act, 1999 of India.

ix. The parties (including employees) to whom interest free loans
or advances in the nature of loans have been given by the
Company are repaying the principal amounts as stipulated.

x. In our opinion, there is an adequate internal control
procedure commensurate with the size of the Company
and the nature of its business, for purchase of traded goods,
equipment and similar assets and for the sale of programme
software.

xi. The Company has not purchased goods and materials and
sold goods, materials and services aggregating Rs.50,000 or
more in value from / to any of the parties listed in the
register maintained under Section 301 of Act.

xii. The Company has a system of determining damaged goods
on the basis of technical evaluation and on such basis, no
amounts were required to be written off such stocks in the
accounts.

xiii. The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public.

xiv. The Company does not generate any scrap hence the
question of maintenance of records does not arise. The
Company does not have any by-product.

xv. The internal audit system is not commensurate with the size
of the Company and nature of its business.

xvi. The Central Government of India has not prescribed the
maintenance of cost records by the Company under Section
209(1)(d) of the Act for any of its products.

xvii. The Company has generally been regular in depositing
Provident Fund dues and Employees’ State Insurance dues
during the year with the appropriate authorities in India.

xviii. At the last day of the financial year there were no amounts
outstanding in respect of undisputed  income-tax, wealth-
tax, sales-tax, customs duty and excise duty which were due
for more than six months from the date they became payable.

xix. During the course of our examination of the books of account
carried out in accordance with the generally accepted
auditing practices in India, we have not come across any
personal expenses which have been charged to Profit and
Loss Account, nor have we been informed of any such case
by the Management, other than those payable under
contractual obligations and/or accepted business practices.

xx. The Company is not a sick industrial company within the
meaning of Section 3(1) (o) of  The Sick Industrial Companies
(Special Provisions) Act, 1985 of India.

K. H. VACHHA
Partner

For and on behalf of
Place : Mumbai, PRICE WATERHOUSE & Co.
Date : 10th August, 2000 Chartered Accountants

REPORT OF THE AUDITORS

to the Members of PROGRAMME ASIA TRADING
COMPANY LIMITED
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BALANCE SHEET

as at 31st March, 2000 for the year ended 31st March, 2000

PROFIT & LOSS ACCOUNT

K. H. VACHHA For and on behalf of the Board
Partner

For and on behalf of B.R. JAJU HITESH VAKIL
PRICEWATERHOUSE & CO. Director Director
Chartered Accountants

Place : Mumbai
Date : 10th August, 2000

K. H. VACHHA For and on behalf of the Board
Partner

For and on behalf of B.R. JAJU HITESH VAKIL
PRICEWATERHOUSE & CO. Director Director
Chartered Accountants

Place : Mumbai
Date : 10th August, 2000

Schedule 31.03.2000 31.03.1999
Rs. Rs.

SOURCES OF FUNDS

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

Share Capital 1 3,471,000 3,471,000
Reserves & Surplus 2 53,453,980 54,162,728

Total 56,924,980 57,633,728

APPLICATION OF FUNDS

FIXED ASSETS (at Cost) 3

Gross Block 563,011 563,011
Less : Depreciation 502,869 165,151

Net Block 60,142 397,860

INVESTMENTS 4 30,000 29,980

CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS
& ADVANCES 5

Inventories 286,122 349,945
Sundry Debtors — 1,002,722
Cash & Bank Balances 3,509,106 49,490,539
Loans & Advances 54,923,418 9,591,237

58,718,646 60,434,443
Less :
CURRENT LIABILITIES
& PROVISIONS 6

Current Liabilities 2,637,428 3,972,199
Provisions — 160,700

2,637,428 4,132,899

Net Current Assets 56,081,218 56,301,544
MISCELLANEOUS
EXPENDITURE 7 753,620 904,344
(To the extent not written
off or adjusted)

Total 56,924,980 57,633,728

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 13

The Schedules referred to herein form an integral part of the Balance
Sheet.

This is the Balance Sheet referred to in our report of even date.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 13

The Schedules referred to herein form an integral part of the Profit and
Loss Account.

This is the Profit and Loss Account referred to in our report of even date.

Schedule 31.3.2000 31.3.1999
Rs. Rs.

INCOME

Sales 316,707 10,345,287

Other Income 8 240,496 1,319,137

557,203 11,664,424

EXPENDITURE

Cost of Goods 9 81,073 3,337,556

Personnel Cost 10 188,309 4,502,552

Administrative &

other Expenses 11 653,277 2,410,860

Financial Charges 12 5,574 65,109

Depreciation 337,718 50,893

1,265,951 10,366,970

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE

TAXATION (708,748) 1,297,454

PROVISION FOR TAXATION — —

[Refer Schedule - 13 (B) (3 & 5)]

PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAXATION (708,748) 1,297,454

Profit brought forward 54,162,728 52,865,274

Profit carried forward 53,453,980 54,162,728
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to the Balance Sheet as at 31st March, 2000

SCHEDULES

SCHEDULE : 3
FIXED ASSETS (Rs.)

␣ GROSS BLOCK DEPRECIATION BLOCK NET BLOCK

Description As at As at Upto  For the Upto As at As at
␣ 01.04.99 31.03.2000 01.04.99 year 31.03.2000 31.03.2000 31.03.99

Computers   204,930 204,930   105,196  99,734  204,930 —  99,734

Furniture and fixtures  54,889   54,889  10,738  34,134 44,872  10,017  44,151

Office equipment   303,192 303,192  49,217   203,850  253,067  50,125   253,975 ␣
␣
Total   563,011 563,011   165,151   337,718  502,869  60,142   397,860

Previous Year   563,011 563,011   114,258  50,893  165,151   397,860

Note : Depreciation for the year includes shortfall of depreciation charged upto␣ 1998-99 due to the change in accounting policy for depreciation.

As at As at
31.3.2000 31.3.1999

Rs. Rs.
SCHEDULE : 2
RESERVES & SURPLUS

Profit and Loss Account 53,453,980 54,162,728

53,453,980 54,162,728

As at As at
31.3.2000 31.3.1999

Rs. Rs.
SCHEDULE : 1
SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised :
30,000,000 Equity Shares of
Rs. 10/- each 300,000,000 300,000,000

Issued, Subscribed and Paid up :
347,100 (347,100) Equity Shares of
Rs. 10/- each fully paid up 3,471,000 3,471,000

3,471,000 3,471,000

(All the above shares are held by the
Holding Company namely Zee Telefilms Ltd. and its nominees)

As at As at
31.3.2000 31.3.1999

Rs. Rs.
SCHEDULE : 4
INVESTMENTS (at Cost)

NON TRADE - UNQUOTED -
LONG TERM
Investment in subsidiary -
EL Zee Television Ltd. 20,000 19,980
2000 (1,998) equity shares of
Rs. 10/- each, fully paid up
National Savings Certificate VIII issue 10,000 10,000
(Lodged with Sales Tax Department)

30,000 29,980

SCHEDULE : 5
CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS AND ADVANCES

A . CURRENT ASSETS

(a) Inventories
Raw stock (Tapes) 286,122 349,945

286,122 349,945
(b) Sundry Debtors

(Unsecured and Considered good)
More than Six months — —
Others — 1,002,722

— 1,002,722

As at As at
31.3.2000 31.3.1999

Rs. Rs.
(c) Cash and Bank Balances

Cash in hand — 284,101

Balance with Scheduled Banks in
current accounts 9,106 46,706,438

Fixed Deposit with Banks 3,500,000 2,500,000

3,509,106 49,490,539

B. LOANS AND ADVANCES
(Unsecured and Considered good)
Advances recoverable in cash or

kind or for value to be received 96,000 9,695
Advance to subsidiary Company
Elzee Television Ltd. 53,630,554 8,428,212

(Includes Rs.450,00,000
interest free advance.)

Advance Tax (net of provision) 1,174,558 1,119,400
Interest accrued but not due 14,306 25,930
Deposits 8,000 8,000

54,923,418 9,591,237

Total 58,718,646 60,434,443
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Year ended Year ended
31.3.2000 31.3.1999

Rs. Rs.
SCHEDULE : 10
PERSONNEL COST

Salaries, allowances and bonus 188,309 3,421,526
Contribution to Provident Fund
and other funds — 335,235
Staff Welfare Expenses — 745,791

188,309 4,502,552

SCHEDULE : 11
ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER EXPENSES

Service Charges 131,259 874,799
Rates and Taxes 28,900 102,966
Repairs and Maintenance-Others — 1,921
Insurance 1,132 1,132
Telephone Expenses — 25,412
Freight and Forwarding 1,400 153,844
Legal and Professional Charges 137,400 182,250
Printing and Stationery 1,541 1,961
Conveyance Expenses 15,664 372,176
Postage and Courier Expenses 220 3,835
Travelling Expenses

Inland (Directors Rs. NIL) — 30,289
Foreign (Directors Rs. NIL) — 19,950

Business Promotion Expenses 4,017 118,833
Membership and Subscription — 20,500
Advertisement Expenses — 7,910
Books and Periodicals — 9,585
Sundry Expenses 34,000 197,773
Auditors’ Remuneration :-

Audit fees 100000 1,00,000
Tax Audit 35000 35,000
Other Matters 12020 —

147,020 135,000
Pre-operative Expenses written off 150,724 150,724

653,277 2,410,860

SCHEDULE : 12
FINANCIAL CHARGES

Interest to Bank — 9,574
Bank Charges 5,574 55,535

5,574 65,109

Year ended Year ended
31.3.2000 31.3.1999

Rs. Rs.
SCHEDULE : 8
OTHER INCOME

Interest Income [ T.D.S. Rs. 55159
(Rs. 151612)] 240,496 771,537
Sale of Import Licence
[Refer Schedule - 13 (A) (VIII)] — 543,900
Miscellaneous Income — 3,700

240,496 1,319,137

SCHEDULE : 9
COST OF GOODS
Programme Software - Purchase — 190,000
Programme Software - Production 17,250 2,016,292
Raw Stocks Consumed 63,823 421,491

81,073 2,627,783

ADD : MOVEMENT IN STOCK
Stock as on 1.4.99
Programme Software — —
Programmes- Under Production — 709,773

— 709,773

Less : Stock as on 31.3.2000
Programmes- Under Production — —

— —

NET COST OF GOODS 81,073 3,337,556

As at As at
31.3.2000 31.3.1999

Rs. Rs.
SCHEDULE : 6
CURRENT LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Sundry Creditors 2,637,428 3,972,199

2,637,428 3,972,199
PROVISIONS

Provision for Gratuity — 48,505
Provision for Leave Encashment — 112,195
[(Refer Schedule 13B (4)]

— 160,700

Total 2,637,428 4,132,899

SCHEDULE : 7
MISCELLANEOUS EXPENDITURE
(to the extent not written off or adjusted)

Preliminary Expenses 904,344 1,055,068
Less : Written off during the year 150,724 150,724

753,620 904,344

to the Profit and Loss Account for the
year ended 31st march, 2000

SCHEDULES
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SCHEDULE : 13
NOTES ATTACHED TO AND FORMING PART OF THE ACCOUNTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH, 2000

A. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

I) Accounting Methodology

The Accounts have been prepared on Historical Cost basis of
accounting on an accrual basis and comply with the Accounting
Standards referred to in Section 211 (3C) of the Companies
Act, 1956. All expenses and income to the extent considered
payable and receivable, respectively, unless stated otherwise,
are accounted for on accrual basis. Accounting policies not
specifically referred to are consistent with generally accepted
accounting practices.

II) Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are stated at their Original Cost less Depreciation.
Cost comprises of purchase price and any attributable cost of
bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use.

III) Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on Straight Line Method at the
following rates which are higher than the rates prescribed in
Schedule XIV of the Companies Act, 1956.

Office Equipments, Furniture and Fixtures 20%
Computers 25%

IV) Investments

Investments are classified as long term investments and are
stated at cost.

V) Inventories

Inventories are valued as under
Raw Stock(Tapes) : at lower of cost or net

realisable value
Programmes under production : at lower of cost or net

realisable value

VI) Miscellaneous Expenditure

Miscellaneous Expenditure comprises expenditure incurred for
increase of authorised capital. The expense is deferred and
amortised over a period of ten years.

VII) Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognised on despatch of programme or movie
to the customer.

VIII) Import Licence

Import Licence income is accounted on sale of it.

IX) Production Expenses

Cost of programme software comprises cost of producing the
software, net of related recoveries.

X) Foreign Currency Transactions

Foreign currency transactions during the year are recorded at
the rate of exchange prevailing at the date of transaction and
gains or losses arising on receipt/ payments are charged off to
Profit and Loss Account. Foreign currency denominated current
assets and liabilities are translated into rupees at the exchange
rates prevailing at the date of Balance Sheet and the resultant
translation differences are charged off to Profit and Loss Account.

XI) Provision for Taxation

Provision for taxation is considered based on available legal
opinion of the tax expert and assessments at Income Tax
Appelate and authorities thereafter.

B. NOTES

1. The Company has become a deemed Public Company with
effect from June 30, 1998. The necessary formalities are
completed and the name is accordingly changed to Programme
Asia Trading Company Limited.

2. Depreciation for the year includes additional depreciation arising
on account of revision of rates in case of Furniture and Fixtures
from 6.33% to 20%, office Equipments from 4.75% to 20%
and Computer from 16.21% to 25% amounting to Rs. 224,002.

3. The Company is contingently liable  for taxation as follows:
As per the opinion of the tax expert available with Zee Group,
the Company has made provision for taxation for the years
ended 31st March, 1997, 1998 and 1999 after considering its
entitlement of deduction under Section 80HHC of the Income
Tax Act, 1961 amounting to Rs. 32,251,913, Rs. 25,780,297
and Rs. 1,008,182 respectively on the income from export of
films, television programmes etc. The company's claim of
deduction under section 80HHC has not been accepted by
the tax authorities at the initial stage for the year ended March
31, 1997. However the same is disputed by the company and
is in appeal.

Had the total deduction under section 80HHC not been
considered for all the above years, the provision for taxation for
the year would have been higher by Rs. 30,963,317 and the
reserves would have been lower by Rs. 30,963,317.

4. No provisions for Gratuity and Leave Encashment has been
made as the employees have been transferred to El Zee
Television Limited.

5. In view of the losses under the Income Tax Act, 1961, no
provision is made in the accounts for the current year.

6. Additional information required to be given pursuant to Part II
of Schedule VI to the Companies Act,1956 is as follows :

(i) Finished Goods

Programme Software
Qty Value

Nos. Rs.
Opening Stock NIL NIL

(NIL) (NIL)

Purchases NIL NIL
(2) (190,000)

Production 72 —
(295) (—)

Sales 72 316,707
(297) (10,345,287)

Closing Stock NIL NIL
(NIL) (NIL)

(ii) Consumption of Raw Materials

Year ended Year ended
31st March, 2000 31st March, 1999
Qty. Value Qty. Value
Nos. Rs. Nos. Rs.

Raw Tapes 53 63,823 248 421,491

53 63,823 248 421,491

(iii) Value of imported and indigenous raw materials consumed

Year ended Year ended
31st March, 2000 31st March, 1999

% Value % Value
Rs. Rs.

a) Imported — — — —
b) Indigenous 100 63,823 100 421,491

100 63,823 100 421,491

(iv) Expenditure in foreign currency
Travelling NIL 19,950

(v) Earnings in foreign currency
FOB value of exports 302,980 9,300,470

7. As per the information available with the Company, no amount is
due to Small Scale Ancillary Undertakings as at 31st March, 2000.

8. The Company is in the business of producing media software which
is not subject to any licence. Hence licensed capacity is not given.
Further the nature of business of the Company is such that the
installed capacity is not quantifiable.

9. Previous year’s figures are regrouped wherever necessary. Figures in
brackets pertain to the previous year.
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10. INFORMATION REQUIRED AS PER PART IV OF SCHEDULE VI TO THE COMPANIES ACT, 1956
BALANCE SHEET ABSTRACT AND COMPANY’S GENERAL BUSINESS PROFILE

I. REGISTRATION DETAILS

Registration No. State Code

Date Month Year

Balance Sheet date

II. CAPITAL RAISED DURING THE YEAR (AMOUNT IN RUPEES)

Public Issue Rights Issue

Bonus Issue Preferential Allotment

III. POSITION OF MOBILISATION AND DEPLOYMENT OF FUNDS (AMOUNT IN RUPEES)

Total Liabilities Total Assets

SOURCES OF FUNDS

Paid-up Capital Reserves and Surplus

Secured Loans Unsecured Loans

APPLICATION OF FUNDS

Net Fixed Assets Investments

Net Current Assets Miscellaneous Expenditure

Accumulated Losses

IV. PERFORMANCE OF COMPANY (AMOUNT IN RUPEES)

Turnover Total Expenditure

+ – Profit/(Loss) Before Tax + – Profit/(Loss) After Tax

Earnings Per Share (Rs.) Dividend Rate ( % )

V. GENERIC NAMES OF PRINCIPAL PRODUCTS OF THE COMPANY
(AS PER MONETARY TERMS)

Item Code No. (ITC Code)

Product Description

N I L N I L

N I L N I L

2 6 3 7 4 2 8 5 8 8 0 8 7 8 8

3 4 7 1 0 0 0 5 3 4 5 3 9 8 0

N I L N I L

6 0 1 4 2 3 0 0 0 0

5 6 0 8 1 2 1 8 7 5 3 6 2 0

N I L

3 1 6 7 0 7 1 2 6 5 9 5 1

✓ 7 0 8 7 4 8 ✓ 7 0 8 7 4 8

N I L N I L

8 5 2 4 9 0 0 1

R E C O R D E D V I D E O C A S S E T T E S

8 4 8 7 7 1 1

3 1 0 3 2 0 0 0

Signature to schedule 1 to 13 forming part of Balance Sheet & Profit & Loss Accounts

K. H. VACHHA For and on behalf of the Board
Partner

For and on behalf of B.R. JAJU HITESH VAKIL
PRICEWATERHOUSE & CO. Director Director
Chartered Accountants

Place : Mumbai
Date : 10th August, 2000  :
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of the Companies Act, 1956

STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 212

1. Name of the Subsidiary EL Zee Television Limited

2. Financial Year ending 31st March, 2000

3. Date from which it became a subsidiary 27th March, 1996

4. Extent of interest of the Holding Company 100%
in the Capital of the subsidiary

5. Net aggregate amount of the subsidiary’s
profit/(losses) not dealt within the Holding
Company’s accounts

(i) Current Year 43,673,111/-

(ii) Previous year since it became a subsidiary (3,111,095/-)

6. Net aggregate amount of the subsidiary’s
profit/(losses) dealt within the Holding
Company’s accounts

(i) Current Year NIL
(ii) Previous year since it became a subsidiary NIL

For and on behalf of the Board

B.R. JAJU HITESH VAKIL
Director Director

Place : Mumbai
Date : 10th August, 2000
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Your Directors have the pleasure in presenting the Sixth Annual Report
of the Company, for the year ended 31st March, 2000.

Financial Results :

(Rs. in lacs)

For the year ended 31st March 2000 1999

Sales & Services 2,667.03 2,083.35
Total Expenses 1,920.68 2,041.60

Profit/(Loss) Before Tax 746.35 41.75
Provision for Taxation 300.00 —

Profit/(Loss) After Tax 446.35 41.75
Prior period Adjustment 9.62 50.14
Profit/(Loss)Brought Forward (31.11) (22.72)

Balance Profit/(Loss) Carried  Forward 405.62 (31.11)

Activity :

Your Company is engaged in promoting and developing “Zee Cinema”
as a pay channel in Indian territory. It is engaged in the business of
collecting subscription revenue from Cable TV operators. It provides all
services to the Subscribers in connection with “Zee Cinema”.

During the year, the Company has achieved subscription revenue of
Rs.1,786 lacs (P.Y Rs.1,452 lacs).The number of cable operators and
connectivity is increasing at a good pace.

Share Capital :

No further share capital was issued during the year.

Public Deposits :

The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public during
the year.

Directors :

During the year Mr. David Haslingden, Mr. Bruce Churchill and
Mr. Ratikant Basu, Directors have tendered their resignations from the
post of Directors of the Company. The Board placed its sincere
appreciation towards them for rendering their valuable services to the
Board and the Company.

to the Members of EL ZEE TELEVISION LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Mr. Vinay Welling retires by rotation and being eligible, offers himself
for reappointment.

Auditors :

M/s. M.G. Bhandari & Co., Chartered Accountants, Mumbai, the Statutory
Auditors of the Company retire at the conclusion of the ensuing Annual
General Meeting and being eligible offer themselves for reappointment.

Auditors’ Report :

The observations and comments made in the Auditors’ Report are self
- explanatory.

Additional Information :

Information pursuant to Section 217(1) (e) of the Companies Act, 1956,
read with the Companies (Disclosure of Particulars in the Report of the
Board of Directors ) Rules, 1988, relating to the Conservation of Energy,
Technology Absorption, and Foreign Exchange Earnings and outgo are
annexed herewith.

Personnel :

Your Directors place on record their appreciation for the contribution
made by the employees at all levels, who, through their competence,
hardwork, solidarity, co-operation and support, have enabled the
Company to perform brightly.

There are no employees drawing remuneration in excess of limits
specified under Section 217(2A)(B)(II) of the Companies Act, 1956.

Acknowledgement :

Your Directors thank the shareholders, bankers and suppliers for their
support and faith in the Company which has helped in brilliant
performance.

For and on behalf of the Board

Place : Mumbai ANIL TERDALKAR VINAY WELLING
Date : 27th May, 2000 Director Director

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION GIVEN AS REQUIRED UNDER THE COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF PARTICULARS IN THE REPORT OF
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS) RULES, 1988

I. FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO :

Current Year Previous Year
(Rs.) (Rs.)

(a) Total Foreign Exchange Earned : (On Accrual Basis) 76,089,774  56,991,567
(b) Total Foreign Exchange Used : (Travelling) —  434,161

I I . ENERGY CONSERVATION, RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT AND TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION :

Considering the nature of the business of this Company, the particulars required under this clause are not applicable.

For and on behalf of the Board

Place : Mumbai ANIL TERDALKAR VINAY WELLING
Date : 27th May, 2000 Director Director
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We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of EL-Zee Television Limited
as at 31st March, 2000 and also the Profit and Loss Account of the
Company for the year ended on that date, annexed thereto, and
report that :

(1) As required by Manufacturing and Other Companies (Auditor’s
Report) Order,1988 issued by the Company Law Board in terms
of Section 227(4A) of the Companies Act, 1956, and on the basis
of such checks as we considered appropriate, and according to
the information and explanations given to us, during the course
of audit, we annex hereto a statement on the matters specified
in paragraphs 4 and 5 of the said Order.

(2) Further to our comments in the Annexure referred to in paragraph
(1) above, we report that :

a) We have obtained all the information and explanations which
to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for
the purpose of our audit.

b) In our opinion, proper books of account have been
maintained by the Company as required by law so far as
appears from our examination of those books.

c) The Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Account dealt
with by this report are in agreement with the books of
account.

d) In our opinion, the Profit and Loss Account and the Balance
Sheet complied with the mandatory Accounting Standards
referred to in Section 211(3C) of the Companies Act, 1956.

e) In our opinion and to the best of our information and
according to the explanations given to us, the said accounts,
subject to Note No. 7 regarding change in method of
valuation of inventories to comply with AS-2, which has no
impact on profit,

read together with accounting policies and other notes as
per Schedule 12 give the information required by the
Companies Act, 1956 in the manner so required and give
a true and fair view :-
I. In the case of Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of

the Company as at 31st March, 2000 ; and
II. In the case of Profit and Loss Account, of the Profit for

the year ended on that date.
For and on behalf of

M.G. BHANDARI & CO.
Chartered Accountants

M.G. BHANDARI
Partner

Place : Mumbai
Date :27th May, 2000

method of valuation to comply with Accounting Standard - 2 as
stated in Note No. 7.

7. In our opinion, the Company has not taken loans from parties
listed in the register maintained under Section 301 of the Companies
Act, 1956 except interest free loans of Rs. 10,65,32,659/- from Holding
Companies Zee Telefilms Limited and Programme Asia Trading
Company Ltd. The terms and conditions of such loans are prima
facie not prejudicial to the interest of the Company. No loans are
taken from the Companies under the same management as was
defined in Section 370 (1B) of the Companies Act, 1956.

8. In our opinion the Company has not granted loans to parties
listed in the register maintained u/s 301 of the Companies Act,
1956, but interest free loan is given to Siticable Network Ltd.
Rs. 7,21,62,942/- a Company under the same management as
was defined in sub-section (1B) of Section 370 of the Companies
Act,1956. The other terms and conditions of such loan are prima
facie not prejudicial to the interest of the Company.

9. The parties (including employees) to whom loans and advances
in the nature of loans have been given are generally regular in
repaying the principal amount as stipulated or rescheduled and in
payment of interest, wherever applicable.

10. In our opinion, there are adequate internal control procedures
commensurate with the size of the Company and nature of its
business for the purchase of Television programmes, Films and
related rights, plant and machinery, equipment and other assets,
and for the sale of television programmes, films and related rights.

11. According to information and explanations given to us, the
purchase of programmes and sale of services made in pursuance
of  the contracts or arrangements entered in the register maintained
under Section 301 of the Companies Act, 1956 and aggregating
during the year to Rs. 50,000/- or more in value in respect of
each party are explained to have been made at reasonable prices
and terms, however comparison has not been possible.

12. The Company has a system of determining unserviceable or
damaged goods, merchandise and on that basis adequate
provision has been made in the accounts.

13. The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public.
14. As explained to us, the activities of the Company does not generate

any realisable scrap or by-product.
15. The Company has its own internal audit system which is

commensurate with size and nature of its business.
16. The Central Government has not prescribed the maintenance of

cost accounting records by the Company under Section 209 (1)
(d) of the Companies Act, 1956 in respect of Company’s product.

17. According to the records of the Company the contribution to
Provident Fund and Employees’ State Insurance have been regularly
deposited with the appropriate authorities.

18. On the basis of examination of the records and according to the
information and explanations given to us, there are no undisputed
amounts payable in respect of Income Tax, Sales Tax, Customs
Duty and Excise Duty which have remained outstanding as at
31st March, 2000 for a period of more than six months from the
date they became payable.

19. According to information and explanations given to us, no personal
expenses have been charged to Profit and Loss Account, other
than those payable under contractual obligations or in accordance
with generally accepted business practices.

20. The Company is not a Sick Industrial Company within the meaning
of clause (0) of sub-section (1) of Section 3 of the Sick Industrial
Companies (Special Provisions) Act, 1985.

21. The Company’s service activities are such that it does not involve
any receipts, issues and consumption of materials and stores and
hence the question of allocating materials consumed and also
man hours used to the relative jobs does not arise. However as
explained to us the Company has a reasonable system of
authorisation at proper levels with adequate system of internal
control commensurate with the size of the Company and nature
of its service activities.

22. In respect of the trading activities of the Company no damaged
goods were found in the goods traded by the Company.

For and on behalf of
M.G. BHANDARI & CO.
Chartered Accountants

Place : Mumbai M.G. BHANDARI
Date : 27th May, 2000 Partner

to the Members of EL ZEE TELEVISION LIMITED
AUDITORS’ REPORT

ANNEXURE REFERRED TO IN PARAGRAPH (1) OF AUDITORS’
REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF EL-ZEE TELEVISION LIMITED ON
THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH, 2000.
1. The Company has maintained proper records showing full

particulars including quantitative details, and situation of its fixed
assets. The fixed assets of the Company have been physically
verified by the management during the year, and no material
discrepancies are noticed on such verification.

2. None of the fixed assets have been revalued during the year.
3. As explained to us, Stock of Raw Stocks (Tapes, Cassettes, etc),

Television Programmes (except films/programme rights and
Programmes under production) at all locations have been physically
verified by the management.

4. In our opinion, the procedures of physical verification of stocks
followed by the management are reasonable and adequate in
relation to the size of the Company and the nature of its business.

5. Discrepancies noticed on physical verification of stocks as compared
to book records which are not significant have been properly
dealt with in the books of accounts.

6. In our opinion, the valuation of stocks is fair and proper in
accordance with the normally accepted accounting principles and
is on the same basis as in the preceding year except change in
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Schedule 2000 1999
Rs. Rs.

SOURCES OF FUNDS

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS
Share Capital 1 20,000 20,000

RESERVES & SURPLUS
Profit & Loss Account 40,562,016 —

LOAN FUNDS
Unsecured Loans 2 106,532,659 54,860,458

Total 147,114,675 54,880,458

APPLICATION OF FUNDS

FIXED ASSETS 3
Gross Block (at cost) 5,218,403 5,066,817
Less : Depreciation 1,965,820 1,515,446

Net Block 3,252,583 3,551,371

INVESTMENTS 4 15,000 15,000

CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS
AND ADVANCES 5

Interest Accrued on investment 6,285 2,085
Inventories 808,993 8,215,685
Sundry Debtors 106,617,235 88,997,187
Cash & Bank Balances 24,614,150 12,026,803
Loans & Advances 105,440,107 29,131,013

237,486,770 138,372,773

Less :
CURRENT LIABILITIES AND
PROVISIONS 6

Current Liabilities 60,385,067 87,468,646
Provisions 33,397,748 2,880,057

93,782,815 90,348,703

Net Current Assets 143,703,955 48,024,070

MISCELLANEOUS EXPENDITURE
(To the extent not written off
or adjusted)
Preliminary Expenses 143,137 178,922

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT — 3,111,095

Total 147,114,675 54,880,458

Schedule 2000 1999
Rs. Rs.

INCOME

Sales & Services 7 265,639,057 207,569,218

Other Income 8 1,064,249 765,584

Total 266,703,306 208,334,802

EXPENDITURE

Programming Cost 9 140,174,693 159,417,602

Personnel Cost 10 20,608,180 13,858,348

Administrative &

Other Expenses 11 30,835,315 30,448,184

Total 191,618,188 203,724,134

Operating Profit (PBIDT) 75,085,118 4,610,668

Depreciation 450,374 435,648

Profit before tax (PBT) 74,634,744 4,175,020

Provision for Taxation 30,000,000 —

Profit after tax (PAT) 44,634,744 4,175,020

Prior Period Adjustment (net) 961,633 5,014,106

Brought Forward Profit/(Loss) (3,111,095) (2,272,009)

Balance carried forward 40,562,016 (3,111,095)

as at 31st March, 2000
BALANCE SHEET

for the year ended 31st March, 2000
PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

As per our attached Report For and on behalf of the Board
of even date
For  M.G. BHANDARI & CO. ANIL TERDALKAR VINAY WELLING
Chartered Accountants Director Director

M.G. BHANDARI
Partner

Place : Mumbai
Dated : 27th May, 2000

As per our attached Report For and on behalf of the Board
of even date
For  M.G. BHANDARI & CO. ANIL TERDALKAR VINAY WELLING
Chartered Accountants Director Director

M.G. BHANDARI
Partner

Place : Mumbai
Dated : 27th May, 2000

Significant Accounting Policies and 12
Notes on Accounts

Significant Accounting Policies and 12
Notes on Accounts
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SCHEDULE 3
FIXED ASSETS (AT COST) (Rs.)

GROSS BLOCK DEPRECIATION NET BLOCK

As at As at Upto For the Upto As at As at
DESCRIPTION 01.04.1999 Addition 31.03.2000 31.03.1999 year 31.03.2000 31.03.2000 31.03.1999

Air Conditioner 505,150 — 505,150 93,891 23,995 117,886 387,264 411,259
Office Equipments 927,306 21,210 948,516 189,373 43,885 233,258 715,258 737,933
Computers 1,507,095 122,100 1,629,195 722,528 243,380 965,908 663,287 784,567
Furniture & Fixtures 2,127,266 8,276 2,135,542 509,654 139,114 648,768 1,486,774 1,617,612

Total 5,066,817 151,586 5,218,403 1,515,446 450,374 1,965,820 3,252,583 3,551,371

Previous Year 4,763,784 303,033 5,066,817 1,079,798 435,648 1,515,446 3,551,371 —

2000 1999
Rs. Rs.

SCHEDULE 4
INVESTMENTS

Unquoted
National Savings Certificate 15,000 15,000
(Pledged with Sales Tax Department)

Total 15,000 15,000

SCHEDULE 5
CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS AND
ADVANCES

A. CURRENT ASSETS

(a) Interest Accrued on
investment 6,285 2,085

6,285 2,085
(b) Inventories

(as taken, valued and certified
by the Management)
(valued at lower of cost or
estimated net realisable value)

Raw Stock - Tapes 443,742 453,480

Under Production - Television
Programmes 93,251 7,108,279

Finished Goods - Television
Programmes 272,000 653,926

808,993 8,215,685

to the Balance Sheet as at 31st March, 2000
SCHEDULES

2000 1999
Rs. Rs.

(c) Sundry Debtors (Unsecured
and Considered Good)

Debts outstanding for more
than six months * 29,820,224 49,579,185
Others * 76,797,011 39,418,002

*includes due from Companies
under the same management.
(I) Rs. 4,97,18,010/- (Rs. 2,97,86,227/-)

due from Asia Today Ltd, Maximum
balance outstanding during the
year Rs. 4,97,18,010/-.

(II) Rs. 3,99,55,987/-
(Rs. 3,92,17,745/-) due from
Siticable Network Ltd., Maximum
balance outstanding during the
year Rs. 5,35,22,615/-.

106,617,235 88,997,187

(d) Cash and Bank Balance
Cash in Hand 348,404 529,420
Balance with Schedule Banks

in Current Accounts 24,265,746 10,063,384
Balance with Scheduled Banks

in Fixed Deposits — 1,433,999

24,614,150 12,026,803

2000 1999
Rs. Rs.

SCHEDULE 1
SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised :
5,00,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each 50,00,000 50,00,000

Issued, Subscribed & Paid up :
2,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each
fully paid up 20,000 20,000

(All Shares are held by the holding
Company namely Programme Asia
Trading Company Limited
and its nominees)

Total 20,000 20,000

2000 1999
Rs. Rs.

SCHEDULE 2
UNSECURED LOAN

From Others — 46,432,247
From Holding Companies-Interest free 106,532,659 8,428,211

Total 106,532,659 54,860,458
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2000 1999
Rs. Rs.

SCHEDULE 9
PROGRAMMING COST

A. OPENING STOCK
Raw Stocks 453,480 853,033
Under Production -

Television Programmes 7,108,279 7,103,215
Finished Goods -

Television Programmes 653,926 712,149

8,215,685 8,668,397

B. PRODUCTIONS/PURCHASE
Raw Stocks - Purchase 2,118,990 2,325,393
Production - Television programme 72,207,397 86,518,421
Purchase - Television programme 7,052,000 1,350,000
Licence Fees 51,389,614 68,771,076

132,768,001 158,964,890

C. CLOSING STOCK
Raw Stocks 443,742 453,480
Under Production -

Television Programmes 93,251 7,108,279
Finished Goods -

Television Programmes 272,000 653,926

808,993 8,215,685

Total 140,174,693 159,417,602

SCHEDULE 10
PERSONNEL COST

Salaries, Allowances & Bonus 18,149,483 12,309,913
Contribution to PF & other funds 1,183,429 777,366
Staff Welfare Expenses 1,275,268 771,069

Total 20,608,180 13,858,348

SCHEDULE 11
ADMINISTRATIVE & OTHER EXPENSES

Rent 1,516,147 1,149,904
Lease Rentals 115,571 —
Rates & Taxes 99,022 106,844
Repairs & Maintenance – Others 328,059 224,699
Electricity/Water Charges 303,295 151,545
Communication Expenses 2,952,147 2,931,445
Freight & Forwarding 189,415 184,850
Legal & Professional Expenses 1,080,839 1,513,733
Printing & Stationery 712,198 940,816
Conveyance Expenses 1,558,695 1,480,203
Travelling Expenses – [Directors Rs.NIL
(Rs.12,514/-)] 2,035,761 2,090,798
Business Promotion Expenses 1,934,524 994,292
Advertisement & Publicity Expenses 32,000 1,617,844
Sundry Expenses 5,816,560 3,008,999
Commission 11,585,734 13,529,053
Bank Charges 280,064 281,875
Auditors’ Remuneration :

Audit Fees 168,000 100,000
Tax Audit Fees 84,000 50,000
Other Matters 7,500 55,500

Preliminary Expenses written off 35,784 35,784

Total 30,835,315 30,448,184

2000 1999
Rs. Rs.

B. LOANS AND ADVANCES
(Unsecured and Considered Good)

(a) Loans* 72,180,627 113,911
(b) Advances (Recoverable in

Cash or in Kind or for Value
to be received)
Trade Advances 361,426 3,763,802
Tax Advances 27,513,377 15,523,326
Other Advances 2,991,583 7,899,792

(c) Deposits 2,393,094 1,830,182
*includes Rs. 7,21,62,942/-
due from Siticable Network
Ltd., a Company under the
same management. 105,440,107 29,131,013

(Maximum balance out-
standing during the year
Rs. 7,21,62,942/-)

Total 237,486,770 138,372,773

SCHEDULE 6
CURRENT LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS

A . CURRENT LIABILITIES
Sundry Creditors - For
Programmes 3,484,110 38,436,428
Sundry Creditors - For Others 50,179,991 47,672,475
Trade Advances/Deposits Received 6,720,966 1,359,743

60,385,067 87,468,646

B. PROVISIONS
Provision for Gratuity 467,372 295,787
Provision for Leave Encashment 1,041,796 695,690
Provision for Taxation 31,888,580 1,888,580

33,397,748 2,880,057

Total 93,782,815 90,348,703

to the Profit and Loss Account for the
year ended 31st March, 2000

SCHEDULES

2000 1999
Rs. Rs.

SCHEDULE 7
SALES & SERVICES

Sale - Television Programme/Films 62,146,117 43,935,294
Subscription Income 178,567,940 145,172,295
Royalty Income 24,925,000 18,461,629

Total 265,639,057 207,569,218

SCHEDULE 8
OTHER INCOME

Interest Income (Gross)
[T.D.S. – Rs.1,72,240/- (66,969/-] 787,666 360,535
Miscellaneous Income 276,583 405,049

Total 1,064,249 765,584
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SCHEDULE 12
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES ON ACCOUNTS

A. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Accounting Convention
(i) The Accounts have been prepared on Historical Cost

convention on going concern basis.
(ii) The Company generally follows the mercantile system

of accounting and recognises income and expenditure
on an accrual basis except those with significant
uncertainties.

2. Fixed Assets
Fixed assets are stated at cost less depreciation. Cost comprises
of purchase price and any attributable cost of bringing the
asset to its working condition for its intended use.

3. Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on the Straight Line Method in the
manner laid down in Schedule XIV of the Companies Act,
1956.

4. Revenue Recognition
Sale is recognised on despatch of television programmes to
customers. Sales include sale of Programmes, Films,etc.
Licence Fees are expensed off on telecast.

5. Investment
Investments are long term and stated at cost.

6. Foreign Currency Transactions
Transactions in Foreign Currencies to the extent not covered
by forward contracts are accounted at prevailing rates.
Current Assets & Current Liabilities in Foreign Currencies are
translated at the rate of exchange ruling on Balance Sheet
date. Gain/Loss arising out of fluctuation in exchange rate
are accounted for in the Profit and Loss Account.

7. Inventories
Inventories are valued at lower of cost or estimated net
realisable value.

8. Retirement Benefit
a) Contribution to Provident Fund Scheme is expensed.
b) Gratuity Liability is provided on Actuarial Valuation.
c) Leave Encashment has been provided in terms of

contractual obligation as per Company’s rule.

9. Miscellaneous Expenditure
Preliminary expenses are amortised @ 10% for every financial
year.

As at As at
Rs. Rs.

B. NOTES ON ACCOUNTS 31.03.2000 31.03.1999

1. Contingent Liability
not provided for :
(a) Claims against the

Company not
acknowledged as debts 2,480,000 2,480,000

(b) Bank Guarantee
Outstanding — 14,220,000

2. Future Committed lease rentals 312,579 —

3. Remuneration to Auditors
is as under :
(i) Audit Fees 168,000 100,000
(ii) Tax Audit Fees 84,000 50,000
(iii) For Other Matters 7,500 55,500

4. Previous year’s figures are regrouped, rearranged, or recast
wherever necessary. Figures in brackets pertain to previous
year.

5. In the opinion of the Board of Directors the current assets,

loans and advances shown in the Balance Sheet as on
31.03.2000 are considered good and fully recoverable,
except otherwise stated. Debit and credit balances are subject
to confirmation.

6. There are no dues payable to small scale industrial
undertakings.

7. In consonance with Accounting Standard AS-2 “Valuation of
Inventories” issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants
of India, the Company has valued all inventories at lower of
cost or estimated net realisable value. However, this change
has no impact on profits for the year.

8. Additional information required to be given pursuant to Part
II of Schedule VI to the Companies Act,1956 is as follows :

(i) The Company is in the business of production, dealing in
television programmes, films and related rights and Pay TV
channel subscription agent which is not subject to any
licence. Hence licenced capacity is not given. Further the
Company has no installed capacity of its own.

(ii) Production, Sales and Stocks
Original

Television Programmes/Films
Qty (Nos.) Value (Rs.)

Opening stock 15 653,926
(16) (712,149)

Purchases 55 7,052,000
(10) (1,350,000)

Production 228 —
(400) —

Sales : Television Programmes/Films 290 45,140,510
(411) (40,583,672)

Others — 17,005,607
(3,351,622)

Closing stock 8 272,000
(15) (653,926)

(iii) Consumption of Raw Material
31.03.2000

Qty. (Nos.) Value (Rs.)

Raw Tapes 2,370 2,128,728
(2,297) (2,724,946)

(iv) Value of imported and indigenous 31.03.2000
raw materials consumed %age Value (Rs.)

(a) Imported — —
(—) (—)

(b) Indigenous 100% 2,128,728
(100%) (2,724,946)

(v) Expenditure in Foreign Currency
Travelling —

(434,161)
(vi) Earnings in Foreign Currency

(a) FOB Value of Exports 51,164,774
(38,529,938)

(b) Royalty 24,925,000
(18,461,629)

As per our attached Report For and on behalf of the Board
of even date

For  M.G. BHANDARI & CO. ANIL TERDALKAR VINAY WELLING
Chartered Accountants Director Director
M.G. BHANDARI
Partner
Place : Mumbai
Dated : 27th May, 2000
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As per our attached Report For and on behalf of the Board
of even date

For  M.G. BHANDARI & CO. ANIL TERDALKAR VINAY WELLING
Chartered Accountants Director Director

M.G. BHANDARI
Partner

Mumbai
Dated  : 27th May, 2000
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9. BALANCE SHEET ABSTRACT AND COMPANY’S GENERAL BUSINESS PROFILE :

I. REGISTRATION DETAILS

Registration No. State Code

Date Month Year

Balance Sheet Date

II. CAPITAL RAISED DURING THE YEAR (AMOUNT IN RUPEES)

Public Issue Rights Issue

Bonus Issue Preferential Allotment

III. POSITION OF MOBILISATION AND DEPLOYMENT OF FUNDS (AMOUNT IN RUPEES)

Total Liabilities Total Assets

SOURCES OF FUNDS

Paid-up Capital Reserves and Surplus

Secured Loans Unsecured Loans

APPLICATION OF FUNDS

Net Fixed Assets Investments

Net Current Assets Miscellaneous Expenditure

Accumulated Losses

IV. PERFORMANCE OF COMPANY (AMOUNT IN RUPEES)

Turnover* Total Expenditure

+ – Profit/(Loss) Before Tax + – Profit/(Loss) After Tax

* Includes other income
Earnings Per Share (in Rs.)

V. GENERIC NAMES OF PRINCIPAL PRODUCTS OF THE COMPANY
(AS PER MONETARY TERMS)

Item Code No. (ITC Code)

Product Description

1 4 7 1 1 4 6 7 5 1 4 7 1 1 4 6 7 5
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Your Directors have the pleasure in presenting the First Annual Report
of the Company, for the period ended 31st March, 2000.

Financial Results :

For the period ended (Rs. in Lacs)
31st March, 2000

Total Gross Income 586.07
Total Expenses 575.95

Profit/(loss) Before Tax & Depreciation 10.12
Depreciation 8.13
Provision for taxation —

Profit/(loss) After Tax 1.99

Balance Profit/(loss) Carried Forward 1.99

Operations :

The Company in its first year of operation has registered a turnover of
Rs. 582.98 lacs from sales and services which compared to industry
standard is a good start. The Company has recorded modest profit of
Rs. 1.99 lacs after providing depreciation of Rs. 8.13 lacs for the period
under review.

Business Outlook :

Your Company is in business of creation of Learning Network, integrating
television, multimedia, Internet and print for providing unique learning
solutions to various segments of the society. It is contemplating to
achieve the objective of being India’s most comprehensive learning
solutions network by diversifying into field of Education TV Channel,
Education Portal, and setting up facilities for interactive learning. The
Learning network will seamlessly deliver content on the integrated
platform comprising of media and learning centers. The Company has
already set up  over 300 learning centers equipped with career
counselling and the training facilities in IT & e commerce. The Company
has entered into alliance with leading universities namely Indra Prastha
University, Kurukshetra University, SNDT University to name a few.
zeelearn.com is India’s most comprehensive learning portal producing
learning content in a variety of fields. The Education channel ZED TV
being planned to be launched shortly will be supported by dedicated
shoot studios and Graphics and Animation studio in Mumbai. Considering
the quality infrastructure and professional competence being created in
your Company, the business prospects of the Company are very bright.

Share Capital :

During the period your Company has issued to Zee Telefilms Ltd.
(ZTL)10,000 equity shares of Rs. 10/- each for cash at par and 63,517
equity shares of Rs. 10/- each as part of purchase consideration for
transfer of business by ZTL  to the Company. Your Company is the
wholly owned Subsidiary of Zee Telefilms Limited since 100% equity is
held by ZTL and its nominees.

Dividend :

The Company is in startup stage and its profits need to be ploughed
back for future expansions, as such, your Directors do not recommend
any dividend for the period ended 31st March, 2000.

Public Deposit :

The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public during
the period.

Directors :

Shri Amal Chandra Saha, Shri B. R. Jaju and Smt. Uma Ganesh, Directors,
who were appointed as first Directors by Articles of Association of the
Company are retiring at the ensuing Annual General Meeting and being
eligible for reappointment have conveyed their willingness for the same.

Auditors :

The Statutory Auditors of the Company M/s. M.G. Bhandari & Co.,
Chartered Accountants, Mumbai, retire at the conclusion of the ensuing
Annual General Meeting and being eligible have offered themselves for
reappointment as Statutory Auditors of the Company.

Auditors’ Report :

The observations and comments made in the Auditors’ Report are self-
explanatory.

Additional Information :

Information pursuant to  Section 217(1)(e) of the Companies Act, 1956,
read with the Companies (Disclosure of Particulars in the Report of
Board of Directors) Rules, 1988, relating to the Conservation of Energy,
Technology Absorption and Foreign Exchange Earnings and Outgo are
annexed herewith.

Personnel :

Relationship between the management  and personnel was cordial
during the period. Since none of the employees is drawing salary in
excess of limits specified under Section 217(2A) of the Companies Act,
1956 information as per that Section, read with Companies (Disclosure
of Particulars in the Report of Board of Directors) Rules, 1988 is not
given.

Acknowledgement :

Your Directors thank the shareholders, bankers and personnel for reposing
their support and faith in the Company, which has helped in  achieving
the desired growth.

For and on behalf of the Board

Place : Mumbai UMA GANESH B.R. JAJU
Date : 12th June, 2000 Director Director

to the Members of ZEE INTERACTIVE
LEARNING SYSTEMS LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION GIVEN AS REQUIRED UNDER THE COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF PARTICULARS IN THE REPORT OF
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS) RULES, 1988.

I. CONSERVATION OF ENERGY & TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION :

During the period under review, no activity relating to conservation of energy was carried out by the Company.  There was no absorption
of any technology by the Company during the period under review.

II. FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNING AND OUTGO :

(a) Total Foreign Exchange Earned : Nil

(b) Total Foreign Exchange Outgo : (Travelling) Rs. 44,022

For and on behalf of the Board

Place : Mumbai UMA GANESH B.R. JAJU
Date : 12th June, 2000 Director Director
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ANNEXURE REFERRED TO IN PARAGRAPH (1) OF AUDITORS’
REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ZEE INTERACTIVE LEARNING
SYSTEMS LIMITED ON THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE PERIOD ENDED
31ST MARCH, 2000
1. The Company has maintained proper records showing full

particulars including quantitative details and situation of its fixed
assets. The management has physically verified all the fixed assets.
We are informed that no material discrepancies have been noticed
on such verification.

2. None of the fixed assets have been revalued during the period.
3. As explained to us, the management during the period has

physically verified the inventories except work in progress. We are
informed that no material discrepancies between physical stocks
and the book records were noticed on such verification.

4. In our opinion, the procedure for physical verification of stocks
followed by the management is reasonable and adequate having
regard to the size of the Company and the nature of its business.

5. In our opinion the valuation of stock is fair and proper and in
accordance with the normally accepted accounting principles.
This is first accounting period of the Company.

6. The Company has not taken any loan from the parties listed in
the register maintained under Section 301 of the Companies Act,
1956 and from companies under the same management as was
defined under Section 370 (1B) of the Companies Act, 1956
except interest free loan from Holding Company viz Zee Telefilms
Ltd. The other terms and conditions of such loan are prima-facie
not prejudicial to the interest of the Company. Amount outstanding
as on 31st March, 2000 is Rs. 24,053,745/-.

7. The Company has not granted loans to companies, firms and
other parties listed in the register maintained under Section 301
of the Companies Act, 1956 or to any Company under the same
management as was defined under Section 370 (1B) of the
Companies Act, 1956.

8. The parties including the employees to whom loans or advances
in the nature of loans have been given are repaying the principal
amounts as stipulated and interest wherever applicable.

9. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations
given to us, there are adequate internal control procedures,
commensurate with the size of the Company and the nature of
its business, with regard to purchase of assets, materials and for
the sale of goods and services.

10. According to the information and explanations given to us, there
are no transactions for purchase of goods material and sale of
goods and services with parties listed in the register maintained
under Section 301 of the Companies Act, 1956 and aggregating
during the period to Rs. 50,000/- or more in respect of each
party.

11. According to the information and explanations given to us, the
Company has an adequate system of determining unserviceable
and damaged goods.

12. The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public.

13. As explained to us, the activities of the Company are not
manufacturing hence does not generate any scrap or by-product.

14. In our opinion the Company has adequate internal audit system.

15. We have been informed that the Central Government has not
prescribed the maintenance of Cost Accounting records under
Section 209(1) (d) of the Companies Act, 1956 for the Company
and any of its products.

16. According to the records of the Company, the contribution to
Provident Fund and Employees State Insurance Scheme dues have
been regularly deposited with the appropriate authorities.

17. According to the information and explanations given to us, there
are no undisputed amounts payable in respect of income tax,
wealth tax, sales tax, customs duty and excise duty which have
remained outstanding as at 31st March, 2000 for a period of
more than six months from the date they became payable.

18. According to the information and explanations given to us, no
personal expenses have been charged to revenue account other
than those payable under contractual obligations or in accordance
with the generally accepted business practices.

19. In our opinion, the Company is not a sick industrial company
within the meaning of clause (O) of sub-section (1) of Section 3
of Sick Industrial Companies (Special Provisions) Act, 1985.

20. The Company's main activities include education and training
and as such it does not involve consumption of material. However,
as explained to us, the Company has reasonable system of
authorization at proper levels with adequate system of  internal
control commensurate with the size of the Company and nature
of its business.

21. In respect of trading activity, in our opinion the Company has a
reasonable system of determining the damaged goods and loss
on this account provided for.

For M.G. BHANDARI & CO.
Chartered Accountants

Place : Mumbai M.G. BHANDARI
Date : 12th June, 2000 Partner

to the Members of ZEE INTERACTIVE
LEARNING SYSTEMS LIMITED

AUDITORS‘ REPORT

We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of Zee Interactive Learning
Systems Limited (the “Company”) as at 31st March, 2000 and the Profit
and Loss Account of the Company for the period from the date of
incorporation 27th August, 1999 to 31st March, 2000 and annexed
thereto and report that :

1. As required by the Manufacturing and Other Companies (Auditors’
Report) Order, 1988, issued by the Company Law Board in terms
of Section 227(4A) of the Companies Act, 1956 and on the basis
of such checks as we considered appropriate and according to
the information and explanations given to us, during the course
of audit, we annex hereto a statement on matters specified in
paragraphs 4 & 5 of the said Order.

2. Further to our comments in the Annexure referred to in paragraph
1 above :

a) We have obtained all the information and explanations which
to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for
the purpose of our audit;

b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law

have been kept by the Company so far as it appears from
our examination of these books;

c) The Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Account dealt with
by this Report are in agreement with the books of account;

d) In our opinion the Profit and Loss Account and Balance
Sheet complies with the mandatory Accounting Standards
referred to in Section 211(3C) of the Companies Act, 1956.

e) In our opinion and to the best of our information and
according to the explanations given to us, the said accounts
read with the significant accounting policies and notes
thereon as per Schedule 18, give the information required
by the Companies Act, 1956, in the manner so required
and give a true and fair view;

i. In the case of the Balance Sheet of the state of affairs
of the Company as at 31st March, 2000 and

ii. In the case of the Profit and Loss Account of the Profit
of the Company for the period ended on that date.

For M.G. BHANDARI & CO.
Chartered Accountants

Place : Mumbai M.G. BHANDARI
Date : 12th June, 2000 Partner



84 ANNUAL  REPORT  1999-2000

As at
31st March, 2000

Rupees

SOURCES OF FUNDS

Shareholders’ Funds

Share Capital 1 735,870
Reserves & Surplus 2 199,044

934,914

Loan Funds

Secured Loans 3 1,168,097
Unsecured Loans 4 24,053,745

25,221,842

Total 26,156,756

APPLICATION OF FUNDS

Fixed Assets

Gross Block (at cost) 5 11,184,080
Less : Depreciation up to date 813,092

Net Block 10,370,988
Add : Capital Work-in-Progress 5,545,671

15,916,659

Investments 6 5,000

Current Assets, Loans and Advances 7

Inventories 7,006,669
Sundry Debtors 10,149,408
Cash & Bank Balances 10,365,785
Loans & Advances 33,121,223

60,643,085

Less :

Current Liabilities and Provisions

Current Liabilities 8 49,786,428
Provisions 9 709,200

50,495,628

Net Current Assets 10,147,457

Miscellaneous Expenditure 10 87,640

Total 26,156,756

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND NOTES ON ACCOUNTS 18

Period ended
31st March, 2000

Rupees

INCOME

Sales & Services 11 58,298,588

Other Income 12 308,710

Increase in Stock 13 7,006,669

Total 65,613,967

EXPENDITURE

Operational Expenses 14 39,220,311

Personnel Cost 15 7,469,497

Administrative & Selling Expenses 16 17,667,554

Total 64,357,362

Operating Profit (PBIDT) 1,256,605

Financial Charges 17 244,469

Depreciation 813,092

Profit Before Tax (PBT) 199,044

Provision for Taxation —

Profit After Tax (PAT) 199,044

Balance carried to Balance Sheet 199,044

as at 31st March, 2000

BALANCE SHEET

for the period ended 31st March, 2000

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

As per our attached report For and on behalf of the Board
of even date
For and on behalf of
M.G. BHANDARI & CO.
Chartered Accountants

M.G. BHANDARI UMA GANESH A.C. SAHA
Partner Director Director

Place : Mumbai
Date : 12th June, 2000

As per our attached report For and on behalf of the Board
of even date
For and on behalf of
M.G. BHANDARI & CO.
Chartered Accountants

M.G. BHANDARI UMA GANESH A.C. SAHA
Partner Director Director

Place : Mumbai
Date : 12th June, 2000

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND NOTES ON ACCOUNTS 18
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to Balance Sheet as at 31st March, 2000

SCHEDULES

As at
31st March, 2000

Rupees
SCHEDULE 1
SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised
20,00,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each 20,000,000

20,000,000

Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up

73,587 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each fully paid up 735,870

Notes : 1. All the above Equity Shares are held by the
holding Company viz. Zee Telefilms Ltd.
and its nominees.

2. Of the above, 63,517 Equity Shares are
issued to holding Company viz. Zee Telefilms
Ltd. as part of purchase consideration for
transfer of its business, without payment being
received in cash.

Total 735,870

As at
31st March, 2000

Rupees
SCHEDULE 2
RESERVES & SURPLUS

Profit & Loss Account 199,044

Total 199,044

SCHEDULE 3
SECURED LOANS

Hire Purchase Finance 707,030
Other Secured Loans 461,067
(Both the above loans are secured against
hypothecation of specific assets, the charges
u/s 125 are not registered)

Total 1,168,097

SCHEDULE 4
UNSECURED LOANS

From Holding Company 24,053,745

Total 24,053,745

SCHEDULE 5
FIXED ASSETS (AT COST)

Rupees

GROSS BLOCK DEPRECIATION NET BLOCK

As at For the Up to As at
Description of Assets Additions 31.3.2000 period 31.3.2000 31.3.2000

Air Conditioner 1,103,112 1,103,112 13,010 13,010 1,090,102
Equipments 1,599,250 1,599,250 19,036 19,036 1,580,214
Computers 6,113,732 6,113,732 374,512 374,512 5,739,220
Furniture & Fixture 1,347,573 1,347,573 398,273 398,273 949,300
Vehicles 938,400 938,400 5,950 5,950 932,450
Electrical Equipments 82,013 82,013 2,311 2,311 79,702

Total 11,184,080 11,184,080 813,092 813,092 10,370,988

Note : The fixed assets aggregating to Rs. 49,20,776/- as on 1st October, 1999 is assigned by the holding Company at its cost less accumulated
depreciation.

As at
31st March, 2000

Rupees

(b) Sundry Debtors
(Unsecured and Considered Good)

More than six months 1,036,262
Other Debts 9,113,146

10,149,408

(c) Cash & Bank Balances

Cash in hand 357,450
Balances in Current Account with

Scheduled Banks 9,352,380
Non-scheduled Banks (Maximum
outstanding Rs. 555,629/-) 121,718

Fixed Deposits with Banks* 145,960
Remittances in transit 388,277

10,365,785

* Fixed deposits have been pledged as security against
guarantees given by bank.

As at
31st March, 2000

Rupees

SCHEDULE 6
INVESTMENTS (AT COST)

Unquoted - Non-Trade
National Savings Certificate 5,000
(Pledged with Sales Tax authorities)

Total 5,000

SCHEDULE 7
CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS & ADVANCES

A. Current Assets

(a) Inventories
(as taken, valued and certified by the Management)
(valued at lower of cost or estimated net realisable value)

Stock of Study Materials 1,893,458
Work-in-Process - Content 5,113,211

7,006,669
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As at
31st March, 2000

Rupees
B. Loans & Advances

(Unsecured and considered good)
Loans 51,000
Advances
(Recoverable in cash or in kind or for value
to be received)

Tax Advance 22,836
Other Advances 22,872,026

Deposits 10,175,361

33,121,223

Total 60,643,085

SCHEDULE 8
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Sundry Creditors 42,370,235
Interest Accrued but not due 6,859
Trade Advance/Deposits 7,409,334

Total 49,786,428

SCHEDULE 9
PROVISIONS

For Gratuity 223,114
For Leave Encashment 486,086

Total 709,200

SCHEDULE 10
MISCELLANEOUS EXPENDITURE

(to the extent not written off or adjusted)
Preliminary Expenses 87,640

Total 87,640

Period ended
31st March, 2000

Rupees

SCHEDULE 13
INCREASE IN STOCK

Closing stock
Stock of Study Materials 1,893,458
Work-in-Process - Content 5,113,211

Total 7,006,669

SCHEDULE 14
OPERATIONAL EXPENSES

Study Material expenses 2,915,874
Course expenses 27,020,922
Content development expenses 5,113,211
Professional and Internal Audit fees 2,258,827
Other operational expenses 1,911,477

Total 39,220,311

SCHEDULE 15
PERSONNEL COST

Salaries, Allowances & Bonus 6,361,896
Contribution to P.F. & Other Funds 601,698
Staff Welfare Expenses 505,903

Total 7,469,497

SCHEDULE 16
ADMINISTRATIVE & OTHER EXPENSES

Rent 2,220,256
Repairs to others 492,337
Insurance 35,619
Electricity Charges 411,648
Legal & Professional Charges 178,066
Communication Expenses 1,411,323
Printing & Stationery 1,543,838
Sundry Expenses 1,542,200
Conveyance & Travelling (Directors’ Rs. 2,50,301/-) 5,511,373
Sales Promotion Expenses 515,775
Advertisement & Publicity Expenses 3,315,457
Donation 304,702
Auditors’ Remuneration :

Audit Fees 120,000
Tax Audit Fees 30,000
Out of Pocket Expenses 13,050

Preliminary Expenses written off 21,910

Total 17,667,554

SCHEDULE 17
FINANCIAL CHARGES

Lease & Hire Charges 171,636
Interest to Others 5,757
Bank Charges 67,076

Total 244,469

to the Profit and Loss Account for the
period ended 31st March, 2000

SCHEDULES

Period ended
31st March, 2000

Rupees
SCHEDULE 11
SALES & SERVICES

Course fees 36,004,294
Franchisee fees 18,412,638
Sale of study materials/programmes 3,064,955
Sale of services 816,701

Total 58,298,588

SCHEDULE 12
OTHER INCOME

Processing fees 46,000
Miscellaneous income 262,710

Total 308,710
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SCHEDULE 18

A. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Accounting Convention

(a) The Financial Statements have been prepared under
Historical Cost Convention on going concern basis.

(b) The Company generally follows mercantile system of
accounting and recognises income and expenditure
on accrual basis except those with significant
uncertainties.

2. Fixed Assets

(a) Fixed assets are stated at cost less depreciation. Cost
comprises of purchase price and any attributable cost
of bringing the asset to its working condition for its
intended use.

(b) The cost incurred till commencement of commercial
operaions is charged to capital work in progress and
on completion the costs are allocated to the respective
fixed assets.

3. Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on the Straight Line Method on
prorata basis in the manner laid down in Schedule XIV of
the Companies Act, 1956.

4. Investments

Investments are considered as long term and are stated at
cost. Any decline in their value other than temporary charged
to profit and loss account.

5. Revenue Recognition

(a) Course fee income is recognised over the duration of
the courses.

(b) Franchisees fees are recognised on execution of the
agreement

(c) Course development cost is expensed.

(d) For services, revenue is recognised when the service
is completed.

6. Miscellaneous Expenditure

Preliminary expenses are amortised @ 20% for every
accounting period.

7. Inventories

Inventories are valued at lower of cost or estimated net
realisable value.

AND NOTES ON ACCOUNTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

For and on behalf of For and on behalf of the Board
M.G. BHANDARI & CO.
Chartered Accountants

M.G. BHANDARI UMA GANESH A.C. SAHA
Partner Director Director

Place : Mumbai
Date : 12th June, 2000

8. Retirement Benefits

a) Contribution to Provident Fund and other recognised
Funds are charged to Profit and Loss Account.

b) Leave encashment is provided in terms of contractual
obligations as per Company’s Rules.

c) Future liability of Gratuity is provided as per actuarial
valuation.

B. NOTES ON ACCOUNTS
As at

31st March, 2000
Rupees

1. Contingent liabilities not provided for :
- Bank guarantees 145,968

2. Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be
executed on Capital Account & not provided for
(net of advances) 139,775

3. Future committed lease rentals 175,581

4. (a) Debit and Credit Balances are subject to confirmation.
(b) In the opinion of the Board, the Current Assets, Loans and

Advances are approximately of the value stated, if realised in
the ordinary course of business unless otherwise stated.

5. The Company’s financial statements are prepared for the period
from the date of incorporation 27th August, 1999 to 31st March,
2000 being the first year of the Company. Hence previous year’s
figures are not given.

6. The Company has acquired the Zee Education Division, the Learning
and Training activities as a going concern from Zee Telefilms Ltd.,
a Holding Company with all assets and liabilities as on 30th
September, 1999 and for the difference between assets and liabilities,
63,517 equity shares of Rs. 10/- fully paid up are allotted.

7. The Company has started development of Portal and Interactive
Learning and Training system. The expenses relating to
development of these systems are taken to Capital Work-in-Progress
and indirect expenses on these projects are taken to Pre-operative
expenses to be capitalised on commencement of commercial
operations.

8. Provision for taxation is not made as there is no taxable income
as per Income Tax Act, 1961.

9. Additional information pursuant to paragraphs 3, 4C and 4D of
Part II of Schedule VI of the Companies Act, 1956.

(a) The Company is engaged in education and training.

(b) Expenditure in Foreign Currency Rs. 44,022/-.

10. There are no dues payable to Small Scale Industrial undertakings.
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For and on behalf of the Board

UMA GANESH A.C. SAHA
Director Director

Place : Mumbai
Date : 12th June, 2000

11. BALANCE SHEET ABSTRACT AND COMPANY’S GENERAL BUSINESS PROFILE :

I. REGISTRATION DETAILS

Registration No. State Code

Date Month Year

Balance Sheet date

II. CAPITAL RAISED DURING THE YEAR

Public Issue Rights Issue

Bonus Issue Private Placement *

*63,517 equity shares are issued to holding company viz Zee Telefilms Ltd. as purchase consideration for transfer of its business, without payment being incurred in cash.

III. POSITION OF MOBILISATION AND DEPLOYMENT OF FUNDS (AMOUNT IN RUPEES)

Total Liabilities Total Assets

SOURCES OF FUNDS

Paid-up Capital Reserves and Surplus

Secured Loans Unsecured Loans

APPLICATION OF FUNDS

Net Fixed Assets (Includes Capital work in progress) Investments

Net Current Assets Miscellaneous Expenditure

Accumulated Losses

IV. PERFORMANCE OF COMPANY (AMOUNT IN RUPEES)

Turnover (Includes other income) Total Expenditure

+ – Profit/(Loss) Before Tax + – Profit/(Loss) After Tax

Earnings Per Share (Rs.) * Dividend Rate ( % )

*On weighted average equity of 6,187 shares

V. GENERIC NAMES OF PRINCIPAL PRODUCTS/SERVICES OF THE COMPANY
(AS PER MONETARY TERMS)

Item Code No. (ITC Code)

Product Description

N I L N I L

N I L 7 3 5 8 7

1 2 1 5 0 5 1 1

3 1 0 3 2 0 0 0

7 6 6 5 2 3 8 4 7 6 6 5 2 3 8 4

7 3 5 8 7 0 1 9 9 0 4 4

1 1 6 8 0 9 7 2 4 0 5 3 7 4 5

1 5 9 1 6 6 5 9 5 0 0 0

1 0 1 4 7 4 5 7 8 7 6 4 0

N I L

5 8 6 0 7 2 9 8 5 8 4 0 8 2 5 4

1 9 9 0 4 4 1 9 9 0 4 4

3 2 . 1 7 N I L

N. A.

E D U C A T I O N & T R A I N I N G

✓ ✓
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Your Directors have the pleasure in presenting the First Annual Report
of the Company, for the period ended 31st March, 2000.

Financial Results :

For the period ended (Rs. in lacs)
31st March, 2000

Sales & Services 32.77
Other Income 0.67

Total Income 33.44
Total Expenses 108.68

Profit/(loss) Before Tax (75.24)
Provision for taxation —

Profit/(loss) Before Tax (75.24)

Balance Profit/(loss) carried forward (75.24)

Operations :
Your Company is engaged in business of publishing periodicals including
dailies, magazines, etc. During the period, the Company achieved sales and
services revenue amounting to Rs. 32.77 lacs. The Company has published
“Zee Premiere” and “TV World” during the period and readers’ response to
these magazines was encouraging. Your Company is looking forward for
further strengthening of its bottomline and thereby boosting the earnings.

Share Capital :

During the year your Company has issued  4,11,000 Equity Shares of
Rs. 10/- each at par. Out of which 4,00,000 shares were issued and
allotted to M/s. Zee Telefilms Ltd. Your Company is a Subsidiary of  Zee
Telefilms Ltd., since more than  97% paid up capital is held by Zee
Telefilms Ltd.

Dividend :

In view of the loss incurred by the Company during the period, your
Directors do not recommend any dividend for the period ended 31st
March, 2000.

Public Deposit :

The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public during
the period.

Directors :
Shri Subhash Chandra, Shri Vijay Jindal and Shri Deepak Shourie,
Directors, who were appointed as first Directors by Articles of Association
of the Company are retiring at the ensuing Annual General Meeting
and being eligible for re-appointment have conveyed their willingness
for the same.

Auditors :
M/s. M.G. Bhandari & Co., Chartered Accountants, Mumbai, the statutory
auditors of the Company  retire at the conclusion of the ensuing Annual
General Meeting and being eligible offer themselves for reappointment
as Statutory Auditors of the Company.

Auditors’ Report :
The observations and comments made in the Auditors’ Report are self-
explanatory.

Additional Information :
Information pursuant to  Section 217(1)(e) of the Companies Act, 1956,
read with the Companies (Disclosure of Particulars in the Report of
Board of Directors) Rules, 1988, relating to the Conservation of Energy,
Technology Absorption and Foreign Exchange Earnings and Outgo are
annexed herewith.

Personnel :
Relationship between the management and emloyees was cordial during
the period.

Particulars of Employees :
The particulras as required under the provisions of Section 217(2A) of
the Companies Act, 1956, read with the Companies (Disclosure of
Particulars in the Report of Board of Directors) Rules, 1988 are set out
in the Annexure included in this Report.

Acknowledgement :
Your Directors thank the shareholders, bankers and employees for
reposing their support and faith in the Company, which has helped in
achieving the desired growth.

For and on behalf of the Board

Place : Delhi VIJAY JINDAL DEEPAK SHOURIE
Date : 29th May, 2000 Director Director

to the Members of ZEE PUBLISHING LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION GIVEN AS REQUIRED UNDER THE COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF PARTICULARS IN THE REPORT OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS) RULES, 1988

I. Information as per Section 217 (2A)(B)(II) read together with Companies (Particulars of Employees) Rules,1975 and forming part
of the Directors’ Report for the period ended 31st March, 2000

Name Age (Yrs.) Designation Remuneration Qualification Experience Date of Last
(Rs.) (Yrs.) Commencement Employment

of Employment

Rahul Johri 33 Vice President 320550* B.Sc.,M.B.A. 10 1.10.99 The Hindustan
Times Ltd.

Notes : 1. Appointment is contractual and terminable by notice on either side.
2. None of the employees is related to any of the Directors.
3. Remuneration includes Salary, Allowances, Company's contribution to Provident Fund, Superannuation, Medical Benefits, Leave

Travel Allowance, Accommodation & Other perquisites and benefits valued on the basis of provisions of Income Tax Act, 1961.
* Indicates remuneration is for part of the year.

II. Conservation of Energy & Technology Absorption :
During the period under review, no activity relating to conservation of energy was carried out by the Company.
There was no absorption of any technology by the Company during the period under review.

III. Foreign Exchange Earnings and Outgo :
(a) Total Foreign Exchange Earned : Nil
(b) Total Foreign Exchange Outgo : Rs.21,09,435/-

For and on behalf of the Board

Place : Delhi VIJAY JINDAL DEEPAK SHOURIE
Date : 29th May, 2000 Director Director
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ANNEXURE REFERRED TO IN PARAGRAPH (1) OF AUDITORS’
REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ZEE PUBLISHING LTD. ON THE
ACCOUNTS FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31ST MARCH, 2000.

1. The Company has maintained proper records showing full
particulars including quantitative details and situation of its fixed
assets. The assets have been physically verified by the management
during the period. No material discrepancies were noticed on
such verification.

2. None of the fixed assets have been revalued during the period.

3. The stocks of finished goods, raw material of the Company have
been physically verified by the Management during the period.
Stock lying with third parties is accepted as certified. In our opinion,
the frequency of verification is reasonable.

4. The procedure of physical verification of stocks followed by the
management is in our opinion, reasonable and adequate in
relation to the size of the Company and nature of its business.

5. The discrepancies noticed on physical verification of stocks as
compared to book records, which are not significant have been
properly dealt with in the books of accounts.

6. The valuation of stocks is fair and proper in accordance with the
normally accepted accounting principles. This being the first
accounting year of the Company.

7. The Company has not taken any loan from parties listed in the
Register maintained under Section 301 of the Companies Act,
1956 or from any Company under the same management as
was defined under Section 370 (1B) of the Companies Act, 1956
except interest free loans from its Holding Company viz. Zee
Telefilms Ltd. Amount outstanding as on 31st March, 2000
Rs.1,31,91,738/-.

8. The Company has not granted any loans to parties listed in the
Register maintained under Section 301 of the Companies Act,
1956 or to any company under the same management as was
defined under Section 370 (1B) of the Companies Act, 1956.

9. The Company has not granted loans to any other party.

10. In our opinion, there is an adequate internal control procedure
commensurate with the size of the Company and the nature of
its business with regard to the purchase of raw materials, plant
and machinery, equipment and other assets and for the sale of
goods.

11. There are no transactions of purchase of goods and materials,
sale of goods and services made in pursuance to the contracts or
arrangements entered in the Register maintained under Section
301 of the Companies Act, 1956, aggregating during the period
to Rs.50,000/- or more in respect of each party.

12. As explained to us, the Company has regular procedure for
determination of unserviceable or damaged raw materials and
finished goods and adequate provision for the loss has been
made in the accounts.

13. The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public.

14. In our opinion, the Company has maintained reasonable records
for the sale and disposal of realisable scrap. We are informed that
the Company’s manufacturing process does not generate any
by-product.

15. In our opinion, the Company has adequate internal audit system
commensurate with its size and nature of business.

16. The Central Government has not prescribed maintenance of cost
records under Section 209 (1) (d) of the Companies Act, 1956.

17. As explained, the provisions of Provident Fund and Employees’
State Insurance Act are not applicable to the Company.

18. There are no undisputed amounts payable in respect of Income
Tax, Wealth Tax , Sales Tax, Customs and Excise Duty which have
remained outstanding as at 31st March, 2000 for a period of
more than six months from the date they became payable.

19. No personal expenses of employees or directors have been
charged to Company’s profit and loss account, other than those
payable under contractual obligations and accepted business
practices.

20. The Company is not a sick industrial Company within the meaning
of clause (O) of sub-section (1) of Section 3 for the Sick Industrial
Companies (Special Provisions) Act, 1985.

For M.G. BHANDARI & CO.
Chartered Accountants

Place : Mumbai M.G. BHANDARI
Date : 29th May, 2000 Partner

to the Members of ZEE PUBLISHING LIMITED

AUDITORS' REPORT
(c) The Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Account dealt with

by this report are in agreement with the books of account.
(d) In our opinion, the Profit and Loss Account and the Balance

Sheet comply with the mandatory Accounting Standards
referred to in Section 211 (3C) of the Companies Act, 1956
to the extent applicable.

(e) In our opinion and to the best of our information and
according to the explanations given to us, the said accounts
read together with the accounting policies and other notes
thereon as per Schedule 11, required by the Companies
Act, 1956 in the manner so required give a true and fair
view :
(i) In the case of Balance Sheet of the state of affairs of

the Company as at 31st March, 2000; and
(ii) In the case of Profit and Loss Account of the Loss for

the period ended on that date.

For M.G. BHANDARI & CO.
Chartered Accountants

Place : Mumbai M.G. BHANDARI
Date : 29th May, 2000 Partner

We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of Zee Publishing Ltd.
as at 31st March, 2000 and also the Profit and Loss Account of the
Company from the date of incorporation i.e.12th August, 1999 to 31st
March 2000, annexed thereto, and report that :
1. As required by the Manufacturing and Other Companies (Auditor’s

Report) Order, 1988 issued by the Company Law Board in terms
of Section 227(4A) of the Companies Act, 1956, on the basis of
such checks as we considered appropriate, and according to the
information and explanations given to us during the course of
audit, we annex hereto a statement on the matters specified in
paragraphs 4 and 5 of the said Order.

2. Further to our comments in the Annexure referred to in Paragraph
(1) above, we report that :
(a) We have obtained all the information and explanations which

to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for
the purpose of our audit.

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law
have been kept by the Company so far as appears from our
examination of the books.
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Schedule Rs.

INCOME

Sales & Services 6 3,276,602

Miscellaneous Income 67,532

Increase in Stock 7 228,000

Total 3,572,134

EXPENDITURE

Cost of Production 8 4,793,506

Personnel Cost 9 1,297,992

Administrative Expenses 10 4,778,286

Total 10,869,784

Profit/(Loss) before Depreciation & Tax (7,297,650)

Depreciation 225,850

Profit/(Loss) before Tax (7,523,500)

Provision for Taxation —

Profit/(Loss) after Tax (7,523,500)

Balance carried to Balance Sheet (7,523,500)

for the period ending March 31, 2000

PROFIT & LOSS ACCOUNT

as at March 31, 2000

BALANCE SHEET

Schedule Rs.
SOURCES OF FUNDS

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

Share Capital 1 4,110,700

LOAN FUNDS

Unsecured Loans 2 13,191,738

Total 17,302,438

APPLICATION OF FUNDS

FIXED ASSETS 3

Gross Block (at cost) 4,137,060
Less : Depreciation till date 225,850

Net Block 3,911,210

CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS AND ADVANCES 4

Inventories 3,280,365
Sundry Debtors 2,168,022
Cash & Bank Balances 1,122,924
Loans & Advances 139,915

6,711,226
Less :
CURRENT LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS
Current Liabilities 5 981,866
Provisions —

981,866

NET CURRENT ASSETS 5,729,360

MISCELLANEOUS EXPENDITURE

(to the extent not written off or adjusted)
Preliminary Expenses 138,368

PROFIT & LOSS ACCOUNT 7,523,500

Total 17,302,438

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 11
AND NOTES ON ACCOUNTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 11

AND NOTES ON ACCOUNTS

As per our attached Report For and on behalf of the Board
of even date

For and on behalf of
M.G. BHANDARI & CO. VIJAY JINDAL DEEPAK SHOURIE
Chartered Accountants Director Director

M.G. BHANDARI
Partner

Place : Mumbai Place : Delhi
Date : 29th May, 2000 Date : 29th May, 2000

As per our attached Report For and on behalf of the Board
of even date

For and on behalf of
M.G. BHANDARI & CO. VIJAY JINDAL DEEPAK SHOURIE
Chartered Accountants Director Director

M.G. BHANDARI
Partner

Place : Mumbai Place : Delhi
Date : 29th May, 2000 Date : 29th May, 2000
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Rs.
SCHEDULE 1
SHARE CAPITAL

AUTHORISED

50,00,000 Equity Shares of Rs.10/- each 50,000,000

Total 50,000,000

ISSUED,SUBSCRIBED AND PAID UP

4,11,070 Equity Shares of Rs 10 /- each fully paid up 4,110,700
(includes 4,00,000 Equity Shares of Rs 10/- each
held by the Holding Company, Zee Telefilms Ltd.)

Total 4,110,700

SCHEDULE 2
UNSECURED LOANS

From Holding Company-Interest free 13,191,738

Total 13,191,738

SCHEDULE 3
FIXED ASSETS (AT COST)

GROSS BLOCK DEPRECIATION NET BLOCK

Description Additions As at For the Upto As at
31.03.00 Period 31.03.00 31.03.00

Plant & Machinery 2,341,122 2,341,122 42,489 42,489 2,298,633

Office Equipments 178,977 178,977 11,176 11,176 167,801

Computers 476,608 476,608 40,571 40,571 436,037

Furniture & Fittings 761,220 761,220 113,178 113,178 648,042

Vehicles 379,133 379,133 18,436 18,436 360,697

Total 4,137,060 4,137,060 225,850 225,850 3,911,210

SCHEDULE 4
CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS & ADVANCES

A. CURRENT ASSETS
(a) INVENTORIES (as taken, valued and certified by the

Management)
(valued at lower of cost or net realisable value)

Raw Materials 3,052,365
Finished Goods 228,000

3,280,365
(b) SUNDRY DEBTORS

(Unsecured and Considered good)

Debts Outstanding for more than six months —
Other Debts 2,168,022

2,168,022
(c) CASH & BANK BALANCES

Cash in hand 11,373
Balance with Scheduled Banks in
Current Accounts 1,111,551

1,122,924

B. LOANS & ADVANCES
(Unsecured and considered good)

(a) Advances
(Recoverable in cash or in kind or for
value to be received)
Trade Advances 93,335
Other Advances 10,580

(b) Deposits 36,000

139,915

Total  (A+B) 6,711,226

to the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2000

SCHEDULES

SCHEDULE 6
SALES & SERVICES

Magazine : Subscription 1,523,627
: Advertisements 1,752,975

Total 3,276,602

SCHEDULE 7
INCREASE IN STOCK

Finished Goods – Closing 228,000
Finished Goods – Opening —

Total 228,000

SCHEDULE 8
COST OF PRODUCTION

Raw Materials Consumed 1,814,165
Printing & Processing Charges 1,628,376
Professional Remuneration 1,330,767
Other Production Expenses 20,198

Total 4,793,506

SCHEDULE 9
PERSONNEL COST

Salaries, Allowances & Bonus 1,180,547
Staff Welfare Expenses 117,445

Total 1,297,992

SCHEDULE 10
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Rent 290,748
Repairs & Maintenance – Others 1,093,696
Insurance 4,401
Freight & Forwarding 74,685
Communication Expenses 336,702
Printing & Stationery 209,231
Sundry Expenses 339,616
Conveyance Expenses 294,122
Vehicle Expenses 120,433
Travelling Expenses (including Directors’ Rs. 1,85,012/-) 415,499
Legal & Professional Charges 35,650
Auditors’ Remuneration :

Audit Fees 31,500
Certification 15,750

Bank Charges 27,079
Business Promotion Expenses 817,356
Advertisement Expenses 382,680
Commission on Sales 254,546
Preliminary Expenses Written Off 34,592

Total 4,778,286

to the Profit and Loss Account for the
period ending March 31, 2000

SCHEDULES

SCHEDULE 5 Rs.
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Sundry Creditors - for Goods & Expenses 257,160
- for other Liabilities 41,437

Trade Advances Received 683,269

Total 981,866
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SCHEDULE 11
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES ON
ACCOUNTS :

A. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Accounting Convention :

(i) The financial statements have been prepared under
Historical Cost Convention on going concern basis.

(ii) The Company generally follows mercantile system of
accounting and recognizes income and expenditure
on accrual basis except those with significant
uncertainties.

2. Fixed Assets :

Fixed assets are stated at cost less depreciation. Cost
comprises of purchase price and any attributable cost of
bringing the assets to its working condition for its intended
use.

3. Depreciation :

Depreciation is provided at the rates specified in Schedule
XIV of the Companies Act, 1956 on Straight Line Method.

4. Revenue Recognition :

(i) Sale is recognised on despatch of goods to customers.

(ii) Advertisement revenue is recognised when relevant
advertisement is published.

5. Inventories :

Inventories are valued at lower of cost or estimated realisable
value.

6. Retirement Benefits :

(i) None of the employees has completed the qualifying
period of service, hence provision for gratuity is not
required.

(ii) The Company is not currently covered under the
provisions of Employees’ Provident Act.

7. Miscellaneous Expenditure :

Preliminary Expenses are amortized @ 20% per annum.

B. NOTES ON ACCOUNTS

1. This is the first accounting year of the Company, hence
previous year's figures are not given. These accounts are
from the date of incorporation i.e. 12th August, 1999 to
31st March, 2000.

2. There are no dues payable to small scale industrial
undertakings.

3. In view of the loss incurred during the period, provision for
taxation is not required.

4. In the opinion of the Board, the Current Assets, Loans and
Advances are approximately of the value stated, if realised
in the ordinary course of the business. Debit and Credit
balances are subject to confirmation.

5. Additional information required to be given pursuant to
Part II of Schedule VI of the Companies Act, 1956 are as
under :

a) The Company is in the business of publishing of
magazines and all activities relating to printing and
production of magazines are carried out by outside
agencies and as such not subject to any license. Hence
licenced and installed capacity are not given.

b) Production, Sales & Stocks (Quantity in nos. Amount in Rs.)

Magazines

1999-00

Opening Stock Production Sales Closing Stock

Qty. Amt. Qty. Amt. Qty. Amt. Qty. Amt.

Nil Nil 1,70,500 — 84,249 15,23,627 19,000 2,28,000

i. Unsold copies are not considered as realisable
stock.

ii. Complimentaries and promotional distribution is
netted in stock.

c) Consumption of Raw Material :

1999-00

Qty. (Kgs.) Amt. (Rs.)

Paper 41,064 18,14,165

d) Value of Imported and Indigenous raw materials
consumed :

% Rs.

i. Imported 24 4,38,684
ii. Indigenous 76 13,75,481

100 18,14,165

e) CIF Value Imports

Raw Materials 21,09,435
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6. BALANCE SHEET ABSTRACT AND COMPANY’S GENERAL BUSINESS PROFILE :

I. REGISTRATION DETAILS

Registration No. State Code

Date Month Year

Balance Sheet Date

II. CAPITAL RAISED DURING THE YEAR (AMOUNT RS. IN THOUSANDS)

Public Issue Rights Issue

Bonus Issue Preferential Allotment

III. POSITION OF MOBILISATION AND DEPLOYMENT OF FUNDS (AMOUNT RS. IN THOUSANDS)

Total Liabilities Total Assets

SOURCES OF FUNDS

Paid-up Capital Reserves and Surplus

Secured Loans Unsecured Loans

APPLICATION OF FUNDS

Net Fixed Assets Investments

Net Current Assets Miscellaneous Expenditure

Accumulated Losses

IV. PERFORMANCE OF COMPANY (AMOUNT RS. IN THOUSANDS)

Turnover* Total Expenditure

* Includes other income

+ – Profit/(Loss) Before Tax + – Profit/(Loss) After Tax

Earnings Per Share (Rs.) Dividend Rate ( % )

V. GENERIC NAMES OF PRINCIPAL PRODUCTS OF THE COMPANY
(AS PER MONETARY TERMS)

Item Code No. (ITC Code)

Product Description

N I L N I L

N I L 4 1 1 1

1 7 3 0 2 1 7 3 0 2

4 1 1 1 N I L

N I L 1 3 1 9 1

3 9 1 1 N I L

5 7 2 9 1 3 8

7 5 2 4

3 3 4 4 1 0 8 6 8

7 5 2 4 7 5 2 4

1 0 1 1 2 6 5 5

3 1 0 3 2 0 0 0

N I L N I L

4 9 0 1 1 0 0 1

P R I N T E D B O O K S

✓ ✓

As per our attached Report of even date For and on behalf of the Board

For and on behalf of
M.G. BHANDARI & CO. VIJAY JINDAL DEEPAK SHOURIE
Chartered Accountants Director Director

M.G. BHANDARI
Partner

Place : Mumbai Place : Delhi
Date : 29th May, 2000 Date : 29th May, 2000



ECONNECT  INDIA  LIMITED

95

to the Members of ECONNECT INDIA LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Your Dir ectors take pleasur e in pr esenting the First Annual Report of the
Company for the period ended 31st Mar ch, 2000.

OPERATIONS

During the period, your Company started its operations as an Internet
Ser vice Pr ovider and launched one of the countr y’s biggest horizontal
portal “zeenext.com”. The trial run for both the business segments
have been successful. Y our Company’ s portal, “zeenext.com” has an
impr essive line up of four -dozen vertical portals covering a wide range
of subjects in addition to e–mail and other ser vices. The Commer cial
Commencement of business has taken place fr om 3r d April, 2000.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Econnect is Zee Network’ s foray into the exciting and dynamic dotcom
business. Zee Network to be the lar gest conver gence gr oup in India,
delivering infotainment and enable e-commer ce thr ough all emer ging
modes of access to customers r egar dless of time and distance.

SHARE CAPITAL

During the financial period your Company has issued 10,00,000 Equity
Shar es at par to Zee T elefilms Ltd. Y our Company is wholly owned
subsidiar y of Zee T elefilms Limited (ZTL), since 100% of the paid up
capital is held by ZTL and its nominees.

DIVIDEND

Since the Company has not commenced the commer cial activities for
the period ended 31st Mar ch, 2000, your Dir ectors do not r ecommend
any dividend.

FINANCE

During the period under r eview ICICI Limited has sanctioned a Rupee
Term Loan of Rs. 25 cr ores out of which the Company has availed
Rs.14 cr ores.

PUBLIC DEPOSITS

The Company has not accepted any deposits fr om the public during
the period.

DIRECTORS

Shri Jawahar Goel and Shri Hari Goenka, Dir ectors who wer e appointed
as first Dir ectors by Articles of Association of the Company , are retiring
at the ensuing Annual General Meeting and being eligible for
reappointment have conveyed their willingness for the same.

During the period Shri R.K. Singh, Shri B.R. Jaju and Shri Deepak
Shourie who wer e appointed as additional Dir ectors of the Company
under Section 260 of the Companies Act, 1956, hold their r espective
office till the date of the ensuing Annual General Meeting and, being
eligible and willing, have offer ed themselves for r eappointment as
Directors of the Company at the ensuing Annual General Meeting. The

Company has r eceived fr om members Notices under Section 257 of
the Companies Act, 1956, pr oposing appointments of Shri R.K. Singh,
Shri B.R. Jaju and Shri Deepak Shourie as Dir ectors of the Company .

Shri Sunil Khanna has r esigned as Dir ector of the Company during the
period. The Boar d wishes to place on r ecord its sincer e appr eciation for
the valuable ser vices r ender ed by him for the gr owth of the Company
during his tenur e as a Dir ector.

AUDITORS

Price W aterhouse, Charter ed Accountants, Bangalor e, the statutor y
auditors of the Company , retir e at the conclusion of the ensuing Annual
General Meeting and, ar e eligible for r eappointment. The comments
made in the Auditors’ Report ar e self-explanator y.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 217 (1)(e)

Information pursuant to Section 217 (1) (e) of the Companies Act,
1956, r ead with the Companies (Disclosur e of Particulars in the Report
of Boar d of Dir ectors) Rules, 1988, r elating to the Conser vation of
Ener gy, Technology Absorption and For eign Exchange Earnings and
Outgo is annexed her ewith.

PERSONNEL

Your Dir ectors place on r ecord their appr eciation of the contribution
made by the employees at all levels who, thr ough their competence,
diligence, solidarity , co-operation and support, have enabled the
Company to achieve phenomenal gr owth during the period.

PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES

The particulars as r equir ed under the pr ovisions of Section 217(2A) of
the Companies Act, 1956, r ead with the Companies (Disclosur e of
Particulars in the Report of Boar d of Dir ectors) Rules, 1988, ar e set out
in the Annexur e to this Report.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Company is grateful to its customers, vendors, ICICI Limited and
bankers for extending their valuable support towar ds the gr owth of
your Company .

Your Dir ectors also wish to place on r ecord their thanks to the
Government of India particularly , VSNL, the Department of
Telecommunications, the State Governments and other Government
agencies for all the help extended during the period and look for ward
to their continued support.

For and on behalf of the Boar d

Place : Mumbai HARI K. GOENKA JAWAHAR GOEL
Date : 22nd May , 2000 Director Director
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION GIVEN AS REQUIRED UNDER THE COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF PARTICULARS IN THE REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS) RULES, 1988

I. INFORMATION AS PER SECTION 217(2A)(a)(ii) READ WITH COMPANIES (PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES) RULES, 1975 AND
FORMING PART OF THE DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31ST MARCH, 2000

Sr. Name Age Designation Remuneration* Qualification Experience Date of Designation at
No. Yrs. Total (Rs.) (Years) Commencement Previous

of Employment Employment

1. Depinder Chaudhry 32 GM – Content 2,03,075 B.E. (Industrial 8 Yrs. 13-Dec-1999 Functional Consultant –
Development Production), MBA CyberTech Systems  &

(Marketing & Software Ltd.
 Finance), D.B.F.

2. Dinesh Dhir 33 Sr. Vice President – 7,91,800 B.Com, M.B.A. 6 Yrs. 11-Oct-1999 CEO New Media –
Mktg. & Distribution Unilazer Group

(UTV)

3. Girish Ramakrishnan 29 General Manager – 80,933 B.E. (Mechanical) 7 Yrs. 17-Feb-2000 Principal Consultant
Ecommerce Applications-Nexgen

Information Solutions.

4. M.B. Zaidi 45 Sr. Vice President – 2,98,410 B.A., LL.B 20 Yrs. 1-Jan-2000 Associate VP (Corporate)
Legal & Commercial – Zee Telefilms Ltd.

5. Sanjay Gaikwad 34 Sr. Vice President – 1,76,190 B.E., M.M.S. 10 Yrs. 1-Jan-2000 Gen. Manager – I.T. &
Technology & New Special Projects – Zee
Projects Telefilms Ltd.

6. Sanjay Katyal 34 GM – Sales & 1,94,174 B.Com., PGDM 11 Yrs. 27-Dec-1999 National Sales Manager
Marketing – Smithkline Beecham

Pharma(I) Ltd.

7. Shyam Mittal 35 Vice President – 1,23,351 B.Com, C.A. 12 Yrs. 10-Feb-2000 Chief Financial Officer –
Finance Easycall India Group

8. Sunil Jasuja 36 President & C.O.O. 12,86,025 B.E. (Electronics) 11 Yrs. 22-Nov-1999 Country Manager –
Micros Fidelio (Micros Inc.)

Notes : 1. Appointment is contractual and terminable by notice on either side.

2. None of the employees is r elated to any of the Dir ectors.

3. Remuneration includes Salar y, Provident Fund, Medical Benefits, Leave T ravel Allowance, Accommodation & Other T axable Per quisites.

* Indicates r emuneration is for part of the period.

II. FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO : (as on 31.3.2000)

(a) Total for eign exchange earned: NIL

(b) Total for eign exchange used:

(i) On import of raw materials and capital goods NIL

(ii) Expenditur e in for eign curr encies for travel, subscription, etc. Rs. 110,187

III. ENERGY CONSERVATION, RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT AND TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION :

Considering the natur e of the business of this Company , the particulars r equir ed under this clause ar e not applicable.

For and on behalf of the Boar d

Place : Mumbai HARI K. GOENKA JAWAHAR GOEL
Date : 22nd May , 2000 Director Director
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ANNEXURE TO THE AUDITORS’ REPORT

Referr ed to in paragraph  2 of our report of even date on the accounts
for the period ended March 31, 2000 of Econnect India Limited.

i) The Company has not taken any loans, secured or unsecured
from companies, firms or other parties listed in the register
maintained under Section 301 of the Act.

ii) The Company has not granted any loans, secured or unsecured
to companies, firms or other parties listed in the register maintained
under Section 301 of the Act.

iii) The Company has not granted any loans or advances in the
nature of loans.

iv) In our opinion and having regard to the explanations that certain
items are of special nature and for which alternative quotations
cannot be obtained, there are adequate internal control procedures
for the purchase of plant and machinery, equipment and other
assets.

v) There were no purchase of goods and materials and sale of
goods, materials and services, made in pursuance of contracts or
arrangements entered in the register maintained under Section
301 of the Companies Act, 1956 aggregating during the period
to Rs. 50,000 or more in respect of each party.

vi) The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public to
which the provisions of Section 58 A of the Companies Act, 1956
and the rules framed thereunder apply.

vii) The Company’s application with the Commissioner, Regional
Provident Fund and the Commissioner, Employees’ State Insurance
for obtaining registration under the Employees’ Provident Funds
and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952 and the Employees’ State
Insurance Act, 1948 is pending and accordingly, both the
employer’s and the employees’ contribution is held by the Company
under trust.

viii) According to the information and explanations given to us, there
were no undisputed amounts payable in respect of Income Tax,
Wealth Tax, Sales Tax, Customs Duty and Excise Duty as at March
31, 2000 which were outstanding for a period of more than six
months from the date they became payable.

ix) During the course of our examination of the books of account
carried out in accordance with the generally accepted auditing
practices in India, we have not come across any personal expenses
which have been charged to revenue nor have we been informed
of such case by the management, other than those payable
under contractual obligations and/or accepted business practice.

In respect of the Company's service activities

i) The nature of the services rendered is such that it does not involve
consumption of materials and stores.

ii) According to the information and explanations given to us and
considering the nature of services rendered, it is not necessary to
have a system of allocation of man-hours to the relative jobs.

iii) In our opinion, there is a reasonable system of authorisation at
proper levels with necessary controls and the related system of
internal control of the Company is commensurate with the size of
the Company and the nature of its business.

The other provisions of the Manufacturing and Other Companies
(Auditors’ Report) Order, 1988, did not appear to be applicable during
the period covered by the aforesaid financial statements.

For PRICE WATERHOUSE, BANGALORE
Charter ed Accountants

Place : Bangalor e USHA A NARAYANAN
Date : 22nd May , 2000 Partner

to the Members of ECONNECT INDIA LIMITED

AUDITORS' REPORT

1. We report that we have audited the attached Balance Sheet of
Econnect India Limited as at Mar ch 31, 2000 signed by us under
reference to this r eport which is in agr eement with the books of
account.

2. As r equir ed by the Manufacturing and Other Companies (Auditor’ s
Report) Or der, 1988 dated 7th September , 1988 issued by the
Central Government of India in terms of Section 227(4A) of the
Companies Act, 1956, we annex her eto a statement on the matters
specified in paragraphs 4 and 5 of the said Or der, to the extent
applicable to the Company .

3. We draw r efer ence to note 6 of Schedule 10 B r egar ding the
license for pr ovision of internet ser vice being held by the holding
company , Zee T elefilms Ltd., Mumbai. The Company is in the
process of initiating formalities with the Department of
Telecommunications for transfer of such license rights.

4. Further to our comments in paragraphs (2) and (3) above:

(a) we have obtained all the information and explanations which
to the best of our knowledge and belief wer e necessar y for
the purposes of our audit;

(b) in our opinion, pr oper books of account as r equir ed by law
have been kept by the Company so far as it appears fr om
our examination of such books of account;

(c) the Balance Sheet r eferr ed to in this r eport is in agr eement
with the books of account;

(d) in our opinion, the Balance Sheet dealt with by this r eport
complies with the accounting standar ds r eferr ed to in sub-
section (3C) of Section 211 of the Companies Act, 1956 to
the extent applicable.

(e) in our opinion and to the best of our information and
accor ding to the explanations given to us, the said accounts
read in conjunction with the notes ther eon give the
information r equir ed by the Companies Act, 1956 in the
manner so r equir ed and give a true and fair view in the
case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the
Company as at Mar ch 31, 2000.

For PRICE WATERHOUSE, BANGALORE
Charter ed Accountants

Place : Bangalor e USHA A NARAYANAN
Date : 22nd May , 2000 Partner
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Schedule 2000
SOURCES OF FUNDS Rs.

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

Shar e Capital 1 10,000,700

LOAN FUNDS

Secur ed Loans 2 140,000,000

Total 150,000,700

APPLICATION OF FUNDS

FIXED ASSETS

Capital work-in-pr ogress (Includes Capital
Advances of Rs. 29,031,883) 142,381,000

142,381,000

CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS AND ADVANCES

Sundr y Debtors 3 174,140
Cash & Bank Balances 4 20,972,500
Loans & Advances 5 34,088,845

55,235,485
Less : CURRENT LIABILITIES

 AND PROVISIONS 6
 Curr ent Liabilities 91,041,031
 Provisions 1,360,030

92,401,061

NET CURRENT ASSETS (37,165,576)

MISCELLANEOUS EXPENDITURE
(to the extent not written off or adjusted)

Preliminar y Expenses to the extent not
written off or adjusted 7 167,881
Pre-operative Expenses 8 23,566,329
Deferr ed Revenue Expenses 9 21,051,066

44,785,276

Total 150,000,700

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 10
AND NOTES TO ACCOUNTS

2000
Rs.

SCHEDULE 1
SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

AUTHORISED

50,000,000 Equity Shares of Rs.10/- each 500,000,000

ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID UP

1,000,070 Equity Shares of Rs 10 /- each fully paid up 10,000,700
(All the above 1,000,070 shares are held by
Zee Telefilms Limited, Mumbai and its nominees)

10,000,700

SCHEDULE 2
SECURED LOANS

LOANS AND ADVANCES

Term Loan from ICICI Limited (repayable within 140,000,000
one year) [secured by first mortgage/charge/security
on all company’s assets including all movable and
immovable properties, both present and future
(pending registration with the authorities)]

140,000,000

SCHEDULE 3
SUNDRY DEBTORS
(Unsecured and Considered Good unless otherwise specified)

Debts outstanding for more than six months :

Considered Good —
Considered Doubtful —

Other Debts :

Considered Good 174,140

174,140
Less : Provision for Doubtful Debts —

174,140

SCHEDULE 4
CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash in hand 321,265
Bank Balances —

(i) with Scheduled Banks in Current Accounts 20,651,235
(ii) with others —

20,972,500

SCHEDULE 5
LOANS AND ADVANCES
(Unsecured, considered good unless otherwise stated)

Prepaid Expenses 19,184,495
Advances (Recoverable in cash or in
kind or for value to be received) 1,285,140
Deposits 13,619,210

34,088,845

SCHEDULE 6
CURRENT LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS

A. Current Liabilities

Sundry Creditors
Due to Small Scale Industrial Undertakings —
Due to Others 74,990,551

(includes net dues to the Holding Company,
Zee Telefilms Ltd. Rs. 40,261,924)
Advances received from customers 1,308,762
Interest accrued but not due on loans 2,193,251
Other Liabilities 12,548,467

91,041,031

as at March 31, 2000

BALANCE SHEET

to the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2000

SCHEDULES

The Schedules referred to above and the Notes thereon form an integral part
of the Accounts.

This is the Balance Sheet referred to in our report of even date.

USHA A NARAYANAN For and on behalf of the Board
Partner

For and on behalf of HARI K. GOENKA JAWAHAR GOEL
PRICE WATERHOUSE, BANGALORE Director Director
Chartered Accountants

Place : Bangalore Place : Mumbai
Date : 22nd May, 2000 Date : 22nd May, 2000
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SCHEDULE 10
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES ON
ACCOUNTS :

A. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Basis of Preparation

The accounts of the Company ar e pr epared under the
historical cost convention on accrual basis as a going
concern.

2. Capital Work-in-Progress

Capital work-in-pr ogress includes cost of the asset, fr eight,
duties and taxes and expenses incidental to acquisition and
installation. In r espect of internally developed softwar e, all
direct costs including cost towar ds content aggr egation and
cost of staff involved in development of portal has been
accumulated and included in Capital work-in-pr ogress.

3. Revenue Recognition

Subscription ser vices r evenues ar e recognised over the period
that ser vices ar e pr ovided. No r evenue has been r ecognised
in the curr ent period as commer cial operations have not
commenced as at the Balance Sheet date except for certain
revenue during the trial period.

4. Preliminary Expenses/Deferred Revenue Expenses

Preliminar y expenses ar e written off over a period of 60
months after the commencement of commer cial operations.

Deferr ed Revenue Expenses include Band-width/
Communication char ges and other indir ect expenditur e
befor e commencement of commer cial operations like
Advertising and Pr omotional, Selling and General
Administration Expenses. These expenses ar e amortised as
follows :

– Band-width/Communication char ges : 60 months fr om
commencement

– Other Indir ect expenditur e : 36 months fr om
commencement

5. Pre-operative Expenses

Expenses directly related to the Portal/Internet Service Provider/
Optical Fibre Cable Projects upto the date of commencement
of commercial operation would be classified as pre-operative
expenses pending allocation to fixed assets. Income/
expenditure arising during the pre-operative period is adjusted
against pre-operative expenses. On commencement of
commercial operations, such expenses would be allocated to
fixed assets or appropriately accounted.

6. Foreign Currency Transactions

Transactions arising in foreign currency during the period  are
converted at rates closely approximating those ruling at the
transaction date. Foreign currency liabilities contracted for
acquiring fixed assets are restated at the rates ruling at the
period end and all exchange differences arising as a result of
such restatement are adjusted to the cost of the fixed assets.

All other for eign curr ency liabilities/assets ar e restated at the
rates ruling at the period end and all exchange losses/gains
arising ther efrom ar e adjusted to the Pr ofit and Loss Account.

7. Retirement Benefits

Leave encashment and Gratuity liability is provided for in terms
of contractual obligations as per the Company’s rules. Other
retirement benefits are accounted for as per Company’s rules.

2000
Rs.

B. Provisions

Others 1,360,030

1,360,030

SCHEDULE 7
PRELIMINARY EXPENDITURE

(to the extent not written off or adjusted)

Incorporation expenses 167,881

167,881

SCHEDULE 8
PRE-OPERATIVE EXPENSES (PENDING ALLOCATION)

Band-width Char ges 7,347,056
Salaries, wages and bonus 2,528,397
Employer’ s Contribution to Pr ovident and other funds 481,681
Staff W elfar e 1,205,742
Inter est on T erm Loan 2,193,251
Books and Periodicals 126,302
Commission and Br okerage 325,750
Rental Expenses 1,882,180
Security Char ges 134,439
Computer Consumables 466,885
Travel and Conveyance 2,159,820
Electricity Char ges 357,581
Insurance 81,279
Legal and Pr ofessional char ges 755,803
License and Registration fees 10,550
Membership and Subscription 17,877
Printing and Stationer y 658,532
Rates and T axes 576,197
Repairs and Maintenance - Others 295,672
Relocation Costs 199,952
Communication expenses 1,554,614
Packing Materials 27,151
Miscellaneous Expenses 201,098

23,587,809
Less :
Subscription income during trial period (21,480)

23,566,329

SCHEDULE 9
DEFERRED REVENUE EXPENDITURE
(to the extent not written off or adjusted)

Band-width/Communication char ges 2,657,505
Fees for incr ease in Authorised Shar e Capital 1,350,120
Other Indir ect Expenditur e :

Salaries, wages and bonus 3,344,932
Recruitment and T raining expenses 3,782,077
Advertising and Pr omotional expenses 8,349,069
Business Pr omotion expenses 855,415
Entertainment expenses 160,788
Audit Fees 288,750
Bank Char ges 112,410
Selling and Distribution costs 150,000

21,051,066
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B. NOTES ON ACCOUNTS

1. Capital Commitments

Contracts pending to be executed on capital account
amounted to Rs. 35,681,600.

2. Contingent Liabilities

An amount of Rs. 4,573,350 is payable towar ds futur e lease
rentals on assets taken on lease.

3. Auditors’ Remuneration

Rs.

Statutor y Audit 150,000
Other Ser vices 125,000
Ser vice T ax 13,750

4. Expenditure in Foreign Currency

Others 9,120

5. Purchase of ‘Internet through Cable’ Division of Zee
Telefilms Limited

Pursuant to an agreement dated March 31, 2000, the
Company has taken over net assets of the Internet through
cable division of Zee Telefilms Limited for a consideration of
Rs. 7,512,353 effective as on close of business hours of March
31, 2000. The details of the net assets taken over and
considered appropriately in these accounts are as follows :

Rs.

Capital work-in-pr ogress 7,703,180
Cash and Bank Balances 2,320,661
Sundr y Debtors 174,140
Loans and Advances 264,497

10,462,478

Less : Curr ent Liabilities 2,950,125

Net Assets 7,512,353

6. License Agreement for Provision of Internet Services

The license for provision of internet service is held by the

holding company, Zee Telefilms Ltd., Mumbai. The Company

is in the process of initiating formalities with the Department

of Telecommunications for transfer of such license rights.

7. Events subsequent to the Balance Sheet date

The Company has commenced commercial operations for

the Portal and Internet Service Provider business on April 3,

2000 as has been certified by the management.

8. Previous year figures

These being the first accounts of the Company from the

date of its incorporation (i.e. July 1, 1999) to March 31,

2000, there are no figures for the previous year/period.
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INFORMATION REQUIRED AS PER PART IV OF SCHEDULE VI TO THE COMPANIES ACT, 1956

9. BALANCE SHEET ABSTRACT AND COMPANY’S GENERAL BUSINESS PROFILE :

I. REGISTRATION DETAILS

Registration No. State Code

Date Month Year

Balance Sheet Date

II. CAPITAL RAISED DURING THE YEAR (AMOUNT RS. IN THOUSANDS)

Public Issue Rights Issue

Bonus Issue Private Placement

III. POSITION OF MOBILISATION AND DEPLOYMENT OF FUNDS (AMOUNT RS. IN THOUSANDS)

Total Liabilities Total Assets *

SOURCES OF FUNDS

Paid-up Capital Reserves and Surplus

Secured Loans Unsecured Loans

APPLICATION OF FUNDS

Net Fixed Assets ** Investments

Net Current Assets Miscellaneous Expenditure

Accumulated Losses

* Net of current liabilities and provisions
** Includes Capital work-in-progress

IV. PERFORMANCE OF THE COMPANY (AMOUNT RS. IN THOUSANDS)

Turnover (including other income) Total Expenditure

+ – Profit/(Loss) Before Tax + –   Profit/(Loss) After Tax

Earnings Per Share (in Rs.) Dividend Rate (%)

V. GENERAL NAMES OF PRINCIPAL PRODUCTS/SERVICE OF THE COMPANY

Item Code No. (ITC Code)

Product Description

Item Code No. (ITC Code)

Product Description

Signatures to Schedules 1 to 10 forming part of the Balance Sheet.

For and on behalf of the Board

HARI K. GOENKA JAWAHAR GOEL
Director Director

Place : Mumbai
Date : 22nd May, 2000

N I L N I L

N I L 1 0 0 0 1

1 5 0 0 0 1 1 5 0 0 0 1

1 0 0 0 1 N I L

1 4 0 0 0 0 N I L

4 4 7 8 5

1 0 0 4 8 6 5 5

3 1 0 3 2 0 0 0

I N T E R N E T P O R T A L

I N T E R N E T S E R V I C E P R O V I D E  R

N. A.

N. A.

1 4 2 3 8 1 N I L

( 3 7 1 6 5 )

N I L

N I L N I L

N I L N I L

N I L N I L
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Your Dir ectors have the pleasur e in pr esenting the First Annual Report
of the Company , for the period ended 31st Mar ch, 2000.

Operations :

Your Company is engaged in business r elated to sports development
and r elated activities. The Company has undertaken pr oject for
developing a stadium at Kathmandu, in Nepal. The operations of the
Company in this r espect ar e in implementation stage and as such yet
to commence. The amount spent by the Company is in the natur e of
investment made in a pr oposed joint ventur e Company wher ein your
Company would hold 85% stake.

Share Capital :

During the period your Company has issued 10,00,000 equity shar es
of Rs. 10/- each at par to M/s. Zee T elefilms Ltd. Y our Company is
wholly owned subsidiar y of Zee T elefilms Limited (ZTL) since 100% of
the paid up equity capital is held by ZTL and its nominees.

Dividend :

Since the Company is yet to commence the commer cial activities, your
Directors do not r ecommend any dividend for the period ended 31st
March, 2000.

Public Deposit :

The Company has not accepted any deposits fr om the public during
the period.

Directors :

Shri Amal Chandra Saha, Shri B.R. Jaju and Shri Vikas Gupta, Directors,
who were appointed as first Directors by Articles of Association of the
Company retire at the ensuing Annual General Meeting and being eligible
for re-appointment have conveyed their willingness for the same.

Auditors :

M/s. M.G. Bhandari & Co., Charter ed Accountants, Mumbai, the statutor y
auditors of the Company ,  r etir e at the conclusion of the ensuing
Annual General Meeting and being eligible have offer ed themselves for
reappointment as Statutor y Auditors of the Company .

Auditors’ Report :

The obser vations and comments made in the Auditors’ Report ar e self-
explanator y.

Additional Information :

Information pursuant to Section 217(1)(e) of the Companies Act, 1956,
read with the Companies (Disclosur e of Particulars in the Report of the
Boar d of Dir ectors) Rules, 1988, r elating to the Conser vation of Ener gy,
Technology Absorption and For eign Exchange Earnings and Outgo is
not applicable during the period.

Personnel :

Relationship between the management and employees was cor dial
during the period.

Ther e ar e no employees drawing r emuneration in excess of limits
specified under Section 217(2A) of the Companies Act, 1956.

Acknowledgement :

Your Dir ectors thank the shar eholders, bankers and employees for
reposing their support and faith in the Company , which has helped in
achieving the desir ed gr owth.

For and on behalf of the Boar d

Place : Mumbai A.C. SAHA B.R. JAJU
Date : 29th May , 2000 Director Director

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION GIVEN AS REQUIRED UNDER THE COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF PARTICULARS IN THE REPORT OF
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS) RULES, 1988.

I. CONSERVATION OF ENERGY & TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION :

During the period under r eview , no activity r elating to conser vation of ener gy was carried out by the Company .

Ther e was no absorption of any technology by the Company during the period under r eview .

II. FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO :

(a) Total For eign Exchange Earned : Nil

(b) Total For eign Exchange Outgo : (T ravelling) Rs. 9,31,548

For and on behalf of the Boar d

Place : Mumbai A.C. SAHA B.R. JAJU
Date : 29th May , 2000 Director Director

to the Members of ZEE SPORTS LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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ANNEXURE REFERRED TO IN PARAGRAPH (1) OF AUDITORS’
REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ZEE SPORTS LTD. ON THE
ACCOUNTS FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31ST MARCH, 2000

1. The Company has maintained pr oper r ecords showing full
particulars including quantitative details and situation of its fixed
assets. The assets have been physically verified by the management
during the period. No material discr epancies wer e noticed on
such verification.

2. None of the fixed assets have been r evalued during the period.

3. The Company has not taken any loan fr om parties listed in the
Register maintained under Section 301 of the Companies Act,
1956 or fr om any Company under the same management as
was defined under Section 370 (1B) of the Companies Act,
1956 except inter est fr ee loan fr om its Holding Company ,  Zee
Telefilms Ltd. Amount outstanding as on 31st Mar ch, 2000
Rs. 2,26,03,043/-.

4. The Company has not granted any loan to parties listed in the
Register maintained under Section 301 of the Companies Act,
1956 or to any Company under the same management as was
defined under Section 370 (1B) of the Companies Act, 1956.

5. The Company has not granted loans to any other party .

6. In our opinion, ther e is an adequate internal contr ol pr ocedur e
commensurate with the size of the Company and the natur e of
its business with r egard to the pur chase of plant and machiner y,
equipment and other assets.

7. Ther e are no transactions of pur chase of goods and materials,
sale of goods and ser vices made in pursuance to the contracts or
arrangements enter ed in the r egister maintained under Section
301 of the Companies Act, 1956, aggr egating during the period
to Rs. 50,000/- or mor e in r espect of each party .

8. The Company has not accepted any deposits fr om the public.

9. In our opinion, the Company has adequate internal audit system
commensurate with its size and natur e of business.

10. As explained, the pr ovisions of Pr ovident Fund and Employees’
State Insurance Act ar e not applicable to the Company .

11. Ther e are no undisputed amounts payable in r espect of Income
Tax, W ealth T ax , Sales T ax, Customs and Excise Duty which have
remained outstanding as at 31st Mar ch, 2000 for a period of
more than six months fr om the date they became payable.

12. No personal expenses of employees or Dir ectors have been
char ged to Company’ s account, other than those payable under
contractual obligations and in accor dance with generally accepted
business practices.

13. The Company is not a sick industrial Company within the meaning
of clause (O) of sub-Section (1) of Section 3 of the Sick Industrial
Companies (Special Pr ovisions) Act, 1985.

14. Report on clauses iii, iv , v, vi, x, xii, xiv and xvi is not r equir ed in
view of Company’ s present activities.

For M.G. BHANDARI & CO.
Charter ed Accountants

Place : Mumbai M.G. BHANDARI
Date : 29th May , 2000 Partner

We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of Zee Sports Ltd. as at
31st Mar ch, 2000. No Pr ofit and Loss Account of the Company is
prepar ed for the period ended on that date as the Company has not
commenced commer cial operations, and r eport that :

1. As r equir ed by the Manufacturing and Other Companies (Auditor’ s
Report) Or der, 1988 issued by the Company Law Boar d in terms
of Section 227(4A) of the Companies Act, 1956, and on the basis
of such checks as we consider ed appr opriate, and accor ding to
the information and explanations given to us during the course
of audit, we annex her eto a statement on the matters specified
in paragraphs 4 and 5 of the said Or der.

2. Further to our comments in the Annexur e referr ed to in Paragraph
(1) above we r eport that :

(a) We have obtained all the information and explanations which
to the best of our knowledge and belief, wer e necessar y for
the purposes of our audit.

(b) In our opinion pr oper books of account as r equir ed by law
have been kept by the Company so far as appears fr om our
examination of the books.

(c) The Balance Sheet dealt with by this r eport is in agr eement
with the books of account.

(d) In our opinion, the Balance Sheet complies with the
mandator y Accounting Standar ds r eferr ed to in Section 211
(3C) of the Companies Act, 1956 to the extent applicable.

(e) In our opinion and to the best of our information and
accor ding to the explanations given to us, the said accounts
read together with the accounting policies and other notes
ther eon as per Schedule 7 give the information r equir ed by
the Companies Act, 1956 in the manner so r equir ed and
give a true and fair view in the case of Balance Sheet of the
state of affairs of the Company as at 31st Mar ch, 2000.

For M.G. BHANDARI & CO.
Charter ed Accountants

Place : Mumbai M.G. BHANDARI
Date : 29th May , 2000 Partner

to the Members of ZEE SPORTS LIMITED

AUDITORS’ REPORT
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Schedule Rs.

SOURCES OF FUNDS

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS
Shar e Capital 1 10,000,700

LOAN FUNDS
Unsecur ed Loans 2 22,603,043

Total 32,603,743

APPLICATION OF FUNDS

FIXED ASSETS
Gross Block (at cost) 3 271,809
Less : Depr eciation Up-to-date 9,717

Net Block 262,092
Capital W ork-in-pr ogress 22,031,126
Pre-Operative Expenses 4 10,162,424

32,455,642

CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS AND
ADVANCES

Inventories —
Sundr y Debtors —
Cash Balance 700
Loans & Advances 5 35,000

35,700

Less :
CURRENT LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS
Current Liabilities & Pr ovisions 6 47,250

47,250

NET CURRENT ASSETS (11,550)

MISCELLANEOUS EXPENDITURE
(To the extent not written off
or adjusted)
Preliminar y Expenses 159,651

Total 32,603,743

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND NOTES ON ACCOUNTS 7

as on 31st March, 2000

BALANCE SHEET

forming part of the Balance Sheet
as on 31st March, 2000

SCHEDULES

As per our attached Report For and on behalf of the Board
of even date
For and on behalf of
M.G. BHANDARI & CO. A.C. SAHA B.R. JAJU
Chartered Accountants Director Director

M.G. BHANDARI
Partner

Mumbai
29th May, 2000

Rs.

SCHEDULE 1
SHARE CAPITAL

AUTHORISED
20,00,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each 20,000,000

Total 20,000,000

ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED & PAID UP

10,00,070 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/-
each fully paid up 10,000,700

Notes: (1) All the above shares are held
by Holding Company  viz.
Zee Telefilms Ltd. and its
nominees.

(2) 10,00,000 Equity Shares of
Rs. 10/- each are issued for
consideration other than cash
to Holding Company,
Zee Telefilms Ltd.

Total 10,000,700

SCHEDULE 2
UNSECURED LOANS

From Holding Company-Interest free 22,603,043

Total 22,603,043

SCHEDULE 3
FIXED ASSETS (AT COST) Rs.

Gross Block Depreciation Net Block

Description Additions As at For the Upto As at
31.03.00 Period 31.03.00 31.03.00

Equipments 214,892 214,892 5,104 5,104 209,788
Computers 56,917 56,917 4,613 4,613 52,304

Total 271,809 271,809 9,717 9,717 262,092

Rs.

SCHEDULE 4
STATEMENT OF PRE-OPERATIVE EXPENSES

Salaries & Allowances 2,198,036
Rent 983,750
Electricity Charges 40,314
Travelling Expenses 1,973,048
Communication Expenses 213,138
Fees & Subscription 2,787,750
Repairs to others 1,057,397
Legal Charges 92,150
Business Promotion Expenses 542,055
Sundry Expenses 207,625
Depreciation 19,911
Auditors’ Remuneration :

Audit Fees 31,500
Certification 15,750 47,250

Total 10,162,424
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Rs.

SCHEDULE 5
LOANS & ADVANCES
(Unsecur ed and consider ed Good)

Deposits 35,000

Total 35,000

SCHEDULE 6
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Sundr y Cr editors 47,250

Total 47,250

4. Miscellaneous Expenditure

Preliminar y expenses ar e to be amortized @ 20% for ever y
financial year beginning fr om the year of start of commer cial
operations.

B. NOTES ON ACCOUNTS

1. (a) This is the first accounting year of the Company , hence
previous year’ s figur es ar e not given. These accounts
are fr om the date of incorporation i.e. 27th August,
1999 to 31st Mar ch, 2000.

(b) Since the pr oject is under construction/implementation
stage and commer cial operation is yet to commence,
no pr ofit and loss account has been pr epar ed. The
Company has pr epared the statement of Pr e-operative
Expenses. (See Schedule 4).

2. (a) The Company has taken over the benefits of agr eement
for use of stadium at Kathmandu in Nepal for five
years fr om 14th May ,1997 and further r enewable, fr om
Zee T elefilms Ltd., the Holding Company . Company is
developing and upgrading the said stadium and
facilities. The r enovation and r epairs of stadium and
facilities is in pr ogress. The amount to be capitalized
or to be tr eated as Deferr ed revenue expenditur e will
be determined on capitalization of the pr oject in
accor dance with the accepted accounting principles.

(b) The cost of assets, construction material and dir ect
expenses ar e shown as capital work in pr ogress. Stock
of construction material is also included and incidental
expenses ar e debited to pr e-operative expenses to
be capitalised on commencement of commer cial
operations.

3. In the absence of any taxable income under the pr ovisions
of Income T ax Act,1961 pr ovision for taxation is not r equir ed.

4. In the opinion of the Boar d, the curr ent assets, loans and
advances ar e appr oximately of the value stated, if r ealised
in the or dinar y course of the business.

5. Expenditur e in For eign Curr ency – T ravelling expenses
Rs. 9,31,548/-

6. Other additional information r equir ed to be given pursuant
to Part II of Schedule VI to the Companies Act, 1956 is
either Nil or Not applicable.

SCHEDULE 7
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES ON
ACCOUNTS

A. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Accounting Convention

(i) The accounts have been pr epared on Historical Cost
Convention on going concern basis.

(ii) The Company generally follows mer cantile system of
accounting and r ecognizes income and expenditur e
on an accrual basis except those with significant
uncertainties.

2. Fixed Assets

(i) Fixed assets ar e stated at cost less depr eciation. Cost
comprises of pur chase price and any attributable cost
of bringing the asset to its working condition for its
intended use.

(ii) The expenditur e incurr ed during construction or
installation is char ged to capital work in pr ogress.

3. Depreciation

Depreciation is pr ovided at the rates specified in the Schedule
XIV of the Companies Act, 1956 on straight line method.
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7. BALANCE SHEET ABSTRACT AND COMPANY’S GENERAL BUSINESS PROFILE :

I. REGISTRATION DETAILS

Registration No. State Code

Date Month Year

Balance Sheet date

II. CAPITAL RAISED DURING THE YEAR (AMOUNT RS. IN THOUSANDS)

Public Issue Right Issue

Bonus Issue Prefer ential Allotment

III. POSITION OF MOBILISATION AND DEPLOYMENT OF FUNDS (AMOUNT RS. IN THOUSANDS)

Total Liabilities Total Assets

SOURCES OF FUNDS

Paid-up Capital Reser ves and Surplus

Secur ed Loans Unsecur ed Loans

APPLICATION OF FUNDS

Net Fixed Assets Investments

Net Curr ent Assets Miscellaneous Expenditur e

Accumulated Losses

IV. PERFORMANCE OF COMPANY (AMOUNT RS. IN THOUSANDS)

Turnover Total Expenditur e

+ – Profit/(Loss) Befor e Tax + –   Profit/(Loss) After T ax

Earnings Per Shar e (Rs.) Dividend Rate (%)

V. GENERIC NAMES OF PRINCIPAL PRODUCTS OF THE COMPANY
(AS PER MONETARY TERMS)

Item Code No. (ITC Code)

Product Description

N I L N I L

N I L 1 0 0 0 1

3 2 6 0 4 3 2 6 0 4

1 0 0 0 1 N I L

N I L 2 2 6 0 3

3 2 4 5 6 N I L

– 1 2 1 6 0

N I L

N I L N I L

N I L N I L

N I L N I L

N. A.

N. A.

1 2 1 5 0 6 1 1

3 1 0 3 2 0 0 0

As per our attached Report of even date For and on behalf of the Boar d
For  M.G. BHANDARI & CO.
Charter ed Accountants A.C. SAHA B.R. JAJU

Director Director

M.G. BHANDARI
Partner

Mumbai
29th May , 2000
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

to the Members of ZEE MULTIMEDIA WORLDWIDE LTD.
(Incorporated in British V irgin Island)

AUDITORS’ REPORT

We have audited the financial statements of Zee Multimedia W orldwide
Limited on pages 110 to 116 which have been pr epar ed in accor dance
with the accounting policies set out on pages 112 to 113.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As described on Dir ectors’ Report, the company’ s dir ectors ar e responsible
for the pr eparation of financial statements.  It is our r esponsibility to
form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those statements
and to r eport our opinion to you.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accor dance with International Standar ds on
Auditing.  An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosur es in the financial statements.  It
also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements
made by the dir ectors in the pr eparation of the financial statements,
and of whether the accounting policies ar e appr opriate to the company’ s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information
and explanations which we consider ed necessar y in or der to pr ovide us

with sufficient evidence to give r easonable assurance as to whether the
financial statements ar e fr ee from material misstatement.  In forming our
opinion, we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the pr esentation of
the information in the financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the gr oup and of the company at 31 Mar ch, 2000 and
of the pr ofit, changes in equity and cash flows of the gr oup and of the
company for the year then ended and have been pr operly pr epar ed in
accor dance with International Accounting Standar ds.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

V S MOHADEB
Signing Partner 17 August, 2000

to the Members of ZEE MULTIMEDIA WORLDWIDE LTD.
(Incorporated in British V irgin Island)

The dir ectors pr esent their r eport and the audited financial statements
of the company for the year ended 31 Mar ch, 2000.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activity of the company is to hold investments and to
trade generally .

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The gr oup’s and the company’ s profits for the financial year amount
to USD 2,379,000 (1999 – USD␣ 5,335,000) and USD 8,352,000
(1999 – USD 4,966,000) r espectively .

The dir ectors do not r ecommend the payment of a dividend.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The dir ectors ar e responsible for the pr eparation of financial statements
for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs and of the pr ofit or loss of the company .  In pr eparing those
financial statements, the dir ectors ar e requir ed to :

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that ar e reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable accounting standar ds have been followed,
subject to any material departur es disclosed and explained in the
financial statements; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless
it is inappr opriate to pr esume that the company will continue in
business.

The dir ectors confirm that they have complied with the above
requir ements in pr eparing the financial statements.

The dir ectors ar e responsible for keeping pr oper accounting r ecords
which disclose with r easonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the company .  They ar e also r esponsible for safeguar ding the assets
of the company and hence for taking r easonable steps for the pr evention
and detection of fraud and other irr egularities.

AUDITORS

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, have indicated their willingness
to continue in office and a r esolution concerning their r e-appointment
will be pr oposed at the Annual General Meeting.

By Or der of the Boar d

SUNIL ROHRA SANJAY AGARWAL
Director Director

17  August, 2000
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The accounting policies on pages 112 and 113 and the notes pages 113 to 116 form an integral part of these financial statements.

for the year ended 31 March, 2000

INCOME STATEMENT

Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000

TURNOVER (Note 2) 39,378 32,573 — —

DIRECT COSTS (33,276) (22,702) — —

GROSS PROFIT 6,102 9,871 — —

Other operating income 60 285 — 283

Selling and marketing
costs (2,870) (2,361) — —

Administrative expenses (9,545) (5,964) (156) (94))

OPERATING
(LOSS)/PROFIT (Note 3) (6,253) 1,831 (156) 189

Inter est income
net/(Finance costs) (Note 5) 113 (28) 58 -—

Shar e of r esults of

associates  (Note 11) 10,272 6,166 10,272 6,166

PROFIT BEFORE
EXCEPTIONAL ITEM 4,132 7,969 10,174 6,355

Exceptional item (Note 6) — (1,158) — -—

PROFIT BEFORE
TAXATION 4,132 6,811 10,174 6,355

Taxation (Note 7) (1,753) (1,476) (1,822) (1,389)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 2,379 5,335 8,352 4,966

Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property , plant and
equipment (Note 8) 3,196 961 — —
Intangible assets (Note 9) 18,348 19,683 — —
Investments in subsidiaries
(Note 10) — — 26,520 26,530
Investments in associates
(Note 11) 49,040 42,740 49,040 42,740
Deferr ed tax
assets (Note 7) 304 — — —

70,888 63,384 75,560 69,270

Current assets
Programme and film
rights (Note 12) 5,164 2,890 — —
Debtors (Note 13) 13,388 12,361 5,757 8,607
Cash at bank and in hand 2,648 2,139 46 1

21,200 17,390 5,803 8,608

Total assets 92,088 80,774 81,363 77,878

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves
Called up shar e capital
(Note 14) 1 1 1 1
Retained earnings 64,258 61,879 79,050 70,698
Foreign curr ency
translation adjustment 185 135 — —

64,444 62,015 79,051 70,699

Non-current liabilities
(Note 15) 174 193 — —

Current liabilities
Creditors (Note 16) 27,470 18,566 2,312 7,179

Total liabilities 27,644 18,759 2,312 7,179

Total equity and
liabilities 92,088 80,774 81,363 77,878

31 March, 2000

BALANCE SHEET

Appr oved by the Boar d on 17 August, 2000

SUNIL ROHRA SANJA Y AGAR WAL
Director Director
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for the year ended 31 March, 2000

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Foreign
Group currency

Share Retained translation
Capital earnings adjustment Total

USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000

At 01 April, 1998 1 56,544 231 56,776
Exchange translation
differ ences — — (96) (96)
Profit for the year — 5,335 — 5,335

At 31 Mar ch, 1999 1 61,879 135 62,015
Exchange translation
differ ences — — 50 50
Profit for the year — 2,379 — 2,379

At 31 March, 2000 1 64,258 185 64,444

Company Share Retained
Capital earnings Total

USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000

At 01 April, 1998 1 65,732 65,733

Profit for the year — 4,966 4,966

At 31 Mar ch, 1999 1 70,698 70,699
Profit for the year — 8,352 8,352

At 31 March, 2000 1 79,050 79,051

for the year ended 31 March, 2000

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000

Operating activities
Profit before taxation 4,132 6,811 10,174 6,355
Adjustments for :
Depreciation 366 237 — —
Profit on sale of investments (51) — — —
Amortisation of goodwill 1,335 1,335 — —
Share of results of
associates (10,272) (6,166) (10,272) (6,166)
Exchange translation
differences 54 (78) — —
Interest receivable (130) (89) (58) (1)

Finance lease charges 7 3 — —

Operating (loss)/profit
before working
capital changes (4,559) 2,053 (156) 188
Increase in programme
and film rights (2,274) (1,006) — —
(Increase)/Decrease
in debtors (3,877) 118 — 337
Increase/(Decrease)
in creditors 8,740 (2,063) (4,867) (3,555)
(Decrease)/Increase
in deferred income (50) 162 — —

Cash used in
operations (2,020) (736) (5,023) (3,030)
Interest received 130 89 58 1
Interest element of
finance lease payments (7) (3) — —
Taxation paid (108) (66) — —

Net cash used in
operating activities (2,005) (716) (4,965) (3,029)

Investing activities
Additions to property,
plant and equipment (2,605) (911) — —
Proceeds from disposal
of property, plant and
equipment — 40 — —
Disposal of subsidiaries,
net of cash disposed 41 — — —
Proceeds from sale
of investments 10 — 10 —
Dividend received
from associates 5,000 3,000 5,000 3,000

Net cash from
investing activities 2,446 2,129 5,010 3,000

Financing activities
Obligations under
finance leases, net 68 53 — —

Net cash from
financing activities 68 53 — —

Net increase/(decrease)
in cash and cash
equivalents 509 1,466 45 (29)
Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of year 2,139 673 1 30

Cash and cash
equivalents
at end of year 2,648 2,139 46 1

The accounting policies on pages 112 and 113 and the notes pages 113 to 116 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been pr epared in accor dance with
and comply with applicable International Accounting Standar ds.
A summar y of the mor e important accounting policies, which
have been applied consistently , is set out below .  The pr eparation
of financial statements in accor dance with International Accounting
Standar ds and generally accepted accounting principles r equir es
the dir ectors to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts and disclosur es in the financial statements.
Actual r esults could differ fr om those estimates.

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been pr epar ed under the historical
cost convention.

Basis of consolidation of subsidiaries

The consolidated accounts incorporate the accounts of the
company and of its subsidiaries.  The r esults of subsidiaries ar e
included in the consolidated income statement and minority inter est
ther ein ar e deducted fr om the consolidated pr ofit after taxation.
Results attributable to subsidiaries acquir ed or disposed of ar e
included fr om the date of acquisition or to the date of disposal as
applicable.  All significant balances and transactions between the
company and its subsidiaries have been eliminated.

Investments in associates

Investments in associates ar e accounted for by the equity method
of accounting.  These ar e undertakings over which the company
has between 20% and 50% of the voting rights, and over which
the company exer cises significant influence, but which it does not
contr ol.  Pr ovisions ar e recorded for long term impairment in
value.

Equity accounting involves r ecognising in the pr ofit and loss
account, the company’ s shar e of the associates’ pr ofit or loss for
the year .  The company’ s inter est in the associate is carried in the
balance sheet at an amount that r eflects its shar e of the net assets
of the associate and includes goodwill on the acquisition.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries ar e shown at cost and pr ovision is only
made wher e, in the opinion of the dir ectors, ther e is a permanent
diminution in value.  Wher e ther e has been a permanent
diminution in value of an investment, it is r ecognised as an expense
in the period in which the diminution is identified.

Goodwill

Goodwill r epresents the excess of the pur chase consideration over
the fair value of the gr oup’s shar e of the net assets of the acquir ed
subsidiar y at the date of acquisition.  Goodwill which ar ose on
the acquisition of subsidiaries is r eported in the balance sheet as
an intangible asset and is amortised using the straight line method
over its estimated useful life of 20 years.

In the dir ectors’ opinion, the goodwill which ar ose on the
acquisition of Asia TV Limited has a useful life of 20 years as this
acquisition pr ovides the gr oup with a lar ge subscriber base in the
United Kingdom.  The dir ectors r eview the unamortised balance
of goodwill at each balance sheet date, and to the extent that it
is no longer pr obable of being r ecover ed fr om expected futur e
economic benefits, it is r ecognised immediately as an expense.

Property, plant and equipment

Property , plant and equipment ar e stated at cost less depr eciation.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight line basis at annual rates
estimated to write off the cost of the assets less their estimated

residual values over their expected useful lives. The annual rates
used ar e :

Short leasehold land and buildings Over the term
of the lease

Equipment 15-33 %

Furnitur e and fixtur es 15-33 %

Leased assets

Assets held under finance leases or hire purchase agreements that
give rights equivalent to ownership and the related obligations
are recorded in the balance sheet at the fair value of the assets
at the inception of the agreements.  Such assets are depreciated
on the same basis as owned assets.  The excess of the payments
over the recorded obligations are treated as finance charges which
are amortised based on the interest rates implicit in the relevant
leases.

Programme and film rights

Programme and film rights are stated at the lower of cost less
accumulated amortisation and estimated net realisable value.  The
cost of programme and film rights comprises of the original
purchase price.  Net realisable value is determined by the directors
of the group who regularly assess the estimated future revenue
(net of commissions and other costs) that programme and film
rights will generate.

The costs of programme and film rights are charged to the income
statement over the shorter of the period of the licences and
the period over which revenues are expected to be earned.  These
costs are generally amortised on a straight line basis.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash at bank and in hand.  Cash equivalents are
short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of change in value.

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, for all temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes.  Currently
enacted tax rates are used to determine deferred tax.

The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation on
property, plant and equipment, provisions for pensions and other
post retirement benefits and tax losses carried forward.  Deferred
tax assets relating to the carry forward of unused tax losses are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be
utilised.

Turnover and revenue recognition

Turnover mainly represents subscription revenue and gross
advertising revenue, net of discounts and sales tax, if any.
Subscriptions paid in advance are recognised as deferred income
in the balance sheet.  Advertising revenues are recognised upon
the telecast of advertisements and subscription revenue on a time
basis on the provision of television broadcasting to subscribers.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating
leases.  Rental payments under operating leases are charged to
the income statement on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Preliminary expenses

Preliminary expenses consist of pre-operational costs and are
recognised as an expense in the year in which they are incurred.

for the financial year ended 31 March, 2000

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Financial instruments

Financial instruments carried on the balance sheet include cash
and bank balances, investments, debtors, creditors, leases and
borrowings.  The particular recognition methods adopted are
disclosed in the individual policy statements associated with each
item.

The group is also party to financial instruments that reduce exposure
to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange.  These instruments,
which mainly comprise foreign currency forward contracts, are not
recognised in the financial statements on inception.  The purpose
of these instruments is to reduce risk.  Foreign currency forward
contracts protect the group from movements in exchange rates by
establishing the rate at which a foreign currency asset or liability will
be settled.  Any increase or decrease in the amount required to
settle the asset or liability is off-set by a corresponding movement
in the value of the forward exchange contract.  The gains and
losses are therefore off-set for financial reporting purposes and are
not recognised in the financial statements.  The fee incurred in
establishing each agreement is amortised over the contract period.

Disclosures about financial instruments to which the group is a
party are provided in Note 20.

Reporting and functional currencies

The reporting currency of the group is United States Dollars given
the international nature of the group’s business and for ease of
comparison to accounts of other companies in the same industry.
The majority of the group’s transactions are denominated in
currencies other than US Dollars.  The functional currency of the
main subsidiaries is as follows :

Subsidiary Functional Currency

Asia TV Limited Pounds Sterling
Asia TV (Africa) Limited Pounds Sterling
Zee TV USA, Inc. US Dollars
Zee Telefilms (International) Limited US Dollars
Expand Fast Holdings Limited Indian Rupees

Transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency (“foreign currencies”) are recorded at weekly average
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.  Any
gains or losses from the translation of transactions denominated
in foreign currencies are included in the results of operations,
except for such differences arising on foreign currency deposits
which are recognised in net interest income/finance costs.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the exchange rate ruling at the year end.

On consolidation, the accounts of subsidiaries with functional
currencies other than the US Dollar are translated into US Dollars
on the following basis :

Profits and losses are translated into US Dollars at average rates of
exchange for the period.  Assets and liabilities are translated into
US Dollars at the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date.
Exchange differences arising out of the translation of accounts of
subsidiaries are dealt with as a movement on reserves (“Foreign
currency translation adjustment”).

2. TURNOVER

The group operates in one industry, which is satellite television
broadcasting.

3. OPERATING (LOSS)/PROFIT

The following items have been charged in arriving at operating
(loss)/profit :

2000 1999
USD ’000 USD ’000

Group
Staff costs (Note 4) 3,475 2,622
Auditors’ remuneration 224 117

Depreciation 366 237
Operating lease rentals – property 279 165
Operating lease rentals – plant
and machinery 7,406 8,177
Amortisation of goodwill arising
on consolidation 1,335 1,335
Digitalisation costs 1,888 —

During the year, a subsidiary, Asia TV Limited commenced
broadcasting in digital format in the United Kingdom.  The costs
of transmitting and operating in digital format for its three channels,
Zee TV, Alpha Bangla and Music Asia for the year totalled USD
1,888,000.

Company

Auditors’ remuneration 28 25

4. STAFF COSTS

Group

Wages and salaries 3,230 2,436
Social security costs 245 186

3,475 2,622

Number Number

Average number of persons
employed by the group :
Full time 108 81
Part time 1 1

109 82

5. INTEREST INCOME, NET/(FINANCE COSTS)

Group
Interest receivable 130 89
Loss on exchange (10) (114)
Finance lease charges (7) (3)

113 (28)

Company

Interest receivable 58 1
Loss on exchange — (1)

58 —

6. EXCEPTIONAL ITEM

Group

The exceptional item for the year ended 31 March, 1999 represents
expenses incurred in respect of a proposed issue of bonds which
did not materialise.

7. TAXATION

Group

Indian income tax at 3.36% 131 67
Dutch taxation at 35%
- current year 45 —
- prior year 59 —
United Kingdom corporation tax — 20
Share of tax of associates
(Note 11) 1,822 1,389
Deferred tax arising in the United
States of America (see (a) below) (304) —

1,753 1,476

Company

Share of tax of associates (Note 11) 1,822 1,389

2000 1999
USD ’000 USD ’000
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8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group Short leasehold Furniture

land and and

buildings Equipment fixtures Total

USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000

Cost :

At 01 April, 1998 180 739 101 1,020

Exchange adjustments (10) (5) (7) (22)

Additions — 846 65 911

Disposals — (150) — (150)

At 31 March, 1999 170 1,430 159 1,759

Exchange adjustments (1) (10) (2) (13)

Additions — 2,549 56 2,605

At 31 March, 2000 169 3,969 213 4,351

Accumulated depreciation :

At 01 April 1998 63 561 51 675

Exchange adjustments — (5) 1 (4)

Charge for the year 12 202 23 237

Disposals — (110) — (110)

At 31 March, 1999 75 648 75 798

Exchange adjustments — (8) (1) (9)

Charge for the year 12 321 33 366

At 31 March, 2000 87 961 107 1,155

Net book amount :

At 31 March, 2000 82 3,008 106 3,196

At 31 March, 1999 95 782 84 961

9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2000 1999

USD ’000 USD ’000

Group

Goodwill arising on consolidation :

At 01 April, 1999 19,683 21,018

Amortisation for the year (1,335) (1,335)

At 31 March, 2000 18,348 19,683

10. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company

Unquoted subsidiaries, at cost :

At 01 April, 1999 26,530 26,530

Disposals (10) —

At 31 March, 2000 26,520 26,530

During the year, the company sold its entire shareholding in

Electronic Media Ltd. (formerly, Electronic Media (Advertising)

Ltd.) and Asia TV (Overseas) Limited at par value for a

consideration of USD 2 and USD 10,000 respectively.  At their

respective date of disposal, Electronic Media Ltd. and Asia TV

(Overseas) Limited had net liabilities of USD 22,633 and USD

18,235 respectively.

In the British Virgin Islands, the group is not subject to taxation.
No taxation arose on trading profits in the United States of America
due to the availability of tax losses.  The group’s profits arising in
United Arab Emirates are not taxable and the group incurred
losses in the United Kingdom.  In Mauritius, the group is subject
to Income Tax at zero rate unless it elects to pay tax at a rate not
exceeding 35%.  At 31 March, 2000, the group did not make
such election.

The group’s effective tax rate was as follows :

2000 1999
% %

Effective tax rate 42.4 21.7

The statutory rate in the location in which the group has its
principal operations is as follows:

2000 1999
% %

United Kingdom 30 31

A reconciliation of the expected tax with the actual tax charge is
presented below :
United Kingdom rate applied
to profit before taxation 1,240 2,111
Amortisation of goodwill 400 414
Utilisation of previously unrecognised
tax losses arising in the
United States of America (417) —
Benefit of United Kingdom tax loss
carry forwards — (149)
Losses in certain subsidiaries not available
for offset against Taxable profits 289 379
Profits arising in United Arab Emirates and
Mauritius which are not subject to taxation (906) (1,049)
Effect of different tax rates in
other countries 2,373 292
Underprovision of Dutch taxation in prior year 59 —
Income not subject to taxation (25) —
Share of income of associates taxed
at different rate (1,260) (522)

Actual taxation 1,753 1,476

(a) Deferred taxation

United States of America :
Deferred tax assets arising in the United States of America, at the
federal statutory rate of 34%, are attributable to the following
items :

Tax loss carry forwards (292) —
Other temporary differences (12) —

(304) —

A deferred tax asset had not been recognised at 31 March, 1999
as there was an uncertainty with respect to the realisation of
future tax benefits relating primarily to certain net operating loss
carry forwards.  This uncertainty was removed at 31 March, 2000
when the operations in the United States of America generated
taxable income.

United Kingdom:

A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in respect of tax loss
carry forwards in the United Kingdom since there is no assurance
beyond reasonable doubt that such an asset would be recoverable
in the foreseeable future.
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At 31 March 2000, the company owns 50% (1999 – 50%) of the
issued share capital of Winterheath Company Limited, an unquoted
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.  Winterheath
Company Limited, which is an investment holding company, holds
100 % of the issued share capital of Asia Today Limited whose
principal activity is that of satellite television broadcasting to India
and Asia-Pacific region.  As the company does not control
Winterheath Company Limited, the investment has been accounted
for by the equity method of accounting.

2000 1999
USD ’000 USD ’000

12. PROGRAMME AND FILM RIGHTS

Group

Recoverable within one year 2,713 1,505
Recoverable after more than one year 2,451 1,385

5,164 2,890

13. DEBTORS

Group

Trade debtors 7,008 4,805
Amounts owed by ultimate
holding company 115 402
Amounts owed by related parties 3,591 5,706
Other debtors 846 528
Prepayments 1,828 920

13,388 12,361

Company

Amounts owed by subsidiaries 3,376 3,376
Amounts owed by related parties 2,381 5,231

5,757 8,607

At 31 March, 2000, amounts owed by subsidiaries included an
amount of USD 3,300,000 (1999 – USD␣ 3,300,000) due from
Expand Fast Holdings Limited. The directors believe that this
amount is fully recoverable.

2000 1999
USD ’000 USD ’000

14 CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

Company

Authorised :
50,000 shares of USD 1 each 50 50

Issued and fully paid:
34 shares of USD 1 each 1 1

15 NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Group

Deferred income 112 162
Long term portion of obligations
under finance leases 62 31

174 193
16 CREDITORS

Group

Trade creditors 3,763 1,112
Amounts owed to ultimate
holding company 2,972 8,705
Amounts owed to related parties 14,435 2,344
Other creditors 320 973
Accruals and deferred income 5,742 5,358
Obligations under finance leases 59 22
Taxation 179 52

27,470 18,566

Details of the company’s subsidiaries are :

Name of Country of Percentage Cost of Principal
company incor- holding investment activity

poration USD

Zee Multimedia
Worldwide Limited Mauritius 100% 26,520,004 Investment
holding
Expand Fast British Virgin 100% 2 Satellite
Holdings Limited Islands television

broadcasting to
India and Asia-
Pacific  region.

26,520,006

The company , indir ectly , holds investments in the following
subsidiaries :

Name of Country of Effective Principal
company incorporation holding activity

Asia TV Limited United Kingdom 100% Satellite television
broadcasting to the
United Kingdom and
Europe

Asia TV (Africa) Limited Mauritius 100% Satellite television
broadcasting to South
Africa and the rest of
Africa

Software Supplies Mauritius 100% Purchase and sale of
International Ltd. programming

Asia TV (USA) Limited Mauritius 100% Dormant

Zee Telefilms British Virgin 100% Advertising agents to
(International) Limited Islands Asia Today Limited

Zee TV USA, Inc. United States of 100% Satellite television
America broadcasting to the

United States of America

Ambience Marketing United States of 100% Advertising agents to
Services, Inc. America Zee TV USA, Inc.

LL TV Limited United 100% Dormant
Kingdom

Zee TV South Africa South Africa 100% Advertising agents to Asia
(Pty) Limited TV (Africa)  Limited

Asia TV (Netherlands) Netherlands 100% Satellite television
BV broadcasting to South

Africa and the rest of
Africa

Expand Fast Holdings Singapore 100% Provision of technical
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. operation and

administrative services

The shar es held in all the subsidiaries ar e or dinar y shar es.

The dir ectors ar e of the opinion that the investments ar e fairly
stated at cost and that they have not suffer ed any permanent
diminution in value.

11. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

2000 1999
Group and company USD ’000 USD ’000

At 01 April, 1999 42,740 42,963
Shar e of r esults befor e tax 10,272 6,166
Shar e of tax (Note 7) (1,822) (1,389)
Shar e of dividend (2,150) (5,000)

At 31 Mar ch, 2000 49,040 42,740
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2000 1999
USD ’000 USD ’000

Company

Amounts owed to ultimate
holding company — 6,090
Amounts owed to subsidiaries 96 30
Amounts owed to r elated parties 2,144 991
Accruals and deferr ed income 72 68

2,312 7,179

17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) Operating leases

The futur e minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases ar e as follows :

Land and
buildings Other Total
USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000

Not later than 1 year 159 5,620 5,779
Later than 1 year and not
Later than 5 years 422 8,715 9,137
Later than 5 years 521 192 713

1,102 14,527 15,629

(b) Other contingencies

At 31 Mar ch, 2000, the gr oup had contingent liabilities in
respect of bank and other guarantees and other matters
arising in the or dinar y course of business fr om which it is
anticipated that no material liabilities will arise.

The company and its subsidiaries ar e defendants in various
legal actions.  In the opinion of the dir ectors, after taking
appr opriate legal advice, the r esults of such actions will not
have a material effect on the gr oup’s financial position

18. OPERATIONAL RISK

The operations and earnings of the gr oup continue, fr om time to
time and in var ying degr ees, to be affected by political, legislative,
fiscal and r egulator y developments in the countries in which it
operates or to which it br oadcasts.  The industr y in which the
group operates is subject to technical and physical risks of var ying
kinds for example the gr oup is dependent upon the continuing
operation of satellites which carr y its transmissions.  The natur e
and fr equency of these developments, risks and events, not all of
which ar e cover ed by insurance, as well as their effect on futur e
operations and earnings ar e not pr edictable.

19. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

On 09 August, 2000, the gr oup obtained a bank loan for USD
8.4 million for the purpose of financing further digital marketing
and development costs in the United Kingdom.

20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Concentrations of credit risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the gr oup
to significant concentrations of cr edit risk, consist primarily
of debtors, amounts owed by r elated parties and cash on
deposit with financial institutions.

There is no significant concentration of cr edit risk with r espect
to debtors due to a significant portion of the gr oup’s sales

deriving fr om a significant number of individual customers
in r espect of subscribers sales.  The gr oup also has advertising
and sub-leasing sales which ar e to r elatively few customers.

(b) Fair value

The carr ying value of cash and cash equivalents, debtors
and cr editors appr oximates fair value because of the r elatively
short maturities of these assets and liabilities.

(c) Interest rate risk

The gr oup’s cash and cash equivalents ar e placed on deposit
at variable inter est rates which limit the exposur e to inter est
rate risk.

21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 Mar ch, 2000, the gr oup enter ed into
transactions with r elated parties.  The natur e, volume of transactions
and the balances with the r elated parties ar e as follows :

Name of Nature of Volume of Debit/(Credit)
related party transactions transactions Balance at

31 March
2000

USD ’000 USD ’000

Delgrada Limited Financing — (11,570)

Zee Telefilms Limited Purchase of 3,497 (2,857)
programming
Advertising commission
income 18 —

Zee Telefilms Arabia LLC Financing — 793

Winterheath Company
Limited Dividend receivable 2,150 2,150

Asia Today Limited Advertising commission
income 1,465 (2,221)
Sale of programming 211 —

Asia TV (Overseas) Limited Financing — 11

Electronic Media Ltd. Financing — 16

Buddha Films Private Purchase of programming 575 (83)
Limited Advertising commissions

payable 265 —

Mr. Subhash Chandra Financing — 85

Mr. Vijay Jindal Provision of
consultancy services 161 (25)

22. HOLDING COMPANY

Until 30 September , 1999, the dir ectors consider ed Delgrada
Limited, a company incorporated in the British V irgin Islands, as
the company’ s holding company .

On 30 September , 1999, Zee T elefilms Limited, a company
incorporated in India, acquir ed all of the issued shar e capital of
the company .  With effect fr om that date, the dir ectors consider
Zee Telefilms Limited as the company’ s holding company .

23. REPORTING CURRENCY

The financial statements ar e presented in United States Dollar .

24. INCORPORATION

The company is incorporated in the British V irgin Islands as an
International Business Company .
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to the shareholders of WINTERHEATH COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in British V irgin Islands with limited liability)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The dir ectors pr esent their r eport and the audited financial statements
of the Company for the year ended 31 Mar ch, 2000.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

Company is a holding Company of Asia T oday Ltd. engaged in satellite
television br oadcasting to India and Asia-Pacific r egion.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Company’ s profits for the financial year amounted to USD 21,275,490
(1999 - USD 13,930,005)

A dividend of USD 4,3000,000 (1999 - USD 10,000,000) was declar ed
for the year .

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The dir ectors ar e requir ed to pr epar e financial statements for each
financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and
of the pr ofit or loss of the Company . In pr eparing those financial
statements, the dir ectors ar e requir ed to :

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that ar e reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable accounting standar ds have been followed,
subject to any material departur es disclosed and explained in the
financial statements, and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless
it is inappr opriate to pr esume that the Company will continue in
business.

The dir ectors confirm that they have complied with the above
requir ements in pr eparing the financial statements and the financial
statements ar e giving a true and fair view .

The dir ectors ar e responsible for keeping pr oper accounting r ecords
which disclose with r easonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the Company . They ar e also r esponsible for safeguar ding the assets
of the Company and hence for taking r easonable steps for the pr evention
and detection of fraud and other irr egularities.

AUDITORS

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, Hong Kong have indicated their
willingness to continue in office and r esolution concerning their r e-
appointment will be pr oposed at the Annual General Meeting.

By Or der of the Boar d

RANJAN ISAAC
Director

11th August, 2000

AUDITORS' REPORT

We have audited the financial statements on pages 119 to 124.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors are responsible for preparing financial statements for each
financial year which give a true and fair view. In preparing those
financial statements, the directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable accounting standards have been
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements;

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless
it is inappropriate to presume that the company will continue in
business.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the company and the group. The directors are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the group and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our
audit, on those financial statements and to report our opinion to you.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standards issued
by the Auditing Practices Board in the United Kingdom. An audit includes
examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes and assessment
of the significant estimates and judgements made by the directors in
the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the group,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information
and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide
us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also
evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in
the financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the group as at 31st March, 2000 and of the profit
and cash flows of the group for the year then ended.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 11th August, 2000

to the shareholders of WINTERHEATH COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in British V irgin Islands with limited liability)
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The notes on pages 120 to 124 form part of these financial statements.

for the year ended 31st March, 2000

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

Ther e are no r ecognised gains or losses other than the pr ofit for the
year.

Turnover and pr ofit for the year befor e taxation ar e all fr om continuing
operations.

Notes 2000 1999
US$ US$

Turnover 2 118,863,291 97,449,402

Programme and transmission costs (55,657,084) (45,504,140)

Gross profit 63,206,207 51,945,262

Sundry income 546,326 34,508

Advertising and selling costs (35,704,233) (30,024,786)

Administrative expenses (2,933,731) (5,247,854)

Operating Profit 25,114,569 16,707,130

Finance cost (194,525) —

Profit before taxation 3 24,920,044 16,707,130

Taxation 5 (3,644,554) (2,777,125)

Profit after taxation 21,275,490 13,930,005

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

as at 31st March, 2000

Notes 2000 1999

US$ US$

Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets 7 39,332 7,718

Current assets

Programme and film rights :

due within one year 46,777,967 3,097,482

due mor e than one year 557,214 427,365

Debtors 8 50,788,469 35,234,116

Cash at bank and in hand 11,281,749 12,808,230

109,405,399 51,567,193

Creditors :

Amounts due within one year 9 20,437,073 29,542,743

Borr owings 10 3,000,000 —

23,437,073 29,542,743

Net current assets 85,968,326 22,024,450

Long-term borrowings 10 (47,000,000) —

39,007,658 22,032,168

Capital employed

Called up shar e capital 11 1,002 1,002
Shar e premium 13 93,499,000 93,499,000
Goodwill write-off r eser ve 13 (87,514,856) (87,514,856)
Profit and loss account 13 33,022,512 16,047,022

Shar eholders’ funds 39,007,658 22,032,168

Approved by the Board on 11th August, 2000 and signed on its behalf by

RANJAN ISAAC
Director

11th August, 2000
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Note 2000 1999
US$ US$

Net cash (outflow)/inflow
from operating activities 14 (35,438,563) 18,955,267

Return on investments and
servicing of finance
Inter est paid (194,525) —
Equity dividends paid (12,150,000) (6,000,000)

Net cash outflow from returns on
investments and servicing of finance (12,344,525) (6,000,000)

Taxation
Indian tax paid (3,695,004) (3,231,867)
Hong Kong tax paid (10,794) (35,776)

Taxation paid (3,705,798) (3,267,643)

Capital expenditure
Purchase of tangible fixed assets (37,595) (14,287)

Financing
Incr ease in borr owings 50,000,000 —

(Decrease)/increase in net cash (1,526,481) 9,673,337

Reconciliation to net cash
Net cash at 1st April 12,808,230 3,134,893
(Decr ease)/incr ease in net cash (1,526,481) 9,673,337

Net cash at 31st March 11,281,749 12,808,230

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
MOVEMENTS IN SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS
for the year ended 31st March, 2000

Note 2000 1999
US$ US$

Profit for the financial year 21,275,490 13,930,005

Dividends 12 (4,300,000) (10,000,000)

Net change in shareholders’ funds 16,975,490 3,930,005

Shareholders’ funds at 1 April 22,032,168 18,102,163

Shareholders’ Funds at 31 March 39,007,658 22,032,168

The notes on pages 120 to 124 form part of these financial statements.

1. Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been pr epar ed in accor dance
with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United
Kingdom and under the historical cost convention. The
reporting curr ency of the company and its subsidiaries is
United States dollars. The majority of the transactions of the
company’ s subsidiaries ar e denominated in Indian Rupees.
(see note 18)

The following accounting policies have been used consistently
in dealing with items which ar e consider ed material in r elation
to the financial statements.

(b) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the audited
financial statements of the company and its subsidiaries for
the year ended 31st Mar ch, 2000. Inter company transactions
and balances within the gr oup ar e eliminated on
consolidation.

(c) Goodwill

Goodwill r epresents the excess of pur chase consideration
over the fair values ascribed to the net assets of subsidiaries

to the Financial Statements
NOTES

acquir ed and is taken to goodwill write-off r eser ve in the
year of acquisition.

(d) Turnover

Turnover represents gross advertising income and subscription
income.

(e) Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis
to write-off the cost of fixed assets over their estimated useful
lives. The annual rates of depreciation are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 15%

Transmission equipment 15%

Computer equipment 20%

Office equipment 20%

Furniture and fixtures 15%

(f) Programme and film rights

Programme and film rights are stated at the lower of cost or
estimated realisable value. Cost of programmes and film rights
are determined by the original purchase price.

for the year ended 31st March, 2000
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT



121

WINTERHEATH  COMPANY  LIMITED

Film costs ar e amortised to r eflect an estimate of total
revenues anticipated from all markets over the expected
useful life of the film. These estimates are revised periodically.
Specifically, film costs are amortised at 80% on first showing
and the remaining balance will be amortised equally in the
next two years.

Programme costs are charged to the profit and loss account
when the related programme is aired for the first time.

(g) Foreign currencies

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at
the balance sheet date. Transactions in foreign currencies
are recorded at the rates ruling at the date of the transactions.
All differences are taken to the profit and loss account.

(h) Investment

Investment in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any provision
for permanent diminution in value.

(i) Related parties

Related parties are individuals and companies, including
subsidiaries and associated companies and jointly controlled
entities, where the individual, company or group has the
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making
financial and operating decisions; or when the parties are
subject to common control or common significant influence.

(j) Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Rental payments under operating
leases are charged to the profit and loss account as incurred
over the lease term.

2. Turnover

An analysis of the group’s turnover by principal activity and by
geographical area is as follows:

2000 1999
US$ US$

By geographical area:
India 107,714,656 91,156,182
Rest of the world 11,148,635 6,293,220

118,863,291 97,449,402

By activity :
Advertisement revenue 118,380,421 96,680,409
Subscription and other income 482,870 768,993

118,863,291 97,449,402

No segmental information is provided for operating profit and net
assets because in the opinion of the directors the costs of preparing
this information outweigh the benefits of disclosing this information.

3. Profit for the year before taxation

Profit for the year before taxation is arrived
at after charging the following:

2000 1999
US$ US$

Auditors’ remuneration
– current year provision 85,000 138,000
– overprovision in prior year (6,000) (38,692)
Exchange losses, net 638,363 2,105,431
Operating lease rental on buildings 31,876 39,726
Provision for doubtful debts 340,146 1,339,730

4. Employees and directors
2000 1999
US$ US$

Staff costs including executive
directors during the year
amounted to -

Wages and salaries 463,636 557,784
Housing and accommodation 24,359 23,958

487,995 581,742

The average monthly number of
employees during the year was:

2000 1999
Number Number

Operation 13 17

Administration 2 3

15 20

Aggregated directors’ emoluments
are analysed below:

2000 1999
US$ US$

Fees — —
Other emoluments 44,129 40,843

5. Taxation

Indian tax 3,637,756 2,755,000
Hong Kong profits tax 6,798 22,125

3,644,554 2,777,125

Indian Tax:

The Indian tax charge is calculated based on the adjusted revenue
for the year which is subject to Indian income tax at an effective
rate of 3.36% (1999: 3.36%).

Asia Today Limited (“ATL”), a subsidiary of the company, is liable
to Indian taxation. Section 9 of the Indian Income-tax Act, 1961
provides for taxation of income deemed to accrue or arise in
India. It is not clear how this section applies to ATL which derives
the bulk of its revenues from advertisers in India.

The Central Board of Direct Taxes (“CBDT”) in India has issued a
circular (No 742 dated 2nd May, 1996) providing for the basis of
taxation of foreign telecasting companies. The circular deems 10%
of the gross receipts derived from India by a foreign telecasting
company (excluding the commissions charged by the advertising
agent and the Indian agent of the foreign company) as income
liable to tax in India.

ATL has filed its return of income with the Indian Revenue
authorities for the years ended 31st March, 1993 to 31st March,
1999 offering its income to tax on the basis of the circular. The
Revenue authorities have completed the assessment of ATL’s income
for the years ended 31st March, 1993 to 31 March, 1997 and
agreed with the basis adopted by ATL.

Hong Kong Profits Tax:

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16%
(1999: 16%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year.

No provision for deferred taxation has been made as there are no
significant potential deferred tax liabilities.

6. Subsidiaries

Details of the company’s investment in subsidiary undertakings are
as follows:-

Name of company Class of Proportion Nature of business
shares held

Asia Today Limited Ordinary 100% Television broadcasting
Hokushan Trading Limited * Ordinary 100% Management &

administrative services
*Held through subsidiary
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10. Long Term Secured Loan

Asia T oday Limited (“A TL”) borr owed US$ 50M fr om ANZ Investment
Bank to finance the pur chase of pr ogramming & film rights fr om
Zee Telefilms Ltd, a r elated undertaking (ultimate holding company)
on an arms length basis. The loan is r epayable in five and half
years. The inter est is payable at the applicable US$ LIBOR rate plus
a mar gin in the range of 3.25% to 3.75% depending on the total
debt to EBIDA ratio.

The loan is secur ed by a pledge of 100% of the shar es of A TL held
by the Winterheath Company Ltd. including an exclusive first
priority char ge on all assets and bank accounts of A TL. Certain
restrictions also apply on the declaration of dividends to
shar eholders under the term of the loan facility .

In the event A TL issuing additional capital, A TL shall be r equir ed
to use 50% of such pr oceeds to r epay sums so as to r educe the
Debt to EBIDA ratios.

The r epayment pattern of the long term secur ed loan is as follows:

Secur ed
Bank loan

US$

Due dates of r epayment
Within one year 3,000,000
Between one and two years 8,000,000
Between two and five years 28,000,000
Beyond five years 11,000,000

50,000,000

11. Share capital 2000 1999
US$ US$

Authorised:
50,000 or dinar y shar es of US$1 each 50,000 50,000
Allotted, called up and fully paid:
1,002 or dinar y shar es of US$1 each 1,002 1,002

12. Dividends

Interim dividend –
US$ 4,291 (1999: US$ Nil) 4,300,000 —
Per or dinar y shar e

Final dividend –
US$ Nil (1999: US$ 9,980) — 10,000,000
Per or dinar y shar e

4,300,000 10,000,000

8. Debtors Group

2000 1999
US$ US$

Amounts falling due
within one year:

Trade debtors 31,426,565 21,792,875
*Amounts due fr om r elated
undertakings (note 17(d)) 16,913,676 12,972,784
Prepaid taxation 483,384 422,140
Other debtors 1,964,844 46,317

50,788,469 35,234,116

* Zee T elefilms Limited (“Zee T elefilms”), the ultimate holding
company which acts as agent for Asia T oday Limited (“A TL”)
in India collects amounts due fr om Indian customers in r espect
of sales made by A TL. The amounts ar e mainly collected in
Indian Rupees (“INR”) and Zee T elefilms seeks appr oval fr om
the Reser ve Bank of India (“RBI”) to convert amounts collected
in INR into US dollars and to r emit these amounts to A TL.
Zee T elefilms holds INR amounts collected on behalf of A TL
(net of its agency commission and INR expenses paid on
behalf of A TL) until it obtains the r equir ed appr ovals fr om
RBI.

The gr oup had a r eceivable fr om Zee T elefilms of US$13,887,156
(INR 607,285,286) as at 31st Mar ch, 2000 (1999: US$9,639,180
(INR 410,243,501)) in r espect of amounts collected on its behalf
by Zee T elefilms and which ar e curr ently held in INR. The ability
of Zee T elefilms to r emit these balances to A TL in US dollars depends
on Zee T elefilms obtaining the appr opriate appr ovals fr om RBI to
allow these amounts to be r emitted overseas in US dollars. Ther e
is no guarantee that the r equir ed appr ovals will be obtained for
all amounts collected by Zee T elefilms on behalf of A TL (See also
note 18 - Functional Curr ency).

9. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Group

2000 1999
US$ US$

Amounts due to r elated
undertakings (note 17(d)) 17,496,835 18,902,347
Accruals 617,507 640,396
Advances fr om customers 172,731 —
Dividends payable 2,150,000 10,000,000

20,437,073 29,542,743

7. Tangible fixed assets

Group

Leasehold Transmission Computer Office Furniture and
improvements equipment equipment equipment fixtures Total

US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

Cost

As at 1st April, 1999 13,532 474,181 31,472 43,323 2,057 564,565
Additions 1,910 32,779 2,645 261 — 37,595

As at 31st March, 2000 15,442 506,960 34,117 43,584 2,057 602,160

Accumulated depreciation

As at 1st April, 1999 12,333 474,181 30,112 38,164 2,057 556,847
Charge for the year 395 3,728 800 1,058 — 5,981

As at 31st March, 2000 12,728 477,909 30,912 39,222 2,057 562,828

Net book value 2,714 29,051 3,205 4,362 — 39,332
As at 31st March, 2000

As at 31st Mar ch, 1999 1,199 — 1,360 5,159 — 7,718
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13. Reserves and shareholders’ funds

Group

Goodwill Profit and Total
Share Share write-off loss shareholders’

capital premium reserve account funds
US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

Opening shareholders’
Funds 1,002 93,499,000 (87,514,856) 16,047,022 22,032,168

Profit for the year
Retained — — — 16,975,490 16,975,490

Closing shareholders’ 1,002 93,499,000 (87,514,856) 33,022,512 39,007,658
Funds

14. Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash (outflow)/
inflow from operating activities

2000 1999
US$ US$

Operating profit for the year
before taxation 25,114,569 16,707,130
Depreciation for
tangible fixed assets 5,981 67,822
Amortisation of programme and
film rights (43,810,334) 626,260
(Decrease)/increase in debtors (15,493,109) 2,509,661
Decrease in creditors (1,255,670) (955,606)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from
operating activities (35,438,563) 18,955,267

15. Contingent liabilities

The Composer and Authors Society of Hong Kong (“CASH”) are
claiming an amount of US$737,616 from the Company for royalties
at 31st March, 2000. The directors strongly dispute this claim as
they contend that the Company did not gain any benefit from
such Artists and are of the opinion that the likelihood of this
potential liability materialising is remote, that adequate disclosures
have been made and no provision has been made in the accounts
accordingly.

16. Lease commitments

Operating lease commitments for buildings as at 31st March
payable in the next twelve months, analysed according to the
period in which the lease expires, are as follows:

Group

2000 1999
US$ US$

Expiring:
Within one year 9,921 —
Between two to five years — 50,402

9,921 50,402

17. Related party transactions

(a) During the year the group had the following transactions
with related undertakings:

2000 1999
US$ US$

Transmission charges paid to:
Star Television Business Limited 10,202,990 9,747,823

Purchase of programmes from:

Zee Telefilms Limited 87,305,961 32,694,263
Programme Asia Trading
Company Limited 7,200 223,108
Software Suppliers International Limited 253,663 —
Zee Telefilms Arabia LLC 115,000 237,750
EI-Zee Television Private Limited 1,181,768 796,352

Commission paid to:
Zee Telefilms Limited 15,102,056 12,213,733
Zee Telefilms Arabia Limited — 146,450
Zee Telefilms International Limited 1,468,644 1,584,703
Star Television Business Limited 64,562 115,349
Zee Multimedia Worldwide Ltd., BVI — 241,163

(b) As at 31st March, 2000, amount due from / to related
undertakings as follows:

2000 1999
US$ US$

Amount due from
related undertakings
Zee Telefilms Limited 8,551,210 5,907,685
Zee Telefilms
International Limited 1,347,367 —
Zee Multimedia Worldwide Ltd., BVI 991,089 991,089
Zee Telefilms Arabia LLC 684,010 684,010
Delgrada Limited 5,340,000 5,390,000

16,913,676 12,972,784

Amount due to related
undertakings
Zee Telefilms Limited 16,103,447 13,589,492
EI-Zee Television Private Limited 1,144,258 703,445
Star Television Business Limited 131,923 4,473,510
ASIA TV (UK) 68,544 —
Software Suppliers
International Limited 48,663 —
Programme Asia Trading
Company Limited — 23,705
Zee Telefilms International Limited — 112,195

17,496,835 18,902,347

(c) As at 1 April, 1999, the shareholders of the company are:

(i) Zee Multimedia Worldwide Ltd., BVI (formerly known as Wimpole
Holdings Ltd.)

(Common shareholders and directors to the Essel Group
and Zee Telefilms Ltd.)

(ii) Star Television Business Ltd. (“STAR”)

During the year, STAR entered into an agreement to sell its
50% shareholdings in Winterheath Company Limited to Asia
Production Ltd., which in turn sold these shares to Zee Telefilms
Limited. Wimpole Holdings Limited, which changed its name
to Zee Multimedia Worldwide Limited and was acquired by
Zee Telefilms Ltd. Therefore on completion of the sale of the
shares of Asia Production Ltd., Zee Telefilms Ltd. effectively
controlled 100% of Winterheath Company Limited and is the
ultimate holding company as at 31st March, 2000.

The above related undertakings have the following
relationships with these shareholders.

Company Relationship

Asia T.V. Limited A wholly owned subsidiary
(incorporated in the of Zee Multimedia Worldwide Limited
United Kingdom)

Zee Telefilms Limited A company with common
(incorporated in India) shareholders and directors to the

Essel Group and listed on
the Mumbai Stock Exchange

Programme Asia Trading A company controlled jointly by the
Company Limited Essel Group and Associates and Star
(incorporated in India)

Delgrada Limited A shareholder of Zee Multimedia
(incorporated in the Limited
British Virgin Islands)

El-Zee Television A wholly owned subsidiary of
Private Limited Programme Asia Trading
(incorporated in India) Company Limited

Zee Telefilms International A wholly owned subsidiary of
Limited Zee Multimedia Worldwide Limited

(d) All balances with related undertakings are unsecured, interest-
free and have no fixed terms of repayment.
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18. Functional currency

The majority of the transactions of the company’ s subsidiaries ar e
denominated in Indian Rupees (“INR”). These transactions have
been translated into United States dollars (“US$”) at the exchange
rate ruling at 31st Mar ch, 2000 of INR 43.73 : US$1.

19. Ultimate Holding Company

The Ultimate Holding Company is Zee T elefilms Limited, a company
incorporated in the Republic of India.

for the year ended 31st March, 2000
DETAILED TRADING PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

2000 1999
US$ US$

Schedules

I. Programme and transmission costs
Transmission char ges 10,576,740 10,653,782
Purchased pr ogrammes 45,080,344 34,850,358

55,657,084 45,504,140

II. Advertising and selling costs
Advertising and agency fees 34,660,695 29,070,155
Other selling expenses 1,043,538 954,631

35,704,233 30,024,786

III. Administrative expenses
Auditors’ r emuneration 79,000 99,308
Bank char ges 139,637 144,472
Cash discount 160,764 167,366
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 5,981 67,822
Exchange losses, net 638,363 2,105,431
Legal & pr ofessional fees 848,708 450,383
Operating lease r ental on buildings 31,876 39,726
Provision for doubtful debts 340,146 1,339,730
Staff cost 487,995 581,742
Telephone expenses 71,904 81,234
Travelling and entertaining expenses 31,201 35,962
Miscellaneous expenses 98,156 134,678

2,933,731 5,247,854

IV. Finance cost
Annual fees 85,000 —
Inter est cost 109,525 —

194,525 —

Schedules 2000 1999
US$ US$

Turnover 118,863,291 97,449,402

Programme and
transmission costs I (55,657,084) (45,504,140)

Gross pr ofit 63,206,207 51,945,262

Sundr y income 546,326 34,508

Advertising and selling costs II (35,704,233) (30,024,786)

Administrative expenses III (2,933,731) (5,247,854)

Finance cost IV (194,525) —

Profit for the year befor e taxation 24,920,044 16,707,130

The detailed trading pr ofit and loss accounts ar e for management
purposes only and do not form part of the audited financial statements.

for the year ended 31st March, 2000
DETAILED TRADING PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
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to the Members of ASIA TODAY LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements
of the Company for the year ended 31 March, 2000.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activity of the Company is that of satellite television
broadcasting to India and Asia-Pacific region.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s and Company’s profits for the financial year amounted to
USD 21,275,490 (1999 – USD␣ 13,930,005) and USD 21,212,184
(1999 – USD 13,859,655) respectively.

A Dividend of USD 4,300,000 (1999 – USD 10,000,000) was declared
for the year.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for
each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
and of the profit or loss of the Company. In preparing those financial
statements, the directors are required to :

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed,

subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements, and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless
it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in
business.

The directors confirm that they have complied with the above
requirements in preparing the financial statements.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the Company and to enable them to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Mauritian Companies Act, 1984. They are
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.

AUDITORS

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, have indicated their willingness
to continue in office and a resolution concerning their re-appointment
will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

By Order of the Board

BCM (Secretaries) Ltd. – Mauritius
Secretary 17 August, 2000

We have audited the financial statements of Asia Today Limited on
pages 126 to 131 which have been prepared in accordance with the
accounting policies set out on page 128.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

As described on page 3, the Company’s directors are responsible for the
preparation of financial statements. It is our responsibility to form an
independent opinion, based on our audit, on those financial statements
and to report our opinion to you.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It
also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements
made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements,
and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

to the Members of ASIA TODAY LIMITED

AUDITORS’ REPORT

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information
and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us
with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement. In forming our
opinion, we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of
information in the financial statements.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and of the Company at 31 March, 2000
and of the profits, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and
of the Company for the year then ended and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Mauritian Companies Act, 1984 and
International Accounting Standards.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
V S MOHADEB
Signing partner 17 August, 2000
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The accounting policies on page 128 and the Notes on pages 128 to 131 form an integral part of these financial statements.

for the year ended 31 March, 2000

INCOME STATEMENT

Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
USD USD USD USD

Turnover (Note 2) 118,863,291 97,449,402 118,863,291 97,449,402

Direct costs (55,657,084) (45,504,140) (55,657,084) (45,504,140)

Gross profit 63,206,207 51,945,262 63,206,207 51,945,262

Other operating income 546,326 34,509 546,326 34,509

Advertising and
selling costs (35,704,233) (30,024,786) (35,704,233) (30,024,786)

Administrative
expenses (2,933,731) (5,247,855) (3,003,835) (5,340,330)

Operating profit (Note 3) 25,114,569 16,707,130 25,044,465 16,614,655

Finance costs (Note 5) (194,525) — (194,525) —

Profit before taxation 24,920,044 16,707,130 24,849,940 16,614,655

Taxation (Note 6) (3,644,554) (2,777,125) (3,637,756) (2,755,000)

Profit for the year USD 21,275,490 13,930,005 21,212,184 13,859,655

Earnings per
share (Note 7) USD 3.87 2.53

at 31 March, 2000

BALANCE SHEET

Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
USD USD USD USD

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and
equipment (Note 8) 39,332 7,718 — —
Investments (Note 9) — — 1,294 1,294

39,332 7,718 1,294 1,294

Current assets
Programme and film
rights (Note 10) 47,335,181 3,524,847 47,335,181 3,524,847
Receivables and
prepayments (Note 11) 50,788,469 35,234,116 50,771,993 35,225,799
Cash and cash
equivalents (Note 12) 11,281,747 12,808,228 11,161,064 12,756,107

109,405,397 51,567,191 109,268,238 51,506,753

Total assets USD 109,444,729 51,574,909 109,269,532 51,508,047

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Called up share
capital (Note 13) 5,500,000 5,500,000 5,500,000 5,500,000
Share premium 5,500,000 5,500,000 5,500,000 5,500,000
Retained earnings 28,007,656 11,032,166 27,564,013 10,651,829

39,007,656 22,032,166 38,564,013 21,651,829

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings (Note 14) 47,000,000 — 47,000,000 —

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
(Note 15) 20,437,073 29,542,743 20,705,519 29,856,218
Borrowings (Note 14) 3,000,000 — 3,000,000 —

23,437,073 29,542,743 23,705,519 29,856,218

Total Liabilities 70,437,073 29,542,743 70,705,519 29,856,218

Total equity and
liabilities USD 109,444,729 51,574,909 109,269,532 51,508,047

Approved by the Board of Directors on 17 August, 2000

CLAREL BENOIT THIERRY CHELLEN
Director Director
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Group

Share Share Retained
capital premium earnings Total

USD USD USD USD

At 01 April, 1998 5,500,000 5,500,000 7,102,161 18,102,161

Profit for the year — — 13,930,005 13,930,005

Dividends (Note 16) — — (10,000,000) (10,000,000)

At 31 March, 1999 5,500,000 5,500,000 11,032,166 22,032,166

Profit for the year — — 21,275,490 21,275,490

Dividends (Note 16) — — (4,300,000) (4,300,000)

At 31 March, 2000 USD 5,500,000 5,500,000 28,007,656 39,007,656

Company

At 01 April, 1998 5,500,000 5,500,000 6,792,174 17,792,174

Profit for the year — — 13,859,655 13,859,655

Dividends (Note 16) — — (10,000,000) (10,000,000)

At 31 March, 1999 5,500,000 5,500,000 10,651,829 21,651,829

Profit for the year — — 21,212,184 21,212,184

Dividends (Note 16) — — (4,300,000) (4,300,000)

At 31 March, 2000 USD 5,500,000 5,500,000 27,564,013 38,564,013

for the year ended 31st March, 2000

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
USD USD USD USD

Operating activities
Profit before taxation 24,920,044 16,707,130 24,849,940 16,614,655
Adjustment for :
Depreciation (Note 8) 5,981 67,822 — —

Operating profit before
working capital changes 24,926,025 16,774,952 24,849,940 16,614,655
(Increase)/decrease in
programme and
film rights (43,810,334) 626,260 (43,810,334) 626,260
(Increase)/decrease in
receivables and
prepayments (15,493,109) 2,509,661 (15,488,950) 2,508,379
Decrease in trade and
other payables (1,255,670) (955,606) (1,300,699) (891,544)

Indian tax paid (3,695,000) (3,231,867) (3,695,000) (3,231,867)
Hong Kong tax paid (10,798) (35,776) — —

Net cash (used in)/from
operating activities (39,338,886) 15,687,624 (39,445,043) 15,625,883

Investing activities
Purchase of property,
plant & equipment (Note 8) (37,595) (14,287) — —

Net cash used in
investing activities (37,595) (14,287) — —

Financing activities
Dividends paid (12,150,000) (6,000,000) (12,150,000) (6,000,000)
Proceeds from
borrowings 50,000,000 — 50,000,000 —

Net cash from/(used in)
financing activities 37,850,000 (6,000,000) 37,850,000 (6,000,000)

(Decrease)/increase
in cash and cash
equivalents (1,526,481) 9,673,337 (1,595,043) 9,625,883
Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of year 12,808,228 3,134,891 12,756,107 3,130,224

Cash and cash
equivalents at end of
year (Note 12) USD 11,281,747 12,808,228 11,161,064 12,756,107

for the year ended 31st March, 2000

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

The accounting policies on page 128 and the Notes on pages 128 to 131 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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for the year ended 31st March, 2000

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
and comply with applicable International Accounting Standards. A
summary of the more important accounting policies, which have
been applied consistently, is set out below. The preparation of
financial statements in accordance with International Accounting
Standards and generally accepted accounting principles requires
the directors to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Basics of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated accounts incorporate the accounts of the
company and of its subsidiaries. The results of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated income statement and minority interest
therein are deducted from the consolidated profit after taxation.
Results attributable to subsidiaries acquired or disposed of are
included from the date of acquisition or to the date of disposal as
applicable. All significant balances and transactions between the
company and its subsidiaries have been eliminated.

Long term investments

Long term investments are shown at cost and provision is only
made where, in the opinion of the directors, there is a permanent
diminution in value. Where there has been a permanent diminution
in the value of an investment, it is recognized as an expense in
the period in which the diminution is identified.

On disposal of an investment, the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is charged or credited
to the income statement.

Functional currency and foreign currency translation

The majority of the Company’s transactions are denominated in
Indian Rupees (INR). Foreign currency transactions are accounted
for at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date which are
expressed in foreign currencies are translated into US dollars at
the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.

Exchange gains and losses are dealt with through the income
statement.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight line basis at annual rates
estimated to write off the cost of the assets less their estimated
residual values over their expected useful lives. The annual rates
used are :

Leasehold improvements 15%
Transmission equipment 15%
Computer equipment 20%
Office equipment 20%

Programme and film rights

Programme and film rights are stated at the lower of cost less
accumulated amortisation and estimated net realisable value. The
cost of programme and film rights comprises the original purchase
price. Net realisable value is determined by the directors of the
group who regularly assess the estimated future revenue (net of

commissions and other costs) that programme and film rights will
generate.

Programme costs are charged to the income statement when the
related programme is aired for the first time. Film costs are amortised
at 80% on first showing and the remaining balance are amortised
equally over the next two years.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash at bank and in hand. Cash equivalents are
short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of change in value.

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, for all temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes. Currently
enacted tax rates are used to determine deferred tax.

The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation on
property, plant and equipment, provisions for pensions and other
post retirement benefits and tax losses carried forward. Deferred
tax assets relating to the carry forward of unused tax losses are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be
utilised.

Turnover and revenue recognition

Turnover mainly represents gross advertising revenue and
subscription revenue, net of discounts and sales tax, if any.
Advertising revenues are recognised upon the telecast of
advertisements and subscription revenue on a time basis on the
provision of television broadcasting to subscribers. Subscriptions
paid in advance are recognised as deferred income in the balance
sheet.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating
leases. Rental payments under operating leases are charged to
the income statement on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Financial instruments

Financial instruments carried on the balance sheet include cash
and bank balances, investments, receivables, payables, leases and
borrowings. The particular recognition methods adopted are
disclosed in the individual policy statements associated with each
item.

The Group is also party to financial instruments that reduce
exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange. These
instruments, which mainly comprise foreign currency forward
contracts are not recognized in the financial statements on
inception. The purpose of these instruments is to reduce risk.

Foreign currency forward contracts protect the group from
movements in exchange rates by establishing the rate at which a
foreign currency asset or liability will be settled. Any increase or
decrease in the amount required to settle the asset or liability is
off-set by a corresponding movement in the value of the forward
exchange contract. The gains and losses are therefore off-set for
financial reporting purposes and are not recognised in the financial
statements. The fee incurred in establishing each agreement is
amortised over the contract period.

Disclosures about financial instruments to which the Group is a
party are provided in Note 18.

2. TURNOVER

The group operates in one industry, which is satellite television
broadcasting.
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An analysis of turnover by principal activity and by geographical
area is as follows :

Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
USD USD USD USD

By geographical area :
India 107,714,656 91,156,182 107,714,656 91,156,182
Rest of the world 11,148,635 6,293,220 11,148,635 6,293,220

USD 118,863,291 97,449,402 118,863,291 97,449,402

By activity :
Advertisement
revenue 118,380,421 96,680,409 118,380,421 96,680,409
Subscription and
other income 482,870 768,993 482,870 768,993

USD 118,863,291 97,449,402 118,863,291 97,449,402

3. OPERATING
PROFIT

The following items
have been charged
in arriving at
operating profit :

Depreciation
(Note 8) 5,981 67,822 — —
Auditor’s
remuneation 79,000 99,308 85,000 132,000
Operating lease
rentals – property 31,876 39,726 — —
Staff costs (Note 4) 487,995 581,742 — —
Net exchange loss 638,363 2,105,431 638,363 2,105,003

4. STAFF COSTS

Group
2000 1999
USD USD

Wages and salaries 463,636 557,784
Other benefits 24,359 23,958

USD 487,995 581,742

Directors’ emoluments
included in staff costs USD 44,129 40,483

Number Number

Average number of persons
employed by the group :
Full time 15 20

5. FINANCE COST
Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
USD USD USD USD

Annual charges 85,000 — 85,000 —
Interest expense 109,525 — 109,525 —

USD 194,525 — 194,525 —

6. TAXATION
Indian tax 3,637,756 2,755,000 3,637,756 2,755,000
Hong Kong
profits tax 6,798 22,125 — —

USD 3,644,554 2,777,125 3,637,756 2,755,000

Indian tax :

The tax charge is calculated based on the adjusted revenue for
the year which is subject to Indian income tax at an effective rate
of 3.36% (1999 - 3.36%).

Section 9 of the Indian Income-tax Act, 1961 provides for taxation
on income deemed to accrue or arise in India. It is not clear how
this section applies to the Company which derives the bulk of its
revenues from advertisers in India.

The Central Board of Direct Taxes in India has issued a circular
(No. 742 dated 02 May, 1996) providing for the basis of taxation
of foreign telecasting companies. The circular deems 10% of the
gross receipts derived from India by a foreign telecasting company
(excluding the commissions charged by the advertising agent and
the Indian agent of the foreign company) as income liable to tax
in India.

The Company has filed its return of income with the Indian Revenue
authorities for the years ended 31 March, 1993 to 31 March,
1999 offering its income to tax on the basis of the circular. The
Revenue authorities have completed the assessment of the
company’s income for the years ended 31 March, 1993 to
31 March, 1997 and agreed with the basis adopted by the
Company.

Mauritius income tax :

The Company is subject to income tax in Mauritius at the of 0%
unless it elects to pay tax at a rate not exceeding 35%. The
Company has made no such election. Capital gains of the Company
are exempt from tax in Mauritius.

Hong Kong profits tax :

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16%
(1999 - 16%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year.

Deferred taxation :

No provision for deferred taxation has been made as there are no
significant potential deferred tax liabilities.

7. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of earnings per share is based on the group’s
profit for the year of USD␣ 21,275,490 (1999 - USD 13,930,005)
and on 5,500,000 ordinary shares in issue and ranking for dividend
during the two years ended 31 March, 2000.

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group

Furniture
Leasehold Transmission Computer Office and

improvement equipment equipment equipment fixtures Total
USD USD USD USD USD USD

Cost :
At 01 April, 1998 13,532 474,181 24,629 35,879 2,057 550,278
Additions — — 6,843 7,444 — 14,287

At 31 March, 1999 13,532 474,181 31,472 43,323 2,057 564,565
Additions 1,910 32,779 2,645 261 — 37,595

At 31 March 2000 15,442 506,960 34,117 43,584 2,057 602,160

Accumulated
depreciation :
At 01 April, 1998 10,303 423,002 23,818 29,845 2,057 489,025
Charge for the year 2,030 51,179 6,294 8,319 — 67,822

At 31 March, 1999 12,333 474,181 30,112 38,164 2,057 556,847
Charge for the year 395 3,728 800 1,058 — 5,981

At 31 March, 2000 12,728 477,909 30,912 39,222 2,057 562,828

Net book value :
At 31 March, 2000 2,714 29,051 3,205 4,362 — 39,332

At 31 March, 1999 1,199 — 1,360 5,159 — 7,718

9. INVESTMENTS
2000 1999
USD USD

Company

Unquoted
subsidiary, at cost :

At beginning and
end of year USD 1,294 1,294
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Details of thecompany’s subsidiaryare as follows :

Name of Country of Principal Type of Percentage
company Incorporation activity shares held holding

Hokushan Trading Hong Kong Provision of Ordinary 100%
Limited management

and
administrative
services

the directors of opinion that the investment is fairly stated at cost and has not
suffered any permanent diminution in value.

10. PROGRAMME AND FILM RIGHTS

Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
USD USD USD USD

Recoverable within
one year 46,777,967 3,097,482 46,777,967 3,097,482

Recoverable after
more than one
year 557,214 427,365 557,214 427,365

USD 47,335,181 3,524,847 47,335,181 3,524,847

11. RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS
Trade receivables 31,426,565 21,792,875 31,426,565 21,792,875
Amount owed by
ultimate holding
company 8,551,211 — 8,551,211 —
Amounts owed by
fellow subsidiaries 2,338,455 — 2,338,455 —
Amount owned by
related parties 6,024,010 12,972,784 6,024,010 12,972,784
Prepaid taxation 483,384 422,140 483,384 426,140
Other receivables 1,964,844 46,317 1,948,368 34,000

USD 50,788,469 35,234,116 50,771,993 35,225,799

Amount owed by related parties :

Zee Telefilms Limited, the Company’s ultimate holding Company
which acts as agent for the Company in India collects amounts
due from Indian customers in respect of sales made by the
Company. The amounts are mainly collected in Indian Rupees
(“INR”) and Zee Telefilms Limited seeks approval from the Reserve
Bank of India (“RBI”) to convert amounts collected in INR into US
dollars and to remit these amounts to the Company. Zee Telefilms
Limited holds INR amounts collected on behalf of the Company
(net of its agency commissions and INR expenses paid on behalf
of the Company until it obtains the required approvals from RBI.

The group had a receivable from Zee Telefilms Limited of USD
13,887,156 (INR 607,285,286) as at 31 March, 2000 (1999 : USD
9,637,535 (INR 410,173,475)) in respect of amounts collected on
its behalf by Zee Telefilms Limited and which are currently held in
INR. The ability of Zee Telefilms Limited to remit these balances to
the Company in US dollars depends on Zee Telefilms Limited
obtaining the appropriate approvals from RBI to allow these amounts
to be remitted overseas in US dollars. There is no guarantee that
the required approvals will be obtained for all amounts collected by
Zee Telefilms Limited on behalf of the Company.

12. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
USD USD USD USD

Cash at bank
and in hand USD 11,281,747 12,808,228 11,161,064 12,756,107

13. CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

2000 1999 2000 1999
Number Number USD USD

Company
Authorised:
Ordinary shares
of USD 1 each 6,000,000 6,000,000 6,000,000 6,000,000
Non voting shares
of USD 1 each 6,000,000 6,000,000 6,000,000 6,000,000

12,000,000 12,000,000 12,000,000 12,000,000

Issued and fully paid :
Ordinary shares of
USD 1 each 5,500,000 5,500,000 5,500,000 5,500,000

14. BORROWINGS
Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
USD USD USD USD

Current
Bank
borrowings USD 3,000,000 — 3,000,000 —

Non-current
Bank
borrowings USD 47,000,000 — 47,000,000 —

Total
borrowings USD 50,000,000 — 50,000,000 —

Maturity of
non-current
borrowings :
Between 1
and 2 years 8,000,000 — 8,000,000 —
Between 2
and 5 years 28,000,000 — 28,000,000 —
Over 5 years 11,00,000 — 11,000,000 —

47,000,000 — 47,000,000 —

The Company borrowed USD 50 million from ANZ Investment
Bank to finance the purchase of programme and film rights from,
its ultimate holding Company, Zee Telefilms Limited, on an arms
length basis. The loan is repayable in five and half years from the
first draw date, which is 28 March, 2000. Interest is payable at
the applicable USD LIBOR rate plus a margin in the range of
3.25% to 3.75% depending on the total debt to EBIDA ratio.

The loan is secured by a pledge of 100% of the shares of the
Company held by the Winterheath Company Limited,including
an exclusive first priority charge on all assets and bank accounts
of the Company. Certain restriction also apply on the declaration
of dividends to shareholders under the term of the loan facilities.

In the event of the Company issuing additional capital, it shall be
required to use 50% of such proceeds to repay the loan so as to
reduce the Debt to EBIDA ratios

15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
USD USD USD USD

Amounts due
to subsidiary — — 268,446 319,475
Amounts due to
ultimate holding
company 16,103,447 — 16,103,447 —
Amount due to
fellow subsidiaries 1,261,465 — 1,261,465 —
Amount due to
related parties 131,923 18,902,347 131,923 18,902,347

Accruals 617,507 640,396 617,507 634,396

Advances from
customers 172,731 — 172,731 —

Dividends
payable 2,150,000 10,000,000 2,150,000 10,000,000

USD 20,437,073 29,542,743 20,705,519 29,856,218
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16. DIVIDENDS

2000 1999
USD USD

Group and Company
USD 0.78 per ordinary share
(1999 - USD 1.82) USD 4,300,000 10,000,000

17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Group

(a) Operating Leases

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases are as follows:

Land and
buildings

USD

Not later than one year USD 9,921

(b) Other contingencies
The Composer and Authors Society of Hong Kong are
claiming an amount of USD␣ 737,616 from the Group for
royalties at 31 March, 2000. The directors strongly dispute
this claim as they contend that the Group did not gain any
benefit from such artists and are of the opinion that the
likelihood of this potential liability materialising is remote,
that adequate disclosures have been made and no provision
has been made in the accounts accordingly.

18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Concentrations of credit risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the group
to significant concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily
of receivables, amounts owed by related parties and cash
on deposit with financial institutions.

(b) Fair value
The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, receivables
and payables approximates fair value because of the relatively
short maturities of these assets and liabilities.

(c) Interest rate risk
The group’s cash and cash equivalents are placed on deposit
at variable interest rates which limit the exposure to interest
rate risk.

19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended 31 March, 2000, the group entered into
the following transactions with related parties :

2000 1999
USD USD

Transmission charges paid to :
Star Television Business Limited 10,202,990 9,747,823
Purchase of programmes from :
Zee Telefilms Limited 87,305,961 32,694,263
Programme Asia Trading
Company Limited 7,200 223,108
Software Supplier International Ltd 253,663 —
Zee Telefilms Arabia LLC 115,000 237,750
El-Zee Television Private Limited 1,181,768 796,352

Commissions paid to :
Zee Telefilms Limited 15,102,056 12,213,733
Zee Telefilms Arabia LLC — 146,450
Zee Telefilms (International) Limited 1,468,644 1,584,703
Star Television Business Limited 64,562 115,349
Zee Multimedia Worldwide
Limited (BVI) — 241,163

At the balance sheet date, the balances with related parties were
as follows :

Name of related party Debit/(credit) balance

2000 1999
USD USD

Delgrada Limited 5,340,000 5,390,000

Zee Multimedia Worldwide Limited (BVI) 991,089 991,089

Zee Telefilms Arabia LLC 684,010 684,010

Zee Telefilms Limited (7,552,236) (7,681,807)

El-Zee Television Private Limited (1,144,258) (703,445)

Programme Asia Trading Company Limited — (23,705)

Star Television Business Limited (131,923) (4,473,510)

Zee Telefilms (International) Limited 1,347,366 (112,195)

Asia TV Limited (68,544) —

Software Supplier International Ltd. (48,663) —

20. HOLDING COMPANIES

The directors consider Winterheath Company Limited (“WCL”), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, as the Company’s
holding company.

At 01 April, 1999, the issued shares of WCL were held in equal
proportions by Zee Multimedia Worldwide Limited (formerly
Wimpole Holdings Limited - “ZMW”), a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands and Star Television Business Limited (“STAR”),
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. On 30
September, 1999, Zee Telefilms Limited, a company incorporated
in India, acquired all of the issued share capital of ZMW and STAR’s
50% shareholding in WCL. With effect from that date, the directors
consider Zee Telefilms Limited as the Company’s ultimate holding
company.

21. REPORTING CURRENCY

The financial statements are presented in United States dollars.
The Company has been granted an Offshore Certificate under the
Mauritius Offshore Business Activities Act, 1992 which requires
that the Company’s business or other activity is carried on in a
currency other than the Mauritian Rupee.

22. INCORPORATION

The Company was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands as an
International Business Company until 30 June, 1998, on which
date it discontinued its incorporation in the British Virgin Islands.
With effect from 29 June , 1998, the Company is incorporated by
continuation in Mauritius under the Companies Act, 1984 as a
private company with limited liability.
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to the Members of HOKUSHAN TRADING LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors submit their report and the audited financial statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2000.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the company is the provision of administrative
and other services to the holding company.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The results of the company for the year are set out in the profit and loss
account on page 133.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements in fixed assets are set out in Note 6 to the
accounts.

DIRECTORS

The directors during the year were:

Balan Ranjan Issac
Deepak Jain

There being no provision in the company’s Articles of Association for
retirement, all directors continue in office.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

Except for transactions with related companies as disclosed in Note 11,

no contracts of significance in relation to the company’s business to
which the company, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding company was
a party and in which a director of the company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

At no time during the year was the company, its fellow subsidiaries or
its holding company a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
of the company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the company were
entered into or existed during the year.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

By order of the Board

RANJAN ISAAC
Director

Hong Kong, 1st June, 2000

to the Director of HOKUSHAN TRADING LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with
Limited Liability)

AUDITORS' REPORT

We have audited the financial statements on pages 133 to 135 which
have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

The Hong Kong Companies Ordinance requires the directors to prepare
financial statements which give a true and fair view. In preparing financial
statements which give a true and fair view it is fundamental that
appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our
audit, on those financial statements and to report our opinion to you.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements of Auditing
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Society of Accountants. An audit
includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment
of the significant estimates and judgments made by the directors in the
preparation of the financial statements and of whether the accounting

policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances, consistently
applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information
and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us
with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement. In forming our
opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of
information in the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of the company’s affairs as at 31 March, 2000 and of its profit for
the year then ended and have been properly prepared in accordance
with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 1st June, 2000
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to the Financial Statements

NOTES

1. Accounting policies

(a) Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in Hong Kong
and under the historical cost convention. The company’s
reporting currency is United States dollars. The majority of its
transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

The following accounting policies have been used consistently
in dealing with items which are considered material in relation
to the financial statements.

(b) Turnover

Turnover represents management fees charged to the holding
company for administrative and other services provided.

(c) Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis
to write-off the cost of fixed assets over their estimated useful
lives. The annual rates of deprecation are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 15%

Transmission equipment 15%

Computer equipment 20%

Office equipment 20%

Furniture and fixtures 15%

(d) Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted

for the year ended 31st March, 2000

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

The company has no recognised gains and losses arising in the year

ended 31st March, 2000 (1999: nil) other than the profit above and

therefore no separate statement of recognised gains and losses has

been presented in these accounts.

Notes 2000 1999
US$ US$

Turnover 2 771,153 1,017,212

Cost of sales — —

Gross profit 771,153 1,017,212

Administrative expenses (701,046) (924,738)

Profit before taxation 3 70,107 92,474

Taxation 5 (6,798) (22,125)

Profit for the year retained 8 63,309 70,349

Notes 2000 1999
US$ US$

Fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets 6 39,332 7,718

Current assets

Due from the holding
company 11 268,444 319,475

Prepayments and deposits 8,303 12,317

Prepaid taxation 8,177 —

Cash at bank and in hand 120,683 52,120

405,607 383,912

Current liabilities

Accruals — 6,000

Taxation — 4,000

— 10,000

Net current assets 405,607 373,912

444,939 381,630

Represented by :

Called up share capital 7 1,294 1,294

Profit and loss account 8 443,645 380,336

444,939 381,630

at 31st March, 2000

BALANCE SHEET

Approved by the Board on 1st June, 2000 and signed on its behalf by

RANJAN ISAAC DEEPAK JAIN
Director Director

The notes on pages 133 to 135 form part of these financial statements.
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for as operating leases. Rental payments under operating
leases are charged to the profit and loss account as incurred
over the lease term.

(e) Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is calculated on the liability method. It is
provided to the extent that it is considered, with reasonable
probability, that a liability will become payable within the
foreseeable future.

(f) Foreign currencies

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at
the balance sheet date. Transactions in foreign currencies
are recorded at the rates ruling at the date of the transactions.
All differences are taken to the profit and loss account.

2. Turnover

The group is principally engaged in managerial and administrative
service to its immediate holding company.

3. Profit for the year before taxation

Profit for the year before taxation is arrived at after charging the
following:

2000 1999
US$ US$

Crediting
Exchange losses, net — 428

Charging
Staff costs 487,995 581,742
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 5,981 67,822
Auditors’ remuneration
– current year provision (note (i)) — 6,000
– overprovision in prior year — (38,692)
Operating lease rental on buildings 31,876 39,726

(i) Audit fee is to be borne by the immediate holding company
and is not to be recharged to the company.

4. Directors’ emoluments

2000 1999
US$ US$

Other emoluments 44,129 40,843

5. Taxation

Hong Kong profits tax has been
provided at the rate of
16% (1999: 16%) on the estimated
assessable profit for the year :

Hong Kong profits tax 7,600 21,879

(Over)/under provisions in prior years (802) 246

Deferred taxation credit for the year
has not been provided
in respect of the following :

Accelerated depreciation allowances (4,018) 5,337

Effect on change in tax rate — (44)

(4,018) 5,293

6. Tangible fixed assets US$

Leasehold Transmission Computer Office Furniture and
improvements equipment equipment equipment fixtures Total

US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

Cost

At as 31st March, 1999 13,532 474,181 31,472 43,323 2,057 564,565

Additions 1,910 32,779 2,645 261 — 37,595

At as 31st March, 2000 15,442 506,960 34,117 43,584 2,057 602,160

Accumulated depreciation

At as 31st March, 1999 12,333 474,181 30,112 38,164 2,057 556,847

Charge for the year 395 3,728 800 1,058 — 5,981

At as 31st March, 2000 12,728 477,909 30,912 39,222 2,057 562,828

Net book value

At as 31st March, 2000 2,714 29,051 3,205 4,362 — 39,332

At as 31st March, 1999 1,199 — 1,360 5,159 — 7,718
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7. Share capital

2000 1999
US$ US$

Authorised, issued and fully paid:

10,000 ordinary shares of
US$0.1294 (HK$1) each 1,294 1,294

8. Reserves and reconciliation of
movements in shareholders’ funds

Total
Share Profit and shareholders’

capital loss accounts funds
US$ US$ US$

Opening shareholders’
funds 1,294 380,336 381,630

Profit for the year — 63,309 63,309

Closing shareholders’
funds 1,294 443,645 444,939

9. Deferred taxation

At the balance sheet date, potential deferred taxation liability which
had not been accounted for amounted to:

2000 1999
US$ US$

Accelerated depreciation allowances 2,740 6,758

10. Lease commitments

Operating lease commitments for buildings at 31st March payable
in the next twelve months, analysed according to the period in
which the lease expires, are as follows:

2000 1999
US$ US$

Land and buildings
– expiring in the first year 9,921 —
– expiring in the second to

fifth years inclusive — 50,402

9,921 50,402

11. Related party transactions

a. Management fee charged to the immediate holding company
for administrative and other services provided during the
year amounted to US$771,153 (1999: US$1,017,212).

b The balance due from the holding company is unsecured,
interest free and has no fixed repayment terms.

12. Cash flow statement

As permitted by Hong Kong Statement of Standard Accounting
Practice No. 15, no cash flow statement has been prepared as the
turnover of the company is less than 20 million Hong Kong dollars.

13. Ultimate holding company

The ultimate holding company of Hokushan Trading Limited is
Winterheath Company Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands.

14. Approval of financial statements

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors
on 1st June, 2000.

for the year ended 31st March, 2000

DETAILED TRADING PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

2000 1999
US$ US$

Turnover 771,153 1,017,212

Administrative expenses :
Staff cost 487,995 581,742
Travelling and entertaining expenses 5,347 5,182
Legal and professional fees 9,316 25,450
Auditors’ remuneration
– current year provision — 6,000
– overprovision in prior years — (38,692)

Operating lease rental on buildings 31,876 39,726
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 5,981 67,822
Hotel accommodation expenses 25,854 30,780
Telephone and fax charges 71,904 81,234
Exchange losses, net — 428
Freight and postage 46,112 96,771
Miscellaneous expenses 16,661 28,295

701,046 924,738

Profit for the year before taxation 70,107 92,474

This detailed trading profit and loss account is for management purposes
only and does not form part of the audited financial statements.
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The dir ectors pr esent their r eport and the audited financial
statements of the Gr oup and of the Company for the year ended 31
March, 2000.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activity of the Company is that of satellite television
broadcasting to India and Asia-Pacific r egion.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Gr oup’s and Company’ s losses for the financial year amounted to
USD 7,496,843 (1999-USD 792,820) and USD 7,531,299 (1999 - USD
802,904) r espectively .

No dividends have been paid, declar ed or r ecommended since the and
of the financial year .

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The dir ectors ar e requir ed to pr epar e financial statements for each
financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and
of the pr ofit or loss of the Company . In pr eparing those financial
statements, the dir ectors ar e requir ed to :

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that ar e reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable accounting standar ds have been followed,
subject to any material departur es disclosed and explained in the
financial statements, and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless
it is inappr opriate to pr esume that the Company will continue in
business.

The dir ectors confirm that they have complied with the above
requir ements in pr eparing the financial statements and the financial
statements ar e giving a true and fair view of the Gr oup and of the
Company .

The dir ectors ar e responsible for keeping pr oper accounting r ecords
which disclose with r easonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the Company . They ar e also r esponsible for safeguar ding the assets
of the Company and hence for taking r easonable steps for the pr evention
and detection of fraud and other irr egularities.

AUDITORS

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, Singapor e, have indicated their
willingness to continue in office and a r esolution concerning their r e-
appointment will be pr oposed at the Annual General Meeting.

By Or der of the Boar d

DEEP AK JAIN VIJA Y PARAB
Director Director

11th August, 2000

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

to the Members of EXPAND FAST HOLDINGS
LIMITED

We have audited the financial statements of Expand Fast Holdings Ltd.
and the consolidated financial statements of the Gr oup for the financial
year ended 31 Mar ch, 2000  set out on pages 137 to 140. These
financial statements ar e the r esponsibility of the Company’ s dir ectors.

We conducted our audit in accor dance with International Standar ds on
Auditing. Those Standar ds r equir e that we plan and perform our audit
to obtain r easonable assurance whether the financial statements ar e
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosur es in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by the dir ectors, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement pr esentation. W e believe that our audit
provides a r easonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements of the Company
and consolidated financial statements of the Gr oup ar e properly drawn

AUDITORS’ REPORT

to the Members of EXPAND FAST HOLDINGS
LIMITED

up in accor dance with the pr ovisions of the International Accounting
Standar ds and have been pr operly pr epar ed, in all material r espects, to
give the information r equir ed, solely to enable the ultimate holding
company , Zee T elefilms Limited, a company incorporated in India, to
prepar e consolidated financial statements.

Accor dingly , the financial statements do not r eport on Expand Fast
Holdings Ltd. as a separate entity and should not be used for any other
purposes.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Singapore
Certified Public Accountants

Singapor e, 11th August, 2000
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The Group The Company

Notes 2000 1999 2000 1999
US$ US$ US$ US$

Current assets
Cash 3 595,300 281,048 594,131 251,673
Receivables 4 2,703,646 701,638 2,703,646 701,638
Inventories 583,059 — 583,059 —
Due from
subsidiary (trade) — — 1,744,402 125,881
Other 5 920,164 9,020 863,857 6,531

4,802,169 991,706 6,489,095 1,085,723

Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiary 6 — — 62,500 1
Property, plant and
equipment 7 1,892,727 116,005 1,786 2,274

1,892,727 116,005 64,286 2,275

Total assets 6,694,896 1,107,711 6,553,381 1,087,998

Current liabilities
Accounts payable 8 1,511,484 10,083 1,426,642 3,997
Due to related
companies (trade) 1,606,566 149,404 1,606,566 149,404
Loan from holding
company 9 3,300,000 3,300,000 3,300,000 3,300,000
Due to related
companies (non-trade) 10 13,262,087 3,182,087 13,262,087 3,182,087
Provision for taxation 14 75,829 30,364 63,696 26,821

19,755,966 6,671,938 19,658,991 6,662,309

Net liabilities (13,061,070) (5,564,227) (13,105,610) (5,574,311)

Share capital and reserves
Share capital 11 2 2 2 2
Accumulated losses (13,061,072) (5,564,229) (13,105,612) (5,574,313)

(13,061,070) (5,564,227) (13,105,610) (5,574,311)

As at 31 March, 2000

BALANCE SHEET

For the Financial year ended 31 March, 2000

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNTS

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

The Group The Company

Notes 2000 1999 2000 1999
US$ US$ US$ US$

Turnover 12 3,405,005 2,162,465 3,405,005 2,162,465

Operating loss before tax 13 (7,366,024) (725,137) (7,412,614) (738,764)
Tax - current 14 (130,819) (67,683) (118,685) (64,140)

Loss after tax attributable
to members (7,496,843) (792,820) (7,531,299) (802,904)

Accumulated losses at
the beginning of the
financial year (5,564,229) (4,771,409) (5,574,313) (4,771,409)

Accumulated losses at the
end of the financial year (13,061,072) (5,564,229) (13,105,612) (5,574,313)

Appr oved by the Boar d on 11th August, 2000 and signed on its behalf
by

DEEPAK JAIN VIJAY PARAB
Director Director

Note 2000 1999
US$ US$

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before tax (7,366,024) (725,137)
Adjustments for:

Depreciation 41,756 5,285
Interest income (6,919) (5,915)

Operating cash flow before
working capital change (7,331,187) (725,767)

Change in operating assets
and liabilities

Accounts receivable (2,002,008) (524,763)
Inventories (583,059) —
Other assets (911,144) (2,689)
Accounts payable 1,501,401 (43,672)
Related company payables 1,457,162 118,041

Cash used in operations (7,868,835) (1,178,850)

Income tax paid (3,544) —
Tax withheld by customers (81,810) (45,067)

Net cash used in
operating activities (7,954,189) (1,223,917)

Cash flows from
investing activities
Payments for property, plant
and equipment (1,818,478) (118,528)
Interest received 6,919 5,915
Net cash outflow from
investing activities (1,811,559) (112,613)

Cash flows from financing activities
Loans from related parties 10,080,000 1,568,702
Net cash inflow from
financing activities 10,080,000 1,568,702

Net increase in cash held 314,252 232,172
Cash at the beginning of the
financial year 281,048 48,876

Cash at the end of the
financial year 3 595,300 281,048

for the financial year ended 31 March, 2000

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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for the financial year ended 31 March, 2000

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These notes form an integral part of and should be r ead in conjunction
with the accompanying financial statements.

1. General

The Company is incorporated in the British V irgin Islands and the
financial statements ar e expr essed in United States dollars. The
financial statements of the Company have been pr epar ed in
accor dance with International Accounting Standar ds.

The principal activity of the company consists of br oadcasting of
television pr ogrammes for audiences in South Asia thr ough its
channels Music Asia, Alpha Marathi, Alpha Bangla, Alpha Punjabi,
Alpha Gujarathi, Zee English and Zee Movies.

The principal activity of the subsidiar y consist of pr ovision of
technical operation and administrative ser vices in the transmission
of br oadcast pr ogrammes via satellite.

Ther e have been no significant changes in the natur e of these
activities since the end of the last financial year .

2. Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of accounting

The financial statements ar e pr epar ed in accor dance with
the historical cost convention.

(b) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiar y made up to
the end of the financial year . The r esults of subsidiaries
acquir ed or disposed of during the financial year ar e included
in or excluded fr om the consolidated pr ofit and loss account
from the date of their acquisition or disposal. Inter company
balances and transactions and r esulting unr ealised pr ofits
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

(c) Foreign currencies

Transactions in for eign curr encies during the financial year
are converted to United States dollars at the rates of exchange
prevailing on the transaction dates. For eign curr ency
monetar y assets and liabilities ar e translated into United States
dollars at the rates of exchange pr evailing at the balance
sheet date or at contracted rates wher e they ar e cover ed by
for ward exchange contracts. Exchange differ ences arising
are taken to the pr ofit and loss accounts.

For the purpose of consolidation of the subsidiar y, whose
operations ar e integral to those of the Company , all monetar y
assets and liabilities ar e translated into United States dollars
at the exchange rates pr evailing at the balance sheet date,
all non-monetar y assets and liabilities ar e recorded at the
exchange rates when the r elevant transactions occurr ed,
and the r esults ar e translated using average monthly
exchange rates. The exchange differ ences arising ar e taken
to the consolidated pr ofit and loss account.

(d) Bad and doubtful debts

Bad debts ar e written off and specific pr ovisions ar e made
for those debts consider ed to be doubtful. General pr ovisions
are made on the balance of trade debtors to cover
unexpected losses which have not been specifically identified.

(e) Inventories

Inventories ar e stated at the lower of cost and net r ealisable
value. Cost is primarily determined on a first-in first-out basis
and includes all costs in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Net r ealisable value is the
price at which the inventories can be r ealised in the normal

course of business after allowing for the costs of r ealisation
and, wher e appr opriate, the cost of conversion fr om their
existing state to a finished condition.

Provision is made wher e necessar y for obsolete, slow-moving
and defective inventories.

( f ) Investments

Quoted and unquoted investments, including the investment
in subsidiaries and associates that ar e intended to be held
for the long term ar e stated in the financial statements at
cost less pr ovision. This pr ovision is made in r ecognition of
a diminution in the value of the investments which is other
than temporar y, determined on an individual investment
basis. Cost is determined on the weighted average method.

Profits or losses on disposal of investments ar e taken to the
profit and loss accounts.

(g) Property, plant and equipment

Pr operty , plant and equipment is stated at cost less
accumulated depr eciation.

(h) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depr eciation is calculated on a straight line basis to write off
the cost of pr operty , plant and equipment over their expected
useful lives. The estimated useful lives ar e as follows:

Transmission equipment 6.5 years
Computer equipment 5 years
Furnitur e and fittings 6.5 years

( i ) Revenue recognition and turnover

Turnover r epresents the invoiced value of goods and ser vices
net of sales taxes and discounts.

Revenue fr om the r endering of ser vices is r ecognised when
the ser vice is r ender ed.

Inter est income is accrued on a day to day basis.

( j ) Taxation

Tax expense is determined on the basis of tax effect
accounting using the liability method. Deferr ed taxation is
provided on significant timing differ ences arising fr om the
differ ent tr eatments in accounting and taxation of r elevant
items except wher e it can be demonstrated with r easonable
probability that the tax deferral will continue for the
foreseeable futur e.

In accounting for timing differ ences, deferr ed tax assets ar e
not r ecognised unless ther e is r easonable expectation of
their r ealisation.

3. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents included in the cashflow statement
comprise of the following balance sheet amounts:

The Group

2000 1999
US$ US$

Cash at bank 595,300 281,048

4. Current assets – Receivables
The Group The Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
US$ US$ US$ US$

Trade debtors 2,818,646 701,638 2,818,646 701,638
Less: Provision
for doubtful debts (115,000) —  (115,000) —

2,703,646 701,638 2,703,646 701,638



139

EXPAND  FAST  HOLDINGS  LIMITED

5. Current assets – Other
The Group The Company

2000 1999 2000 1999

Deposits 135,790 6,910 134,857 6,531
Advances 125,625 — 120,000 —
Prepayments
and other
receivables 658,749 2,110 609,000 —

920,164 9,020 863,857 6,531

6. Non-current assets – Investments

Investment in Equity holdings  Cost of investment
subsidiary Country
Name of subsidiary/ Principal of 2000 1999 2000 1999
Country of incorporation activities business % % US$ US$

Expand Fast Holdings Provision of Singapore 100 100 62,500 1
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. services in the

transmission
of broadcast
programmes via
satellite

7. Non-current assets – Property, plant and equipment

Transmission Computer Furniture
equipment equipment and fittings Total

US$ US$ US$ US$

The Group

Cost
At 1 April, 1999 116,114 1,609 4,055 121,778
Additions, at cost 1,805,440 8,388 4,650 1,818,478

At 31 March, 2000 1,921,554  9,997 8,705 1,940,256

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April, 1999 4,660 107 1,006 5,773
Depreciation charge 40,511 508 737 41,756

At 31 March, 2000 45,171 615 1,743 47,529

Net book value
At 31 March, 2000 1,876,383 9,382 6,962 1,892,727

Net book value
At 31 March, 1999 111,454 1,502 3,049 116,005

Furniture and
fittings Total

US$ US$
The Company

Cost
At 1 April, 1999 3,250 3,250
Additions, at cost — —

At 31 March, 2000 3,250 3,250

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April, 1999 976 976
Depreciation charge 488 488

At 31 March, 2000 1464 1464

Net book value
At 31 March, 2000 1,786 1,786

Net book value
At 31 March, 1999 2,274 2,274

8. Current liabilities – Accounts payable

The Group The Company

2000 1999 2000 1999

Trade creditors 633,870 — 633,870 —
Accrued operating
expenses 877,614 10,083 792,772 3,997

1,511,484 10,083 1,426,642 3,997

9. Loan from holding company – (non-trade)

The loan from the holding company is unsecured, interest-free
and has no fixed terms of repayment.

10. Due to related companies (non-trade)

The non-trade balances with related companies are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

11. Share capital of Expand Fast Holdings Ltd

Issued and
Authorised fully paid

2000 1999 2000 1999
US$ US$ US$ US$

Ordinary shares of
US$1 each 50,000 50,000 2 2

12. Revenue

The Group The Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
US$ US$ US$ US$

Services rendered 3,405,005 2,162,465 3,405,005 2,162,465

13. Operating loss
before tax

Operating loss before
tax is arrived at after:

Charging:
Auditors’ remuneration
– Auditors of the

Company 10,692 5,500 6,000 2,000
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
– Transmission

equipment 40,511 4,660 — —
– Computer

equipment 508 107 — —
– Furniture and

fittings 737 518 488 488
Directors’ remuneration 35,700 29,272 — 29,272
Net foreign
exchange loss — — 10,677 2,725
Provision for doubtful
trade debts 115,000 — 115,000 —

And crediting:
Interest income 6,919 5,915 6,919 5,915
Net foreign
exchange gain 34,645 12,190 — —

14. Tax

(a) The tax charges are calculated based on the adjusted revenue for
the year which is subjected to India income tax at an effective rate
of 3.36%.

The Central Board of Direct Taxes (“CBDT”) in India has issud a
circular (No. 742 dated 2nd May, 1996) providing for the basis of
taxation of foreign telecasting companies. The circular deems 10%
of the gross receipts derived from India by a foreign telecasting
company (excluding the commissions charged by the advertising
agents and the Indian agent of the foreign company) as liable to
tax in India.

(b) Movements in provision for current tax

The Group The Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
US$ US$ US$ US$

Balance at the
beginning of the
financial year 30,364 7,748 26,821 7,748
Income tax paid (3,544) — — —
Current financial
year’s tax expense
on deemed profit 130,819 67,683 118,685 64,140
Tax withheld by
customers (81,810) (45,067) (81,810) (45,067)
Balance at the
end of the
financial year 75,829 30,364 63,696 26,821
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15. Immediate and ultimate holding corporations

The Company’ s immediate and ultimate holding corporation is
Zee Multimedia W orldwide Ltd, incorporated in the British V irgin
Islands. The company’ s ultimate holding corporation is Zee T elefilms
Limited, incorporated in India.

16. Related party transactions

The following r elated party transactions took place between the
Group and r elated parties during the financial year on terms agr eed
by the parties concerned:

The Group and Company

2000 1999
US$ US$

Sales of music pr ogrammes to
a related company 96,412 59,152

Purchase of pr ogrammes fr om
a related company 1,315,563 —

Purchase of pr ogrammes and
commissions paid/
payable to a r elated company 839,834 337,376

17. Commitments for expenditure

Lease commitments

Commitments in r elation to non-cancellable operating leases
contracted for at the r eporting date but not r ecognised as liabilities,
are payable as follows:

The Group The Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
US$ US$ US$ US$

Not later than
one financial year 39,994 15,804 — —

Later than one
financial year but
not later than five
financial years 6,666 2,510 — —

46,660 18,314 — —

18. Comparatives

Certain prior year comparatives have been r estated to comply
with the curr ent year’ s pr esentation.
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to the Members of EXPAND FAST HOLDINGS
(SINGAPORE) PTE LTD.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CURRENT ASSETS

Befor e the pr ofit and loss account and the balance sheet wer e made
out, the dir ectors of the company took r easonable steps to ascertain
that any curr ent assets of the company which wer e unlikely to r ealise
their book values in the or dinar y course of business had been written
down to their estimated r ealisable values or that adequate pr ovision
was made for the diminution in the value of such curr ent assets.

At the date of this r eport, the dir ectors of the company ar e not awar e
of any cir cumstances which would r ender the values attributed to curr ent
assets in the accounts of the company misleading.

CHARGES ON ASSETS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the date of this r eport, no char ge on the assets of the company has
arisen since the end of the financial year which secur es the liabilities of
any other person and no contingent liability has arisen since the end
of the financial year .

ABILITY TO MEET OBLIGATIONS

No contingent or other liability has become enfor ceable or is likely to
become enfor ceable within the period of twelve months after the end
of the financial year which, in the opinion of the dir ectors, will or may
substantially affect the ability of the company to meet their obligations
as and when they fall due.

OTHER CIRCUMSTANCES AFFECTING THE ACCOUNTS

At the date of this r eport, the dir ectors ar e not awar e of any cir cumstances
not other wise dealt with in this r eport or the accounts which would
render any amount stated in the accounts of the company misleading.

UNUSUAL ITEMS

In the opinion of the dir ectors, no item, transaction or event of a
material and unusual natur e has arisen in the inter val between the end
of the financial year and the date of this r eport which would affect
substantially the r esults of the operations of the company for the financial
year in which this r eport is made.

DIRECTORS’ CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

Since the end of the financial year , no dir ector of the company has
received or has become entitled to r eceive a benefit by r eason of a
contract made by the company or a r elated corporation with the dir ector,
or with a firm of which he is a member , or with a company in which
he has a substantial financial inter est.

SHARE OPTIONS

During the financial year , no option to take up unissued shar es of the
company was granted during the financial year and no shar es wer e
issued by virtue of the exer cise of options to take up unissued shar es
of the company whether granted befor e or during the financial year .
Ther e wer e no unissued shar es of the company under option as at the
end of the financial year .

AUDITORS

Our auditors, Price W aterhouse, have mer ged their practice with Coopers
& Lybrand and now practice in the name of PricewaterhouseCoopers.
PricewaterhouseCoopers, being eligible, have expr essed their willingness
to accept r e-appointment at the Annual General Meeting.

VIJAY PARAB DEEPAK JAIN
Director Director

Singapor e, 11th August, 2000

The dir ectors pr esent their r eport to the members together with the
audited accounts of the company for the financial year ended 31 Mar ch,
2000.

DIRECTORS

The dir ectors in office at the date of this r eport ar e:
Vijay Parab
Deepak Jain

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the company consist of the pr ovision of technical
operation and administrative ser vices in the transmission of br oadcast
programmes via satellite.

Ther e have been no significant changes in the natur e of these activities
since the end of the last financial period.

RESULTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR

S$

Profit after taxation 58,469

Unappr opriated pr ofit br ought for ward 16,964

Unappr opriated pr ofit carried for ward 75,433

TRANSFERS TO OR FROM RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

Details of movements in r eser ves ar e shown in Note 6 to the accounts.

Ther e were no material transfers to or fr om pr ovisions during the financial
year except for normal amounts set aside for such items as depr eciation
of non-curr ent assets and pr ovision for income tax as shown in the
accounts.

ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

During the financial year , the company issued 99,998 or dinar y shar es
of S$1 each at par for cash for working capital purposes.

The company did not issue any debentur es during the financial year .

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the
company a party to any arrangement whose object is to enable the
directors of the company to acquir e benefits by means of the acquisition
of shar es or debentur es of the company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Accor ding to the r egister of dir ectors shar eholdings, no person who
was a dir ector of the company at the end of the financial year had an
inter est in any shar e or debentur es of the company or r elated
corporations either at the beginning or end of the financial year .

DIVIDENDS

No dividends have been paid, declar ed or r ecommended since the end
of the last financial period.

BAD AND DOUBTFUL DEBTS

Befor e the pr ofit and loss account and the balance sheet wer e made
out, the dir ectors of the company took r easonable steps to ascertain
that pr oper action had been taken in r elation to the writing off of bad
debts and the making of pr ovision for doubtful debts and have satisfied
themselves that ther e are no known bad debts and that wher e necessar y
adequate pr ovision had been made for doubtful debts.

At the date of this r eport, the dir ectors ar e not awar e of any cir cumstances
which would r ender any amounts written off or pr ovided for bad and
doubtful debts in the accounts of the company inadequate to any
substantial extent.
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STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS

In the opinion of the dir ectors, the accompanying balance sheet and
profit and loss account together with the notes ther eto ar e drawn up
so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company
at 31 Mar ch, 2000 and of the r esults of the business of the company
for the year then ended, and at the date of this statement ther e are
reasonable gr ounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its

debts as and when they fall due.

VIJAY PARAB DEEPAK JAIN
Director Director

Singapor e, 11th August, 2000

We have audited the financial statements of Expand Fast Holdings
(Singapor e) Pte Ltd set out on pages 143 to 144, comprising the balance
sheet as at 31 Mar ch, 2000 and the pr ofit and loss account for the year
ended 31 Mar ch, 2000, and notes ther eto. These financial statements
are the r esponsibility of the company’ s dir ectors. Our r esponsibility is to
expr ess an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accor dance with Singapor e Standar ds on
Auditing. Those Standar ds requir e that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain r easonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are fr ee of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosur es in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by the dir ectors, as well
as evaluating the overall financial statement pr esentation. W e believe
that our audit pr ovides a r easonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion:

(a) the financial statements ar e pr operly drawn up in accor dance
with the pr ovisions of the Singapor e Companies Act (“Act”) and

to the Members of EXPAND FAST HOLDINGS
(SINGAPORE) PTE LTD.

AUDITORS’ REPORT

Singapor e Statements of Accounting Standar d and so as to give
a true and fair view of:

(i) the state of affairs of the company as at 31 Mar ch 2000 and
of the r esults of the company for the year then ended; and

(ii) the other matters r equir ed by section 201 of the Act to be
dealt with in the financial statements;

(b) the accounting and other r ecords, and the r egisters r equir ed by
the Act to be kept by the company have been pr operly kept in
accordance with the pr ovisions of the Act.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Singapore
Certified Public Accountants

Singapor e, 11th August, 2000
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at 31 March, 2000

BALANCE SHEET

2000 1999
Note S$ S$

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 79,057 22,925

After char ging/(cr editing)
the following :

Auditors’ remuneration 4,000 3,500

Depreciation of fixed assets 3 70,028 8,070

Directors’ remuneration 57,120 46,835

Exchange gain (net) (76,907) (24,057)

Preliminary expenses — 10,493

TAXATION 20,588 5,961

PROFIT AFTER TAXATION 58,469 16,964

UNAPPROPRIATED PROFIT

BROUGHT FORWARD 16,964 —

UNAPPROPRIATED PROFIT
CARRIED FORWARD 75,433 16,964

for the year ended 31 March, 2000

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

2000 1999
Note S$ S$

FIXED ASSETS 3 3,249,582 196,697

CURRENT ASSETS

Bank balance 2,009 50,804

Prepayments, deposits and
other debtors 4 96,764 4,305

98,773 55,109

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued operating expenses 145,798 10,526
Provision for taxation 20,851 6,128

166,649 16,654

NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/
ASSETS (67,876) 38,455

NON-CURRENT LIABILITY

Amount due to holding
company (trade) 5 2,997,753 217,711

NET ASSETS 183,953 17,441

SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised :

100,000 or dinar y shar es
of S$1 each 100,000 100,000

Issued and fully paid :

100,000 (1999: 2) or dinar y
shar es of S$1 each 100,000 2

RESERVES

Foreign curr ency translation
adjustment 6 8,520 475

Revenue r eser ves 75,433 16,964

183,953 17,441

The notes on page 144 form an integral part of the accounts.

Appr oved by the Boar d on 11th August, 2000 and signed on its behalf
by

VIJAY PARAB DEEPAK JAIN
Director Director
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NOTES

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction
with the accompanying accounts.

1. GENERAL
The accounts of the company are expressed in Singapore dollars.
The principal activities of the company consist of provision of
technical operation and administrative services in the transmission
of broadcast programmes via satellite.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of accounting

The accounts are prepared under the historical cost
convention.

(b) Turnover and revenue recognition
Turnover represents the invoiced value of management
services provided to its holding company.

Revenue from the rendering of management services is
recognised on an accrual basis.

(c) Foreign currencies
The functional currency of the company is the United States
dollar.

Transactions in foreign currencies other than United States
dollars are translated into United States dollars at the
exchange rates prevailing at the transaction dates. At each
balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are
denominated in currencies other than United States dollars
are translated into United States dollars at exchange rates
prevailing at the balance sheet date. All exchange differences
are taken to the profit and loss account.

For the purposes of the preparation of the statutory accounts
of the company which are expressed in Singapore dollars at
each balance sheet date, accounts expressed in United States
dollars in accordance with the policy set out above are
translated into Singapore dollars on the following basis:

Share capital - historical exchange rate

All other balance sheet items - exchange rate prevailing
at the balance sheet date

Profit and loss items - average rate for the year

Exchange differences arising from the translation of opening
shareholders’ equity, proceeds from the issue of shares,
dividends paid during the year and profit and loss items at
the year-end rate are taken to a foreign currency translation
adjustment reserve.

(d) Preliminary expenses
Preliminary expenses comprise legal and professional fees
incurred in the formation of the company, and have been
fully written off to the profit and loss account in the year of
incorporation.

(e) Fixed assets and depreciation
Fixed assets are stated at cost, translated using historical
exchange rates, less depreciation which is calculated on the
straight-line method to write down the cost of the assets
over their estimated useful lives at the following rates :

Transmission equipment 6+1/
2
 years

Computer equipment 5 years

Fixtures and fittings 6+1/2 years

(f) Taxation
Current taxation is provided based on the tax payable on
the income for the year that is chargeable to tax.

Deferred taxation is provided using the liability method for
all material timing differences in the recognition of certain
income and expenses for accounting and for taxation
purposes. Deferred taxation benefits are recognised only to
the extent of any deferred tax liability or where such benefits
are expected to be realisable in the near future.

3. FIXED ASSETS
Transmission Computer Fixtures and

equipment equipment fittings Total
S$ S$ S$ S$

2000

Net book value
at 1 April, 1999 192,760 2,597 1,340 196,697
Additions 3,102,649 14,415 7,991 3,125,055
Depreciation charge (68,743) (862) (423) (70,028)
Translation adjustment (2,101) (27) (14) (2,142)

Net book value
at 31 March, 2000 3,224,565 16,123 8,894 3,249,582

Cost 3,303,468 17,198 9,383 3,330,049
Accumulated depreciation (78,903) (1,075) (489) (80,467)

3,224,565 16,123 8,894 3,249,582

1999

Additions 200,819 2,783 1,392 204,994

Depreciation charge (7,840) (180) (50) (8,070)

Translation adjustment (219) (6) (2) (227)

Net book value
at 31 March, 2000 192,760 2,597 1,340 196,697

Cost 200,819 2,783 1,392 204,994
Accumulated depreciation (8,059) (186) (52) (8,297)

192,760 2,597 1,340 196,697

4. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER DEBTORS

2000 1999
S$ S$

Prepayments — 3,926
Deposits 933 379
Indirect tax recoverable 95,831 —

96,764 4,305

5. HOLDING AND ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The holding company is Expand Fast Holdings Limited and the
ultimate holding company is Zee Multimedia Worldwide Ltd. Both
companies are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The amount due to the holding company is unsecured, interest
free and will not be repayable within the next 12 months.

6. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENT

2000 1999
S$ S$

Balance at 1 April, 1999 475 —
Translation adjustment for the year 8,045 475

Balance at 31 March, 2000 8,520 475

7. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in
the accounts, the following significant transaction between the
company and its holding company took place during the year at
terms agreed between the two parties:

2000 1999
S$ S$

Charges for services rendered
to the holding company 1,662,982 481,438

8. OPERATING COMMITMENTS

Within one year 24,996 —
Within 2 to 5 years 4,166 —

TO THE ACCOUNTS
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to the Members of ZEE TELEFILMS
(INTERNATIONAL) LIMITED

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements
of the Company for the year ended 31 March, 2000.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activity of the Company is marketing advertisements within
the Middle East region for Zee TV channels.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Company’s profits for the financial year amounted to
AED 4,206,760 (1999 – AED 4,840,022).

No dividends have been paid, declared or recommended since the end
of the last financial period.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are required to prepare financial statements for each
financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and
of the profit or loss of the Company. In preparing those financial
statements, the directors are required to :

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed,
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements, and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless
it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in
business.

The directors confirm that they have complied with the above
requirements in preparing the financial statements and the financial
statements are giving a true and fair view of the Company.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the Company. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets
of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

AUDITORS

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, Dubai, have indicated their
willingness to continue in office and a resolution concerning their
re-appointment will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

By Order of the Board

SUNIL ROHRA
16 May, 2000

the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit

provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,

the financial position of the Company as at 31st March, 2000 and the

results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in

accordance with International Accounting Standards.

Price Waterhouse, (Dubai)

PAUL W. BLOXIDGE

Practising Auditors’ Register No. 253

16 May, 2000

We have audited the accompanying Balance Sheet of Zee Telefilms

(International) Limited (“the Company”) as at 31st March, 2000 and the

related statements of Income and Cash Flows for the year then ended.

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s

management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial

statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on

Auditing. Those Standards require that we plan and perform the audit to

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are

free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles

used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

to the Shareholder of ZEE TELEFILMS
(INTERNATIONAL) LIMITED
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BALANCE SHEET

at 31st March, 2000

The accounting policies on page 147 and the notes on page 148 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Notes 2000 1999
AED AED

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property and equipment 2 77,396 70,375

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 3 348,338 183,156
Due from related parties 4 11,462,471 2,892,812
Cash and bank balances 5 2,714,725 2,184,642

14,525,534 5,260,610

Total assets 14,602,930 5,330,985

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves

Share capital 6 7 7
Retained earnings 9,046,782 4,840,022

9,046,789 4,840,029

Non-current liabilities

Provision for employees’ end
of service benefits 7 136,531 103,425

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 8 443,508 387,531
Due to related parties 4 4,976,102 —

5,419,610 387,531

Total equity and liabilities 14,602,930 5,330,985

These financial statements were approved and signed by the Director
on 16 May, 2000.

SUNIL K. ROHRA

Director

for year ended 31st March, 2000

10 months
Year ended period ended
31st March, 31st March,

2000 1999
Notes AED AED

Commission income 9 5,380,626 5,797,642

Expenses
General and administration 10 (1,178,369) (969,558)

Operating profit 4,202,257 4,828,084
Other operating income 4,503 11,938

Profit for the year/period 4,206,760 4,840,022

STATEMENT OF INCOME

for year ended 31st March, 2000

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

No. of Share Retained
Notes shares capital earnings Total

AED AED AED

Issue of share capital 6 2 7 — 7

Profit for the period — — 4,840,022 4,840,022

At 1st April, 1999 2 7 4,840,022 4,840,029

Profit for the year — — 4,206,760 4,206,760

At 31st March, 2000 2 7 9,046,782 9,046,789
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10 months
Year ended period ended
31st March, 31st March,

2000  1999
Notes AED AED

Operating activities
Profit for the year/period 4,206,760 4,840,022

Adjustments for :
Depreciation 2 34,129 24,850
Provision for employees’ end
of service benefits
adjusted for amounts
transferred from a
related party 7 33,106 39,002

Operating cash flow before
transfer of provisions relating
to end of service benefits from
a related party and changes
in working capital 4,273,995 4,903,874

Provision for employees’ end of
service benefits transferred
from a related party — 64,423

Changes in working capital :

Trade and other receivables 3 (165,182) (183,156)
Due from related parties 4 (8,569,659) (2,892,812)
Due to related parties 4 4,976,102 —
Trade and other payables 8 55,977 387,531

Net cash provided by
operating activities 571,233 2,279,860

Investing activities
Payment for property
and equipment 2 (41,150) (95,225)

Cash used in investing activities (41,150) (95,225)

Financing activities
Issue of share capital 6 — 7

Cash provided by
financing activity — 7

Net increase in cash
and cash equivalents 530,083 2,184,642

Cash and cash equivalents,
beginning of the year/period 2,184,642 —

Cash and cash equivalents,
end of the year/period 5 2,714,725 2,184,642

The accounting policies on this page and the notes on page 148 form an integral part of these financial statements.

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
financial statements are as follows :

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with and
comply with International Accounting Standards. The financial statements
have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is computed, using the straight line method, at rates
calculated to reduce the cost of assets to their estimated residual values
over their expected useful lives, as follows :

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 3-4 years
Computer equipment 4 years

Repairs and renewals are charged to the income statement when the
expenditure is incurred.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are carried at anticipated realisable value. A specific
provision is made for doubtful receivables based on a review of all
outstanding amounts at the year end. Bad debts are written off during
the year in which they are identified.

Provision for staff benefits

A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and
airfares as a result of services rendered by the employees up to the
balance sheet date. Provision is made for the full amount of end of
service benefits due to employees, in accordance with provisions which
are not less than those prescribed by Sharjah Airport International Free
Zone regulations, for their periods of service up to the balance sheet
date. The provision relating to annual leave and airfares is disclosed as
a current liability, while that relating to end of service benefits is disclosed
as a non-current liability.

Commission income

Commission income represents amounts in respect of advertisements
placed with group companies and is accounted for on an accruals
basis.

Foreign currencies

Since the entire business of the Company is conducted through its
branch in the United Arab Emirates, the functional currency used by
the Company in maintaining its accounting records is UAE Dirhams.
Transactions during the year in foreign currencies are translated into
UAE Dirhams at rates approximating those ruling at the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
at the balance sheet date are translated into UAE Dirhams at exchange
rates approximating those ruling at that date. All gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of income.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand, current accounts with banks and
bank deposits with original maturities of three months or less.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

for the year ended 31st March, 2000

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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5. Cash and bank balances

Bank balances are maintained in current accounts with a local
branch of a reputable international bank.

2000 1999
AED AED

6. Share capital

Authorised :
50,000 ordinary shares
of US$1 each 183,500 183,500

Issued and fully paid :
2 ordinary shares of US$1 each 7 7

7 Provision for employees’
end of service benefits
At the beginning of the
year/period 103,425 —
Amount transferred from
a related party — 64,423
Charge for the year/period 33,106 39,002

At the end of the year 136,531 103,425

8. Trade and other payables
Trade payables 6,004 6,004
Provision for staff benefits 12,225 22,187
Advances from customers 233,764 215,282
Other payables and accruals 191,515 144,058

443,508 387,531

9. Commission income

In accordance with the terms of an agreement with Asia Today
Limited, Hong Kong, commission income includes AED 3,273,621
(1999 : AED 3,755,614) in relation to direct sales made by a
related party in respect of international advertisements sourced
outside of India and aired on Zee TV channels.

10 months
Year ended period ended
31st March, 31st March,

2000 1999

10. General and administration expenses
Salaries and related costs 715,365 619,310
Rents 65,000 54,167
Telephone 48,979 54,590
Legal expenses 3,870 64,366
Depreciation 34,129 24,850
Others 311,026 152,275

1,178,369 969,558

2000 1999
AED AED

11. Staff costs
Salaries and wages 516,475 434,371
Benefits 78,890 84,939
Sales incentive 120,000 100,000

715,365 619,310

Number of employees at 31st March 8 7

12. Commitments
The Company’s branch has entred into a 15 year lease agreement
for its office premises with the Government of Sharjah. The lease
commenced from 1st June, 1998 with an annual rent of AED
65,000. The lease agreement can be terminated by either party
by giving three months notice.

13. Fair values
The fair values of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities
approximate their net book amounts as reflected in these financial
statements.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31st March, 2000

1. Legal status and activities

Zee Telefilms (International) Limited (“the Company”) was
incorporated on 22 April, 1998 in British Virgin Islands. The address
of its registered office is Craigmuir Chambers, PO Box 71, Road
Town, Tortola, British Virgin Islands. The entire business of the
Company is conducted through its branch in Sharjah Airport
International Free Zone, which commenced operations from 1st
June, 1998 under trade licence number 03-03-00393 issued by
the Government of Sharjah.

The Company is wholly owned by Zee Multimedia Worldwide
Limited, a Company registered in Mauritius. The ultimate holding
Company is Zee Multimedia Worldwide Limited, a Company
registered in British Vergin Islands.

The principal activity of the Company is marketing advertisements
within the Middle East region for Zee TV channels. Commission
income is earned from a related party in respect of the Company’s
role as an agent for Asia Today Limited in connection with sale of
advertising time on Zee TV channels.

2. Property and equipment

Furniture,
fixtures

and office Computer
equipment equipment Total

AED AED AED

Cost
At 1st April, 1999 72,920 22,305 95,225
Additions 11,650 29,500 41,150

At 31st March, 2000 84,570 51,805 136,375

Depreciation
At 1st April, 1999 20,203 4,647 24,850
Charge for the year 26,933 7,196 34,129

At 31st March, 2000 47,136 11,843 58,979

Net book amount
At 31st March, 2000 37,434 39,962 77,396

At 31st March, 1999 52,717 17,658 70,375

3. Trade and other receivables
2000 1999
AED AED

Trade receivables 73,044 131,036
Other receivables and prepayments 275,294 52,120

348,338 183,156

The Company’s customers are mainly located in the Middle
East region. At 31st March, 2000, one customer comprised 89%
(1999 : 89%) of the total trade receivable outstanding at that
date. This debt was settled subsequent to the year end.

4. Due from/(to) related parties

Related parties are entities within the Zee TV Group and businesses
controlled, directly or indirectly, by the shareholders of the Company,
together with any businesses over which the shareholders exercise
significant management influence.

2000 1999
AED AED

Due from related parties :
Zee Telefilms Arabia LLC, Sharjah 2,469,220 369,085
Expand Fast Holdings, Hong Kong 8,993,251 2,087,551
Asia Today Limited, Hong Kong — 436,176

11,462,471 2,892,812

Due to related parties :
Zee TV UK 44,739 —
Asia Today Limited, Hong Kong 4,931,363 —

4,976,102 —
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The directors submit their report and the audited financial statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2000.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for
each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that year.
In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed,
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless
it is inappropriate to presume that the company will continue in
business.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the company and to enable them to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Companies Act, 1985. The directors are
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.

Principal Activity

The principal activity of the company which has remained unchanged
during the financial year was that of provision of a satellite and cable
subscriber television service in the UK and Europe catering mainly for
the Asian community.

During the year the company began broadcasting two new channels,
Alpha Bangla and Music Asia. The company also began broadcasting in
digital format. Costs associated with digitalisation totalled £1,174,150
during the year and includes the initial cost of broadcasting Alpha
Bangla and Music Asia, which are broadcast only via digital format.

Business review and future developments

The directors are pleased with the result for the year and expect the
company to continue to improve profitability in the foreseeable future. The
company as continued with its strategy of converting to digital broadcasting
of its channels, whilst maintaining its subscriber base and plans to discontinue
analogue transmission during the coming financial year.

to the Members of ASIA T.V. LIMITED
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Profit and Dividends

The loss of the company for the year after taxation amounted to
£421,229 (1999 profit: £326,500).

In view of the company’s current and future requirements and the
maintenance and development of the company’s business the directors
do not recommend the payment of a dividend.

Directors and their interests

The directors who have served during the year were as follows:

A.M. Kurien
Dr J. Tydeman
R. Isaac
R. Santwan
S.K. Rohra
S. Agrawal (Date of appointment 30.04.1999)

The following directors’ interests in shares of the ultimate parent
undertaking, Zee Telefilms Limited were as follows:

1 April 1999 31 March 2000
No. No.

A.M. Kurien 2,575,000 2,575,000
J Santwan 1,000 1,000

No other directors had any interests in the share capital of any other
group company.

Post balance sheet events

On 9 August, 2000 the company obtained a bank loan for £5.6 million
for the purpose of financing further digital marketing and development
costs.

Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers have indicated their willingness to continue in
office as auditors, and a resolution proposing their reappointment will
be put to the Annual General Meeting.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

SANJAY AGRAWAL
Secretary

10 August, 2000

Registered Office :35 St. Thomas Street
London SE1 9SN
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We have audited the financial statements on pages 153 to 159.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report. As
described on page 151, this includes responsibility for preparing the
financial statements, in accordance with applicable United Kingdom
accounting standards. Our responsibilities, as independent auditors,
are established in the United Kingdom by statute, the Auditing Practices
Board and our profession’s ethical guidance.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements
give a true and fair view and are properly prepared in accordance with
the United Kingdom Companies Act. We also report to you if, in our
opinion, the directors’ report is not consistent with the financial
statements, if the company has not kept proper accounting records, if
we have not received all the information and explanations we require
for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding directors’
remuneration and transactions is not disclosed.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report and
consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any
apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial
statements.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standards issued
by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a
test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant
estimates and judgements made by the directors in the preparation of
the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to the company’s circumstances, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information
and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide
us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also
evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in
the financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the company and the group at 31 March, 2000 and
of the loss and cash flows of the group for the year then ended and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
1985.

PricewaterhouseCoopers 1 Embankment Place
Chartered Accountants and London, WC2N 6RH
Registered Auditors

10 August, 2000

AUDITORS’ REPORT

to the Members of ASIA T.V. LIMITED
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Notes 2000 1999
£ £

Turnover 3 15,569,843 15,312,972

Cost of sales (10,977,415) (10,679,706)

Gross profit 4,592,428 4,633,266

Distribution costs (983,922) (769,504)

Administrative expenses (4,065,095) (3,036,252)

Operating profit before

digitalisation costs 717,561 827,510

Digitalisation costs 2 (1,174,150) —

Operating (loss)/profit 4 (456,589) 827,510

Interest receivable and

similar income 39,428 47,746

Interest payable and similar

charges – ordinary 5 (4,068) (1,982)

– exceptional 5 — (534,684)

(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities

before taxation (421,229) 338,590

Tax on (loss)/profit on

ordinary activities 7 — (12,090)

Retained (loss)/profit for the
financial year 17 £ (421,229) £ 326,500

for the year ended 31st March, 2000
CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

There are no recognised gains or losses other than the loss for the
financial year.

Turnover and operating loss all derive from continuing operations.

Notes 2000 1999
£ £ £ £

Fixed assets
Tangible assets 8 253,563 223,662

Current assets
Programme and
film rights:

due within one year 10 582,380 583,107
due after more
than one year 10 901,371 536,964

Debtors
due within
one year 11 4,020,362 3,584,673
due after more
than one year 11 3,349,824 3,478,610

Cash at bank and
in hand 690,410 742,983

9,544,347 8,926,337

Creditors :
Amounts falling
due within one year 12 (5,834,188) (4,784,604)

Net current assets 3,710,159 4,141,733

Total assets less
current liabilities 3,963,722 4,365,395

Creditors
Amounts falling
due after more than
one year 12 (38,681) (19,125)

£ 3,925,041 £ 4,346,270

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 15 16,438,900 16,438,900
Profit and loss account 16 (12,513,859) (12,092,630)

Equity Shareholders’ Funds £ 3,925,041 £ 4,346,270

at 31st March, 2000
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Approved by the Board on 10 August, 2000 and signed on its behalf by

S. K. ROHRA
Director

The notes on pages 155 to 158 form part of these accounts.
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at 31st March, 2000
COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

Notes 2000 1999
£ £ £ £

Fixed assets
Tangible assets 8 253,563 223,662
Investments 9 2 2

253,565 223,664

Current assets
Programme and
film rights:

due within one year 10 582,380 583,107
due after more
than one year 10 901,371 536,964

Debtors
due within
one year 11 4,020,362 3,584,673
due after more
than one year 11 3,349,824 3,478,610

Cash at bank and
in hand 690,410 742,983

9,544,347 8,926,337

Creditors :
Amounts falling
due within one year 12 (5,834,188) (4,784,606)

Net current assets 3,710,159 4,141,731

Total assets less
current liabilities 3,963,722 4,365,395

Creditors
Amounts falling
due after more than
one year 12 (38,681) (19,125)

£ 3,925,041 £ 4,346,270

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 15 16,438,900 16,438,900
Profit and loss account 16 (12,513,859) (12,092,630)

Equity Shareholders’ Funds £ 3,925,041 £ 4,346,270

Approved by the Board on 10 August, 2000 and signed on its behalf by

S. K. ROHRA
Director

Notes 2000 1999
£ £ £ £

Net cash inflow from

operating activities 18 10,076 482,311

Returns on investments

and servicing of finance

Interest received 39,428 47,746

Interest element of

finance lease

rental payments (4,068) (1,982)

35,360 45,763

Taxation

Corporation Tax paid

during year (13,310) (12,673)

Capital expenditure

Payments to acquire

tangible fixed assets (57,588) (101,023)

Receipts from sale of

tangible fixed assets — 2,390

(57,588) (98,633)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow

before financing (25,462) 416,769

Financing

Capital element of finance

lease rental payments (27,111) (7,875)

— —

(Decrease)/increase in cash £ (52,573) £ 408,894

For the year ended 31st March, 2000
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

The notes on pages 155 to 158 form part of these accounts.
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for the year ended 31st March, 2000
CONSOLIDATED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Asia for the year totalled £1,174,148 and comprised:

£

Cost of sales (transmission and programming) 1,093,789

Distribution Cost 74,037

Administrative expenses 6,324

£ 1,174,150

These costs have been included in the respective totals of cost of
sales, administrative, and distribution expenses in the Profit and
Loss Account.

3. Turnover

The turnover derives from the principal activity of the company
which is that of providing satellite and cable television services in
the UK and Europe catering mainly for the Asian community.

4. Consolidated profit on ordinary activities before taxation

2000 1999
£ £

Operating (loss)/profit is stated
after charging/(crediting):
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 97,687 86,567
Loss on disposal of fixed assets — 15,509
Auditors’ remuneration in respect
of audit services 17,050 17,750
Exchange (gain)/loss — 4,450
Operating lease rentals:-

Land and buildings 108,290 62,250
Other assets 4,606,448 4,949,455

The auditors received £58,493 (1999: £47,829) in respect of non-
audit services.

5. Interest payable and similar charges

2000 1999
£ £

Finance charges on hire
purchase agreement 4,068 1,982
Exceptional
Finance Costs (aborted bond issue) — 534,684

6. Employees and directors

Staff costs during the year
amounted to:-

Wages and salaries 1,464,425 1,160,097

Social security costs 134,002 108,965

£ 1,598,427 £ 1,269,062

The average monthly number of
employees during the year was:- No. No.

Production 40 31
Sales 23 15
Administration 11 13

74 59

Aggregate directors’ emoluments
are analysed below: 2000 1999

£ £

Directors’ emoluments 88,093 59,005

As in prior years, the company does
not operate a pension scheme.

7. Taxation
Corporation tax on profit for the year — 13,310
Corporation tax on profit for
the prior year — (1,220)

— 12,090

1. Accounting policies

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
applicable accounting standards (UK Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles) and under the historical cost convention.

The following accounting policies have been used consistently in
dealing with items which are considered material in relation to
the financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The group financial statements include the financial statements of
the company and its wholly owned dormant subsidiary.

Income recognition

Turnover represents subscriptions earned for services rendered
during the period stated net of value added tax.

Tangible fixed assets

Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write off the cost,
less estimated residual value of each asset over the expected useful
life as follows :

Short leasehold land and buildings - Over the term of the lease
Plant and machinery - 33.3% on straight line basis
Furniture, fixtures and fittings - 20% on straight line basis
Motor vehicles - 25% on straight line basis

Programme and film rights

Programme and film rights purchased from third parties are charged
to the profit and loss account over the period of the licence with
the exception of premier films which are amortised at 80% on first
showing. News, current affairs, sports and other programmes
where only one showing is planned (whether purchased or
produced in-house) are charged directly to the profit and loss
account.

Leases

Assets held under finance leases or hire purchase agreements and
the related obligations are recorded in the balance sheet at the
fair value of the assets at the inception of the agreements. The
excess of the payments over the recorded obligations are treated
as finance charges which are amortised on a straight line basis
over the term of each agreement.

Rental costs under operating leases are charged to the profit and
loss account in equal annual amounts over the periods of the
leases.

Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is calculated on the liability method. It is provided
to the extent that it is considered, with reasonable probability, that
a liability will become payable within the foreseeable future.

Foreign currencies

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet
date. Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rates
ruling at the date of the transactions. All exchange differences are
taken to the profit and loss account.

Investments

Fixed asset investments are stated at cost, less any provision for
permanent diminution in value.

2. Digitalisation costs

During the year, the company commenced broadcasting in digital
format. The cost of transmitting and operating in digital format for
the company’s three channels, Zee TV, Alpha Bangla and Music
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8. Tangible fixed assets – group and company

Improvements Computer
to short and Furniture, Studios

leasehold office fittings Motor and
properties equipment & fixtures vehicles equipment Total

£ £ £ £ £ £

Cost
At 1st April, 1999 105,618 202,747 76,438 64,643 206,673 656,119
Additions at cost — 37,340 11,912 — 78,336 127,588
Disposals — — — — — —

At 31st March 2000 £ 105,618 £ 240,087 £ 88,350 £ 64,643 £ 285,009 £ 783,707

Depreciation
At 1st April, 1999 46,746 144,240 41,522 55,210 144,739 432,457
Charge for the year 7,544 34,363 12,366 5,562 37,852 97,687
Disposals — — — — — —

At 31st March, 2000 £ 54,290 £178,603 £ 53,888 £ 60,772 £ 182,591 £ 530,144

Net book amount
At 31st March, 2000 £ 51,328 £61,484 £ 34,462 £ 3,871 £ 102,418 £ 253,563

At 31st March, 1999 £ 58,872 £58,507 £ 34,916 £ 9,433 £ 61,934 £ 223,662

9. Fixed asset investments - company
Subsidiary

undertaking
£

Cost
At 31st March, 1999 and 31st March, 2000 £ 2

Details of the company’s investment in subsidiary undertaking is as
follows:-

Name of company Class Proportion Nature of
of share held business

LLTV Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant

10. Programme and film rights – group and company

2000 1999
£ £

Recoverable within one year 582,380 583,107
Recoverable after more than
one year 901,371 536,964

£ 1,483,751 £ 1,120,071

11. Debtors – group and company

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade debtors 1,768,457 1,811,606
Amounts owed by group
undertakings (Note 22) 1,966,475 1,121,452
Other debtors 182,281 194,863
Prepayments and accrued interest 103,149 456,752

4,020,362 3,584,673
Amounts falling due after
more than one year :
Long term loans to group
undertakings (Note 22) 3,349,824 3,478,610

£ 7,370,186 £ 7,063,283

2000 1999
£ £

12. Creditors : Amounts falling due
within one year - group
Trade creditors 1,327,103 453,254
Amounts owed to group
undertakings (Note 22) 1,655,298 856,044
Obligations under finance leases
and hire purchase contracts 36,833 13,500
Corporation Tax Payable — 13,310
Other taxation and social security costs 123,873 502,568
Accruals 941,878 541,695
Deferred income 1,749,203 2,404,233

£5,834,188 £ 4,784,604

Creditors: Amounts falling
due within one year - company

Trade creditors 1,327,103 453,254
Amounts owed to group
undertakings (Note 22) 1,655,300 856,046
Obligations under finance leases
and hire purchase contracts 36,833 13,500
Corporation Tax Payable — 13,310
Other taxation and social
security costs 123,873 502,568
Accruals 941,878 541,695
Deferred income 1,749,203 2,404,233

£ 5,834,190 £ 4,784,606

13. Creditors: Amounts falling due
after more than one year –
group and company

Obligations under finance leases
and hire purchase contracts 38,681 19,125

Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts are
secured on the related assets.
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14. Provision for liabilities and charges

No provision for deferred taxation arises because of losses carried
forward. The potential deferred tax asset, not recognised in the
accounts, at a tax rate of 30% (1999: 31%) is as follows:

2000 1999
£ £

Excess of capital allowances
over depreciation 3,098 8,349
Losses (3,511,690) (3,391,321)

£ (3,508,592) £ (3,382,972)

15. Share capital

Authorised:
25,000,000 ordinary shares
of £1 each £ 25,000,000 £ 25,000,000

Allotted, called up and fully paid :
16,438,900 ordinary shares
of £1 each £ 16,438,900 £ 16,438,900

16. Reserves and reconciliation of movement in consolidated
shareholders’ funds

Profit Total
Share and loss shareholders’

capital accounts funds
£ £ £

Opening shareholders’
funds 16,438,900 (12,092,630) 4,346,270

Retained profit for
the financial year — (421,229) (421,229)

Closing share-
holders’ funds £ 16,438,900 £ (12,513,859) £ 3,925,041

17. Holding company profit

Asia TV Limited has not presented its own profit and loss account,
as permitted by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985. The
company’s loss for the year ended 31 March, 2000 was £421,229
(1999: profit £326,500).

18. Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash flow from
operating activities

2000 1999
£ £

Operating (loss)/profit before
exceptional items (456,589) 827,510
Exceptional finance costs — (534,684)
Depreciation 97,687 86,576
Loss on sale of tangible fixed assets — 15,509
(Increase)/decrease in
programme film rights (363,680) (72)
(Increase)/decrease in debtors (306,903) (1,408,339)
Increase/(decrease) in creditors 1,039,561 1,495,811
Net cash inflow from
operating activities £ 10,076 £ 482,311

19. Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net
funds :

2000 1999
£ £

(Decrease)/increase in cash in the year (52,573) 408,894
Cash inflow from increase
in lease financing (42,889) (32,625)

Movement in net funds in the year (95,462) 376,269
Net funds at beginning of
financial year 710,358 334,089

Net funds at end of financial year £ 614,896 £ 710,358

20. Analysis of net funds
At Other At

1 April Cash flow non-cash 31 March
1999 charges 2000

£ £ £ £

Cash at bank
and in hand 742,983 (52,573) — 690,410
Finance leases (32,625) 27,111 (70,000) (75,514)

£ 710,358 £ (25,462) £ (70,000) £ 614,896

21. Leasing Commitments

At 31 March, 2000, the company had annual commitments under
non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

Land and
Buildings Other

2000 1999 2000 1999
£ £ £ £

Expiry date:
Between two
to five years — — 6,036,164 4,261,877
After five years 57,750 50,250 — —

£ 57,750 £ 50,250 £ 6,036,164 £ 4,261,877

22. Transactions with group undertakings

The company’s immediate parent company is Zee Multimedia
Worldwide Limited, a company incorporated in Mauritius, for which
copies of the accounts can be obtained from Sixth Floor, Cerne
House, Chaussee, Port Louis, Mauritius. The ultimate parent company
is Zee Telefilms Limited, a company incorporated in India. Zee
Telefilms Limited became the company’s ultimate parent company
on 30 September 1999 following the acquisition of the company’s
former ultimate parent company, Zee Multimedia Worldwide Limited.

Debtors

During December 1997, a £2,200,000 loan was provided to Zee
Multimedia Worldwide Limited (ZMW, BVI) under Sections 155 to
158 of the Companies Act 1985 for the acquisition of shares in
the company. The loan is interest-free and has no fixed repayment
terms; none was repaid before the balance sheet date. The shares
held by ZMW, BVI were transferred to Zee Multimedia Worldwide
Ltd, (Mauritius) on 30 December 1997. As between ZMW, BVI
and Zee Multimedia Worldwide Ltd, (Mauritius), Zee Multimedia
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Worldwide Ltd, (Mauritius) has assumed responsibility for the
repayment of the loan. However, ZMW, BVI still has the ultimate
responsibility to the company for the repayment of the loan. The
debtor is shown on the face of the balance sheet as due after
more than one year as receivable from Zee Multimedia Worldwide
Ltd, (Mauritius).

A balance of £1,149,824 was outstanding at 31 March 2000
(1999: £1,278,610) in respect of funding provided to a fellow
subsidiary, Asia TV (Africa) Limited, in order to launch a Zee TV
Service in Africa. The loan has no fixed repayment terms and is
interest-free. The amount includes programming provided to the
company during the year amounting to £445,632 (1999:
£407,117). The debtor is shown on the face of the balance sheet
as due after more than one year.

A balance of £140,318 was receivable at 31 March, 2000 (1999:
£39,892) in respect of monies received and payments made on
behalf of a fellow group company, Expand Fast Holdings Limited.
Additionally, purchases of film rights from Expand Fast Holdings Limited
totalling £61,550 (1999: £51,975) were made during the year.

A balance of £15,884 was receivable at 31 March, 2000 (1999:
£4,032) in respect of monies received and payments made on
behalf of a fellow subsidiary company, Asia TV (Netherlands) BV.

A balance of £41,127 was receivable at 31 March, 2000 (1999:
£41,127) in respect of monies received and payments made on
behalf of a fellow group company, Asia Today Limited.

A balance of £1,508,389 was receivable at 31 March, 2000 (1999:
639,823) in respect of supply of programming and consultancy

fees from a fellow subsidiary company, Zee TV USA Inc. The amount
of programming provided during the year was £520,881(1999:
£374,530) and management consultancy fees charged during
the year were £625,229 (1999: £215,000).

A balance of £249,308 was due at 31 March, 2000 (1999:
£249,308) in respect of monies received and payments made on
behalf of a fellow group company, Delgrada Ltd.

Creditors

Management consultancy fees of £1,215,000 were incurred during
the year end 31 March, 2000 (1999: £1,215,000) charged by
Zee Multimedia Worldwide Limited, (Mauritius). After taking into
account incurred by the company on behalf of Zee Multimedia
Worldwide Ltd, (Mauritius) the amount payable by the company
at 31 March, 2000 totalled £506,732 (1999: £126,227).

Programming supplies purchased from Software Supplies
International Ltd, a fellow subsidiary, amounted to £872,648 (1999:
£439,747) in the year. The amount payable at 31 March, 2000 in
respect of these supplies and other transactions was £111,173
(1999:147,270 debtor).

Programming supplies from Zee Telefilms Limited, the ultimate
parent company totalled £1,356,768 (1999: £1,621,665) and
commission incurred totalled on advertising £9,881 in the year.
The amount payable at 31 March 2000 in respect of these supplies
was £1,037,395 (1999: £514,819).

23. Post balance sheet events

On 9 August 2000 the company obtained a bank loan for £5.6
million for the purpose of financing further digital marketing and
development costs.
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for the year ended 31st March, 2000

DETAILED TRADING AND PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

2000 1999
£ £

SCHEDULE

Turnover 15,569,843 15,312,972

I. Cost of sales (10,977,415) (10,679,706)

Gross profit 4,592,428 4,633,266

II. Distribution costs (983,922) (769,504)

III. Administrative expenses (4,065,095) (3,036,252)

Operating profit before
digitalisation costs 717,561 827,510
Digitalisation costs (1,174,150) —

Operating (loss)/profit (456,589) 827,510
Interest receivable and
similar income 39,428 47,746
Interest payable and
similar charges - Ordinary (4,068) (1,982)

- Exceptional — (534,684)

Digitalisation costs – Exceptional — —

Profit on ordinary activities
before taxation (421,229) 338,590

Tax on profit on ordinary activities — (12,090)

Profit on ordinary activities
before taxation £ (421,229) £ 326,500

The detailed trading and profit and loss account on this page is
supplementary to, but does not form part of the statutory financial
statements.

2000 1999
£ £

SCHEDULE

I. Cost of sales

Satellite television charges 5,595,362 4,949,455
Subscriptions management charges 2,522,474 2,454,634
Purchased programmes 2,744,121 2,181,019
Production costs 77,606 1,069,836
Depreciation of studios
and equipment 37,852 24,762

£ 10,977,415 £ 10,679,706

II. Distribution costs
Promotional events and campaigns 339,288 623,403
Publications — —
Advertising and agency fees 271,756 97,803
Magazine Production 372,878 48,298

£ 983,922 £ 769,504

2000 1999
£ £

III. Administrative expenses

Wages and salaries 1,598,427 682,895
Staff training, recruitment etc. 48,192 74,741
Rent 108,290 62,250
Rates 41,596 28,125
Insurance 13,263 52,649
Light and heat 22,569 12,713
Cleaning 37,175 12,970
Repairs and maintenance 9,314 16,365
Service charge payable & hire charges 51,163 22,458
Printing, postage and stationery 124,626 87,430
Telephone 177,943 113,772
Computer costs 9,982 49,244
Motor vehicle leasing cost — —
Motor expenses 10,409 11,088
Travelling and entertaining 333,886 248,202
Legal and professional 157,142 71,694
Consultancy 1,215,000 1,215,000
Conference Charges 5,950 —
Loss on sale of asset — 15,509
Audit and accountancy 42,535 20,904
Bank charges 29,398 18,230
Bad debts 42,876 63,583
Loss on foreign exchange — 4,450
General expenses 38,336 90,165
Indemnity fund (112,812) —
Depreciation 59,835 61,815

£ 4,065,095 £ 3,036,252
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The directors present their report and the audited financial statements
of the Company for the year ended 31 March, 2000.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activity of the Company is to provide Indian and Asian
based programming to satellite Broadcasters, to enable them, to distribute
the same to cable Channel subscribers in United States.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Company’s profits for the financial year amounted to US$ 626,775
[1999 – US$ (1,199,387)].

No dividends have been paid, declared or recommended since the end
of the last financial period.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT

The directors are required to prepare financial statements for each
financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and
of the profit or loss of the Company. In preparing those financial
statements, the directors are required to :

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed,

to the Members of ZEE TV USA, Inc.
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements, and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless
it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in
business.

The directors confirm that they have complied with the above
requirements in preparing the financial statements and the financial
statements are giving a true and fair view of the Company.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the Company. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets
of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

AUDITORS

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated their
willingness to continue in office and a resolution concerning their re-
appointment will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

By Order of the Board

DHEERAJ KAPURIA
1 May, 2000

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the
related consolidated statements of operations, shareholder’s equity and
cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Zee TV USA, Inc. and its subsidiary (the “Company”) at March 31, 2000
and 1999, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for
the year ended March 31, 2000 and for the period from May 20, 1998
(inception) through March 31, 1999 in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management; our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United

States, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for the opinion expressed above.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
May 1, 2000.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

to the Board of Directors and Shareholder
of ZEE TV USA, Inc.
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2000 1999

Assets

Current Assets :
Cash $ 123,905 $ 2,916
Accounts receivable - trade, net of

allowance for doubtful of $0
at March 31, 2000 and 1999 794,929 367,444

Accounts receivable - related parties 59,962 11,335
Program rights 616,895 184,464
Deferred income taxes 11,794 —
Prepaid expenses and other
current assets 12,179 11,157

Total current assets 1,619,664 577,316

Property and equipment, net 849,961 437,499
Program rights, less current portion 632,372 276,700
Deferred income taxes 292,348 —
Deposits 6,225 1,650

$ 3,400,570 $1,293,165

Liabilities and Shareholder’s Equity

Current Liabilities :
Accounts payable - trade $ 189,687 $ 50,612
Accounts payable - related parties 2,547,026 1,210,444
Accrued vacation 39,543 7,100
Accrued expenses 16,551 9,146
Deferred revenue 66,875 51,750

Total current liabilities 2,859,682 1,329,052

Deferred revenue 112,500 162,500

Total liabilities 2,972,182 1,491,552

Commitments and contingencies
(Note 6)

Shareholder’s equity :
Common stock –  $.01 par value ;

10 shares authorized;
2 shares issued and outstanding — —

Additional paid-in-capital 1,001,000 1,001,000
Retained deficit (572,612) (1,199,387)

Total shareholder’s equity 428,388 (198,387)

Total Liabilities and
Shareholder’s Equity $ 3,400,570 $1,293,165

March 31, 2000 and 1999
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2000 1999

Revenue :

Subscription $ 7,495,046 $ 2,152,545

Advertising 546,658 17,200

Total Revenue 8,041,704 2,169,745

Costs of revenue :

Subscriber management services 4,181,637 1,267,247

Satellite and transmission 343,981 231,116

Programming and news 581,004 242,010

Total Costs of revenue 5,106,622 1,740,373

Gross margin 2,935,082 429,372

Selling, general and administrative 2,474,240 1,549,103

Depreciation 146,506 77,206

Other (income) expense (8,297) 2,450

Income (loss) before
income taxes 322,633 (1,199,387)

Benefit from income taxes 304,142 —

Net income (Loss) $ 626,775 $ (1,199,387)

for the year ended March 31, 2000 and
for the period from May 20, 1998
(inception) through March 31, 1999

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Approved by the Board on May 1, 2000 and signed on its behalf by

DHEERAJ KAPURIA
Director
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Common Stock $.01 par value Additional
Paid-in Retained

Shares Amount Capital Deficit Total

Balance at May 20, 1998 (inception) — $ — $ — $ — $ —
Issuance of common stock 2 — 1,001,000 — 1,001,000
Net loss — — — (1,199,387) (1,199,387)

Balance at March 31, 1999 2 — 1,001,000 (1,199,387) (198,387)
Net income — — — 626,775 626,775

Balance at March 31, 2000 2 $ — $ 1,001,000 $ (572,612) $ 428,388

2000 1999
Cash Flows from Operating activities :

Net income (loss) $ 626,775 $ (1,199,387)
Reconciliation of net income (loss)
to cash provided by operating
activities :

Depreciation 146,506 77,206
Deferred income taxes (304,142) —
Amortization of program rights 454,799 92,232
Amortization of deferred revenue (50,000) (37,500)
Other (income) expense (8,297) 2,450

Change in components of
current assets and liabilities :

Accounts receivable (476,112) (378,779)
Program rights (1,242,902) (553,396)
Prepaid expenses and
other current assets (1,022) (11,157)
Deposits (4,575) (1,650)
Accounts payable 1,483,954 1,759,606
Accrued expenses 39,848 16,246
Deferred revenue 15,125 251,750

Net cash provided by
operating activities 679,957 17,621

Cash flows from investing activities :
Additions to property and equipment (558,968) (14,705)

Net cash used for investing activities (558,968) (14,705)

Net increase in cash 120,989 2,916

Cash at beginning of year 2,916 —

Cash at end of year $ 123,905 $ 2,916

Supplemental schedule of non-cash
investing and financing activities :

Purchase of equipment funded
by related party $ 500,000
Purchase of equipment (500,000)

Net cash paid $ —

Issuance of common stock $ 1,001,000
Forgiveness of accounts
payable - related parties (1,001,000)

Net cash received $ —

for the year ended March 31, 2000 and for the period from May 20, 1998 (inception)
through March 31, 1999

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY

for the year ended March 31, 2000 and
for the period from May 20, 1998
(inception) through March 31, 1999

CONSOLIDATED STATMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

1. Background and Nature of Operations

Zee TV USA, Inc. (“ZTV – USA”) was incorporated on May 20,
1998 in the state of Wyoming for the purpose of providing Indian
and Asian based programming to satellite broadcasters for
distribution to cable channel subscribers in the United States. ZTV-
USA’s programming consists of mini-series, musical specials, movies,
sporting events and variety shows. Ambience Marketing Services,
Inc. (“Ambience”), a wholly owned subsidiary of ZTV-USA, was
established for the purpose of obtaining advertisers.

On March 31, 2000, ZTV – USA obtained a 33% and 20% minority
ownership of Zee TV Canada Holdings, Inc. (“ZTV-Holdings”) and
Zee TV Canada, Inc. (“ZTV-Canada”), respectively. ZTV-Holdings
owns the remaining 80% of ZTV-Canada. ZTV-Holdings and ZTV-
Canada were incorporated in Canada for the purpose of providing
Indian and Asian based programming to satellite broadcasters for
distribution to cable channel subscribers in Canada. ZTV-USA’s
minority ownership will be accounted for on the equity basis.

ZTV-USA and Ambience are collectively referred to as the
“Company”. The Company’s corporate headquarters are located in
Arlington, Texas.

The Company is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of, Zee
Telefilms Limited (“Zee Telefilms”), a publicly traded company on
the Bombay Stock Exchange.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of ZTV-
USA and its wholly owned subsidiary. All significant intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Foreign currency transactions

The functional currency of the Company is the U.S. dollar.
Transactions denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars
are recorded based on exchange rates at the time such transactions
arise. Subsequent changes in exchange rate result in translation
gains and losses, which are reflected in income as unrealized
(based on period-end translation) or realized (upon settlement of
the transaction). Net transaction (gains)/losses are included in other
(income)/expense in the accompanying consolidated statements
of income.

Revenue recognition

Subscription revenue is recognized in the period the subscription
cable channel services are provided.

to Consolidated Financial Statements
NOTES
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Advertising revenue is recognized upon broadcast of cable channel
advertising.

Progam rights

Program rights consist of costs incurred for the purchase of rights
to programs to be broadcast. Program rights generally allow for
unlimited showings during a specified period of time and thus are
amortized on a straight-line basis over the rights period. The costs
of program rights to be charged to income within one year are
included in current assets while costs of program rights to be
broadcast subsequently are considered noncurrent. In the opinion
of management, future revenue derived from airing programming
will be sufficient to cover related unamortized rights balances at
March 31, 2000.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment is recorded at cost and depreciated using
the straight-line method over five years.

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs that do not materially
extend the useful lives of assets are charged to operations as
incurred. Significant renewals and replacements that improve or
extend the useful lives of assets are capitalized. The cost of property
retired or sold and the related accumulated depreciation is relieved
from the accounts and any gain or loss is reflected in other income
in the consolidated statements of income.

Impairment of long-lived assets

The Company reviews potential impairments of long-lived assets,
certain identifiable intangibles, and associated goodwill on
an exception basis, when there is evidence that events or changes
in circumstances have made recovery of an asset’s carrying value
unlikely. An impairment loss is recognized if the sum of the expected
future cash flows undiscounted and before interest from the use
of the asset is less than the net book value of the asset. Generally,
the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the net book value of the assets and the estimated fair
value.

Income taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under an asset and
liability approach that requires the recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of
events that have been recognized in the Company’s financial
statements or tax returns. In estimating future tax consequences,
all expected future events other than enactments of changes in
the tax law or rates are considered.

Advertising cost

The Company’s advertising expenditures are expensed as incurred.
Advertising expense for the year ended March 31, 2000 and for
the period from May 20, 1998 (inception) through March 31,
1999 was $72,378 and $22,141, respectively.

Pervasiveness of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

3. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment at March 31, 2000 and 1999 is as follows :

March 31,

2000 1999

Broadcasting equipment $ 993,797 $ 500,000
Office equipment 46,295 9,361
Furniture and fixtures 33,581 5,344

1,073,673 514,705
Less : Accumulated depreciation (223,712) (77,206)

Property and equipment, net $ 849,961 $ 437,499

4. Income Taxes

Components of the benefit for income taxes for the year ended
March 31, 2000 and for the period from May 20, 1998 (inception)
through March 31, 1999 consist of the following :

March 31,

2000 1999

Current federal $ — $ —
Deferred federal benefit (304,142) —

Benefit from income taxes $ (304,142) $ —

Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary differences
between the financial reporting basis and the tax basis of the
Company’s assets and liabilities. The temporary differences that
give rise to deferred tax assets at March 31, 2000 and 1999 are
as follows :

March 31,

2000 1999

Net operating loss carryforward $ 292,348 $ 414,294
Other 11,794 3,343

Total defferred tax assets 304,142 417,637
Valuation allowance — (417,637)

Net deferred tax assets $ 304,142 $ —

The valuation allowance reflected the uncertainty with respect to
realization of future tax benefits relating primarily to certain net
operating loss carryforwards. This valuation allowance was reversed
in 2000 as the uncertainty was removed when the Company
generated taxable income.

The differences between the Company’s effective tax rate and the
federal statutory rate of 34% in 2000 and 1999 is primarily
attributable to the creation and subsequent reversal of the valuation
allowance.

The Company had net operating loss carryforwards of $835,281
and $1,183,698 at March 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The
carryforwards will be available until 2016 to offset future taxable
income of the Company.

5. Major customer, major supplier and related parties

Satellite broadcaster

On April 14, 1998, Zee Telefilms entered into a five-year agreement
with a satellite broadcaster to provide the Company with satellite
slots for broadcasting its programming to cable channel subscribers.
In addition, the satellite broadcaster operates the playback
equipment based on the Company’s prescribed programming
schedule and provides subscriber billing management services.
Subscription revenue earned by the Company under the terms of
this agreement was 99% and 100% of total subscription revenue
for the year ended March 31, 2000 and for the period from May
20, 1998 (inception) through March 31, 1999, respectively. Cost
of revenue incurred by the Company under the terms of this
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agreement was 99% and 96% of total subscriber management
services and satellite and transmission costs for the year ended
March 31, 2000 and for the period from May 20, 1998 (inception)
through March 31, 1999, respectively.

Programming supplier

On June 1, 1998, the Company entered into a five-year agreement
with Asia TV Limited UK (“Asia TV”), an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of Zee Telefilms, whereby Asia TV would sell rights to
various types of programming to the Company for broadcasting.
The rights provide for an unlimited number of showings during
a three-year period beginning on the day the programming is
originally received by the Company. During the year ended March
31, 2000 and for the period from May 20, 1998 (inception) through
March 31, 1999 the Company purchased programming totaling
$833,408 and $553,397, respectively, from Asia TV. The
unamortized portion of the purchased programming totaled
$951,132 and $461,164 at March 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively,
and represented 76% and 100%, respectively, of total program
rights on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Related parties

At March 31, 2000 and 1999, the Company owed $2,544,180
and $1,199,429, respectively, to various indirect wholly owned
subsidiaries of Zee Telefilms for consultancy fees (see Note 6),
purchased programming and reimbursement of amounts
forwarded to fund ongoing operations. Though such amounts
are due on demand Zee Multimedia Worldwide Limited (“ZMW”),
an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Zee Telefilms and the
Company’s direct parent, has committed to continue to fund the
Company’s operations for a reasonable period of time.

At March 31, 2000 and 1999, the Company was owed $51,642
and $0, respectively, by Zee Telefilms for advertising fees earned.

At March 31, 2000 and 1999, the Company was owed $8,320
and $11,335, respectively, by employees of the Company for
previous advances of monies. In addition, at March 31, 2000 and
1999, the Company owed $2,846 and $11,015, respectively, to
various employees of the Company for reimbursement of business
expenses. These amounts are included in Accounts receivable -

related parties and Accounts payable - related parties, as
appropriate, on the accompanying balance sheets.

6. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating leases

The Company leases various office space, corporate housing and
tape storage facilities under non cancelable operating lease
agreements on either a month-to-month basis or for periods less
than one year. Total rental expenses under these operating leases
was $52,372 and $22,766 for the year ended March 31, 2000
and for the period from May 20, 1998 (inception) through March
31, 1999, respectively.

Consultancy agreement

On June 1, 1998, the Company entered into a ten-year consultancy
agreement with Asia T.V. Ltd., UK whereby Asia T.V. Ltd., UK  would
provide the Company with management services including, but
not limited to, assistance in contract negotiations, policy
development and implementation, personnel training and
marketing. Under the terms of this agreement, the Company
expensed $1,000,000 and $350,000 for the year ended March
31, 2000 and for the period from May 20, 1998 (inception) through
March 31, 1999, respectively. At March 31, 2000 and 1999, such
amounts have not been paid by the Company and are included
in Accounts payable – related parties on the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets (see Note 5). The annual fee for the
remaining years of this agreement is $2,600,000.

Broadcast rights

The Company has obtained exclusive worldwide television
broadcast rights of the Miss India Worldwide Pageant through
2004 for an annual cost payable as follows :

Fiscal

2001 $ 60,000
2002 70,000
2003 80,000
2004 90,000

Total $ 300,000
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The directors present their report and the audited financial statements
of the company for the year ended 31 March, 2000.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activity of the company is to hold investments. The company
has not yet commenced operations.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The company’s loss for the year ended 31 March, 2000 is USD 7,085
(1999 : USD 7,950).

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for
each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
and of the profit or loss of the company. In preparing those financial
statements, the directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed,
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements, and

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

to the Members of ASIA TV (USA) LIMITED

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless
it is inappropriate to presume that the company will continue in
business.

The directors confirm that they have complied with the above
requirements in preparing the financial statements.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the company and to enable them to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Mauritian Companies Act, 1984. They are
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.

AUDITORS

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, have indicated their willingness
to continue in office and a resolution concerning their re-appointment
will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

By or der of the Boar d

NOUSRA TH BHUGELOO
Per
B.C.M. (Secr etaries) Ltd.
Secretar y 17 August, 2000

We have audited the financial statements of Asia TV (USA) Limited on
pages 166 to 167 which have been prepared in accordance with the
accounting policies set out on page 167.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As described in Directors’ Report, the company’s directors are responsible
for the preparation of financial statements. It is our responsibility to form
an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those financial
statements and to report our opinion to you.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It
also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements
made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements,
and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information
and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us
with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement. In forming our
opinion, we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of
information in the financial statements.

AUDITORS’ REPORT

to the Members of ASIA TV (USA) LIMITED

Going concern

In forming our opinion, we have considered the adequacy of the
disclosures made in the financial statements concerning the basis of
preparation. The financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis and the validity of this depends on the continuing financial
support from Zee Multimedia Worldwide Limited (Mauritius), the holding
company. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that
would result from a failure to obtain such continued support. Details of
the circumstances relating to this fundamental uncertainty are described
in note 1. Our opinion is not qualified in this respect.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of the company’s affairs at 31 March, 2000 and of its loss, changes
in equity and cash flows for the year then ended and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Mauritian Companies Act,
1984 and International Accounting Standards.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
V S MOHADEB
Signing partner
17 August, 2000
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The accounting policies and the notes on page 167 form an integral part of these financial statements.

for the year ended 31 March, 2000

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 March, 2000

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Share Accumulated
capital losses Total

USD USD USD

Issue of shar es 2 — 2

Loss for the period — (7,950) (7,950)

At 31 Mar ch, 199 9 2 (7,950) (7,948)

Loss for the year — (7,085) (7,085)

At 31 March, 2000 USD 2 (15,035) (15,033)

24 Februar y
Year ended 1998 to

31 March 31 Mar ch
2000 1999
USD USD

Cash flow from
operating activities

Loss for the year (7,085) (7,950)

Incr ease in cr editors 7,085 7,950

Net cash from
operating activities — —

Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds fr om issue of shar es — 2

Net cash inflow from
financing activities — 2

Movement in cash and
cash equivalents — 2

Cash and cash equivalent
at beginning of year 2 —

Cash and cash equivalents
at end of year USD 2 2

for the year ended 31 March, 2000

INCOME STATEMENT

24 Februar y
Year ended 1998 to

31 March 31 Mar ch
2000 1999
USD USD

EXPENSES

Secretarial and administration expenses 2,000 3,000

Licence fees 1,500 1,500

Audit fees 3,300 3,300

Sundry expenses 285 150

7,085 7,950

LOSS FOR THE YEAR USD 7,085 7,950

31 March, 2000

BALANCE SHEET

2000 1999

USD USD

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash at Bank and in hand 2 2

Total assets USD 2 2

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves
Shar e capital (Note 3) 2 2
Accumulated losses (15,035) (7,950)

(15,033) (7,948)

Current liabilities
Creditors (Note 4) 15,035 7,950

Total equity and liabilities USD 2 2

Appr oved by the Boar d of Dir ectors on 17 August, 2000

CLAREL BENOIT THIERRY CHELLEN
Director Director
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31 March, 2000

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements ar e prepared in accor dance with and
comply with International Accounting Standar ds. A summar y of
the mor e important accounting policies, which have been applied
consistently , is set out below . The pr eparation of financial statements
in accor dance with International Accounting Standar ds and
generally accepted accounting principles r equir es the dir ectors to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the r eported amounts
and disclosur es in the financial statements. Actual r esults could
differ fr om those estimates.

Basis of accounting

The financial statements ar e prepar ed under the historical cost
convention.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash at bank and in hand. Cash equivalents ar e
short term, highly liquid investments that ar e readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which ar e subject to an insignificant
risk of change in value.

Going concern

The financial statements have been pr epared on a going concern
basis as the company’ s holding company has indicated its
willingness to support the funding of the company to ensur e it is
able to meet its commitments as and when they fall due.

2. TAXATION

The company is subject to Income T ax in Mauritius at 0% unless
it elects to pay tax at a rate not exceeding 35%. At 31 Mar ch,
2000, the company has made no such election. Capital gains of
the company ar e exempt fr om tax in Mauritius.

3. CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

2000 1999
USD USD

Authorised :

10,000 or dinar y shar es
of USD 1 each USD 10,000 10,000

Issued and fully paid :

2 ordinar y shar es
of USD 1 each USD 2 2

4. CREDITORS

Amounts owed to holding
company (Note 5) 3,220 —

Amounts owed to fellow
subsidiar y (Note 5) 1,430 1,430

Accruals 10,385 6,520

USD 15,035 7,950

5. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

At 31 Mar ch, 2000, an amount of USD 3,220 (1999 - Nil) was
due to the holding company , Zee Multimedia W orldwide Limited
and an amount of USD 1,430 (1999 - USD 1,430) was due to
a fellow subsidiar y, Asia TV Limited.

6. HOLDING COMPANIES

The dir ectors consider Zee Multimedia W orldwide Limited, a
company incorporated in Mauritius, as the company’ s holding
company .

Until 30 September , 1999, the dir ectors consider ed Delgrada
Limited, a company incorporated in the British V irgin Islands, as
the company’ s ultimate holding company .

On 30 September , 1999, Zee T elefilms Limited, a company
incorporated in India, acquir ed all of the issued shar e capital of
the holding company of Zee Multimedia W orldwide Limited
(Mauritius), Zee Multimedia W orldwide Limited (BVI), a company
incorporated in the British V irgin Islands. With effect fr om that
date, the dir ectors consider Zee T elefilms Limited as the company’ s
ultimate holding company .

7. REPORTING CURRENCY

The financial statements ar e pr esented in United States dollars.
The company has been granted an Offshor e Certificate under the
Mauritius Offshor e Business Activities Act, 1992 which r equir es
that the company’ s business or other activity is carried on in a
curr ency other than the Mauritian rupee.

8. INCORPORATION

The company is incorporated in Mauritius under the Companies
Act, 1984 as a private company with limited liability .
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The directors present their report and the audited financial statements of
the Company.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activity of the Company is the br oadcast of the Zee TV
channel thr oughout Africa and the collection of the r elated subscription
and advertising r evenues.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The dir ectors ar e satisfied with the performance of the Company during
the year .

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Gr oup’s and the Company’ s pr ofit for the financial year amount
to GBP␣ 285,690 (1999 – Restated GBP␣ 18,054) and GBP 810,247
(1999 – Restated GBP 457,907) r espectively .

The dir ectors do not r ecommend the payment of a dividend.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Company law r equir es the dir ectors to pr epar e financial statements for
each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
and of the pr ofit or loss of the Company . In pr eparing those financial
statements, the dir ectors ar e requir ed to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that ar e reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable accounting standar ds have been followed,

subject to any material departur es disclosed and explained in the
financial statements; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless
it is inappr opriate to pr esume that the Company will continue in
business.

The dir ectors confirm that they have complied with the above
requir ements in pr eparing the financial statements.

The dir ectors ar e responsible for keeping pr oper accounting r ecords
which disclose with r easonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the Company and to enable them to ensur e that the financial
statements comply with the Mauritian Companies Act, 1984. They ar e
also r esponsible for safeguar ding the assets of the Company and hence
for taking r easonable steps for the pr evention and detection of fraud
and other irr egularities.

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers have indicated their willingness to continue in
office and a r esolution concerning their r e-appointment will be pr oposed
at the Annual General Meeting.

By or der of the Boar d

NOUSRA TH BHUGELOO
Per
B.C.M. (Secr etaries) Ltd.
Secretar y 17 August, 2000

to the Members of ASIA T.V. (AFRICA) LIMITED
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

We have audited the financial statements of Asia TV (Africa) Limited on
pages 169 to 173 which have been pr epar ed in accor dance with the
accounting policies set out on pages 171 and 173.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As described in Dir ectors’ Report, the Company’ s dir ectors ar e responsible
for the pr eparation of financial statements. It is our r esponsibility to
form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those statements
and to r eport our opinion to you.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accor dance with International Standar ds on
Auditing. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosur es in the financial statements. It
also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements
made by the dir ectors in the pr eparation of the financial statements,
and of whether the accounting policies ar e appr opriate to the Company’ s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information
and explanations which we consider ed necessar y in or der to pr ovide
us with sufficient evidence to give r easonable assurance as to whether
the financial statements ar e fr ee from material misstatement. In forming
our opinion, we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the pr esentation
of information in the financial statements.

Going concern

In forming our opinion, we have consider ed the adequacy of the
disclosur es made in the financial statements concerning the basis of
preparation. The financial statements have been pr epared on a going
concern basis and the validity of this depends on the continuing financial
support fr om Zee Multimedia W orldwide Limited (Mauritius), the holding
company . The financial statements do not include any adjustments that
would r esult fr om a failur e to obtain such continued support. Details
of the cir cumstances r elating to this fundamental uncertainty ar e
described in Note 1. Our opinion is not qualified in this r espect.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Gr oup and of the Company at 31 Mar ch, 2000
and of the pr ofit, changes in equity and cash flows of the Gr oup  and
of the Company for the year then ended and have been pr operly
prepar ed in accor dance with the Mauritian Companies Act, 1984 and
International Accounting Standar ds.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

V S MOHADEB
Signing Partner 17 August, 2000

to the Members of ASIA T.V. (AFRICA) LIMITED
AUDITORS’ REPORT
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The accounting policies on page 171 and the notes on pages 171 to 173 form an integral part of these financial statements.

INCOME STATEMENT

Group Company

Restated Restated
2000 1999 2000 1999
GBP GBP GBP GBP

TURNOVER
(Note 2) 2,405,841 1,817,377 1,709,948 1,496,192

Cost of sales (1,452,680) (1,428,563) (715,640) (951,674)

GROSS PROFIT/
(LOSS) 953,161 388,814 994,308 544,518

Distribution costs (105,234) (35,981) (2,370) —

Administrative
expenses (498,653) (336,575) (182,351) (86,958)

OPERATING
PROFIT (Note 3) 349,274 16,258 809,587 457,560

Interest income 841 1,796 660 347

PROFIT BEFORE
TAXATION 350,115 18,054 810,247 457,907

Taxation (Note 5) (64,425) — — —

PROFIT FOR
THE YEAR     GBP 285,690 18,054 810,247 457,907

Group Company

Restated Restated
2000 1999 2000 1999
GBP GBP GBP GBP

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Plant and Equipment
(Note 6) 17,195 16,926 — —
Investments (Note 7) — — 14,706 14,706

17,195 16,926 14,706 14,706

Current assets

Programme and
film Rights (Note 8) 454,219 248,619 454,219 248,619

Receivables and
prepayments (Note 9) 528,628 595,324 1,707,325 1,309,648
Cash at bank
and in hand 18,962 37,938 27,562 11,751

1,001,809 881,881 2,189,106 1,570,018

TOTAL ASSETS  GBP 1,019,004 898,807 2,203,812 1,584,724

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Called up
Share capital (Note 10) 6,329 6,329 6,329 6,329
Retained earnings/
(accumulated losses) (852,207) (1,137,897) 693,939 (116,308)
Foreign currency
translation adjustment 190,318 124,796 — —

(655,560) (1,006,772) 700,268 (109,979)

Non-current
liabilities (Note 11) 1,213,401 1,329,658 1,197,517 1,325,626

Current liabilities
Trade and other
payables (Note 12) 461,163 575,921 306,027 369,077

Total liabilities 1,674,564 1,905,579 1,503,544 1,694,703

TOTAL EQUITY AND
LIABILITIES 1,019,004 898,807 2,203,812 1,584,724

at 31 March 2000
BALANCE SHEET

Appr oved by the Boar d of Dir ectors on 17 August, 2000

CLAREL BENOIT THIERR Y CHELLEN
Director Director

for the year ended 31 March 2000
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Group Company

Restated Restated
2000 1999 2000 1999
GBP GBP GBP GBP

Operating activities

Profit before taxation 350,115 18,054 810.247 457,907

Adjustments for :

Depreciation (Note 6) 7,161 4,819 — —

Goodwill written-off — 2,940 — —

Interest receivable (841) (1796) (660) (347)

Foreign exchange
difference 65,792 71,538 — —

422,227 95,555 809,587 457,560

Increase in programme
and film rights (205,600) (248,619) (205,600) (248,619)

Decrease/(increase) in
receivables and
prepayments 66,696 548,501 (397,677) 377,649

Decrease in trade
and other payables (179,183) (533,434) (63,050) (721,970)

Net Cash from/(used in)
operating activities 104,140 (137,997) 143,260 (135,380)

Investing activities

Purchase of plant and
equipment (Note 6) (7,700) (14,100) — —

Proceeds from disposal of
plant and equipment — 6,576 — —

Investment in subsidiary — (14,705) — (14,705)

Cash acquired
with subsidiary — 12,002 — —

Interest received 841 1,796 660 347

Net cash (used in)/from
investing activities (6,859) (8,431) 660 (14,358)

Financing activities

(Decrease)/Increase in
non-current liabilities (116,257) 165,521 (128,109) 161,489

Net cash (used in)/from
financing activities (116,257) 165,521 (128,109) 161,489

Net (decrease)/increase in
cash and cash equivalents (18,976) 19,093 15,811 11,751

Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of year 37,938 18,845 11,751 —

Cash and cash equivalents
at end of year      GBP 18,962 37,938 27,562 11,751

The accounting policies on page 171 and the notes on pages171 to 173 form an integral part of these financial statements.

for the year ended 31st March, 2000
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 31st March, 2000
CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Retained Foreign
earnings/ currency

Share (accumulated translation
capital losses) adjustment Total

GBP GBP GBP GBP

Group

At 01 April, 1998 6,329 (1,155,951) (56,060) (1,093,562)

Foreign exchange
translation adjustment — — 68,736 68,736

Loss for the year — (230,565) — (230,565)

At 31 March, 1999 -
as previously reported 6,329 (1,386,516) 124,796 (1,255,391)

Change in accounting
policy (Note 1) — 248,619 — 248,619

At 31 March, 1999 -
as restated 6,329 (1,137,897) 124,796 (1,006,772)

Foreign exchange
translation adjustment — — 65,522 65,522

Profit for the year — 285,690 — 285,690

At 31 March, 2000  GBP 6,329 (852,207) 190,318 (655,560)

Retained
earnings/

Share (accumulated
capital losses) Total

GBP GBP GBP

Company

At 01 April, 1998 6,329 (574,215) (567,886)

Profit for the year — 209,288 209,288

At 31 March, 1999 -
as previously reported 6,329 (364,927) (358,598)

Change in accounting policy (Note 1) — 248,619 248,619

At 31 March, 1999 -
as restated 6,329 (116,308) (109,979)

Profit for the year — 810,247 810,247

As on 31 March, 2000 GBP 6,329 693,939 700,268
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rates estimated to write off the cost of the assets less their estimated
residual values over their expected useful lives. The annual rates
used are :

Computer and office equipment 33.3%

Motor vehicles 25%

Furniture and fixtures 20%

Long term investments

Long term investments are shown at cost and provision is only
made where, in the opinion of the directors, there is a permanent
diminution in value. Where there has been a permanent
diminution in the value of an investment, it is recognised as an
expense in the period in which the diminution is identified.

On disposal of an investment, the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is charged or credited
to the income statement.

Foreign currencies

Group

The accounts of overseas subsidiaries are translated at the rate of
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. The exchange
difference arising on the retranslation of opening net assets is
taken directly to reserves (”Foreign currency translation
adjustment“). All other translation differences are taken to the
Income statement.

Company

Transactions in for eign curr encies ar e recorded at the rate ruling
at the date of the transaction. Monetar y assets and liabilities
denominated in for eign curr encies ar e retranslated at the rate of
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash at bank and in hand. Cash equivalents ar e
short term, highly liquid investments that ar e readily convertible
to known amounts of cash and which ar e subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value.

2. TURNOVER

Group turnover r epresents subscription and advertising r evenue
on the Zee TV channel in South Africa and the r est of Africa.

3. OPERATING PROFIT

The following ietms have been charged in arriving at
operating profit :

Group 2000 1999
GBP GBP

Operating profit is stated
after charging :

Staff costs (Note 4) 120,815 127,264
Auditors’ r emuneration 15,050 14,500
Depreciation 7,161 4,819

Company

Auditors’ r emuneration 6,300 6,000

4. STAFF COSTS

Group

Wages and salaries 120,815 127,081

Social security costs — 183

GBP 120,815 127,264

Directors' emoluments
included in staff costs — 11,166

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with and
comply with International Accounting Standards. A summary of
the more important accounting policies, which have been applied
consistently, is set out below. The preparation of financial
statements in accordance with International Accounting Standards
and generally accepted accounting principles requires the directors
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts and disclosures in the Financial Statements. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Basis of accounting

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost
convention.

Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis as Zee Multimedia Worldwide Limited (Mauritius), the
Company’s holding Company, has indicated its willingness to
support the funding of the Company to ensure it is able to meet
its commitments as and when they fall due.

Basis of consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of all
subsidiaries made up to 31 March, 2000. Where companies have
become or ceased to be subsidiaries during the year, the group
loss includes losses for the period during which they were
subsidiaries.

Programme and film rights - change in accounting policy

During the year ended 31st March, 2000, Asia TV (Africa) Limited
changed its accounting policy with respect to the treatment of
programme and film rights acquired. In previous periods, the
company had expensed programme and film rights acquired in
the year of purchase. The directors have determined that, in
order to more appropriately present the results and state of affairs
of the company, programme and film rights purchased from third
parties are now capitalised and amortised to the income statement
over the period of the licence, with the exception of news, current
affairs, sports and other programmes where only one showing is
planned, which are charged directly to the income statement.

The company capitalised programme and film rights totalling GBP
347,482 and amortised GBP 141,882 to the income statement
during the year ended 31 March, 2000. Programme and film
rights totalling GBP 248,619 were capitalised in respect of
the year ended 31st March, 1999. It was not practicable to
reliably determine adjustments in respect of periods prior to
1st April, 1998.

Comparative financial information has been restated to reflect the
above change in accounting policy.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as
operating leases.

Rental payments under operating leases are charged to the income
statement on a straight line basis over the lease terms.

Plant and equipments

Plant and equipment are stated at cost less depreciation.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight line basis at annual

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31st March, 2000
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2000 1999

Average number of persons
employed by the gr oup

Number Number
Full time 11 8
Part time 1 1

12 9

5. TAXATION

Group 2000 1999
GBP GBP

The tax char ge for
the year comprises :

Overseas tax - curr ent year 28,076 —
Overseas tax - prior year 36,349 —

GBP 64,425 —

The Company invests in South Africa and expects to obtain benefits
under the double taxation tr eaty between Mauritius and South
Africa. T o obtain benefits under the double taxation tr eaty the
Company must meet certain tests and conditions, including the
establishment of Mauritius tax r esidence and r elated r equir ements.
The Company has obtained a tax r esidence certificate fr om the
Mauritian authorities and believes such certification is determinative
of its r esident status for tr eaty purposes. A Company which is tax
resident in Mauritius under the tr eaty but has no branch or
permanent establishment in South Africa, will not be subject to
capital gains tax in South Africa on the sale of securities but is
subject to a 5% withholding tax on dividends.
The Company is subject to income tax in Mauritius at the rate of
0% unless it elects to pay tax at a rate not exceeding 35%. The
Company has made no such election. Capital gains of the
Company ar e exempt fr om tax in Mauritius.
The for egoing is based on curr ent interpr etation and practice and
is subject to any futur e changes in South African or Mauritian tax
laws and in the tax tr eaty between South Africa and Mauritius.
Overseas tax is payable by the company's subsidiar y incorporated
in the Netherlands.

6. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Group

Computer
Furniture and Office Motor

and Fixtures Equipment Vehicles Total
GBP GBP GBP GBP

Cost

At 01st April, 1998 — 6,663 15,334 21,997
Additions 4,020 2,508 7,572 14,100
Disposals — — (9,019) (9,019)
Exchange difference — (1,097) (2,523) (3,620)

At 31st March, 1999 4,020 8,074 11,364 23,458
Additions 165 1,755 5,780 7,700
Exchange difference (151) (304) (428) (883)

At 31st March, 2000 GBP 4,034 9,525 16,716 30,275

Accumulated
Depreciation

At 01st April, 1998 — 2,572 2,402 4,974
Charge for the year 364 2,263 2,192 4,819
Disposals — — (2,443) (2,443)
Exchange difference — (423) (395) (818)

At 31st March, 1999 364 4,412 1,756 6,532
Charge for the year 848 2,289 4,024 7,161
Exchange difference (58) (283) (272) (613)

At 31st March, 2000 1,154 6,418 5,508 13,080

Net book amount
At 31st March, 2000 2,880 3,107 11,208 17,195

At 31st March, 1999 GBP 3,656 3,662 9,608 16,926

Company

The Company holds no plant and equipment.

7. INVESTMENTS

Company

GBP
Unquoted Subsidiaries at cost :

At 01 April, 1999 and at 31 Mar ch, 2000 GBP 14,706

Details of the Company’s Subsidiaries are :

Name of Company Class Proportion
& Country of Incorporation of share held Nature of business

Zee TV South Africa (Pty) Limited, Ordinary 100% Advertising and
Incorporated in South Africa transmittal agents

Asia TV (Netherlands) BV, Ordinary 100% Satellite channel
Incorporated in the Netherlands broadcaster

The directors are of opinion that the investments are fairly stated at cost and
have not suffered any permanent diminution in value.

8. PROGRAMME AND FILM RIGHTS

Group Company

Restated Restated
2000 1999 2000 1999
GBP GBP GBP GBP

Recoverable
within one year 216,576 98,636 216,576 98,636

Recoverable after
more than one year 237,643 149,983 237,643 149,983

GBP 454,219 248,619 454,219 248,619

9. RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
GBP GBP GBP GBP

Trade receivables 416,644 476,564 — 68,954
Amounts owed by
subsidiaries — — 1,637,743 1,234,522
Other receivables 60,677 112,588 22,134 —
Unpaid share capital — 6,172 — 6,172
Prepayments and
accrued interest 51,307 — 47,448 —

GBP 528,628 595,324 1,707,325 1,309,648

10. CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

Company 2000 1999
GBP GBP

Authorised
10,000 or dinar y shar es of
USD 1 each GBP 6,329 6,329

Issued and fully paid :
10,000 or dinar y shar es of USD 1 each 6,329 —

Allotted but unpaid :
10,000 or dinar y shar es of USD 1 each — 6,329

GBP 6,329 6,329



173

ASIA  TV  (AFRICA)  LIMITED

11. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
GBP GBP GBP GBP

Amounts owed to
fellow subsidiaries 1,213,401 1,329,658 1,197,517 1,325,626

A loan has been provided by Asia TV Limited, a fellow subsidiary
incorporated in the United Kingdom, in order to set up the African
operations of the Zee TV channel. Asia TV Limited provided
programming to the Group and  the Company during the year
totalling  GBP 445,632 (1999 – GBP 407,117). The balance due
by the Group to Asia TV Limited at 31 March, 2000 amounted to
GBP 1,165,708 (1999 – GBP␣ 1,282,642) and by the Company to
Asia TV Limited is GBP 1,149,824 (1999 – GBP 1,278,610).

A loan has been pr ovided by Zee Multimedia W orldwide Limited
(BVI), a fellow subsidiar y incorporated in the British V irgin Islands,
in or der to assist in the establishment of African operations. The
amount outstanding at 31 Mar ch, 2000 was GBP 47,693
(1999 – GBP 47,016)

12. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
GBP GBP GBP GBP

Trade payables 263,656181,558 245,758 —
Amounts owed to
related companies — 176,738 — 176,739
Accruals 132,845217,388 60,269 192,338
Corporation tax
payable 64,662 237 — —

461,163575,921 306,027 369,077

13. HOLDING COMPANIES

The dir ectors consider Zee Multimedia W orldwide Limited, a
company incorporated in Mauritiius, as the Company's holding
company .

Until 30 September , 1999, the dir ectors consider ed Delegrada
Limited, a Company incorporated in the British V irgin Islands, as
the Company's ultimate holding company .

On 30 September , 1999, Zee T elefilms Limited, a company
incorporated in India, acquir ed all of the issued shar e capital of
the holding company of Zee Multimedia W orldwide Limited
(Mauritius), Zee Multimedia W orldwide Limited (BVI), a company
incorporated in the British V irgin Islands. With effect fr om that
date, the dir ectors consider Zee T elefilms Limited as the company's
ultimate holding Company .

14. REPORTING CURRENCY

The financial statements ar e presented in Pounds Sterling. The
Company has been granted an Offshor e Certificate under the
Mauritius Offshor e Business Activities Act, 1992 which r equir es
that the Company’ s business or other activity is carried on in a
currency other than the Mauritian Rupee.

15. INCORPORATION

The Company is incorporated in Mauritius under the Companies
Act, 1984, as a private Company with limited liability .
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

R 5,380,234 (1999: R 5,645,611). The directors do not recommend the
payment of a dividend.

Directors and their interests

The directors who have served during the period were as follows:

Sunil Rohra
Sanjay Agrawal (Appointed 01.05.99)
Bhaskar Majumdar (Resigned 26.01.00)

None of the directors have an interest in the company.

Secretary

The secretary of the company is PW Business Services (Proprietary) Limited.

Business Address Postal Address
2 Eglin Road Private Bag X 36
Sunninghill Sunninghill
2157 2157

Auditors

The auditors, Pricewaterhouse Coopers Inc have indicated their
willingness to continue in office as auditors, and a resolution proposing
their reappointment will be put to the Annual General Meeting.

Holding company

The company’s immediate holding company is Asia TV (Africa) Limited
incorporated in Mauritius. Asia TV (Africa) Limited’s immediate parent
company is Zee Multimedia Worldwide Limited, a company incorporated
in Mauritius. The ultimate parent company is Zee Telefilms Limited, a
company incorporated in India.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 61 to 64 have been
approved by the board of directors, and are signed on its behalf by:

SUNIL ROHRA SANJAY AGARWAL
Director Director

30 July, 2000

The directors submit their report and the audited financial statements
for the year to 31 March 2000.

Statement of directors' responsibilities

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for
each financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that
period. In preparing those financial statements, the directors are
required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed,
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements.

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless
it is inappropriate to presume that the company will continue in
business.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the company and to enable them to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Companies Act. The directors are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.

Principal Activity

The principal activity of the company is the transmission of the Zee TV
channel and the related sale of advertising in South Africa.

Business review and future developments

The company has generated a significant increase in advertising revenue
in the year though overall, advertising revenue remains at unsatisfactory
levels. The directors anticipate significant increases in advertising revenue
as the subscriber base for the channel increases.

Profit and Loss Account and Dividends

The loss of the company for the period after taxation amounted to

for the year ended 31 March 2000

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

to the Members of ZEE TV SOUTH AFRICA
(PROPRIETARY) LIMITED

We have audited the financial statements of Zee TV South Africa
(Proprietary) Limited set out on pages 175 to 177 for the year ended
31 March 2000. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
company’s directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit.

Scope

We conducted our audit in accordance with South African Auditing
Standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes:

• examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements;

• assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, and

• evaluating the overall financial statement presentation

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Audit opinion

In our opinion these financial statements fairly present, in all material
respects, the financial position of the company at 31 March 2000 and
the results of its operations and cash flows for the year then ended, in
accordance with South African Statements of Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, and in the manner required by the Companies Act
in South Africa.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Registered accountants and auditors
Chartered Accountants (SA)

Johannesburg
30 July, 2000



175

ZEE  TV  SOUTH  AFRICA (PROPRIETARY)  LIMITED

for the year ended 31 March, 2000

INCOME STATEMENT

as at 31 March, 2000

BALANCE SHEET

2000 1999
Notes R R

ASSETS
Non current assets
Property, plant and equipment 5 180,461 170,952

Current assets
Receivables 6 444,979 414,493
Cash resources 349 131,627

445,328 546,120

Total assets 625,789 717,072

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Share capital 7 1 1
Accumulated deficit (15,457,098) (10,076,864)

(15,457,097) (10,076,863)

Non current liabilities
Loan from parent company 8 15,056,879 8,707,190

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 9 1,026,007 2,086,745

Total equity and liabilities 625,789 717,072

Approved by the Board on 30th July, 2000 and signed on its behalf by

SUNIL ROHRA SANJAY AGARWAL
Director Director

for the year ended 31 March, 2000

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

for the year ended 31 March, 2000

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

2000 1999
R R

SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares

– at beginning of year 1 1

– issue of shares — —

– at end of year 1 1

ACCUMULATED DEFICIT

At beginning of year (10,076,864) (4,431,253)

Net loss for the year (5,380,234) (5,645,611)

At end of the year (15,457,098) (10,076,864)

Total share capital and
reserves at year end (15,457,097) (10,076,863)

2000 1999
Notes R R

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit (5,380,234) (5 645,611)
Adjustments:
– depreciation 71,298 48,670
– foreign exchange loss 711,835 1,114,391
– interest received (955) (1,272)
– interest paid 47,219 18,715
Operating loss before working
capital changes (4,550,837) (4,465,107)

Working capital changes
– increase in receivables (30,486) (332,911)
– (decrease)/increase in trade and
other payables (1,198,882) 1,934,259

Cash (utilised) by operations (5,780,205) (2,863,759)
Interest received 955 1,272
Interest paid (47,219) (18,715)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from
operating activities (5,826,469) (2,881,202)

Cash flows from investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (80,807) (142,418)
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment — 66,424

Net cash outflow from investing activities (80,807) (75,994)
Cash flows from financing activities
Loan from parent company 5,637,854 2,929,812

5,637,854 2,929,812

Net decrease in cash and
cash equivalents (269,422) (27,384)
Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of year 131,627 159,011
Cash and cash equivalents
at end of year 12.1 (137,795) 131,627

2000 1999
Notes R R

Revenue 2,090,756 377,221

Cost of sales (3,580,378) (3,117,085)

Gross loss (1,489,622) (2,739,864)

Other operating expenses (3,844,348) (2,888,304)

Operating loss 2 (5,333,970) (5,628,168)

Net finance costs 3 (46,264) (17,443)

Net loss for the year (5,380,234) (5,645,611)
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for the year ended 31 March, 2000

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost
basis. The following are the principal accounting policies of the company,
which have been applied consistently with the prior year :

Going concern

The accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis as
Zee Telefilms Limited, the ultimate parent company, has indicated
its willingness to support the funding of the company to ensure
it is able to meet its commitments as and when they fall due.

Revenue

Revenue represents sale of advertisements on the Zee TV channel
in South Africa, stated net of Value Added Tax.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated
depreciation, and is depreciated on the straight line basis at rates
considered appropriate to write off the cost of each asset over its
expected useful life, as follows:

Office and computer equipment 33.3%
Motor vehicles 25%
Fixtures and fittings 20%

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are stated at estimated realisable value after
providing against debts where collection is doubtful.

Foreign currencies

Assets and liabilities designated in foreign currencies are converted
at the rates ruling at the date of the balance sheet. Foreign
currency transactions entered into during the year are converted
at the exchange rate ruling on the date of the transactions
concerned. Differences arising are taken to income/expenses as
and when incurred.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and deposits held at call with
banks, net of bank overdraft.

2000 1999
R R

2. OPERATING LOSS

The following items have been charged
in arriving at operating loss:

Auditor’s remuneration in respect
of audit services 60,358 55,550
Foreign exchange loss 711,835 1,114,391
Depreciation on property, plant and
equipment 71,298 48,670
Staff costs 922,893 400,653

The average monthly number of
employees during the period : No No
Sales 8 5
Administration 2 2

10 7

No directors’ emoluments were paid during the period.

3. NET FINANCE COSTS

Interest paid
Bank overdraft and loans 47,219 18,715

Interest received
Bank balances (955) (1,272)

46,264 17,443

4. TAXATION

There is no current year tax charge in the period to 31 March
2000 as the company has an assessable loss for tax purposes.

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Fixture Motor Computer Total
and vehicles and office

fittings  equipment
R R R R

Year ended 31 March, 2000
Opening net book amount 36,929 97,037 36,986 170,952
Additions 1,736 60,654 18,417 80,807
Depreciation (8,439) (40,067) (22,792) (71,298)

Closing net book amount 30,226 117,624 32,611 180,461

At 31 March, 2000
Cost 42,339 175,430 99,965 317,734
Accumulated depreciation (12,113) (57,806) (67,354) (137,273)

Net book amount 30,226 117,624 32,611 180,461

Year ended 31 March, 1999
Opening net book amount — 109,115 34,513 143,628
Additions 40,603 76,486 25,329 142,418
Disposals — (66,424) — (66,424)
Depreciation (3,674) (22,140) (22,856) (48,670)

Closing net book amount 36,929 97,037 36,986 170,952

At 31 March, 1999
Cost 40,603 114,776 81,548 236,927
Accumulated depreciation (3,674) (17,739) (44,562) (65,975)

Net book amount 36,929 97,037 36,986 170,952

2000 1999
R R

6. RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables — 32,499
Prepayments 444,979 381,994

Total receivables 444,979 414,493

7. SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised and issued
Authorised

1000 ordinary shares of R1 each 1,000 1,000

Issued
1 ordinary share of R1 each 1 1

8. LOAN FROM PARENT COMPANY

The loan is denominated in sterling,
representing an amount of
£1,434,398 at 31 March 2000 (1999:
£862,098). There are no forward
foreign currency contracts in respect
of this loan. The loan is unsecured
and there are no fixed repayment
terms. The loan from the parent
company has been subordinated in
favour of other creditors until such
time as the company’s assets fairly

valued exceed its liabilities. 15,056,879 8,707,190

9. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables 187,842 1,833,738
Accruals 676,739 166,287
Bank loans and overdraft 138,144 —
Other taxation and social
security control 23,282 86,720

1,026,007 2,086,745
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10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The company’s immediate parent company is Asia TV (Africa)
Limited, incorporated in Mauritius. A loan has been provided by
Asia TV (Africa) Limited, totalling R 15,056,879 (1999: 8,707,190)
in order to set up a marketing and administration team to obtain
advertising revenues for the Zee TV channel broadcast in South
Africa. The loan has no fixed repayment terms and no interest is
payable on the loan.

Asia TV (Africa) Limited’s immediate parent company is Zee
Multimedia Worldwide Limited, a company incorporated in
Mauritius. The ultimate parent company is Zee Telefilms Limited,
a company incorporated in India. Zee Telefilms Limited became
the company’s ultimate parent company on 30 September 1999
following the acquisition of the company’s former ultimate parent
company, Zee Multimedia Worldwide Limited.

11. FOREIGN CURRENCY BALANCES

The following foreign currency liability of the company, recognised
in the balance sheet is not covered by forward exchange contracts.

Foreign Rand
currency equivalent

Pounds sterling (1,434,398) (15,056,879)

12 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

12.1 Cash and cash equivalents
2000 1999

R R
Cash and cash equivalents
included in the cash flow
statement comprises the
following amounts
Cash resources 349 131,627
Bank overdraft (138,144) —

(137,795) 131,627
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The directors present their report and the audited financial statements
of the company for the year ended 31 March, 2000.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activities of the company are the sale of programming to
territories around the world and the purchase of programming libraries.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The directors are satisfied with the performance of the company for the
year, including the extensive purchase of film libraries.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The company’s profit for the year amounted to GBP 105,712 (1999 –
GBP 49,913).

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for
each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
and of the profit or loss of the company. In preparing those financial
statements, the directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed,
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the

to the Members of SOFTWARE SUPPLIES
INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

financial statements;

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless
it is inappropriate to presume that the company will continue in
business.

The directors confirm that they have complied with the above
requirements in preparing the financial statements.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the company and to enable them to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Mauritian Companies Act 1984. The directors
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers have indicated their willingness to continue in
office and a resolution concerning their re-appointment will be proposed
at the Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board

NOUSRATH BHUGELOO
Per
B.C.M. (Secretaries) Ltd.
Secretary 17 August, 2000

We have audited the financial statements of Software Supplies
International Limited on pages 179 to 180 which have been prepared
in accordance with the accounting policies set out on page 180.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As described in Directors’ Report, the company’s directors are responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements. It is our responsibility to
form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those financial
statements and to report our opinion to you.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It
also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements
made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements,
and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information

to the Members of SOFTWARE SUPPLIES
INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

AUDITORS’ REPORT

and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide
us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement. In forming
our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation
of the information in the financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the company at 31 March 2000 and of its profit,
changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the Mauritian Companies
Act 1984 and International Accounting Standards.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

V S MOHADEB
Signing Partner 17 August, 2000
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Share Retained
 capital earnings Total

GBP GBP GBP

At 01 April 1998 1 32,459 32,460

Profit for the year — 49,913 49,913

At 31 March 1999 1 82,372 82,373

Profit for the year — 105,712 105,712

At 31 March 2000 GBP 1 188,084 188,085

for the year ended 31 March, 2000

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

2000 1999
GBP GBP

Operating activities

Profit for the year 105,712 49,913

Increase in programme and film rights (115,848) (145,771)

(Increase)/decrease in debtors (73,358) 299,543

Increase/(decrease) in creditors 83,494 (203,685)

Net cash from operating activities — —

Movement in cash and cash equivalents — —

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning and end of year GBP — —

for the year ended 31 March, 2000

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

The accounting policies and the notes on page 180 form an integral part of these financial statements.

for the year ended 31 March, 2000
INCOME STATEMENT

2000 1999
GBP GBP

ASSETS

Current assets

Programme and film rights 261,619 145,771

Debtors (Note 5) 205,651 132,293

Total assets GBP 467,270 278,064

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital (Note 6) 1 1

Retained earnings 188,084 82,372

188,085 82,373

Current liabilities

Creditors (Note 7) 279,185 195,691

Total equity and liabilities GBP 467,270 278,064

BALANCE SHEET
31 March, 2000

There are no recognised gains or losses other than the profit for the
financial year.

Approved by the Board of Directors on 17 August, 2000

CLAREL BENOIT THIERRY CHELLEN
Director Director

2000 1999
GBP GBP

TURNOVER (Note 2) 1,010,548 480,491

Cost of sales (893,540) (419,821)

GROSS PROFIT 117,008 60,670

Administrative expenses (11,296) (10,757)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (Note 3) GBP 105,712 49,913
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with and
comply with International Accounting Standards. A summary of
the more important accounting policies, which have been applied
consistently, is set out below. The preparation of financial statements
in accordance with International Accounting Standards and
generally accepted accounting principles requires the directors to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Basis of accounting

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost
convention.

Foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement. Such balances
are translated at year end exchange rates unless hedged by forward
foreign exchange contracts in which case the rates specified in
such forward contracts are used.

Programme and film rights

Programme and film rights acquired for resale are stated at the
lower of cost and estimated net realisable value. The cost of
programme and film rights comprises the original purchase price.
Net realisable value is determined by the directors who regularly
assess the estimated future revenue (net of commissions and other
costs) that programme and film rights will generate.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash at bank and in hand. Cash equivalents are
short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of change in value.

2. TURNOVER

Turnover represents sales of programming and advertising revenues
received.

2000 1999
GBP GBP

3. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year is stated
after charging:
Exchange rate differences 2,023 2,004
Auditors’ remuneration 2,350 2,250

4. EMPLOYEES AND DIRECTORS

The company employed no staff
during the year.

5. DEBTORS

Trade debtors — 5,603
Amounts owed by fellow subsidiaries 140,583 —
Amounts owed by related parties — 22,260
Other debtors and prepayments 65,068 104,430

GBP 205,651 132,293

2000 1999
GBP GBP

6. CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:

10,000 ordinary shares
of USD 1 each GBP 6,073 6,073

Issued and fully paid:

2 ordinary shares of
USD 1 each GBP 1 1

7. CREDITORS

Trade creditors 248,591 22,428
Amounts owed to
fellow subsidiary — 147,270
Accruals 30,594 25,993

GBP 279,185 195,691

8. TAXATION

The company is subject to income tax in Mauritius at the rate of
0% unless it elects to pay tax at rates not exceeding 35%. At 31
March 2000, the company has made no such election. Capital
gains of the company are exempt from tax in Mauritius.

9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

All cash transactions have been conducted by Asia TV Limited, a
company incorporated in the United Kingdom and also a subsidiary
of Zee Multimedia Worldwide Limited (Mauritius), on behalf of
Software Supplies International Ltd. A balance of GBP 111,173
(1999 – credit balance of GBP␣ 147,270) was receivable at 31
March 2000 in respect of programme rights sold to Asia TV Limited.
Additionally, sales of programme and film rights to Asia TV Limited
during the year amounted to GBP 872,648 (1999 - GBP 439,747).

A balance of GBP 29,410 (1999 – GBP 22,260) was due from
a fellow subsidiary, Asia Today Limited at 31 March 2000 in respect
of sales of programme and film rights. Additionally, sales of
programme and film rights to Asia Today Limited during the year
amounted to GBP 131,392 (1999 - GBP 22,260).

10. HOLDING COMPANIES

The directors consider Zee Multimedia Worldwide Limited, a
company incorporated in Mauritius, as the company’s holding
company.

Until 30 September 1999, the directors considered Delgrada
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, as
the company’s ultimate holding company.

On 30 September 1999, Zee Telefilms Limited, a company
incorporated in India, acquired all of the issued share capital of
the holding company of Zee Multimedia Worldwide Limited
(Mauritius), Zee Multimedia Worldwide Limited (BVI), a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. With effect from that
date, the directors consider Zee Telefilms Limited as the company’s
ultimate holding company.

11. REPORTING CURRENCY

The financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling. The
company has been granted an Offshore Certificate under the
Mauritius Offshore Business Activities Act 1992 which requires that
the company’s business or other activity is carried on in a currency
other than the Mauritian rupee.

12. INCORPORATION

The company is incorporated in Mauritius under the Companies
Act 1984 as a private company with limited liability.

31 March, 2000
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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to the Members of ZEE MULTIMEDIA WORLDWIDE LTD.
(Incorporated in Mauritius)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

to the Members of ZEE MULTIMEDIA WORLDWIDE LTD.
(Incorporated in Mauritius)

AUDITORS’ REPORT

We have audited the financial statements of Zee Multimedia W orldwide
Limited on pages 182 to 188 which have been pr epar ed in accor dance
with the accounting policies set out on pages 184 to 185.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As described in Dir ectors’ Report, the company’ s dir ectors ar e responsible
for the pr eparation of financial statements. It is our r esponsibility to form
an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those statements and
to report our opinion to you.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accor dance with International Standar ds on
Auditing. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosur es in the financial statements. It
also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements
made by the dir ectors in the pr eparation of the financial statements,
and of whether the accounting policies ar e appr opriate to the company’ s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information
and explanations which we consider ed necessar y in or der to pr ovide us

with sufficient evidence to give r easonable assurance as to whether the
financial statements ar e free fr om material misstatement. In forming our
opinion, we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the pr esentation of
the information in the financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the gr oup and of the company at 31 Mar ch, 2000 and
of the pr ofit, changes in equity and cash flows of the gr oup and of the
company for the year then ended and have been pr operly pr epared in
accor dance with the Mauritian Companies Act, 1984 and International
Accounting Standar ds.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

V S MOHADEB
Signing partner 17 August, 200 0

The dir ectors pr esent their r eport and the audited financial statements
of the company for the year ended 31 Mar ch, 2000.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activity of the company is to hold investments and to
trade generally .

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The gr oup’s and company’ s profits for the financial year amount to USD
1,487,000 (1999 – USD␣ 1,178,000) and USD 1,272,000 (1999 –
USD 1,765,000) r espectively .

The dir ectors do not r ecommend the payment of a dividend.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Company law r equir es the dir ectors to pr epar e financial statements for
each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
and of the pr ofit or loss of the company . In pr eparing those financial
statements, the dir ectors ar e requir ed to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that ar e reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable accounting standar ds have been followed,
subject to any material departur es disclosed and explained in the
financial statements; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless
it is inappr opriate to pr esume that the company will continue in
business.

The dir ectors confirm that they have complied with the above
requir ements in pr eparing the financial statements.

The dir ectors ar e responsible for keeping pr oper accounting r ecords
which disclose with r easonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the company and to enable them to ensur e that the financial
statements comply with the Mauritian Companies Act, 1984. They ar e
also r esponsible for safeguar ding the assets of the company and hence
for taking r easonable steps for the pr evention and detection of fraud
and other irr egularities.

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers have indicated their willingness to continue in
office and a r esolution concerning their r e-appointment will be pr oposed
at the Annual General Meeting.

By Or der of the Boar d

NOUSRA TH BHUGELOO
per
B.C.M. (Secr etaries) Ltd.
Secretar y 17 August, 200 0
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The accounting policies on pages 184 and 185 and the notes pages 185 to 188 form an integral part of these financial statements.

INCOME STATEMENT

Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000

TURNOVER (Note 2) 36,069 30,470 — —

DIRECT COSTS (23,741) (20,499) — —

GROSS PROFIT 12,328 9,971 — —

Other operating income 9 3 1,944 2,013

Selling and marketing
costs (2,010) (1,888) — —

Administrative expenses (9,056) (5,711) (745) (162)

OPERATING PROFIT
(Note 3) 1,271 2,375 1,199 1,851

Inter est income,
net/(Finance costs) (Note 5) 16 (19) 73 13

PROFIT BEFORE
EXCEPTIONAL ITEM 1,287 2,356 1,272 1,864

Exceptional item (Note 6) — (1,158) — (99)

PROFIT BEFORE

TAXATION 1,287 1,198 1,272 1,765

Taxation (Note 7) 200 (20) — —

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1,487 1,178 1,272 1,765

for the year ended 31 March, 2000

Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property , plant and
equipment (Note 8) 1,303 845 — —
Intangible assets (Note 9) 18,281 19,616 — —
Investments (Note 10) — — 31,131 31,131
Deferr ed tax
assets (Note 7) 304 — — —

19,888 20,461 31,131 31,131

Current assets
Programme and film
rights (Note 11) 4,581 2,890 — —
Debtors (Note 12) 10,134 6,918 1,991 740
Cash at bank and in hand 2,006 1,857 10 —

16,721 11,665 2,001 740

Total assets 36,609 32,126 33,132 31,871

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves
Called up shar e capital
(Note 13) 26,520 26,520 26,520 26,520
Retained earnings/
(accumulated losses) (1,798) (3,285) 3,020 1,748
Foreign curr ency
translation adjustment 185 135 — —

24,907 23,370 29,540 28,268

Non-current liabilities
(Note 14) 174 193 — —

Current liabilities
Creditors (Note 15) 11,528 8,563 3,592 3,603

Total liabilities 11,702 8,756 3,592 3,603

Total equity and
liabilities 36,609 32,126 33,132 31,871

31 March, 2000

BALANCE SHEET

Appr oved by the Boar d on 17 August, 200 0

CLAREL BENOIT THIERR Y CHELLEN
Director Director



183

ZEE  MULTIMEDIA  WORLDWIDE  LIMITED,  MAURITIUS

for the year ended 31 March, 2000

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Retained Foreign
Group earnings/ currency

Share (accumulated) translation
Capital losses) adjustment Total

USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000

At 01 April, 1998 – As
previously reported 26,520 (4,004) 248 22,764

Prior year adjustment

(Note (a)) — (459) — (459)

At 01 April, 1998 –

As restated 26,520 (4,463) 248 22,305

Exchange translation

differences — — (113) (113)

Profit for the year — 1,178 — 1,178

At 31 March, 1999 26,520 (3,285) 135 23,370

Exchange translation

differences — — 50 50

Profit for the year — 1,487 — 1,487

At 31 March, 2000 26,520 (1,798) 185 24,907

(a) The prior year adjustment arises from the elimination of the results

and net assets of Zee Telefilms Arabia LLC, a related company,

which was incorrectly incorporated in the consolidated accounts

up to 31 March, 1998.

Retained

Company Share (accumulated)

Capital losses) Total

USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000

At 01 April, 1998 26,520 (17) 26,503

Profit for the year — 1,765 1,765

At 31 March, 1999 26,520 1,748 28,268

Profit for the year — 1,272 1,272

At 31 March, 2000 26,520 3,020 29,540

for the year ended 31 March, 2000

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000

Operating activities
Profit before taxation 1,287 1,198 1,272 1,765
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 324 231 — —
Amortisation of goodwill 1,335 1,335 — —
Interest receivable (65) (82) — —
Interest payable 7 3 — —
Foreign currency
translation adjustment 54 (95) — —
Operating profit
before working
capital changes 2,942 2,590 1,272 1,765
Increase in debtors (3,216) (235) (1,251) (730)
Increase/(decrease) in
creditors 2,847 470 (11) (34)
Increase in programme
and film rights (1,691) (1,006) — —
Interest paid (7) (3) — —
Taxation paid (23) (21) — —
Net cash inflow from
operating activities 852 1,795 10 1,001

Investing activities
Additions to property,
plant and equipment (786) (792) — —
Proceeds from sale of property,
plant and equipment — 40 — —
Purchase of investments — — — (1,001)
Interest received 65 82 — —
Net cash outflow
from investing
activities (721) (670) — (1,001)

Financing activities
Increase/(decrease) in
non-current liabilities (50) 85 — —
Obligations under
finance leases, net 68 53 — —
Net cash inflow
from financing
activities 18 138 — —

Increase in cash and
cash equivalents 149 1,263 10 —
Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of year 1,857 594 — —

Cash and cash
equivalents at
end of year 2,006 1,857 10 —

The accounting policies on pages 184 and 185 and the notes pages 185 to 188 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been pr epared in accor dance with
and comply with applicable International Accounting Standar ds. A
summar y of the mor e important accounting policies, which have
been applied consistently , is set out below . The pr eparation of
financial statements in accor dance with International Accounting
Standar ds and generally accepted accounting principles r equir es
the dir ectors to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts and disclosur es in the financial statements. Actual
results could differ fr om those estimates.

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been pr epar ed under the historical
cost convention.

Basis of consolidation of subsidiaries

The consolidated accounts incorporate the accounts of the
company and of its subsidiaries. The r esults of subsidiaries ar e
included in the consolidated income statement and minority inter est
ther ein ar e deducted fr om the consolidated pr ofit after taxation.
Results attributable to subsidiaries acquir ed or disposed off ar e
included fr om the date of acquisition or to the date of disposal as
applicable. All significant balances and transactions between the
company and its subsidiaries have been eliminated.

Long term investments

Long term investments ar e shown at cost and pr ovision is only
made wher e, in the opinion of the dir ectors, ther e is a permanent
diminution in value. Wher e ther e has been a permanent diminution
in the value of an investment, it is r ecognised as an expense in
the period in which the diminution is identified.

On disposal of an investment, the differ ence between the net
disposal pr oceeds and the carr ying amount is char ged or cr edited
to the income statement.

Goodwill

Goodwill r epresents the excess of the pur chase consideration over
the fair value of the gr oup’s shar e of the net assets of the acquir ed
subsidiar y at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions is
reported in the balance sheet as an intangible asset and is
amortised using the straight line method over its estimated useful
life of 20 years.

In the dir ectors’ opinion, the goodwill which ar ose on the
acquisition of Asia TV Limited has a useful life of 20 years as this
acquisition pr ovided the gr oup with a lar ge subscriber base in the
United Kingdom. The dir ectors r eview the unamortised balance of
goodwill at each balance sheet date, and to the extent that it is
no longer pr obable of being r ecover ed fr om expected futur e
economic benefits, it is r ecognised immediately as an expense.

Property, plant and equipment

Property , plant and equipment ar e stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation. Depr eciation is calculated on the straight line basis
at annual rates estimated to write off the cost of the assets less
their estimated r esidual values over their expected useful lives. The
annual rates used ar e :

Short leasehold land and buildings Over the term of the lease

Equipment 20-33 %

Furnitur e and fixtur es 20-33 %

Leased assets

Assets held under finance leases or hir e purchase agr eements that
give rights equivalent to ownership and the r elated obligations

are recorded in the balance sheet at the fair value of the assets
at the inception of the agr eements. Such assets ar e depr eciated
on the same basis as owned assets. The excess of the payments
over the r ecorded obligations ar e tr eated as finance char ges which
are amortised based on the inter est rates implicit in the r elevant
leases.

Programme and film rights

Programme and film rights ar e stated at the lower of cost less
accumulated amortisation and estimated net r ealisable value. The
cost of pr ogramme and film rights comprises the original pur chase
price. Net r ealisable value is determined by the dir ectors of the
group who r egularly assess the estimated futur e revenue (net of
commissions and other costs) that pr ogramme and film rights will
generate.

The costs of pr ogramme and film rights ar e char ged to the income
statement over the shorter of the period of the licence and the
period over which r evenues ar e expected to be earned. These
costs ar e generally amortised on a straight line basis.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash at bank and in hand. Cash equivalents ar e
short term, highly liquid investments that ar e readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which ar e subject to an insignificant
risk of change in value.

Deferred taxation

Deferr ed tax is pr ovided, using the liability method, for all temporar y
differ ences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carr ying values for financial r eporting purposes. Curr ently
enacted tax rates ar e used to determine deferr ed tax.

The principal temporar y differ ences arise fr om depr eciation on
property , plant and equipment, pr ovisions for pensions and other
post r etir ement benefits and tax losses carried for ward. Deferr ed
tax assets r elating to the carr yfor war d of unused tax losses ar e
recognised to the extent that it is pr obable that futur e taxable
profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be
utilised.

Turnover and revenue recognition

Turnover mainly r epr esents subscription r evenue and gr oss
advertising r evenue, net of discounts and sales tax, if any .
Subscriptions paid in advance ar e recognised as deferr ed income
in the balance sheet. Advertising r evenues ar e recognised upon
the telecast of advertisements and subscription r evenue on a time
basis on the pr ovision of television br oadcasting to subscribers.

Operating leases

Leases wher e substantially all the r ewar ds and risks of ownership
of assets r emain with the lessor ar e accounted for as operating
leases. Rental payments under operating leases ar e char ged to
the income statement on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Preliminary expenses

Preliminar y expenses consist of pr e-operational costs and ar e
recognised as an expense in the year in which they ar e incurr ed.

Financial instruments

Financial instruments carried on the balance sheet include cash
and bank balances, investments, debtors, cr editors, leases and
borr owings. The particular r ecognition methods adopted ar e
disclosed in the individual policy statements associated with each
item.

The group is also party to financial instruments that reduce exposure
to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange. These instruments,
which mainly comprise of  foreign currency forward contracts, are
not recognised in the financial statements on inception. The purpose
of these instruments is to reduce risk. Foreign currency forward
contracts protect the group from movements in exchange rates by

for the financial year ended 31 March, 2000

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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establishing the rate at which a foreign currency asset or liability will
be settled. Any increase or decrease in the amount required to
settle the asset or liability is off-set by a corresponding movement
in the value of the forward exchange contract. The gains and
losses are therefore off-set for financial reporting purposes and are
not recognised in the financial statements. The fee incurred in
establishing each agreement is amortised over the contract period.

Disclosur es about financial instruments to which the gr oup is a
party ar e provided in Note 19.

Reporting and functional currencies

The r eporting curr ency of the gr oup is United States Dollars given
the international natur e of the gr oup’s business and for ease of
comparison to accounts of other companies in the same industr y.
The majority of the gr oup’s transactions ar e denominated in
currencies other than US Dollars. The functional curr ency of the
main subsidiaries is as follows:

Subsidiary Functional Currency

Asia TV Limited Pounds Sterling
Asia TV (Africa) Limited Pounds Sterling
Zee TV USA, Inc. US Dollars
Zee Telefilms (International) Limited US Dollars

Transactions denominated in curr encies other than the functional
currency (“for eign curr encies”) ar e recorded at weekly average
exchange rates pr evailing at the dates of the transactions. Any
gains or losses fr om the translation of transactions denominated
in for eign curr encies ar e included in the r esults of operations,
except for such differ ences arising on for eign curr ency deposits
which ar e r ecognised in net inter est income/finance costs.
Monetar y assets and liabilities denominated in for eign curr encies
are translated at the exchange rate ruling at the year end.

On consolidation, the accounts of subsidiaries with functional
currencies other than the US Dollar ar e translated into US Dollars
on the following basis:

Profits and losses ar e translated into US Dollars at average rates of
exchange for the period. Assets and liabilities ar e translated into
US Dollars at the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date.
Exchange differ ence arising out of the translation of accounts of
subsidiaries ar e dealt with as a movement on r eser ves (“For eign
currency translation adjustment”).

2. TURNOVER

The gr oup operates in one industr y, which is satellite television
broadcasting.

3. OPERATING PROFIT

The following items have been char ged in arriving at operating
profit :

2000 1999
USD ’000 USD ’000

Group
Staff costs (Note 4) 3,396 2,561
Auditors’ r emuneration 180 80
Depreciation 324 231
Operating lease r entals – pr operty 244 140
Operating lease r entals – plant and
machiner y 7,406 8,177
Amortisation of goodwill arising on
consolidation 1,335 1,335
Digitalisation costs 1,888 —

During the year , a subsidiar y, Asia TV Limited, commenced
broadcasting in digital format. The costs of transmitting and
operating in digital format for its thr ee channels, Zee TV , Alpha
Bangla and Music Asia for the year totalled USD 1,888,000.

2000 1999
USD ’000 USD ’000

Company

Auditors’ remuneration 30 20

4. STAFF COSTS

Group

Wages and salaries 3,151 2,375
Social security costs 245 186

3,396 2,561

Directors’ emoluments included in staff costs 84 97

Average number of persons employed by
the group: Number Number

Full time 105 78

Part time 1 1

106 79

2000 1999
USD ’000 USD ’000

5 INTEREST INCOME, NET/(FINANCE COSTS)

Group

Interest receivable 65 82
Loss on exchange (42) (98)
Finance lease charges (7) (3)

16 (19)

Company

Gain on exchange 73 13

6. EXCEPTIONAL ITEM

The exceptional item for the year ended 31 March, 1999 represents
expenses incurred in respect of a proposed issue of bonds which
did not materialise.

2000 1999
USD ’000 USD ’000

7. TAXATION

Dutch taxation at 35% - current year 45 —
- prior year 59 —
Deferred tax arising in the United States of
America (see (a) below)

(304) —

United Kingdom Corporation tax — 20

(200) 20

No taxation arose on trading profits in the United States of America
due to the availability of tax losses. The group’s profits arising in
United Arab Emirates are not taxable and the group incurred losses
in the United Kingdom. In Mauritius, the group is subject to Income
Tax at zero rate unless it elects to pay tax at a rate not exceeding
35%. At 31 March, 2000, the group did not make such election.

The group’s effective tax rate was as follows:

2000 1999
% %

Effective tax rate (15.5) 1.7

The statutory rate in the location in which the group has its
principal operations is as follows:

2000 1999

% %

United Kingdom 30 31
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A reconciliation of the expected tax with the actual tax char ge/
(credit) is pr esented below:

2000 1999
USD ’000 USD ’000

United Kingdom rate applied
to pr ofit befor e taxation 386 371
Amortisation of goodwill 400 414
Utilisation of pr eviously unr ecognised
tax losses arising in the
United States of America (417) —
Benefit of United Kingdom tax loss
carr y for wards — (149)
Losses in certain subsidiaries not available
for offset against taxable pr ofits 255 374
Profits arising in United Arab Emirates and
Mauritius which are not subject to taxation (906) (990)
Effect of different tax rates in other countries 33 —
Underprovision of Dutch taxation in prior year 59 —
Income not subject to taxation (10) —

Actual taxation (200) 20

(a) Deferred taxation

United States of America:

Deferred tax assets arising in the United States of America, at the
federal statutory rate of 34%, are attributable to the following
items:

Tax loss carry forwards (292) —
Other temporary differences (12) —

(304) —

A deferr ed tax asset had not been r ecognised at 31 Mar ch 1999
as ther e was an uncertainty with r espect to the r ealisation of
futur e tax benefits r elating primarily to certain net operating loss
carr y for wards. This uncertaintly was r emoved at 31 Mar ch, 2000
when the operations in the United States of America generated
taxable income.

United Kingdom:

A deferr ed tax asset has not been r ecognised in r espect of tax loss
carr y for wards in the United Kingdom since ther e is no assurance
beyond r easonable doubt that such an asset would be r ecoverable
in the for eseeable futur e.

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group Short leasehold Equipment Furniture & Total
land & buildings fixtures

USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000
Cost :
At 01 April, 1998 180 739 98 1,017
Exchange adjustments (10) (5) (7) (22)
Additions — 728 64 792
Disposals — (150) — (150)
At 31 March, 1999 170 1,312 155 1,637
Exchange adjustments (1) (10) (2) (13)
Additions — 735 51 786
At 31 March, 2000 169 2,037 204 2,410

Accumulated depreciation:
At 01 April, 1998 63 561 51 675
Exchange adjustments — (5) 1 (4)
Charge for the year 12 197 22 231

Written back on disposals — (110) — (110)
At 31 March, 1999 75 643 74 792
Exchange adjustments — (8) (1) (9)
Charge for the year 12 280 32 324
At 31 March, 2000 87 915 105 1,107

Net book amount:
At 31 March, 2000 82 1,122 99 1,303
At 31 March, 1999 95 669 81 845

2000 1999
USD ’000 USD ’000

9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Group

Goodwill arising on consolidation:
At 01 April, 1999 19,616 20,951
Amortisation for the year (1,335) (1,335)

At 31 March, 2000 18,281 19,616

10. INVESTMENTS

Company

Unquoted subsidiaries, at cost:
At beginning of year 31,131 30,130
Additions during the year — 1,001

At end of year 31,131 31,131

Details of the company’s subsidiaries are:

Name of Country of Percentage Cost of Principal
company Incorporation holding investment activity

USD

Asia TV Limited United Kingdom 100% 30,119,880 Television
broadcasting to
the United
Kingdom and
Europe

Asia TV (Africa) Mauritius 100% 10,000 Television
Limited broadcasting to

South Africa and
the rest of Africa

Software Supplies Mauritius 100% 2 Purchase and
International Ltd sale of

programming

Asia TV (USA) Mauritius 100% 2 Dormant
Limited

Zee TV USA, Inc. United States 100% 1,001,000 Television
of America broadcasting

to the United
States of
America

Zee Telefilms British Virgin 100% 2 Advertising
(International) Limited Islands agents

31,130,886

The company, indirectly, holds investments in the following subsidiaries:

Name of Country of Effective Principal
company Incorporation holding activity

Asia TV
(Netherlands) BV Netherlands 100% Satellite channel

broadcasting

Zee TV South South Africa 100% Advertising agents
Africa (Pty) Limited

Ambience Marketing United States of America 100% Advertising agents
Services, Inc.

LL TV Limited United Kingdom 100% Dormant

The shares held in all the subsidiaries are ordinary shares.

The directors are of the opinion that the investments are fairly
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2000 1999
USD ’000 USD ’000

Company

Amounts owed to subsidiaries 3,505 3,580
Amounts owed to r elated parties 25 10
Accruals and deferr ed income 62 13

3,592 3,603

16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) Operating leases

The futur e minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases ar e as follows:

Land and
Buildings Other Total
USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000

Not later than 1 year 119 5,620 5,739
Later than 1 year and not
later than 5 years 415 8,715 9,130
Later than 5 years 521 192 713

1,055 14,527 15,582

(b) Other contingencies

At 31 March, 2000, the group had contingent liabilities in
respect of bank and other guarantees and other matters
arising in the ordinary course of business from which it is
anticipated that no material liabilities will arise.

The company and its subsidiaries are defendants in various
legal actions. In the opinion of the directors, after taking
appropriate legal advice, the results of such actions will not
have a material effect on the group’s financial position.

17. OPERATIONAL RISK

The operations and earnings of the group continue, from time to
time and in varying degrees, to be affected by political, legislative,
fiscal and regulatory developments in the countries in which it
operates or to which it broadcasts. The industry in which the
group operates is subject to technical and physical risks of varying
kinds for example the group is dependent upon the continuing
operation of satellites which carry its transmissions. The nature
and frequency of these developments, risks and events, not all of
which are covered by insurance, as well as their effect on future
operations and earnings are not predictable.

18. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

On 09 August 2000, the gr oup obtained a bank loan for USD
8.4 million for the purpose of financing further digital marketing
and development costs in the United Kingdom.

19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Concentrations of credit risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the group
to significant concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily
of debtors, amounts owed by related parties and cash on
deposit with financial institutions.

There is no significant concentration of credit risk with respect
to debtors due to a significant portion of the group’s sales
deriving from a significant number of individual customers
in respect of subscribers sales. The group also has advertising
and sub-leasing sales which are to relatively few customers.

(b) Fair value

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, debtors
and creditors approximates fair value because of the relatively
short maturities of these assets and liabilities.

stated at cost and that they have not suffered any permanent
diminution in value.

2000 1999
USD ’000 USD ’000

11. PROGRAMME AND FILM RIGHTS

Group

Recoverable within one year 2,130 1,505
Recoverable after more than one year 2,451 1,385

4,581 2,890

12. DEBTORS

Group

Trade debtors 4,304 4,103
Amounts owed by ultimate holding
company 115 402
Amounts owed by holding company 96 20
Amounts owed by fellow subsidiaries 2,786 633
Amounts owed by related parties 1,097 321
Other debtors 567 521
Prepayments and accrued income 1,169 918

10,134 6,918

Company

Amounts owed by holding company 96 —
Amounts owed by subsidiaries 985 730
Amounts owed by related parties 10 —
Other debtors 100 —
Prepayments and accrued income 800 —
Share capital unpaid — 10

1,991 740

13. CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

2000 1999 2000 1999
Number Number USD ’000 USD ’000

Company
Authorised:

Ordinary shares of
USD 1 each 500,000,000 500,000,000 500,000 500,000

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of
USD 1 each 26,520,004 26,510,004 26,520 26,510
Issued but not yet paid :
Ordinary shares of
USD 1 each — 10,000 — 10

26,520,004 26,520,004 26,520 26,520

2000 1999
USD ’000 USD ’000

14. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Group

Deferred income 112 162
Obligations under finance leases 62 31

174 193

15. CREDITORS

Group

Trade creditors 3,129 1,112
Amounts owed to ultimate holding
company 1,657 —
Amounts owed to holding company 76 76
Amounts owed to fellow subsidiaries 1,343 —
Amounts owed to related parties 50 1,112
Other creditors 320 960
Accruals and deferred income 4,791 5,259
Taxation 103 22
Obligations under finance leases 59 22

11,528 8,563
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(c) Interest rate risk

The group’s cash and cash equivalents are placed on deposit
at variable interest rates which limit the exposure to interest
rate risk.

20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 Mar ch 2000, the gr oup enter ed into
transactions with r elated parties. The natur e, volume of transactions
and the balances with the r elated parties ar e as follows :

Debit/(Credit)
Name of Nature of Volume of balance at
related party transactions transactions 31 March,

2000
USD ’000 USD ’000

Delgrada Limited Financing — 398
Zee Multimedia World
-wide Limited (BVI) Financing — 20
Zee Telefilms Limited Purchase of 2,181 (1,542)

programming
Advertising 18 —
commission income

Asia Today Limited Advertising 1,465 (1,230)
commission income
Sale of programming 211 —

Expand Fast Holdings Purchase of 99 2,673
Limited programming

Zee Telefilms Arabia LLC Financing — 647

Asia TV (Overseas) Limited Financing — 11

Electronic Media Ltd. Financing — 16

Mr Vijay Jindal Provision of 161 (25)
consultancy services

21. HOLDING COMPANIES

The directors consider Zee Multimedia Worldwide Limited (“ZMW

(BVI)”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, as the

company’s holding company.

Until 30 September, 1999, the directors considered Delgrada

Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, as

the company’s ultimate holding company. On 30 September, 1999,

Zee Telefilms Limited, a company incorporated in India, acquired

all of the issued share capital of ZMW (BVI). With effect from that

date, the directors consider Zee Telefilms Limited as the company’s

ultimate holding company.

22. REPORTING CURRENCY

The financial statements are presented in United States Dollar. The

company has been granted an Offshore Certificate under the

Mauritius Offshore Business Activities Act, 1992 which requires

that the company’s business or other activity is carried on in a

currency other than the Mauritian Rupee.

23. INCORPORATION

The company is incorporated in Mauritius under the Companies

Act, 1984 as a private company with limited liability.



i n f o r m a t i o n

s h a r e h o l d e r



190 ANNUAL  REPORT  1999-2000

dairy
shareholder’s

SHAREHOLDER’S

      DAIRY

1. Date, Time and Venue of September 26, 2000, 4.00 pm
the 18th Annual General Meeting at Exhibition Hall, Unit C, Nehru Centre, Worli, Mumbai 400 018, India

2. Date of Book Closure 16th September, 2000 to 25th September, 2000

3. Listing on stock exchanges The Stock Exchange, Mumbai
The National Stock Exchange Limited
The Delhi Stock Exchange Association Limited
The Calcutta Stock Exchange Association Limited
The Ahmedabad Stock Exchange

4. Listing Fees Paid for all the above stock exchanges as per the listing agreement.

5. ISIN No. INE256A01028 (Shares in this ISIN are entitled for dividend of full year)

IN9256A01042 (Shares in this ISIN are entitled for pro-rata dividend from 9th June, 1999 onwards)

IN9256A01059 (Shares in this ISIN are entitled for pro-rata dividend from 10th July, 1999 onwards)

IN9256A01067 (Shares in this ISIN are entitled for pro-rata dividend from 30th September, 1999 onwards)

6. BSE Stock Code 5537

NSE Stock Code ZEETELE EQ

7. Reuters Code : ZEE.BO (Bombay Stock Exchange)
ZEE.NS (National Stock Exchange)

Bloomberg Code : Z IN (Bombay Stock Exchange)
NZ IN (National Stock Exchange)

8. Registered Office 135, Continental Building, Dr. Annie Besant Road,
Worli, Mumbai-400 018, India.
Tel : +91-22-4965609/11, Fax : +91-22-4964334
Website : www.zeetelevision.com

9. Share Transfer Department 103, Shah & Nahar Industrial Estate,
Dr. Edwin Moses Road, Worli Naka,
Worli, Mumbai-400 018, India
Tel : +91-22-4901511/12/21
Fax : +91-22-4918959
E-Mail : vinodd@zeenetwork.com

10. Share Transfer Agent Sharepro Services,

(For electronic transfers) Satam Estate, 3rd Floor,
Above Bank of Baroda Building,
Cardinal Gracious Road,
Chakala, Andheri (E),
Mumbai - 400 099
Tel : +91-22-8215168, 8329828
Fax : +91-22-8375646

11. Investor Relation Officer Mr. Riddhish Purohit,
Asstt. Company Secretary
135, Continental Building, Dr. Annie Besant Road,
Worli, Mumbai-400 018, India
Tel : +91-22-4965609/11, Fax : +91-22-4964334
E-Mail : purohitr@zeenetwork.com

12. Financial Analyst (for Mr. Atul Das,
Financial queries) Sr. Financial Analyst,

135, Continental Building, Dr. Annie Besant Road,
Worli, Mumbai-400 018, India
Tel : +91-22-4965609/11, Fax : +91-22-4964334
E-Mail : dasa@zeenetwork.com

13. Compliance Officer Mr. Vikas Gupta,
Company Secretary & GM (Fin),
135, Continental Building, Dr. Annie Besant Road,
Worli, Mumbai-400 018, India
Tel : +91-22-4965609/11, Fax : +91-22-4964334
E-Mail : guptav@zeenetwork.com
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14. Dividend
Board of Directors have recommended payment of dividend @ 55% of the paid up capital of the Company.
Dividend, if approved by members, will be paid on or after 26th September, 2000, to all those members whose names appear on the
Register of  Members of the Company as on 25th September, 2000.
Members holding equity share in physical form are hereby requested to notify the change of address/dividend mandate, if any, to the Company’s
Share Department, 103, Shah & Nahar Industrial Estate, Dr. E. Moses Road, Worli Naka, Worli, Mumbai - 400 018.
The Company is in the process of executing an agreement with NSDL for the purpose of dividend distribution. As per the bank details
available, the dividend amount will be credited directly into the account of the shareholder using ECS facility or by way of a direct payment
into the account. This facility will be provided by NSDL. The shareholders holding shares in a demat form with any of the DP registered with
NSDL, are requested to update their bank details before 15th September, 2000 to avail benefit of this NSDL's Dividend Distribution Scheme.

15. Share Transfer System
Shares sent for physical transfer or dematerialisation requests are generally registered and returned within a period of 15 days from the
date of receipt of complete and validly executed documents.
The share transfer committee meets once every week, mostly on every Monday, to approve the transfers and dematerialisation requests.

16. Simultaneous dematerialisation of Shares Sent for Transfer
The Company provides facility of simultaneous transfer and dematerialisation of equity shares and has confirmed the same to NSDL and CDSL.
Upon receipt of the share certificate for transfer or for splitting, the Company will process the same. Upon completion of process of transfer
or splitting, investor would be intimated about the option of dematerialisation of shares. The investor shall send his demat request within
a period of 15 days from the date of option letter, failing which the Company will proceed to dispatch the certificates.
Investor exercising the option to demat shall submit the following documents, duly filled up, to his/her Depository Participant (DP);

Dematerialisation Request Form (DRF) and
Original Option letter received from the Company.

DP shall forward to the Company the DRF alongwith the original letter of option.
If the DRF and other details are in order, the Company will deface the share certificates and will confirm demat request to the depository.

17. Dematerialisation of Equity Shares
Trading in equity shares of the Company became mandatory in dematerialised form w.e.f. 5th April, 1999. To facilitate trading in demat
form, in India, there are two depositories i.e. National Securities Depository Limited (NSDL) and Central Depository Services (India) Limited
(CDSL). Company has entered into agreement with both these depositories. Shareholders can open account with any of the Depository
Participant registered with any of these depositories.
As of date (approx.) 70% of the equity shares of the Company are in the dematerialised form.

18. Splitting of Shares
Consequent upon splitting of face value of equity shares of the Company, from Rs.10 per share to Re.1 per share, the Company had
requested shareholders holding shares in the physical form to exchange the old certificates in respect of shares of Rs.10 with new certificate
of Re.1 each. In case of shareholders holding shares in demat form, the effect of splitting of face value was automatically given by the
depositories, by way of a corporate action dated 23rd December, 1999. Trading in the equity shares of par value of Re.1 each commenced
on The Stock Exchange, Mumbai, from December 6, 1999 and on the National Stock Exchange from December 8, 1999.
Shareholders who have not yet exchanged their old certificates with the new ones are requested to send the same to the Company’s
Share Transfer Department at the address given above for exchange of the same with new certificates.
Shareholders desiring to avail the facility of simultaneous dematerialisation of their shares may take appropriate action as described above.

19. Shareholders’ Correspondence
The Company has attended to most of the investors’ grievances/queries/information requests. As of date only those cases are pending
which are constrained by dispute or legal proceeding or by court/statutory orders. We endeavour to reply all letters received from
shareholders within a period of 5 days.
All correspondence may please be addressed to the Share Transfer Department at the address given above. In case any shareholder is
not satisfied with the response or do not get any response, they shall approach the Investor Relation Officer or the Compliance Officer
at the address given above.

20. Legal proceedings
There are some pending cases relating to disputes over title to shares, in which the Company is made a party. The cases are not material in nature.

21. Financial Calendar
General Meetings
Last Annual General Meeting 27th September, 1999
Extra Ordinary General Meeting 25th October, 1999
Extra Ordinary General Meeting 10th April, 2000
Extra Ordinary General Meeting 11th May, 2000
Board Meetings
During the year 1999-2000, thirteen meetings of Board of Directors were held. These were held on :
April 30, 1999; May 5, 1999; May 20, 1999; June 9, 1999;
July 10, 1999; July 28, 1999; August 30, 1999; September 27, 1999;
September 30, 1999; October 12, 1999; January 22, 2000; January 24, 2000
February25, 2000

22. Nomination Facility
The Company is pleased to offer facility of nomination. The members are requested to refer Section 109A of the Companies Act, 1956,
as amended. The facility would be made available, folio wise and would be for the entire share registered under the folio. A format for
the Nomination form is attached to this Annual Report. Members are requested to avail this facility. Alternatively, Members having shares
in their single names, could consider registering their shareholding in joint names upto three names to take benefit of such joint holding.
Nomination Facility for Shares in Demat Form :
The members holding shares in dematerialized form could contact and consult their respective Depository Participant (DP) for availing
the nomination facility.
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